NOVEL APPROACHES TO IMPROVE DETECTION, DIFFERENTIATION AND TREATMENT IN MOOD DISORDERS







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-767-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-767-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

NOVEL APPROACHES TO IMPROVE DETECTION, DIFFERENTIATION AND TREATMENT IN MOOD DISORDERS

Topic Editors:

Danilo Arnone, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates Emmanuel Stip, Université de Montréal, Canada Andrés Herane-Vives, University College London, United Kingdom Karim Abdel Aziz, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

Citation: Arnone, D., Stip, E., Herane-Vives, A., Aziz, K. A., eds. (2022). Novel Approaches to Improve Detection, Differentiation and Treatment in Mood Disorders. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-767-2

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Novel Approaches to Improve Detection, Differentiation and Treatment in Mood Disorders

Karim Abdel Aziz, Andrés Herane-Vives, Emmanuel Stip and Danilo Arnone

- 07 A Longitudinal 5-Year Follow-Up Study of Cognitive Function After First Episode Major Depressive Disorder: Exploring State, Scar and Trait Effects Eivind Haga Ronold, Marit Therese Schmid, Ketil Joachim Oedegaard and Åsa Hammar
- **19** Efficacy of an Internet-Based Intervention for Subclinical Depression (MoodBox) in China: Study Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial Xu Chen, Xiaolong Zhang, Xueguan Zhu and Gang Wang
- 27 Depressive-Like Behaviors Induced by Chronic Social Defeat Stress Are Associated With HDAC7 Reduction in the Nucleus Accumbens
 Weijun Qian, Chao Yu, Shuai Wang, Aijun Niu, Guangyan Shi, Yuancui Cheng, Ning Xu, Qiangqiang Jin and Xu Jing
- 35 Development and Evaluation of a Therapist Training Program for Psilocybin Therapy for Treatment-Resistant Depression in Clinical Research Sara J. Tai, Elizabeth M. Nielson, Molly Lennard-Jones, Riikka-Liisa Johanna Ajantaival, Rachel Winzer, William A. Richards, Frederick Reinholdt, Brian D. Richards, Peter Gasser and Ekaterina Malievskaia
- 44 Botulinum Neurotoxin Therapy for Depression: Therapeutic Mechanisms and Future Perspective

Yang Li, Tong Liu and Weifeng Luo

54 Detecting Depression Through Gait Data: Examining the Contribution of Gait Features in Recognizing Depression

Yameng Wang, Jingying Wang, Xiaoqian Liu and Tingshao Zhu

64 Mapping the Presence of Anxiety Symptoms in Adults With Major Depressive Disorder

Fenfen Ge, Jingwen Jiang, Yue Wang, Mentong Wan and Wei Zhang

74 Current Advances in Wearable Devices and Their Sensors in Patients With Depression

Seunggyu Lee, Hyewon Kim, Mi Jin Park and Hong Jin Jeon

- 82 The Heterogeneity of Longitudinal Cognitive Decline in Euthymic Bipolar I Disorder With Clinical Characteristics and Functional Outcomes Wen-Yin Chen, Ming-Chyi Huang, Ya-Chin Lee, Chiao-Erh Chang, Shih-Ku Lin, Chih Chiang Chiu, Hsing-Cheng Liu, Chian-Jue Kuo, Shih-Han Weng, Po-Yu Chen and Po-Hsiu Kuo
- Gut Microbiome: A Potential Indicator for Differential Diagnosis of Major Depressive Disorder and General Anxiety Disorder
 Zaiquan Dong, Xiaoling Shen, Yanni Hao, Jin Li, Haoran Li, Haizheng Xu, Li Yin and Weihong Kuang
- 107 Potential of Antithrombin III as a Biomarker of Antidepressive Effect in Major Depressive Disorder

Ruize Song, Yachen Shi, Xianrui Li, Jianli Zhu, Hongxing Zhang, Kun Li, Bi Wang, Haisan Zhang, Yongfeng Yang, Lijuan Gao, Yang Zhao and Zhijun Zhang





Editorial: Novel Approaches to Improve Detection, Differentiation and Treatment in Mood Disorders

Karim Abdel Aziz¹, Andrés Herane-Vives^{2,3,4}, Emmanuel Stip^{1,5} and Danilo Arnone^{1,3*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Science, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, United Arab Emirates University, Al Ain, United Arab Emirates, ² Institute of Cognitive Neuroscience, University College London, London, United Kingdom, ³ Centre for Affective Disorders, Department of Psychological Medicine, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology, and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Center for Integrative Biology, Universidad Mayor, Providencia, Santiago, Chile, ⁵ Institute Universitaire en Santé Mentale de Montréal, Université de Montréal, Montréal, QC, Canada

Keywords: mood disorders, major depressive disorder, clinical differentiation, treatment, bipolar disorder

Editorial of the Research Article

Novel Approaches to Improve Detection, Differentiation and Treatment in Mood Disorders

Mood disorders are a group of common conditions with uncertain disease mechanisms and unsatisfactory treatment outcomes which significantly affect quality of life (1). Refining our understanding of the aetiology of these conditions and improving treatment response are essential next steps to improve outcome. This topic includes research which aims at detection, characterisation and differentiation within mood disorders, with a particular focus on aetiological mechanisms and pathways to improve treatment response.

Eight articles published in this topic originated from China (approximately 70%), one from Taiwan, one from South Korea and one from Europe/North America. We hope that the studies presented in this topic contribute to the quest of exploring novel approached to increase precision in the identification and treatment of mood disorders.

Cognitive changes in mood disorders are becoming increasingly important in relation to mechanisms of disease onset and progression and as potential targets for personalised interventions (2–4). In this topic Ronold et al. assessed cognitive function and depressive symptoms in unipolar major depression 5 years after the first diagnosis. Authors identified persistence of abnormalities in executive functions that might be independent of depressive symptoms. In synergy, Chen W-Y. et al. investigated the cognitive function of patients with bipolar disorder type I. In their retrospective analysis of around 6.5 years, the authors found that bulk of episodes with psychotic features was an independent risk factor for cognitive decline with a steeper decline after age of 42. These studies taken together show that cognitive dysfunction within mood disorders might differ in trajectory requiring a diversified approach to optimise prevention and treatment.

In relation to the importance of early detection and preventative approaches, Chen X. et al. describe MoodBox, an internet-based psychological intervention designed to improve the psychological well-being of individuals experiencing subclinical depressive symptoms aiming at reducing transition into major depression. The intervention, to be tested in a multicentre, randomised, non-blinded, superiority study intends to compare MoodBox with an online psychoeducation programme and a naturalistic observational group for 8 weeks with a further 1 year follow-up phase.

There is interest in identifying potential novel therapeutic targets in major depression. Psilocybin is a novel approach currently under investigation for treatment refractory major

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Maj Vinberg, University Hospital of Copenhagen, Denmark

*Correspondence: Danilo Arnone danilo.arnone@uaeu.ac.ae

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 December 2021 Accepted: 04 February 2022 Published: 04 March 2022

Citation:

Abdel Aziz K, Herane-Vives A, Stip E and Arnone D (2022) Editorial: Novel Approaches to Improve Detection, Differentiation and Treatment in Mood Disorders. Front. Psychiatry 13:837283. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.837283

4

depression which benefits from psychological assistance (5). The training that therapists receive to support this intervention is important. Tai et al. describe a new manualized evidence-based psychotherapeutic approach to assist psilocybin therapy. The intervention, developed in partnership with different mental health researchers, practitioners and experts across the US, Canada and Europe is approved by the US Food and Drug Administration. Li et al. describe the role of peripheral facial injection of botulinum neurotoxin type A in major depression. Preclinical models suggest that anti-depressant effects might be associated with up-regulation of serotonin levels and expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the hippocampus. Authors conclude that with limitations, clinical data are encouraging and suggest that this therapy is a potential effective and safe intervention for the management of depression. Song et al. investigated antithrombin III (ATIII) as a potential biomarker for the evaluation and prediction of treatment response in major depression. The authors randomised patients to treatment with occipital repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) or sham treatment for 5 days. The results revealed a reduction in ATIII after occipital rTMS in depressed patients and a relationship between change in ATIII and therapeutic response to occipital rTMS.

Studies evaluating differentiation within mood disorders and between mood disorders and other mental health conditions are particularly important to improve disease specificity at the point of diagnosis and treatment. Ge et al. described a network analysis method to map the presence of anxiety symptoms in individuals with major depression to potentially increase diagnostic precision and target interventions to reduce the occurrence of treatment resistance. Results revealed eight cooccurring symptoms in the network structure. Dong et al. investigated differences in gut microbiota between representative cases of major depressive disorder and general anxiety disorder. The study elucidated a gut-microbiome signature associated with these two conditions that might facilitate differential diagnosis and targeted therapeutic interventions.

In relation to developing cost effective approaches which provide innovative and simple solutions for diagnosis or help to identify those in need of supportive measure or predictors of treatment response, there are several new technologies which have recently been adopted in mental health including computer-based applications (6). Lee et al. provide a literature review of the use of wearable devices and sensors in patients with depression and discuss issues regarding utility, reliability,

REFERENCES

- Ferrari AJ, Somerville AJ, Baxter AJ, Norman R, Patten SB, Vos T, et al. Global variation in the prevalence and incidence of major depressive disorder: a systematic review of the epidemiological literature. *Psychol Med.* (2013) 43:471–81. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712001511
- Marvel CL, Paradiso S. Cognitive and neurological impairment in mood disorders. *Psychiatr Clin North Am.* (2004) 27:19– 36. doi: 10.1016/S0193-953X(03)00106-0

users' perspectives and privacy. Wang et al. investigated the association between depression and gait characteristics with the aim to assist the diagnosis of depression by using support vector machine algorithms. The most efficient model they described used time- and frequency-domain features with a very high specificity, suggesting that depression could be effectively recognized through gait analysis.

Finally, the article by Qian et al. investigated the role of chromatin remodelling which included histone acetylation in an animal model of major depression. The authors showed an association between depressive-like behaviours induced by chronic social defeat stress in mice and a decrease in the class II histone deacetylase HDAC7 in the nucleus accumbens. The works suggests that HDAC7 might be a promising therapeutic target for depression.

The work published in this issue adds to recent discoveries in mood disorders and contribute to improve aetiological and detection pathways which offer new opportunities for developing novel treatments (7). Some of the most interesting recent advances in mood disorders include the realisation that epigenetic markers can transmit across generations (8), the validation and consistent replication of structural and functional neuroimaging changes in mood disorders (9-11), new developments in the techniques to analyse co-morbidities at brain level (12), the development of multi-essays serological tests to integrate biological markers with clinical phenotypes (13). Esketamine and more recently Lumateperone are among the most novel approved new treatments for mood disorders (14, 15), whereas esmethadone (16) and new neuromodulation techniques such as transcranial alternating and direct current stimulation (17, 18) are some of the new approaches under consideration.

In conclusion although mood disorders are complex condition which offer considerable challenges at different levels from the recruitment of research participants (19) to limited knowledge at brain level (20), our understanding of aberrant processes is expanding and new treatments are increreasingly becoming available.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KA, AH-V, and ES contributed to writing of the first and subsequent drafts. DA conceived the idea, contributed to the writing of the manuscript, and supervised the work. All the authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Wise T, Radua J, Nortje G, Cleare AJ, Young AH, Arnone D. Voxel-based meta-analytical evidence of structural disconnectivity in major depression and bipolar disorder. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2016) 79:293–302. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.03.004

Cambridge OR, Knight MJ, Mills N, Baune BT. The clinical relationship between cognitive impairment and psychosocial functioning in major depressive disorder: a systematic review. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 269:157–71. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018. 08.033

- Reynolds CF. Psilocybin-assisted supportive psychotherapy in the treatment of major depression—quo vadis? *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2021) 78:476. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.2901
- Marshall JM, Dunstan DA, Bartik W. The digital psychiatrist: in search of evidence-based apps for anxiety and depression. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:831. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00831
- Li Z, Ruan M, Chen J, Fang Y. Major depressive disorder: advances in neuroscience research and translational applications. *Neurosci Bull.* (2021) 37:863–80. doi: 10.1007/s12264-021-00638-3
- Yeshurun S, Hannan AJ. Transgenerational epigenetic influences of paternal environmental exposures on brain function and predisposition to psychiatric disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2019) 24:536–48. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0039-z
- Arnone D, Job D, Selvaraj S, Abe O, Amico F, Cheng Y, et al. Computational meta-analysis of statistical parametric maps in major depression. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2016) 37:1393–404. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23108
- Arnone D. Functional MRI findings, pharmacological treatment in major depression and clinical response. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2019) 91:28–37. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.08.004
- Pezzoli S, Emsell L, Yip SW, Dima D, Giannakopoulos P, Zarei M, et al. Meta-analysis of regional white matter volume in bipolar disorder with replication in an independent sample using coordinates, T-maps, and individual MRI data. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 84:162–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.11.005
- Fortea L, Albajes-Eizagirre A, Yao Y-W, Soler E, Verdolini N, Hauson AO, et al. Focusing on comorbidity—A novel meta-analytic approach and protocol to disentangle the specific neuroanatomy of co-occurring mental disorders. *Front Psychiatry*. (2022) 12:807839. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.807839
- Papakostas GI, Shelton RC, Kinrys G, Henry ME, Bakow BR, Lipkin SH, et al. Assessment of a multi-assay, serum-based biological diagnostic test for major depressive disorder: a pilot and replication study. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2013) 18:332–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.166
- McIntyre RS, Carvalho IP, Lui LMW, Majeed A, Masand PS, Gill H, et al. The effect of intravenous, intranasal, and oral ketamine in mood disorders: a metaanalysis. J Affect Disord. (2020) 276:576–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.050
- Calabrese JR, Durgam S, Satlin A, Vanover KE, Davis RE, Chen R, et al. Efficacy and safety of lumateperone for major depressive episodes associated with bipolar I or bipolar II disorder: a phase 3 randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2021) 178:1098– 106. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2021.20091339

- Fava M, Stahl S, Pani L, De Martin S, Pappagallo M, Guidetti C, et al. REL-1017 (Esmethadone) as adjunctive treatment in patients with major depressive disorder: a phase 2a randomized double-blind trial. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2021) appi–jp. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2021.21020197
- Alexander ML, Alagapan S, Lugo CE, Mellin JM, Lustenberger C, Rubinow DR, et al. Double-blind, randomized pilot clinical trial targeting alpha oscillations with transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS) for the treatment of major depressive disorder (MDD). *Transl Psychiatry.* (2019) 9:106. doi: 10.1038/s41398-019-0439-0
- Chase HW, Boudewyn MA, Carter CS, Phillips ML. Transcranial direct current stimulation: a roadmap for research, from mechanism of action to clinical implementation. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2020) 25:397–407. doi: 10.1038/s41380-019-0499-9
- Wise T, Arnone D, Marwood L, Zahn R, Lythe KE, Young AH. Recruiting for research studies using online public advertisements: examples from research in affective disorders. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2016) 12:279– 85. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S90941
- 20. Wise T, Cleare AJ, Herane A, Young AH, Arnone D. Diagnostic and therapeutic utility of neuroimaging in depression: an overview. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2014) 10:1509–22. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S50156

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Abdel Aziz, Herane-Vives, Stip and Arnone. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Longitudinal 5-Year Follow-Up Study of Cognitive Function After First Episode Major Depressive Disorder: Exploring State, Scar and Trait Effects

Eivind Haga Ronold^{1*}, Marit Therese Schmid^{2,3}, Ketil Joachim Oedegaard^{3,4} and Åsa Hammar^{1,3}

¹ Department of Biological and Medical Psychology, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway, ² Department of Welfare and Participation, Faculty of Health and Social Sciences, Western Norway University of Applied Sciences, Bergen, Norway, ³ Division of Psychiatry, Haukeland University Hospital, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway, ⁴ Department of Psychiatry, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Danilo Arnone, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

Reviewed by:

Caroline Figueroa, University of California, Berkeley, United States Michele De Prisco, Federico II University Hospital, Italy

> *Correspondence: Eivind Haga Ronold eivind.ronold@uib.no

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 06 July 2020 Accepted: 11 November 2020 Published: 07 December 2020

Citation:

Ronold EH, Schmid MT, Oedegaard KJ and Hammar Å (2020) A Longitudinal 5-Year Follow-Up Study of Cognitive Function After First Episode Major Depressive Disorder: Exploring State, Scar and Trait Effects. Front. Psychiatry 11:575867. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.575867

Major depression (MDD) is associated with cognitive deficits in processing speed and executive function (EF) following first episode (FE). It is unclear whether deficits are state or trait related. Studies following FE MDD over longer periods are lacking, making it uncertain how cognition and symptoms develop after the initial episode. The present study assessed cognitive function and symptoms 5 years following FE MDD. In addition, the study explored relationships between MDD symptoms, rumination, and cognitive deficits with regards to the trait, state, and scar perspective. Twenty-three participants with previous FE MDD, and 20 matched control participants were compared on Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System measures of processing speed and EF, in a 5-year longitudinal follow-up study. Correlations between current symptoms- and history of MDD, rumination, cognition were investigated. Findings indicated that cognitive deficits persisted with no clear signs of exacerbation after initial episode. Inhibition appeared independent of current and previous symptoms of depression. Processing speed was related to depressive- symptoms and rumination. In conclusion, results indicated persisting, stable deficits in both EFs and processing speed. Findings further suggest that depressive symptoms could be related to deficits in processing speed, indicating state effects. There was limited support for worsening of cognition after initial episode. Some aspects of EF like Inhibition could show persistent deficits independent of depressive symptoms indicating trait effects.

Keywords: major depression and executive dysfunction, first episode major depressive disorder, processing speed, risk factors, rumination, state, trait, scar

INTRODUCTION

Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) is one of the most prevalent and taxing disorders worldwide (1). Recurrence following first episode MDD are of particular concern (2), with estimate rates up to 90% in health care seeking individuals (3). Recurrence leaves patients with higher disability, lower quality of life, affecting everyday functioning (4, 5), and could be incremental (6, 7).

7

Residual symptoms are important risk factors in recurrent MDD (8). Cognitive deficits persisting in remission (9–11), could contribute to relapse, recurrence, and impaired daily functioning in MDD (12–14). However, the literature is mixed regarding whether deficits in executive- (15–17), or lower cognitive functions persist in remission (11, 18). Hierarchical organization of neuropsychological function implies that lower processing tasks are the foundation of higher cognitive functions like EF (19). Thus, separating EF from processing speed, seems to be important when investigating cognitive deficits following MDD (20, 21). How EF and processing speed relate to other residual symptoms and risk factors in remission from MDD is uncertain (22, 23), however.

Not everyone with MDD shows cognitive deficits (24). Differences in risk factors for cognitive deficits could help explain this, and include: depression status (9, 10, 15, 25), depressive symptoms (26), number- and length of episodes (11, 27), comorbid disorders (19, 20, 28, 29), rumination (30). In addition, comorbidity (31), and rumination [for a recent review see (32)], have been associated with a more severe course of illness. According to Allot et al. (22) development of both MDD and EF occur in parallel in adolescence and early adulthood. Thus, following a group of young adults from FE MDD reduces risk factors and moderators like age (33, 34). Moreover, longitudinal studies investigating FE MDD over longer periods in remission are lacking (23), precluding how cognition develops following FE MDD.

Many central issues regarding the neurocognitive profile in MDD can be illustrated by the state, trait and scar debate [for a discussion see (23, 35)]. States can be understood as deficits caused by-, and fluctuating with-, depressive symptoms. There are mixed findings regarding state effects on EF (11, 17, 26). Findings are also mixed regarding processing speed (11, 25), but most authors seem to find a relationship to depressive symptoms or status (15, 26, 36, 37). Scars are neurobiological changes due to previous depression or environmental stressors. Scarring could include length, number, and severity of MDD, resulting in exacerbated cognitive impairment (22). Neurobiological changes could also increase risk for further episodes of MDD (7). In addition to this, common treatments could mediate changes and further alter neurocognitive function (25, 38). Scarring effects could be investigated through the relationship between previous MDD duration and symptom severity, and later cognitive function (22). Semkovska et al. (11) found number of episodes negatively influenced attention, processing speed, verbal fluency, and task shifting, supporting scar effects. When manifested as traits, impairments are independent of scars and current symptom states, predating FE MDD. There seems to be most agreement on persistent deficits in EFs (15, 25, 36, 39), with mixed findings regarding verbal fluency (15, 25, 36, 39).

The current study was a 5 year longitudinal study, investigating EF, inhibition, working memory/mental flexibility, and verbal fluency, in addition to motor- and processing speed. Previous studies investigating the FE group found deficits in EFs and processing speed in the acute phase- (40), and 1 year following FE MDD (41). (41) found lasting impairments

in the EF tasks Inhibition/Switching and verbal fluency. The current study investigated if deficits and symptoms persisted or normalized, after 5-years. In addition, the trait, state, and scar perspective were utilized in exploring the findings. To the authors knowledge, this is the first study to measure cognition in a group with FE MDD over 5 years. Consequently, the study could contribute to an increased understanding of the longitudinal development of cognitive residual symptoms and course of illness following FE MDD. The following hypotheses were investigated:

1) We predict that cognitive deficits persist after 5 years, and that a group with previous FE MDD will differ from a matched control-group, on tests measuring both processing speed and EFs.

2) It is expected that cognitive deficits and rumination related to depressive symptoms at time of assessment could represent state effects. Cognitive deficits and symptoms related previous length and strength of depression, worsening over time, could represent scar effects. Cognitive deficits that are relatively stable and independent of current- and previous symptoms of depression, could represent traits. EF is suspected to be relatively independent of state and scar effects, and a relationship between EF and rumination is expected. Processing- and motor speed are suspected to be influenced by depressive state and scar effects.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design

This longitudinal 5-year case control follow-up study examined a group with FE MDD and matched controls. There were three points of assessment: Participants were assessed at baseline in the acute phase of MDD (T1), after 1 year (T2), and after 5 years (T3). For additional information, see **Figure 1**.

Recruitment and Participant Flow

Participants in the depression group (DG) were recruited from primary healthcare and student healthcare services in Bergen, Norway. Participants were informed about the ongoing study through the cooperation of physicians and psychologists in primary- and university healthcare clinics. A study coordinator contacted interested patients that met the inclusion criteria at T1. Initial inclusion criteria were current FE depression of a moderate- to severe degree, indicated by a score of ≥ 20 on the Montgomery Åsberg Depression Rating Scale [MADRS; (42)]. Initial exclusion criteria for the DG were earlier history-, treatment-, or diagnosis of depression. Exclusion criteria for all participants in the DG from T1, T2, and T3 were the following: Psychosis, electroconvulsive treatment, alcohol- or substance abuse, brain damage, neurological- or severe somatic disorder. A trained psychologist assessed exclusion criteria at each time point by a structured questionnaire (T1, T2, and T3), and The Norwegian version of Mini-International Psychiatric structural interview [MINI; (43)] for the DG (T1 and T2). A control group was recruited, individually matched on the following variables: Sex, age, and years of



education (± 2 years), and the matching was valid at T3 (see **Table 1**). Controls were recruited at the University of Bergen and through colleges at the Department of Biological and Medical Psychology. Exclusion criteria for controls were: History of any mental disorder, alcohol- or substance abuse, brain damage, neurological- or severe somatic disorder, measured by a structured questionnaire designed for the study (at T1, T2, and T3). All participants were invited to a 1-year follow up assessment (T2) at T1. At the 5-year follow up assessment (T3), participants were contacted by mail and invited to take part in the study. Dropouts were largely participants that the study was unable to contact due to expired contact information, and participants that had moved away (see **Figure 1**).

Clinical Assessments and Rumination Measures

Clinical assessments were made by trained psychologists. MINI was used to assess history of psychiatric disorders in the DG at T1 (version 5.0), and at T3 (version 6.0). All in the DG met DSM-IV criteria for MDD as measured by MINI. Depressive symptoms were measured by MADRS at all time points. At T3 a retrospective assessment of relapse-, recurrence, and duration of MDD was done using the National Institute of Mental Health's Life Chart Method [NIMH LCM; (44)]. The LCM was used to measure relapse and asses months of depression in the DG since T2. Relapse was defined as reporting one or more depressive episode since T2. Structured interviews were done in the DG assessing exclusion criteria, the use of psychotropic medication

and psychological treatment. Controls were not assessed by clinical interviews or MADRS, as psychiatric disorders were exclusion criteria in this group.

Both the DG and controls completed self-report assessments of depressive- and neurotic rumination at both T2 and T3. Depressive rumination was measured by the Norwegian version of the Ruminative Responses Scale [RRS; (45)], a 22 item four point likert questionnaire that measures ruminative responses to depressive mood. The Norwegian version of the 12 item five point likert rumination subscale of Rumination-Reflection Questionnaire (RRQ) measured rumination independently of depressive mood. This form of self-rumination is associated with the personality trait neuroticism (46, 47). At T2 RRS was only administered to the DG. RRQ was administered in both groups at T2 and T3 (see **Table 1**).

Clinical Profile

Participants differed in how their course of illness developed following FE MDD. At T3 symptom severity as measure by MADRS ranged from not depressed <12 (n = 16), to mild- 12-22 (n = 5), and moderate symptoms 23-29 (n = 2) as indicated by the Norwegian MADRS manual (48). Seventeen patients had one or more episodes of relapse (74%) between T2 and T3. Almost half of the group (n = 11) had histories of comorbid psychiatric symptoms as assessed by MINI at T1 and T3, hereunder: Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Panic Disorder With- and Without Agoraphobia, Agoraphobia, Obsessive Compulsive Disorder, and Social Phobia. There were no instances of exclusion criteria as assessed by MINI; neither Psychotic Disorder nor Alcohol- or Substance Abuse. At T3 four patients were using psychotropic medication: One was currently

| TABLE 1 Demographics and clinical measures | |
|---|--|
| | |

| Demographics and clinical measures for T3 groups (M/F) | Depression group $n = 23 (11/12)$ | Control group n = 20 (9/11) | | | | |
|--|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| | M (SD) | M (SD) | | | | |
| Age | 30.34 (5.74) | 30.45 (6.09) | | | | |
| Education | 15.34 (2.34) | 16.6 (2.01) | | | | |
| IQ ^a | 118.65 (8.47) | 119.7 (8.27) | | | | |
| Age of onset MDD | 25.61 (5.73) | | | | | |
| T2 RRS ^b | 45.49 (11.89) <i>n</i> = 22 | | | | | |
| T3 RRS*** | 48.43 (13.31) | 30.15 (9.74) | | | | |
| T2 RRQ*** | 44.90 (8.99) n = 20 | 30.26 (7.26) <i>n</i> = 19 | | | | |
| T3 RRQ*** | 42.13 (12.52) | 32.40 (8.02) | | | | |
| T1 MADRS ^b | 24.43 (3.8) | | | | | |
| T2 MADRS ^b | 10.27 (5.64) <i>n</i> = 22 | | | | | |
| T3 MADRS ^b | 8.87 (8.13) | | | | | |
| Months depressed since T2 | 12.60 (14.45) <i>n</i> = 21 | | | | | |

M, Mean; SD, Standard Deviation; M/F, Males/Females; n, Number of participants; IQ, Intelligence Quotient. ^ameasured at inclusion ^{***}Significantly different between groups p < 0.001, RRS, Ruminative Responses Scale; RRQ, Rumination-Reflection Questionnaire (Rumination subscale); MADRS, Montgomery Aasberg Depression Rating Scale; ^bCG were not assessed. using a Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor medication (SSRI: Escitalopram), while two were using Selective Serotonin-Noradrenalin Reuptake Inhibitors (SNRI: Venlafaxine). Finally, one participant was prescribed a sedative (Chlorprothixene: Truxal). The same patients were also receiving psychological treatment and outpatient psychiatric follow up. One patient was currently in psychotherapy, while three were in contact with the District Psychiatric Center for outpatient follow up of psychotropic mediation and/or psychotherapy (see **Table 1** for more clinical characteristics).

Ethics and Compensation

All participants gave informed consent to participate in the study. Participants received a gift card valued at 400 Norwegian Kroner (\sim 50 United States Dollars) for their participation. The study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics and was performed in accordance with the World Medical Associations Declaration of Helsinki regarding Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects (49).

Neuropsychological Assessment

Neuropsychological testing took place at the University outpatient clinic for neuropsychology at all points of assessment. Experienced test technicians did the neuropsychological assessment. IQ was measured at inclusion (T1) by Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence [WASI; (50)]. Participants completed a battery of standardized neuropsychological tests at all time points. EF and processing speed were assessed by Delis et al. (51) Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (D-KEFS). Three subtests from the battery were investigated: The Color Word Interference Test (CWIT) measuring processing speed, inhibition, switching and general EF (21), the Verbal Fluency Test (VFT), and the Trail Making Test (TMT) measuring motor- and processing speed, as well as switching (52). See **Supplementary Materials 1** for description of tasks.

Contrast-, composite-, and error scores were computed based on descriptions in the D-KEFS manual (51), and previous studies (41). Contrast scores were made to separate EFs from processing speed, subtracting the Color Naming and Word Reading conditions from the Inhibition- [Inhibition Contrast = Inhibition - (Color Naming + Word Reading)/2], and Inhibition/Switching conditions [Inhibition/Switching Contrast = Inhibition/Switching - (Color Naming + Word Reading)/2]. An EF composite score was for the CWIT overall by separating the processing speed- from the EF conditions [CWIT Executive function composite = (Inhibition + Inhibition/Switching)/2 -(Color Naming + Word Reading)/2]. To separate processing speed and lower cognitive processes from EF, contrast scores for TMT Number-Letter Switching were calculated [Contrast Number-Letter Switching = Number-Letter Switching - (Visual Scanning + Letter Sequencing + Number Sequencing + Motor Speed)/4]. Error scores were pooled for the different D-KEFS tests. In addition, CWIT error scores were pooled to represent executive dysfunction in the Inhibition and Inhibition/Switching conditions, and processing deficits in the Color Naming and Word Reading conditions.

Data Scoring and Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed in Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS version 25). Raw scores, that consisted of seconds to complete task (CWIT, TMT, high score = poor performance), and words generated per minute (VFT, high score = good performance), were used for the neuropsychological tests. Variables were plotted and checked for linearity and outliers. Outliers were inspected and determined to represent real scores and not errors. Normality was assessed using Kolmogorov-Smirnov test of normality and non-parametric tests were used when assumptions were violated. Cohen (53) was used to describe effect sizes as small, medium and large.

Differences Between the DG and Controls in Cognitive Function Over Time

Mixed between-within subjects ANOVA was used to calculate differences between groups in cognitive function and change over the three points of assessment (Group \times Time \times D-KEFS conditions). Box's test of equality of Error Variance and Mauchly's Test of Sphericity was performed and Multivariate statistics reported when the latter assumption was violated. Levenes test of Equality of Error Variances was performed for all ANOVA analyses, and Welch values given when this assumption is violated. One participant in the DG was only available at T1 and T3 and was thus missing from the Mixed between-within subjects ANOVA, and other analyses containing data from T2 (see Figure 1). Groups at T3 were compared by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) on matched variables and clinical measures. Mann Whitney U-tests were used to assess differences between groups on non-parametric data, and independent samples chi square tested for categorical variables. Change scores were calculated by subtracting D-KEFS scores at T2 from D-KEFS scores at T3. Negative values implied decreased performance over time (with the exception of VFT, were the opposite was the case). Paired sample *t*-tests were used to assess changes on D-KEFS by comparing scores from T2 to scores from T3 in the DG, and the control group.

Separating EF and Processing Speed

One-way ANOVA analyses were used to investigate differences between groups on the different D-KEFS conditions and contrast scores at T3. Man Whitney *U*-tests were used to assess error scores and the CWIT EF composite score. Effect size measures (η^2) for Man Whitney *U*-tests were calculated through the following formula ($\eta^2 = Z^2/N-1$).

Traits, States, and Scars, Relationships Between Depression, Rumination, and Cognitive Function

Bivariate correlation coefficients were calculated to explore relationships at T3. The relationship between symptoms of MADRS, RRS, RRQ, and D-KEFS scores was investigated. Spearman's Rho was used as a non-parametric alternative to Pearson's correlation coefficients when assumptions for the latter were not met. To separate depressive state (MADRS T3) from scar effects, an explorative composite score consisting of a standardization (Computed in SPSS) of number of months depressed (*Z*-score months depressed), combined with standardized MADRS scores *before* T3 (T1, T2) were calculated: Scar composite = (ZMADRS T1 + ZMADRS T2 + Zmonths depressed)/3.

RESULTS

Matching of Groups

Groups did not differ significantly (p > 0.05) on any of the matched variables sex, age, and years of education, nor in IQ (see **Table 1** for means and frequencies).

Differences Between the DG and Controls in Cognitive Function Over Time

Mixed between-within subjects ANOVA found a significant interaction effect for Time \times Condition in all D-KEFS tests (see **Table 2**). Means indicated that scores from T1 improved. A lack of a Time \times Condition \times Group interaction supported that improvements did not differ between groups, and that

| | | | Main effects | | | Interaction effects | | |
|------|--------------------|---------------|----------------|---------------|---------------|---------------------|-------------------|------------------------------------|
| | | Group | Condition | Time | Time × group | Time × condition | Condition × group | Time \times cond. \times group |
| CWIT | Wilk's λ | | 0.035 | 0.501 | 0.918 | 0.594 | 0.869 | 0.910 |
| | F _(clf) | 13.55 (1, 40) | 347.96 (3, 38) | 19.34 (2, 39) | 1.75 (2, 39) | 3.99 (6, 35) | 1.906 (3, 38) | 0.58 (6, 35) |
| | Partial eta-sq. | 0.253 | 0.965 | 0.131 | 0.082 | 0.406 | 0.131 | 0.090 |
| | F-sig. | p = 0.001 | p < 0.001 | p < 0.001 | p = 0.188 | p = 0.004 | p = 0.131 | p = 0.74 |
| VFT | Wilk's λ | | 0.035 | 0.772 | 0.968 | 0.759 | 0.918 | 0.971 |
| | F _(clf) | 3.48 (1, 40) | 534.53 (2, 39) | 5.57 (2, 39) | 0.653 (2, 39) | 2.93 (4, 37) | 1.751 (2, 39) | 0.28 (4, 37) |
| | Partial eta-sq. | 0.08 | 0.965 | 0.228 | 0.032 | 0.241 | 0.082 | 0.029 |
| | F-sig. | p = 0.069 | p < 0.001 | p = 0.006 | p = 0.526 | p < 0.05 | p = 0.19 | p = 0.89 |
| TMT | Wilk's λ | | 0.085 | 0.559 | 0.953 | 0.446 | 0.791 | 0.898 |
| | $F_{(df)}$ | 6.53 (1, 40) | 99.53 (4, 37) | 15.41 (4, 39) | 0.953 (2, 39) | 5.12 (8, 33) | 2.45 (4, 37) | 0.469 (8, 33) |
| | Partial eta-sq. | 0.140 | 0.915 | 0.441 | 0.047 | 0.554 | 0.209 | 0.102 |
| | F-sig. | p = 0.015 | p < 0.001 | p < 0.001 | p = 0.39 | p < 0.001 | p = 0.063 | p = 0.87 |

CWIT, Color Word Interference Test; VFT, Verbal Fluency Test; TMT, Trail Making Test; (df), degrees of freedom; Partial Eta-sq., Partial Eta Squared.

| Groups at T3 (M/F) | Depres | sion group <i>n</i> = 23 (11/12) | Control | group <i>n</i> = 20 (9/11) | Statistics | | | | |
|----------------------------------|---------------|----------------------------------|---------------|----------------------------|---------------------|---------|--------|--|--|
| D-KEFS measure | M (SD) | Change score from T2 $n = 22$ | M (SD) | Change score from T2 | F _(1,41) | р | eta sq | | |
| Color word interference test | | | | | | | | | |
| Color naming | 29.87 (4.68) | -0.55 | 26 (4.63) | 0.5 | **7.37 | < 0.01 | 0.152 | | |
| Word reading | 22.52 (3.3) | 0.5 | 18.9 (2.43) | 0.95 | ***16.37 | < 0.000 | 0.285 | | |
| Inhibition | 48.04 (8.28) | -0.95 | 41 (5.91) | 0.1 | ***10.02 | < 0.001 | 0.196 | | |
| Inhibition/switching | 56.13 (7.52) | -0.41 | 48.65 (9.58) | -1.05 | ***8.22 | < 0.001 | 0.167 | | |
| Inhibition contrast | 21.85 (6.38) | -0.52 | 18.55 (5.57) | -0.625 | 3.13 | 0.084 | 0.071 | | |
| Inhibition/switching contrast | 29.93 (5.64) | -0.52 | 26.2 (8.29) | -1.78 | 3.05 | 0.088 | 0.069 | | |
| Verbal fluency | | | | | | | | | |
| Letter fluency ^{hs} | 50.78 (11.48) | -1.27 | 55.2 (10.51) | -0.4 | 1.71 | 0.198 | 0.040 | | |
| Category fluency ^{hs} | 48.48 (10.18) | 0.27 | 51.75 (9.68) | 3.1 | 1.16 | 0.288 | 0.027 | | |
| Category switching ^{hs} | 14.96 (2.2) | 0.32 | 15.4 (2.32) | 0.65 | 0.41 | 0.527 | 0.010 | | |
| Trail making test | | | | | | | | | |
| Visual scanning | 17.91 (4.5) | 0.5 | 15.25 (2.88) | 1 | *5.15 | 0.029 | 0.112 | | |
| Number sequencing | 24.04 (8.47) | 1.95 | 17.3 (4.92) | 2.55* | **9.78 | 0.003 | 0.193 | | |
| Letter sequencing | 24.17 (8.95) | -1.5 | 17.2 (3.37) | 2.55 | **10.78 | 0.002 | 0.203 | | |
| Number letter switching | 62.96 (18.95) | 0.045 | 50.1 (15.26) | 2.65 | *5.88 | 0.02 | 0.126 | | |
| Motor speed | 20.13 (9.68) | -0.86 | 16.8 (5.02) | 1.45 | 1.91 | 0.174 | 0.045 | | |
| Contrast number letter switching | 41.39 (15.33) | 0.02 | 33.46 (14.43) | 0.76 | 3.02 | 0.09 | 0.069 | | |

TABLE 3 | Cognitve performance at T3.

M/F, Males/Females; n, Number of participants; M, Mean (seconds to complete task, except for verbal fluency); SD, Standard Deviation; Df, Degrees of freedom p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p

both processing speed and EF improved similarly over time. In addition, there was a significant main effect of group on the CWIT and TMT, while the VFT only approached significance, with a medium effect size. Overall, groups showed similar improvements, but differed in test performance.

One-way ANOVA tests indicated no significant differences between groups on change scores from T2 to T3. This was supported by paired sample *t*-tests on D-KEFS scores from T2 to T3, that showed there were no significant improvements in scores, with the exception of controls improving on TMT Number Sequencing from T2 (see **Table 3**). In sum, this supported that the Time × Condition interaction above was due to changes from T1 to T2, not from T2 to T3. Cognitive deficits persisted after 5 years and were relatively stable following the acute phase of FE MDD.

One-way ANOVA tests investigated which of the cognitive functions measured by D-KEFS, processing speed or EF, showed largest differences between groups (see **Table 3**). The DG performed significantly poorer than controls in all the conditions of the CWIT at T3. The contrast scores for Inhibition and Inhibition/Switching were not significantly different, although differences showed moderate effect sizes. There were significant differences in all the conditions of the TMT, except Motor Speed. The Number-Letter Switching contrast score approached significance, with a moderate effect size. There were no significant differences in the VFT conditions with small effect sizes. Groups significantly differed in conditions measuring both EF and processing speed, but not motor speed. Contrast scores were not significantly different.

Separating EF and Processing Speed

A significant difference between the groups was found on a composite score for Inhibition and Inhibition/Switching, with the DG performing poorer (M = 25.89, Mdn = 27.5, n = 23) than controls (M = 22.38 M dn = 22.75, n = 20) U = 146.5,p = 0.023, $\eta^2 = 0.099$. Error scores from the two processing speed conditions were also compared to the executive conditions. Errors in the processing speed conditions differed with the DG making more errors (M = 0.87, Mdn = 1), and controls fewer (M = 0.25, Mdn = 0), Mann Whitney $U = 150.5, p = 0.023, \eta^2$ = 0.123. The DG made more errors in the executive conditions (M = 2.13, Mdn = 2), compared to controls (M = 0.85, Mdn= 0.50), Mann Whitney U = 92, p = 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.286$. No significant differences in error scores appeared in either VFT or TMT. Differences in composite score and errors in the EF conditions of CWIT, supported deficits in EF when controlling for processing speed.

Course of Illness

Overall, symptoms of depression and rumination were relatively stable in the DG after T1 (see **Table 1**). The standard deviation of MADRS and months depressed at T3 suggested increased variance of depression in the DG, however. This could reflect a polarization of depressive symptoms in the group. Comorbid disorders increased in the group. At T1 only (16%) had a history of comorbid disorders (one of these dropped out). At T3 (48%) had a history of comorbid disorders. McNemar's test showed that increased comorbidity was significantly greater than chance from

8

9

17 18

| Relationships between symptoms and | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 |
|--|---------|---------|--------|---------|---------|---------|---------|--------|-------|---------|----|----|----|----|----|----|
| cognitive tests | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| MADRS | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| RRS | 0.541** | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| RRQ | 0.305 | 0.810** | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| CWIT: color naming | 0.341 | 0.174 | 0.141 | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| CWIT: word reading | 0.528** | 0.426* | 0.155 | 0.512* | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| CWIT: inhibition | 0.049 | 0.037 | 0.217 | 0.671** | 0.313 | 1 | | | | | | | | | | |
| CWIT: inhibition/switching | 0.363 | 0.241 | 0.242 | 0.656** | 0.581** | 0.357 | 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| CWIT: inhibition contrast | -0.164 | -0.076 | 0.223 | 0.398 | -0.003 | 0.877** | 0.014 | 1 | | | | | | | | |
| CWIT: Inh/switching contrast | 0.182 | 0.104 | 0.169 | 0.266 | 0.222 | 0.044 | 0.847** | -0.224 | 1 | | | | | | | |
|) VFT: letter fluency | -0.063 | 0.203 | 0.252 | 0.135 | -0.236 | 0.147 | 0.09 | 0.227 | 0.152 | 1 | | | | | | |
| 1 VFT: category | -0.424* | -0.362 | -0 101 | -0.022 | -0.500* | 0.058 | -0.02 | 0.204 | 0.09 | 0.578** | 1 | | | | | |

| 10 VFT: letter fluency | -0.063 | 0.203 | 0.252 | 0.135 | -0.236 | 0.147 | 0.09 | 0.227 | 0.152 | 1 | | | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------|---------|--------|--------|---------|---------|-------|---------|--------|--------|---------|---------|--------|---------|---------|---------|--------|---------|-----|
| 11 VFT: category fluency | -0.424* | -0.362 | -0.101 | -0.022 | -0.500* | 0.058 | -0.02 | 0.204 | 0.09 | 0.578** | 1 | | | | | | | |
| 12 VFT: category switching | -0.26 | -0.231 | 0.164 | 0.03 | -0.285 | 0.35 | -0.127 | 0.518* | -0.159 | 0.144 | 0.591** | 1 | | | | | | |
| 13 TMT: visual scanning | 0.551** | 0.137 | 0.053 | 0.548** | 0.464* | 0.388 | 0.649** | 0.088 | 0.430* | -0.243 | -0.247 | -0.168 | 1 | | | | | |
| 14 TMT: number sequencing | 0.521* | 0.264 | 0.088 | 0.509* | 0.457* | 0.335 | 0.591** | 0.032 | 0.420* | 0.183 | -0.121 | -0.167 | 0.667** | 1 | | | | |
| 15 TMT: letter sequencing | 0.545** | 0.171 | 0.034 | 0.560** | 0.387 | 0.15 | 0.443* | -0.025 | 0.199 | 0.002 | -0.029 | 0.119 | 0.550** | 0.457* | 1 | | | |
| 16 TMT: number-letter switching | 0.489* | -0.088 | -0.246 | 0.580** | 0.244 | 0.331 | 0.376 | 0.1 | 0.221 | 0.055 | 0.025 | 0.024 | 0.538** | 0.662** | 0.681** | 1 | | |
| 17 TMT: motor speed | 0.239 | 0.096 | 0.009 | 0.369 | 0.539** | 0.178 | 0.550** | -0.165 | 0.434* | -0.292 | -0.275 | -0.357 | 0.470* | 0.402 | 0.186 | 0.31 | 1 | |
| 18 TMT: N-L switching contrast | 0.308 | -0.192 | -0.344 | 0.487* | 0.09 | 0.301 | 0.157 | 0.154 | 0.031 | 0.079 | 0.097 | 0.083 | 0.34 | 0.472* | 0.566** | 0.946* | * 0.124 | 4 1 |

*p < 0.05 (2-sided), **p < 0.01 (2-sided), MADRS, Montgomery Aasberg Depression Rating Scale; RRS, Ruminative Responses Scale; RRQ, Rumination-Reflection Questionnaire (Rumination subscale); CWIT, Color word interference test; VFT, Verbal Fluency Test; TMT, Trail Making Test. Bold values represent potential state effects.

T1 to T3, p = 0.039 (2-sided), in the DG. This could indicate considerable heterogeneity regarding course of illness after T1.

Relationships Between Symptoms and Cognitive Function

Spearman's Rho was calculated to explore the relationship between depressive symptoms and D-KEFS scores at T3 (see Table 4). MADRS showed small to large correlations with CWIT scores. Word Reading showed the largest relationship to MADRS. Relationships between EF (CWIT contrast and composite scores) and T3 MADRS score was small. There were small to medium relationships between CWIT and depressive rumination, showing similar, but smaller relationships than MADRS. MADRS showed a large relationship to depressive rumination supporting this. The CWIT processing speed measures showed small correlations to neurotic rumination. RRQ showed a moderate relationship to Inhibition/Switching, r = 0.34 n = 23 p = 0.112 (2-sided), although this relationship was smaller on the contrast score r = 0.303 n = 23 p = 0.116(2-sided). CWIT processing speed measures showed the largest relationships to depressive- symptoms and rumination. Neurotic rumination differed, showing only a moderate relationship to Inhibition/Switching.

State Effects VFT and TMT

T3 MADRS showed small to medium relationships to VFT. Category Fluency showed the largest correlation (see Table 4). There were similar but smaller relationships to RRS, and only small relationships to neurotic rumination. MADRS showed small to large correlations with TMT. Most of the processing speed measures showed large relationships to MADRS. TMT Letter Sequencing showed the largest association with MADRS. TMT showed mostly small relationships to both types of rumination. One exception was for the TMT Number-Letter Switching contrast score, that showed a negative moderate relationship with RRQ r = -0.3 n = 23 p = 0.108 (2-sided). Category fluency and the processing speed measures of TMT showed strongest relationships to depressive symptoms. Neurotic rumination showed a moderate negative relationship to Number-Letter Switching contrast score.

Scar and Trait Effects

The scar composite score was used to investigate how previous history of depression related to D-KEFS scores and rumination at T3. The scar composite showed small correlations to all of the CWIT scores except for the CWIT Inhibition/Switching condition, with a moderate correlation r = 0.439 n =23, p = 0.036 (2-sided), and an even stronger relationship to the Inhibition/Switching contrast score r = 0.486 n = 23, p = 0.019 (2-sided), indicating that this relationship could not be explained by processing speed. The scar composite showed a large correlation to RRO at T3 r = 0.562, n = 23, p =0.005 (2-sided), higher than to current depressive symptoms (see Table 4), which could suggest that neurotic rumination show larger relationship to MDD over time than current depressive symptoms. Differences between the DG and controls in CWIT error scores were new, and could thus represent a scar effect. Error scores on the CWIT, especially errors in the EF conditions, showed weak relationships to the scar composite, rho = -0.064n = 23, p = 0.773 (2-sided) in addition to MADRS at T3 rho =-0.073 n = 23, p = 0.742 (2-sided), however. The scar composite was related to Inhibition/Switching and neurotic rumination at T3, but not new differences between groups CWIT error scores.

Traits, Stable Differences Between DG and Controls That Are Unrelated to State and Scar Measures

The CWIT Inhibition contrast score showed small correlations to both state- rho = -0.164, n = 23, p = 0.454 (2-sided), and scar measures of depression, rho = -0.069 n = 23, p = 0.753 (2-sided). It did, however, show a medium correlation to error scores in the executive condition, rho = 0.451, n = 23, p = 0.031, thus EF errors could be related to a trait EF/Inhibition impairment independent of state- and scar effects. CWIT Inhibition score differed between the DG and controls at both T1, T2 and T3, and show negligible relationships to both the scar composite r = 0.059 n = 23, p = 0.788, and MADRS at T3 rho = 0.049 n = 23, p = 0.825 (2-sided), and a comparable relationship to error scores in the EF conditions rho = 0.382 n = 23, p = 0.072 (2-sided). In conclusion, there is some support for stable deficits in CWIT Inhibition that could be independent of state- and scar effects, which thus could represent a cognitive trait deficit in MDD.

DISCUSSION

The main aim of the present study was to investigate cognitive residual symptoms in the first longitudinal 5-year follow up study of FE MDD. In addition, relationships between current- and previous depression, current rumination, and cognitive deficits were also explored. It was expected that stable deficits, unrelated to current and previous MDD history, could represent traits.

Persisting Deficits

The first hypothesis predicted that cognitive deficits would persist after 5 years. This hypothesis was supported. Results suggested that there are broad, relatively stable deficits on most of the cognitive measures. Stable differences are in line with several reviews and meta-analyses showing that cognitive deficits persist in remission (9, 11, 15, 36). However, this is the first study to show deficits 5 years following FE MDD. Importantly, there were no indication of significant cognitive decline after initial episode, and therefore little support for a worsening of cognition during the 5 years, although the study could be underpowered to detect small changes.

Deficits in EF and Processing Speed

Current findings support cognitive deficits in *both* EF and processing speed, in line with the first hypothesis. Although there were larger effect sizes for differences in the latter, there was also moderate effects for differences in EF contrast scores controlling for processing speed. The lack of significant differences in motor speed, also suggest that motor slowing is not sufficient to explain differences on the tests (16, 21). Persisting deficits in EF, even when controlling for processing speed, is mostly supported. This could be contrary to Semkovska et al. (11), were the authors suggest that executive dysfunction is due to deficits in processing speed. Deficits in processing speed showed the largest effects, however.

Course of Illness and Cognition

Table 1 indicated that the DG differed in their rate of depression following first episode (large standard deviations), which could influence results. In addition, the increase in comorbidity could influence cognitive function and has been shown to have a relationship to processing speed (20), but not inhibition (54). Of note, there was no indication of significant worsening in cognitive functions after T1, and therefore limited evidence to support cognitive exacerbation from the increase in comorbidity. The study could be underpowered to detect this, however. The increase could illustrate the need for longer follow up times in clinical studies, as comorbidity commonly increase with increasing follow up time (31). The relatively high depressive rumination could indicate that rumination represent risk factor in remission from MDD (32, 55, 56). Residual symptoms like rumination, and risk factors like comorbid disorders, could thus be of importance when planning treatment and prevention strategies. The majority of patients had undergone psychological- and/or pharmaceutical treatments, that could have influenced neurocognitive function (25, 38). However, some authors have suggested that at least some cognitive deficits persist despite "successful" treatment (39), as indicated the current study, and thus new interventions targeting cognitive functions seem warranted.

Are Deficits Associated With Depressive Symptoms States, Scars, or Traits?

There was mixed support for the hypothesized state, scar, and trait effects. Preliminary results supported the hypothesis that processing speed deficits are influenced by state effects. In addition, this finding is in accordance with meta-analyses and reviews showing relationships between MDD and processing speed deficits (26, 37). Similar, albeit weaker, relationships were found between depressive symptoms, depressive rumination, and cognitive tests. This could suggest that the relationship

between depressive rumination and cognitive function is due to depressive symptoms in the current sample. The small relationships between depressive rumination and EF went contrary to our expectations. Recent meta-analyses, however, support small relationships between EF and rumination (57-59). Of note, neurotic rumination at T3 showed different associations to cognitive tests, and stronger relationships to EF, compared to depressive rumination. Inhibition and switching were related to neurotic rumination, in support of our hypothesis. Switching, an EF, somewhat unexpectedly showed a moderate negative relationship to neurotic rumination, although some studies have found relationships between rumination and better scores on some aspects of EF (60). Alternatively, this could be a spurious relationship. In conclusion, measuring different forms of rumination (61), like neurotic rumination, could probably further elucidate on the relationship between rumination and cognition.

The exploratory scar composite score showed a relationship to Inhibition/Switching. There was no relationship between the scar composite and contrast score for Inhibition. This could indicate a scar effect on mental flexibility, although this finding must be taken with caution, as there was no clear indication for a worsening of cognitive functions over time. Thus, there is limited support for the scar hypothesis in the present study. Age and follow-up time could explain this however: 5-years might be too short, and participants to young, for a scaring effect to appear. Neuropsychological exacerbation caused by depression could probably be more apparent with increasing age (33). Semkovska et al. (11) found evidence for exacerbation of cognition with number of depressive episodes, although this finding could be influenced by age as well. However, it is hard to conclude about scar effects without measuring cognitive functions before onset of FE MDD.

Of note, neurotic rumination correlated with both the scar composite and Inhibition/Switching. Surprisingly, the relationship between neurotic rumination and history of depression, was higher than that to current depressive symptoms. This could suggest that neurotic rumination is a risk factor for-, or at least associated with MDD history. It could be that neuroticism/rumination and Inhibition/Switching are a part of risk factors for MDD over time. The former could support emerging perspectives for understanding mental illness that focus on neuroticism like the p-factor model (62), while the latter is supported by Schmid and Hammar (41), that found relationships between Inhibition/Switching and relapse and recurrence in a FE sample. Differences between the DG and controls in CWIT error scores are new and could thus represent a scar effect, but was not related to the scar composite. The scar composite is a novel construct based on theoretical assumptions [see Figure 1 in (22)], and might imperfectly capture the nature of the depressive history in our sample, however. In conclusion, there is insufficient evidence in the current paper to conclude regarding the scar hypothesis. Finally, neurotic rumination and Inhibition/Switching could be related to history of depression.

Inhibition, although significantly different between the DG and controls during the 5 years, did not show any sizable or

significant relationships to history- or symptoms of depression nor rumination. All this could indicate that inhibition represent a trait and a cognitive risk factor in a group with recurrent depression. The EF function of Inhibition is recognized in other longitudinal studies as a stable deficit in MDD (63–65), in addition to several meta-analyses (9, 17, 36, 37). Inhibition is also the function most strongly associated with the unity EF factor (66), which could point toward a general persisting EF impairment as a trait associated with recurrent MDD.

Strengths and Limitations

This was the first study to investigate cognition in FE MDD after 5 years. Thus, the study could contribute with a unique perspective on the development of MDD. The current study is important due to the considerable length of follow-up time making it able to assess change and stability in cognitive function in relation to symptoms and course of illness. The thorough neuropsychological testing enabled differentiation between processing speed and EF. In addition, symptoms were measured at different time points, making it possible to investigate longitudinal relationships between cognition and symptoms. Furthermore, the study points to several variables which are relevant for further research, like persisting cognitive deficits (neurotic) rumination, and increased rate of comorbidity following the FE MDD. The increase in comorbidity, however, entails that the study did not asses MDD alone, but also comorbid disorders. This might more accurately reflect the common courses of illness and thus enhance the ecological validity of the current study, but also potentially confound results as discussed above and below. Future studies with larger samples should investigate how risk factors like comorbidity, rumination, relapse, and different treatments mediate and moderate cognition and course of illness in MDD.

Despite some strengths, the study also had major limitations. The results were from a small sample, and a selected group. All participants in the DG were outpatients. IQ was in the average to above average range which could mask deficits. However, the DG and controls showed comparable IQ scores and the groups did not differ on matched variables. MINI does not measure personality pathology (other than antisocial personality disorder) which could have been present- and influenced results. In addition, comorbidity, depressive symptoms, and treatment effects, could have confounded results. Dropout was also considerable. Interestingly, dropout was higher in the control group, which could suggest that clinically unrelated factors played a part in this. Many participants were students that moved away after completing university. The lack of clinical assessments of the controls could be viewed as a major limitation. Symptoms in the control group could have influenced results, but the relatively low rumination scores at T3 (see Table 1) suggested that this was not a major issue, however. There were also issues regarding measurements and sample size. Given the long follow up time, the assessments of months depressed could be influenced by subjective memory and is probably not completely accurate, which could have influenced the novel scar composite. Due to increased type II error rate Bonferroni adjustments were not made to significance levels. This could have increased false positive findings. In addition, the study could be underpowered to detect small changes over the 5 years, which could have resulted in the lack of support for scarring effects. In addition, correlations and other effect sizes might be unstable and inflated due to the small sample (67), and should be interpreted with caution. Results should be considered preliminary and should be replicated in larger samples [for a discussion see (68)]. Also, importantly, correlation does not imply causation, thus the current study cannot say anything about the direction of the relationship between symptoms and cognition. Future studies should longitudinally investigate risk factors in larger samples, making it possible to use more complex statistics to causally model relationships between variables, like in structural equation models. Furthermore, several measures of EFs should be included to facilitate composite scores to more accurately capture the diversity functions of EF and their relationships to symptoms, risk factors, and treatments. Finally, to best inform on the state, trait, and scar debate, prospective longitudinal studies should be done, measuring cognition before the onset of MDD, and thus asses predisposing traits, and potentially scarring effects of FE MDD not captured by the current study.

CONCLUSION

The present study indicated that a group of former FE MDD patients showed lasting, stable, deficits in cognition compared to a healthy matched control group after 5 years. There were deficits in both processing speed and EF. Findings suggest that processing speed are related to depressive symptoms indicating state effects. There was no clear worsening of cognitive function. Some aspects of EF like Inhibition showed persistent deficits independent of depressive symptom state, indicating trait effects. The study underscores the importance of persisting cognitive residual

REFERENCES

- Otte C, Gold SM, Penninx BW, Pariante CM, Etkin A, Fava M, et al. Major depressive disorder. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2016) 2:16065. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.65
- Hardeveld F, Spijker J, De Graaf R, Nolen WA, Beekman ATF. Recurrence of major depressive disorder and its predictors in the general population: results from the Netherlands mental health survey and incidence study (NEMESIS). *Psychol Med.* (2013) 43:39–48. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712002395
- Vos T, Haby MM, Barendregt JJ, Kruijshaar M, Corry J, Andrews G. The burden of major depression avoidable by longer-term treatment strategies. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2004) 61:1097–103. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.61.11.1097
- Papakostas GI, Petersen T, Mahal Y, Mischoulon D, Nierenberg AA, Fava M. Quality of life assessments in major depressive disorder: a review of the literature. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry.* (2004) 26:13–7. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2003.07.004
- Ten Doesschate MC,Koeter MWJ, Bockting CLH, Schene AH, The DELTA Study Group. Health related quality of life in recurrent depression: a comparison with a general population sample. *J Affect Disord*. (2010) 120:126– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.04.026
- Kessing LV, Andersen PK. Evidence for clinical progression of unipolar and bipolar disorders. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2017) 135:51–64. doi: 10.1111/acps.12667

symptoms following FE MDD, and the need to adapt treatments and prevention strategies targeting cognitive functioning.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics and the Norwegian Data Inspectorate approved the study. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ER: collection and analysis of data, writing manuscript draft, tables, and figures. KO: writing and editing. ÅH: study PI, writing and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Helsevest project 911436 and Research Council of Norway NFR-kontrakt 185712/V50.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2020.575867/full#supplementary-material

- Moylan S, Maes M, Wray NR, Berk M. The neuroprogressive nature of major depressive disorder: pathways to disease evolution and resistance, and therapeutic implications. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2012) 18:595–606. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.33
- Conradi HJ, Ormel J, de Jonge P. Presence of individual (residual) symptoms during depressive episodes and periods of remission: a 3-year prospective study. *Psychol Med.* (2011) 41:1165–74. doi: 10.1017/S00332917100 01911
- Bora E, Harrison BJ, Yücel M, Pantelis C. Cognitive impairment in euthymic major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2013) 43:2017–26. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712002085
- Hasselbalch BJ, Knorr U, Kessing LV. Cognitive impairment in the remitted state of unipolar depressive disorder: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2011) 134:20–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2010.11.011
- Semkovska M, Quinlivan L, O'Grady T, Johnson R, Collins A, O'Connor J, et al. Cognitive function following a major depressive episode: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2019) 6:851–61. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30291-3
- Hammar Å, Årdal G. Cognitive functioning in major depression a summary. Front Hum Neurosci. (2009) 3:1–7. doi: 10.3389/neuro.09.026.2009
- Knight MJ, Baune BT. Executive subdomains are differentially associated with psychosocial outcomes in major depressive disorder. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:1–8. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00309

- 14. Zajecka JM. Residual symptoms and relapse: mood, cognitive symptoms, and sleep disturbances. J Clin Psychiatry. (2013) 74:9–13. doi: 10.4088/JCP.12084su1c.02
- Douglas KM, Porter RJ. Longitudinal assessment of neuropsychological function in major depression. *Aust N Zeal J Psychiatry*. (2009) 43:1105–17. doi: 10.3109/00048670903279887
- Rock PL, Roiser JP, Riedel WJ, Blackwell AD. Cognitive impairment in depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2014). 44:2029–40. doi: 10.1017/S0033291713002535
- Snyder HR. Major depressive disorder is associated with broad impairments on neuropsychological measures of executive function: a meta-analysis and review. *Psychol Bull.* (2013) 139:81–132. doi: 10.1037/a0028727
- Henry JD, Crawford JR. A meta-analytic review of verbal fluency deficits in depression. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. (2005) 27:78–101. doi: 10.1080/138033990513654
- Porter RJ, Robinson LJ, Malhi GS, Gallagher P. The neurocognitive profile of mood disorders - a review of the evidence and methodological issues. *Bipolar Disord*. (2015) 17:21–40. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12342
- Nigg JT, Jester JM, Stavro GM, Ip KI, Puttler LI, Zucker RA. Specificity of executive functioning and processing speed problems in common psychopathology. *Neuropsychology*. (2017) 31:448–66. doi: 10.1037/neu0000343
- Snyder HR, Miyake A, Hankin BL. Advancing understanding of executive function impairments and psychopathology: bridging the gap between clinical and cognitive approaches. *Front Psychol.* (2015) 6:328. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00328
- Allott K, Fisher CA, Amminger GP, Goodall J, Hetrick S. Characterizing neurocognitive impairment in young people with major depression: state, trait, or scar? *Brain Behav.* (2016) 6:1–12. doi: 10.1002/brb3.527
- 23. Peters AT, Jacobs RH, Crane NA, Ryan KA, Weisenbach SL, Ajilore O, et al. Domain-specific impairment in cognitive control among remitted youth with a history of major depression. *Early Inter Psychiatry*. (2017) 11:383–92. doi: 10.1111/eip.12253
- Douglas KM, Gallagher P, Robinson LJ, Carter JD, McIntosh VVW, Frampton CMA, et al. Prevalence of cognitive impairment in major depression and bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord*. (2018) 20:260–74. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12602
- Bernhardt M, Klauke S, Schroeder A. Longitudinal course of cognitive function across treatment in patients with MDD: a meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2019) 249:52–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.02.021
- Mcdermott LM, Ebmeier KP. A meta-analysis of depression severity and cognitive function. J Affect Disord. (2009) 119:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.04.022
- Hasselbalch BJ, Knorr U, Hasselbalch SG, Gade A, Kessing LV. The cumulative load of depressive illness is associated with cognitive function in the remitted state of unipolar depressive disorder. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2013) 28:349–55. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2012.03.004
- Baune BT, Mcafoose J, Leach G, Quirk F, Mitchell D. Impact of psychiatric and medical comorbidity on cognitive function in depression. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2009) 63:392–400. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2009.01971.x
- Beblo T, Sinnamon G, Baune BT. Specifying the neuropsychology of affective disorders: Clinical, demographic and neurobiological factors. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2011) 21:337–59. doi: 10.1007/s11065-011-9171-0
- Joormann J, Stanton CH. Examining emotion regulation in depression: a review and future directions. *Behav Res Ther.* (2016) 86:35–49. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2016.07.007
- Moffitt TE, Harrington H, Caspi A, Kim-Cohen J, Goldberg D, Gregory AM, et al. Depression and generalized anxiety disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2007) 64:651. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.64.6.651
- Watkins ER, Roberts H. Reflecting on rumination: consequences, causes, mechanisms and treatment of rumination. *Behav Res Ther.* (2020). 127:103573. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2020.103573
- Dotson VM, McClintock SM, Verhaeghen P, Kim JU, Draheim AA, Syzmkowicz SM, et al. Depression and cognitive control across the lifespan: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2020). doi: 10.1007/s11065-020-09436-6
- Goodall J, Fisher C, Hetrick S, Phillips L, Parrish EM, Allott K. Neurocognitive functioning in depressed young people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2018) 28:216–31. doi: 10.1007/s11065-018-9373-9

- Hammar Å, Rekkedal Årdal G. Cognitive impairment and neurocognitive profiles in major depression- a summary. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020).
- Ahern E, Semkovska M. Cognitive functioning in the first-episode of major depressive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychology*. (2017) 31:52. doi: 10.1037/neu0000319
- Lee RSC, Hermens DF, Porter MA, Redoblado-Hodge MA. A meta-analysis of cognitive deficits in first-episode major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2012) 140:113–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.10.023
- Arnone D. Functional MRI findings, pharmacological treatment in major depression and clinical response. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2019) 91:28–37. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.08.004
- Keefe RSE, McClintock SM, Roth RM, Murali Doraiswamy P, Tiger S, Madhoo M. Cognitive effects of pharmacotherapy for major depressive disorder: a systematic review. J Clin Psychiatry. (2014) 75:864–76. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13r08609
- Schmid M, Hammar Å. Cognitive function in first episode major depressive disorder: poor inhibition and semantic fluency performance. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry*. (2013) 18:515–30. doi: 10.1080/13546805.2012.754748
- Schmid MT, Hammar Å. A follow-up study of first episode major depressive disorder. Impairment in inhibition and semantic fluency—potential predictors for relapse? *Front Psychol.* (2013) 4:633. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00633
- Montgomery SA, Åsberg M. A new depression scale designed to be sensitive to change. *The Br J Psychiatry*. (1979) 134:382–9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.134.4.382
- 43. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The mini-international neuropsychiatric interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (1998). 59:22–33. doi: 10.1037/t18597-000
- Denicoff KD, Leverich GS, Nolen WA, Rush AJ, McElroy SL, Keck PE, et al. Validation of the prospective NIMH-life-chart method (NIMH-LCM TM-p) for longitudinal assessment of bipolar illness. *Psychol Med.* (2000) 30:1391–7. doi: 10.1017/S0033291799002810
- Treynor W, Gonzalez R, Nolen-Hoeksema N. Ruminative reconsiderd: a psychometric analysis. Cogn Ther Res. (2003) 27:247–59. doi: 10.1023/A:1023910315561
- Trapnell PD, Campbell JD. Private self-consciousness and the five-factor model of personality: distinguishing rumination from reflection. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1999) 76:284–304. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.76.2.284
- Watkins ER. Constructive and unconstructive repetitive thought. *Psychol Bull.* (2008) 134:163–206. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.134.2.163
- Malt UF. Montgomery Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (madrs): en Brukerveiledning. (2016) Available online at: https://www.helsebiblioteket. no/psykisk-helse/skaringsverktoy/madrs-~brukerveiledning (accessed November 23, 2020).
- World Medical Association. World medical association declaration of helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *JAMA*. (2013) 310:2191–94. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281053
- Wechsler, D. Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence Manual. San Antonio, TX: Harcourt Assessment (1999).
- 51. Delis DC, Kaplan E, Kramer JH. Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System: Examiners Manual. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation (2001).
- 52. Lezak M. Neuropsychological Assessment. 5th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2012).
- Cohen, J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. (1988) Available online at: https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/bergen-ebooks/ reader.action?docID=1192162 (accessed November 23, 2020).
- Lyche P, Jonassen R, Stiles T, Ulleberg P, Landro N. Cognitive control functions in unipolar major depression with and without co-morbid anxiety disorder. *Front Psychiatry*. (2010) 1:149. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2010. 00149
- Aker M, Harmer C, Landrø II. More rumination and less effective emotion regulation in previously depressed women with preserved executive functions. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2014) 14:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12888-014-0 334-4
- 56. Ronold EH, Joormann J, Hammar Å. Facing recovery: emotional bias in working memory, rumination, relapse, and recurrence of major depression; an experimental paradigm conducted five years after first

episode of major depression. *Appl Neuropsychol.* (2020) 27:299–310. doi: 10.1080/23279095.2018.1550406

- Zetsche U, Bürkner PC, Schulze L. Shedding light on the association between repetitive negative thinking and deficits in cognitive control – a meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2018) 63:56–65. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2018.06.001
- Yang Y, Cao S, Shields GS, Teng Z, Liu Y. The relationships between rumination and core executive functions: a meta-analysis. *Depress Anxiety*. (2017) 34:37–50. doi: 10.1002/da.22539
- Vălenas SP, Szentágotai-Tătar A. The relationship between rumination and executive functions: a meta-analysis. *J Evid Based Psychother*. (2017) 17:23–52. doi: 10.24193/jebp.2017.2.2
- Roberts H, Watkins ER, Wills AJ. Does rumination cause "inhibitory" deficits? *Psychopathol Rev.* (2017) 4:341–76. doi: 10.5127/pr.03 6914
- du Pont A, Rhee SH, Corley RP, Hewitt JK, Friedman NP. Rumination and executive functions: understanding cognitive vulnerability for psychopathology. J Affect Disord. (2019) 256:550–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.06.026
- Caspi A, Moffitt TE. All for one and one for all: Mental disorders in one dimension. Am J Psychiatry. (2018) 175:831–44. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17121383
- Hammar Å, Sørensen L, Årdal G, Oedegaard KJ, Kroken R, Roness A, et al. Enduring cognitive dysfunction in unipolar major depression: a testretest study using the Stroop paradigm. *Scand J Psychol.* (2010) 51:304–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9450.2009.00765.x
- 64. Årdal G, Hammar Å. Is impairment in cognitive inhibition in the acute phase of major depression irreversible? Results from a 10-year

follow-up study. Psychol Psychother Theory Res Prac. (2011) 84:141-50. doi: 10.1348/147608310X502328

- Biringer E, Lundervold A, Stordal K, Mykletun A, Egeland J, Bottlender R, et al. Executive function improvement upon remission of recurrent unipolar depression. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2005) 255:373–80. doi: 10.1007/s00406-005-0577-7
- Friedman NP, Miyake A. Unity and diversity of executive functions: individual differences as a window on cognitive structure. *Cortex.* (2017) 86:186–204. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2016.04.023
- Button KS, Ioannidis JPA, Mokrysz C, Nosek BA, Flint J, Robinson ESJ, et al. Power failure: why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 14:365–76. doi: 10.1038/nrn3475
- Asendorpf JB, Conner M, De Fruyt F, De Houwer J, Denissen JJA, Fiedler K, et al. Recommendations for increasing replicability in psychology. *Eur J Pers.* (2013) 27:108–19. doi: 10.1002/per.1919

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Ronold, Schmid, Oedegaard and Hammar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Efficacy of an Internet-Based Intervention for Subclinical Depression (MoodBox) in China: Study Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial

Xu Chen^{1,2}, Xiaolong Zhang^{1,2}, Xuequan Zhu^{1,2} and Gang Wang^{1,2*}

¹ Beijing Key Laboratory of Mental Disorders, The National Clinical Research Center for Mental Disorders, Beijing Anding Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, ² Advanced Innovation Center for Human Brain Protection, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yuan-Pang Wang, University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Tommi Härkänen, National Institute for Health and Welfare, Finland Tobias Krieger, University of Bern, Switzerland

> ***Correspondence:** Gang Wang

gangwangdoc@ccmu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 21 July 2020 Accepted: 26 November 2020 Published: 12 January 2021

Citation:

Chen X, Zhang X, Zhu X and Wang G (2021) Efficacy of an Internet-Based Intervention for Subclinical Depression (MoodBox) in China: Study Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial. Front. Psychiatry 11:585920. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.585920 **Background:** Subclinical depression is a prevalent mental health problem and increases the incidence of the onset of major mood disorders, such as major depressive disorder (MDD). Psychological interventions have been proved to be effective for reducing depressive symptoms for people with subclinical depression and can prevent the onset of MDD. However, people have limited access to face-to-face psychotherapy. Internet-based psychological intervention is an alternative treatment option. The aim of the study is to evaluate the efficacy of MoodBox, an online psychological intervention program, for subclinical depression.

Methods: This study is a multicenter, randomized, controlled, non-blinded superiority study with three parallel groups. A total of 435 first-year university students with subclinical depression will be recruited. Eligible participants will be randomly assigned to the MoodBox group, the online psychoeducation group, and the naturalistic observation group at a ratio of 1:1:1. The intervention period is 8 weeks, and participants will be continuously followed up for 1 year. The primary outcome of the study is the efficacy of the intervention, defined as measured by the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9).

Discussion: This is the first study to innovatively develop and test an intervention to improve psychological well-being and decrease the incidence of MDD in a subclinical depression population in China. Once proven effective and acceptable, MoodBox could be potentially integrated into the routine clinical service to facilitate the management for people with subclinical depression.

Clinical Trial Registration: The trial is registered with the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry on 21 July 2020 (No. ChiCTR2000034826).

Keywords: subclinical depression, internet-based, digital intervention, psychotherapy, prevention, RCT - randomized controlled trial

INTRODUCTION

Subclinical depression, also known as subthreshold depression, subsyndromal depression, or minor depression, is considered to be a condition that does not meet the diagnostic criteria for depression but present with at least two and no more than four depressive symptoms, which must include one of the core symptoms of major depressive disorder (MDD) (i.e., depressed mood or anhedonia) and last a duration for at least 2 weeks (1–3). The prevalence of subclinical depression ranges from 1.3 to 17% in primary care and from 1.4 to 17.2% in community settings (2). Subclinical depression has detrimental effects on psychosocial function and quality of life, increases service utilization, and carries a high risk of developing into a full-blown depression (4, 5). Furthermore, a meta-analysis indicated that the mortality rates in subclinical depression are comparable with those in MDD (6).

Although depressive disorders are the most frequent consequence of subclinical depression, it can also lead to other mood disorders. From the clinical staging approach, subclinical depression could be the prodromal stage for a variety of mental health problems (7). However, studies on subclinical depression mostly focus on preventing the onset of depression, and other mood disorders are commonly overlooked (8, 9). Moreover, in light that depressive episode is usually the first episode of bipolar disorder (10), especially in young age, the reduction of depressive symptoms is not equivalent to remission of subclinical depression; alternatively, it may be a sign for the development of mania or hypomania. Therefore, a comprehensive assessment of mood events is necessary for subclinical depression.

Psychotherapy is effective in reducing depressive symptoms for people with subclinical depression and can prevent the onset of MDD (11). Although medication is recommended to treat depression, no evidence has supported the use of medication for subclinical depression (12). Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), interpersonal psychotherapy (IPT), problem-solving therapy (PST), and internet-based psychotherapy are primary choices for treating subclinical depression and preventing depression (13). However, traditional psychotherapy (i.e., face-to-face therapy carried out by a therapist) is not suitable for the preventive use in a large population, due to the limited number of qualified therapists and high costs (14–16). Moreover, in China, currently, mental health service is prioritized for people who meet the clinical threshold, and people with subclinical conditions are largely underserved (17).

Internet-based psychotherapy has the advantage of being accessible at any time and place, people can work in their own pace, and at-risk individuals can be reached more timely as compared with traditional face-to-face approach (18). Therefore, an effective internet-based psychological intervention has the potential to meet the need for the underserved population. Although internet-based interventions have been proved effective in western countries (18–20), to date, in China, no internet-based psychological intervention for subclinical depression has been developed and tested. To address the gap, informed by evidence-based psychological interventions for subclinical depression (e.g., CBT and IPT), we developed

an internet-based psychological intervention program, named MoodBox, for people with subclinical depression, and we carried out a randomized controlled trial (RCT) to test the efficacy of the program. The primary aim of the study is to evaluate the efficacy of MoodBox for subclinical depression. The secondary aims are to evaluate the feasibility, usability, acceptability, and safety of MoodBox. To the authors' knowledge, MoodBox is the first internet-based intervention for subclinical depression in China.

METHODS

Study Design

The study is a multicenter, randomized, controlled, nonblinded superiority study with three parallel groups. People with subclinical depression will be invited to participate in the study. Eligible participants will be randomly assigned to one of the three groups-the MoodBox group, the online psychoeducation group, and the naturalistic observation groupat a ratio of 1:1:1. By designing a three-arm study and choosing online psychoeducation and naturalistic observation as comparators, we aim to minimize the influence of digital placebo effect and the natural remission of subclinical depression. The intervention period of the study is 8 weeks. Following the completion of the intervention period, the participants will be continuously followed up for 1 year. All assessments will be conducted remotely using a social media app (WeChat) to send out notifications to participants. At each follow-up time window, a notification will be sent out via the WeChat public account to remind the participant to fill out a set of selfreport scales. The participants will be asked to report general information, symptom severity, social functioning, childhood traumatic experiences, parenting experiences, attachment, and coping style at the baseline and to report their symptom severity and social functioning at each follow-up time point. After the baseline assessment, the participants will be assessed at 2, 4, and 6 weeks after they started to receive the intervention and a post-intervention assessment at 8 weeks. After that, participants will enter the follow-up phase and will be assessed at 12-week, 6-month, 9-month, and 12-month follow-up time points. See Figure 1 for a flowchart demonstrating the study procedure in detail. The study has been registered as a clinical trial on the Chinese Clinical Registry website (Registration number: ChiCTR2000034826).

Participation Eligibility

The eligibility of participants will be assessed in accordance with the following inclusion and exclusion criteria by psychiatrists through clinical interview and relative scales. The inclusion criteria are (1) age 18 years or older, no restriction for gender; (2) the score of two to four items on the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) scale ≥ 2 (must include the first or second item, which are the indicator for core symptoms of depression) and a total score ≤ 9 ; (3) not meeting diagnostic criteria for any mental disorders according to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (Fourth Edition) (DSM-IV); and (4) being able to give consent. The exclusion criteria are (1) having severe and



unstable physical illness; (2) having organic brain damage; or (3) being alcohol or drug dependent. A psychiatrist will be using Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) to rule out any mental disorders. The exclusion criteria will be assessed through clinical interview by completing a screening checklist of the study.

Sample Size

Four hundred thirty-five participants are intended to enroll and will be randomized with a ratio of 1:1:1. The estimated sample size provides 80% power (two sided α = 0.025, considering a multiple comparison) to detect difference in the primary outcome and the proportion of participants without subclinical depression between the MoodBox group with the online psychoeducation group and the observation group in a survival analysis (assuming the minimum difference is 14%) after 8 weeks. Taking into account a predicted 20% attrition for this comparison, at least 145 participants would be needed in each group. The calculation was based on a meta-analysis that reported clinical difference between the internet-based intervention group and psychoeducation group (9), and the calculating methods were in accordance with Chow et al.'s instruction (21).

Recruitment and Randomization

The study is a multicenter, three-arm, parallel RCT. The study will be conducted at three universities in Beijing, China. First-year students who are waiting for the regular physical examination will be invited by research staff to complete a brief screening questionnaire to assess their eligibility. Students who meet the eligibility criteria will be provided with the participant information sheet and the consent form of the study. If the participants were interested in participating in the study, research staff would give a more comprehensive face-to-face explanation of the study in a private consultation room. Written consent will be required before the participant formally enrolls in the study. Eligible participants will be randomly assigned to three groupsthe MoodBox group, the online psychoeducation group, or the observation group-with a ratio of 1:1:1. Randomization will take place after the completion of baseline assessment using a randomization code, which will be developed in SAS 9.4 (SAS

| Themes | Contents | Session |
|----------------------------|---|--|
| Introduction | What is depression? | Session 1 |
| | What is MoodBox? | Session 1 |
| | Introduction of the process of MoodBox | Session 1 |
| | Symptom assessment | Session 1 |
| Cognitive intervention | Learning automatic thoughts | Sessions 2–6 |
| | Identify distortion thoughts | Sessions 2–6 |
| | Practicing cognitive intervention techniques | Sessions 7–10 |
| | Review and testing | Session 11 |
| Interpersonal intervention | Interpersonal problem diagnoses | Session 12 |
| | Learning interpersonal theory | Session 13 |
| | Practicing interpersonal intervention | Sessions 14–17 |
| | Review and testing | Session 18 |
| Relaxation | Mindfulness meditation | Sessions 2–10 and Sessions 12–17 |
| | Relaxation music | Sessions 2–6 |
| Review and termination | | Sessions 19–20 |

Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) by a statistician who is not involved in the study.

Intervention

MoodBox Group

MoodBox will The group receive an 8-week internet-based psychotherapy program. The program is a web-based psychological intervention informed by evidencebased psychological interventions, including CBT, IPT, and mindfulness meditation. The program consists of four core modules, which are symptom assessment, cognitive therapy, interpersonal therapy, and relaxation. There are 20 sessions in total, and each session takes approximately 30 min to complete. Participants are expected to complete a minimum of two sessions per week. After finishing each session, participants will receive a virtual trophy in the program as a reward. Participants will be assigned with a user account and receive training of the program at the first visit.

An outline of a brief description of the internet-based intervention program contents can be found in **Table 1**. The first module (session 1) of MoodBox is an introduction of the program that provides a comprehensive explanation of depression and the program, and there is an assessment of depression using PHQ-9 at the end of this session. The second module is cognitive intervention (sessions 2–11), which is based on cognitive reconstruction technique of CBT. This module will illustrate by animation the different types of automatic thoughts that are related to depression. After the illustration, participants will be required to identify

their own automatic thoughts and to practice modifying the automatic thoughts by doing exercises in the program. The third module is interpersonal intervention (sessions 12–18). This module is based on IPT theory and focuses on interpersonal problems related to depression. The fourth module is relaxation, which includes mindfulness meditation and relaxation music. This module is not stand-alone; instead, it was embedded in other modules and would be presented after finishing each session. The final module is review and termination (sessions 19 and 20). In this module, participants will review all the previous sessions and will be given advice for their future life.

Online Psychoeducation Group

For the online psychoeducation group, a psychoeducation website will be provided. The website will deliver psychoeducation that includes general information about depression and tips for managing depressive moods. However, the psychoeducation website does not contain any therapeutic contents. Participants will be asked to visit the website twice a week during the 8-week intervention period and will be followed up continuously for 1 year.

Naturalistic Observation Group

Participants in the observation group will only receive regular follow-up at the same visit time point with the MoodBox group and will be followed up continuously for 1 year.

Outcome Measures and Data Collection Procedure

The follow-up procedure has been summarized in **Table 2**, including the outcome measures and the assessment time points of the study. Other information includes demographics information, medical history, and current treatment plan, which will be collected by questionnaires via WeChat public account. The adverse events will be assessed by participants' self-report and documented by the research team.

Primary Outcome

The primary outcome is the efficacy of the intervention measured by the PHQ-9 (22). PHQ-9 is a nine-item reliable and valid self-report depression severity screening and diagnostic tool based on the DSM-IV criteria (23, 24). Response options are "not at all," "several days," "more than half the days," and "nearly every day," scored as 0, 1, 2, and 3, respectively (total score range from 0 to 27). In the current study, efficacy is defined as the participants score ≥ 2 on less than two items on the PHQ-9 scale at post-treatment assessment. PHQ-9 has demonstrated high reliability and validity in the Chinese population, with Cronbach's alpha for the internal consistency reliability being 0.86, the correlation coefficient for the 2week test-retest of the total score being 0.86, and positive correlation with the Self-Rating Depression Scale (SDS; r = 0.29, p < 0.001) and the 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36; correlation coefficients ranged from -0.11 to -0.47, p <0.001) (25).

Chen et al.

TABLE 2 | Measures and visit time point of outcome assessment.

| Visit time point | Visit 1 (–7 to 0 days) | Visit 2 (day 0) | Visit 3 (14 ± 2 days) | Visit 4 (28 ± 2 days) | Visit 5 (42 \pm 2 days) | Visit 6 (56 ± 7 days) | Visit 7 (84 ± 7 days) | Visit 8 (6 months ± 14 days) (9 | Visit 9 9 months ± 14 days) | Visit 10 (12 months \pm 14 days) |
|---|---------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Informed consent | × | | | | | | | | | |
| Patient general demographics | × | | | | | | | | | |
| Medical history | × | | | | | | | | | |
| Physical and nervous system examination | × | | | | | | | | | × |
| DSM-IV diagnosis | × | | | | | | | | | × |
| Inclusion and exclusion criteria | × | × | | | | | | | | |
| General information collection form | | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × |
| PHQ-9 | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × |
| GAD-7 | | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × |
| ASRM | | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × |
| LES | | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × |
| CTQ | | × | | | | | | | | |
| IPPA | | × | | | | | | | | |
| EMBU | | × | | | | | | | | |
| CSQ | | × | | | | | | | | |
| Treatment status | | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × |
| Adverse events | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × | × |
| Adherence to intervention | | | × | × | × | × | | | | |
| Satisfaction and acceptability for the intervention | | | × | × | × | × | | | | |

DSM-IV, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Fourth Edition); PHQ-9, Patient Health Questionnaire; GAD-7, Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7; ASRM, Altman Self-Rating Mania Scale; LES, Life Event Scale; CTQ, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; IPPA, Inventory of Parent and Peer Attachment; CSQ, Coping Style Questionnaire.

Secondary Outcomes

Onset of Mood Events

The incidence of mood events of participants in each group (MoodBox group, online psychoeducation group, and naturalistic observation group) during the follow-up period will be assessed by (a) depressive episode: meet the diagnosis of a depressive episode as measured by PHQ-9 diagnostic algorithm or according to the DSM-IV diagnostic criteria; (b) hypomania or manic episode: the Altman Self-Rating Mania Scale (ASRM) scale total score ≥ 5 or meet the diagnosis of hypomania or manic episode based on DSM-IV diagnostic criteria.

ASRM is a five-item mania self-rating scale for assessing the severity of mania or hypomania (26). A cutoff score of 5 or higher indicates a high probability of a manic or hypomanic condition (based on a sensitivity rating of 85.5% and a specificity rating of 87.3%).

Response Rate

The response rate is defined as the proportion of participants who do not meet the criteria of subclinical depression of each study group during the follow-up period. The efficacy of the continuous intervention is defined as the participants showed a decrease of depression symptoms measured by PHQ-9 (less than two items of the scale score ≥ 2 and the total score < 5) for all the post-treatment follow-up assessments after completing 8 weeks' intervention.

Participant Adherence to the Intervention

The adherence of participants to the assigned intervention will be measured by the usage of the intervention website. Specifically, we will measure the frequency of log-in, duration of website use, and completeness of homework.

Participant Satisfaction and Acceptability for the Intervention

The satisfaction and acceptability of the intervention will be assessed by questionnaires at the end of the intervention. In the questionnaire, the researchers asked about "how easy is it for you to understand the content?," "how easy is it for you to use the program?," "do you feel the program can help you manage your mental difficulties?," "do you want to use the program in the future?," and "will you recommend the program to other people?." The participants will be asked to answer each question in a scale of 1–5. Qualitative interviews will also be conducted with participants who are willing to participate.

Contributing Factors of Subclinical Depression

In order to identify the contributing factors of subclinical depression, psychosocial outcomes including anxiety, life events, attachment style, coping style, and parenting style will also be assessed, which will be measured by the Generalized Anxiety Scale (GAD)-7, the Life Event Scale (LES), Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ), the Inventory of Parent and Peer Attachment (IPPA), Egna Minnen Beträffande Uppfostran ("own memories of parental rearing practices in childhood," EMBU), and Coping Style Questionnaire (CSQ), relatively. The Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) is a seven-item

self-report scale for assessing the severity of anxiety. Each item is scored from 0 to 3, with a total score of 21 (27). The Chinese version of the scale established good reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.90$) (28). Negative life events will be measured by LES, a 48-item self-report scale to measure positive and negative life events (29). The scale measures events regarding serious illness, housing, relationships and social difficulties, relationship breakdowns, unemployment, and financial crisis. Childhood traumatic experiences will be assessed by CTQ (30). The CTQ consists of 28 items, with each item scored from 1 to 5 with a total score of 125. Attachment will be measured using IPPA, a 25-item scale consisting of two core components: parent attachments and peer attachments (31). The EMBU is used to measure perceived parents' raring behaviors (32), with a questionnaire comprising 81 questions and 15 subscales covering raring behaviors such as overinvolvement, affection, overprotectiveness, guilt engendering, and rejection. Coping strategies will be assessed using CSQ (33). The CSQ consists of 20 items to assess different ways of coping, with each item having four response options: "never used," "occasionally used," "sometimes used," and "often used."

Statistical Consideration

Data management and statistical analysis will be conducted using SAS9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). The sample characteristics would be compared using chi-square test for categorical variables or using Fisher's Z test when needed; ANOVA tests for normal distributed variables; and Mann-Whitney's U test for non-normal distributed variables. Analysis of efficacy will be based on an intent-to-treat principle, comprising all participants randomized regardless of the treatment group. The Kaplan–Meier survival analysis will be used to calculate the estimated time from baseline to response during 8 weeks' follow-up.

The Cox proportional hazard regression model using the Breslow method will be used to compare estimated time to response between groups, with control for covariates such as age, gender, years of education, and disease-related conditions; also we would use the exact method as sensitive analysis in case of tied survival data. Considering the long interval between visits after week 8, we will also use maximum likelihood estimation for Cox hazard regression model following Shen's work (34) to control left interval truncated data. Secondary analyses will be performed to assess changes from baseline to the endpoint of the study on scores of scales, using mixed-effects model for repeated-measures analysis (MMRM). A *p*-value < 0.05 is considered as statistically significant. The Bonferroni method will be used to control multiple comparisons of type I error inflation.

DISCUSSION

Although recommendations have been made to manage subclinical depression (35, 36), most people with subclinical depression do not receive any treatment (14–16), even though the risk of subclinical depression turning into a full-blown depressive disorder is high. In recent years, in China, an increasing

number of mental health professionals recommend people with subclinical depression to receive psychological interventions. However, because the number of qualified psychotherapists is limited, there is a significant lack of accessibility for people with subclinical depression in China (16). Internetbased interventions are suitable for resource-limited settings with constrained mental health services and have the potential to be scaled up, which in turn will be a solution for scalable subclinical intervention.

MoodBox combined different evidence-based psychological interventions that are established as being effective to reduce depressive symptoms, including CBT, IPT, and mindfulness meditation. The theoretical background of existing internetbased psychological interventions is primarily based on CBT. By combining multiple evidence-based interventions, MoodBox offers a more comprehensive intervention and provides more treatment options. Due to the diverse symptom presentation of people with subclinical depression, a comprehensive intervention has the potential to cover a broader range of symptoms, which in turn may have a positive impact on treatment adherence, satisfaction, and acceptability. Second, we measured mood events to provide a comprehensive understanding of the reduction of subclinical depression on preventing mood disorders. Previous research mainly focused on the efficacy of preventing depression, without paying attention to the outcome of other mental health problems. Subclinical depression is not only an early sign of major depression but also an early sign of other mental health problems, such as bipolar disorder. There is a necessity to understand how the reduction of subclinical depression can contribute to the prevention of other mood events. Another strength of the study is the use of WeChat to send out notifications to participants for follow-up information, and the implementation of the electronic data capture (EDC) system for data management. WeChat is a messaging and social media app that has been wieldy used in China, especially for adolescents. There are over one billion active monthly users of WeChat. Therefore, sending follow-up notification using WeChat is an efficient method to manage follow-up visit remotely. Additionally, participants can complete scales on their phone using the link sent via WeChat, which will allow the data directly to enter the EDC database and mitigate any error that may be caused by entering data manually. This new follow-up method can improve the quality of the trial by enacting higher requirements for quality control. Additional, ethical issues and protecting subjects' privacy are also important during the followup by WeChat platform, as all the research staff will sign a confidentiality agreement and operate in strict compliance with the program provisions and ethical requirements.

REFERENCES

- Judd LL, Rapaport MH, Paulus MP, Brown JL. Subsyndromal symptomatic depression: a new mood disorder? J Clin Psychiatry. (1994) 55:18–28. doi: 10.1142/9789814440912_0064
- Rodríguez MR, Nuevo R, Chatterji S, Ayuso-Mateos JL. Definitions and factors associated with subthreshold depressive conditions: a systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2012) 12:181. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-12-181

There are some limitations of the study. First, all participants will be recruited from first-year university students in Beijing; thus, the sample might not be representative of the subclinical depression population in China. However, in light of the findings that the onset age of depression is during teenage years (37), adolescents and young adults are a high-risk population for subclinical depression. Moreover, university students from the three universities were recruited across the whole country; therefore, it is representative to a certain extent. Second, although the length of treatment and follow-up period (i.e., after the 8-week intervention, participants will be followed up for 1 year) is sufficient to demonstrate treatment effect, due to the relatively short follow-up period, the long-term effect of the intervention cannot be evaluated in this study.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to innovatively develop and test an intervention to improve psychological well-being and decrease the incidence of MDD in subclinical depression population. Once proven effective and acceptable, MoodBox could be potentially integrated into the routine clinical service to facilitate the management for people with subclinical depression.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study will be performed according to the ethical standards stated in the Declaration of Helsinki and its subsequent updates. All participants will be provided with an overview of the study's aims and characteristics summarized in the Informed Consent Form (ICF) and will be obtained written informed consent. The voluntary character of the study will be specified, indicating that withdrawal from the study is permitted at any time, without interfering with the usual treatment. The Ethics Committee Board of Beijing Anding Hospital approved the study protocol on 4 January 2020 (No. 202006FS-2).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GW secured grant funding and supervised the study design. XC designed the study and drafted the manuscript. XZha and XZhu reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This project was supported by a grant from the Beijing Municipal Science and Tech Commission (No. D171100007017001).

- Rowe SK, Rapaport MH. Classification and treatment of subthreshold depression. *Curr Opin Psychiatry.* (2006) 19:9–13. doi: 10.1097/01.yco.0000194148.26766.ba
- Ayuso-Mateos JL, Nuevo R, Verdes E, Naidoo N, Chatterji S. From depressive symptoms to depressive disorders: the relevance of thresholds. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2010) 196:365–71. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.109.071191
- 5. Cuijpers P, de Graaf R, van Dorsselaer S. Minor depression: risk profiles, functional disability, health care use and risk of developing major

depression. J Affect Disord. (2004) 79:71-9. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(02) 00348-8

- Cuijpers P, Vogelzangs N, Twisk J, Kleiboer A, Li J, Penninx BW. Differential mortality rates in major and subthreshold depression: metaanalysis of studies that measured both. Br J Psychiatry. (2013) 202:22–7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.112169
- Shah JL, Scott J, McGorry PD, Cross SPM, Keshavan MS, Nelson B, et al. Transdiagnostic clinical staging in youth mental health: a first international consensus statement. *World Psychiatry*. (2020) 19:233–42. doi: 10.1002/wps.20745
- Krishna M, Lepping P, Jones S, Lane S. Systematic review and meta-analysis of group cognitive behavioural psychotherapy treatment for sub-clinical depression. Asian J Psychiatry. (2015) 16:7–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2015.05.043
- 9. Zhou T, Li X, Pei Y, Gao J, Kong J. Internet-based cognitive behavioural therapy for subthreshold depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2016) 16:356. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-1061-9
- Carvalho AF, Firth J, Vieta E. Bipolar disorder. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:58– 66. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1906193
- Cuijpers P, Smit F, Straten AV. Psychological treatments of subthreshold depression: a meta-analytic review. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2007) 115:434–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2007.00998.x
- Barbui C, Cipriani A, Patel V, Ayuso-Mateos JL, van Ommeren M. Efficacy of antidepressants and benzodiazepines in minor depression: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2011) 198:11–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.109.076448
- Muñoz RF, Cuijpers P, Smit F, Barrera AZ, Leykin Y. Prevention of major depression. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2010) 6:181–212. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-033109-132040
- Roll JM, Kennedy J, Tran M, Howell D. Disparities in unmet need for mental health services in the United States, 1997–2010. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2013) 64:80–2. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201200071
- Saxena S, Thornicroft G, Knapp M, Whiteford H. Resources for mental health: scarcity, inequity, and inefficiency. *Lancet.* (2007) 370:878–89. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61239-2
- Wu Q, Zhao L, Ye X-C. Shortage of healthcare professionals in China. BMJ. (2016) 354:i4860. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i4860
- Liang D, Mays VM, Hwang W-C. Integrated mental health services in China: challenges and planning for the future. *Health Policy Plan.* (2018) 33:107–122. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czx137
- Buntrock C, Ebert DD, Lehr D, Smit F, Riper H, Berking M, et al. Effect of a web-based guided self-help intervention for prevention of major depression in adults with subthreshold depression: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2016) 315:1854. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.4326
- Buntrock C, Ebert D, Lehr D, Riper H, Smit F, Cuijpers P, et al. Effectiveness of a web-based cognitive behavioural intervention for subthreshold depression: pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2015) 84:348– 58. doi: 10.1159/000438673
- Ebert DD, Buntrock C, Lehr D, Smit F, Riper H, Baumeister H, et al. Effectiveness of web- and mobile-based treatment of subthreshold depression with adherence-focused guidance: a single-blind randomized controlled trial. *Behav Ther.* (2018) 49:71–83. doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2017.05.004
- 21. Chow SC, Shao J, Wang H, Lokhnygina Y. Sample size calculations in clinical research. 3rd ed. In: Chow SC, Shao J, Wang H, Lokhnygina Y, editors. Series: Chapman & Hall/CRC Biostatistics Series. A CRC title, Part of the Taylor & Francis imprint, a Member of the Taylor & Francis Group, the Academic Division of T&F Informa plc. Boca Raton : Taylor & Francis, Chapman and Hall/CRC (2017).
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL. The PHQ-9: a new depression diagnostic and severity measure. *Psychiatr Ann.* (2002) 32:509–15. doi: 10.3928/0048-5713-20020901-06

- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. (2001) 16:606–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ primary care study. *JAMA*. (1999) 282:1737– 44. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.18.1737
- Wang W, Bian Q, Zhao Y, Li X, Wang W, Du J, et al. Reliability and validity of the Chinese version of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) in the general population. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry.* (2014) 36:539–44. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2014.05.021
- Altman EG, Hedeker D, Peterson JL, Davis JM. The Altman self-rating mania scale. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1997) 42:948–55. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(96)0 0548-3
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med.* (2006) 166:1092–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Tong X, An D, McGonigal A, Park S-P, Zhou D. Validation of the generalized anxiety disorder-7 (GAD-7) among Chinese people with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (2016) 120:31–6. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2015.11.019
- Yang D, Zhang Y. Life event scale (LES). Rating scales for mental health. *Chin* Ment Health J. (1999) 12:101–6.
- Bernstein DP, Ahluvalia T, Pogge D, Handelsman L. Validity of the childhood trauma questionnaire in an adolescent psychiatric population. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (1997) 36:340–8. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199703000-00012
- Armsden GC, Greenberg MT. The inventory of parent and peer attachment: individual differences and their relationship to psychological well-being in adolescence. J Youth Adolesc. (1987) 16:427–54. doi: 10.1007/BF022 02939
- 32. Perris C, Jacobsson L, Linndström H, Knorring L von, Perris H. Development of a new inventory for assessing memories of parental rearing behaviour. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (1980) 61:265–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1980.tb0 0581.x
- Xie Y. Reliability and validity of the simplified coping style questionnaire. *Chin J Clin Psychol.* (1998) 6:114–5.
- Shen P. Conditional MLE for the proportional hazards model with lefttruncated and interval-censored data. *Stat Probabil Lett.* (2015) 100:164–71. doi: 10.1016/j.spl.2015.02.015
- 35. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. *Depression: The Treatment and Management of Depressionin Adults*. Leicester: British Psychological Society (2010).
- Qaseem A, Snow V, Denberg TD, Forciea MA, Owens DK. Using secondgeneration antidepressants to treat depressive disorders: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. (2008) 149:725–33. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-149-10-200811180-00007
- Jones PB. Adult mental health disorders and their age at onset. Br J Psychiatry. (2013) 202:s5–10. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.119164

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Chen, Zhang, Zhu and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Depressive-Like Behaviors Induced by Chronic Social Defeat Stress Are Associated With HDAC7 Reduction in the Nucleus Accumbens

Weijun Qian^{1†}, Chao Yu^{2†}, Shuai Wang³, Aijun Niu², Guangyan Shi², Yuancui Cheng⁴, Ning Xu², Qiangqiang Jin² and Xu Jing^{2*}

¹ Imaging Department, Kaifeng Central Hospital, Kaifeng, China, ² Department of Clinical Laboratory, The Second Hospital, Cheeloo College of Medicine, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ³ Key Laboratory of Brain Functional Remodeling, Department of Neurosurgery, Qilu Hospital of Shandong University and Brain Science Research Institute, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ⁴ Department of Obstetrics, The Second Hospital of Shandong University, Jinan, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Karim Abdel Aziz, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

Reviewed by:

Aislinn Joanmarie Williams, The University of Iowa, United States Herb E. Covington, Tufts University, United States

*Correspondence: Xu Jing

jingxu1990@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 24 July 2020 Accepted: 29 December 2020 Published: 26 January 2021

Citation:

Qian W, Yu C, Wang S, Niu A, Shi G, Cheng Y, Xu N, Jin Q and Jing X (2021) Depressive-Like Behaviors Induced by Chronic Social Defeat Stress Are Associated With HDAC7 Reduction in the Nucleus Accumbens. Front. Psychiatry 11:586904. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.586904 Persistent symptoms of depression indicate the adaptive involvement of stable molecules in the brain that may be manifested at the level of chromatin remodeling, such as histone acetylation. Former studies have identified alterations in histone acetylation and deacetylation in several animal models about depression. However, the specific histone deacetylases related with depression are needed to be explored. Here, social avoidance behaviors, anxiety-, and depression-like behaviors were all found in mice suffered from chronic social defeat stress. Moreover, we also discovered that the amount of the class II histone deacetylase, HDAC7 rather than HDAC2, was significantly decreased in the nucleus accumbens of defeated mice, which suggested that HDAC7 might be a crucial histone deacetylase in a chronic social defeat stress model. Our data showed that the depressive-like behaviors induced by chronic social defeat stress were associated with HDAC7 reduction in nucleus accumbens. HDAC7 might be a promising therapeutic target for depression.

Keywords: chronic social defeat stress, depression, HDAC7, nucleus accumbens (NAc), epigenetic

SUMMARY BOX

What is already known? Persistent symptoms of depression may be manifested as changes in chromatin remodeling.

What are the new findings? Our data show that the depressive-like behaviors induced by chronic social defeat stress were associated with HDAC7 reduction in nucleus accumbens.

What do the new findings imply? HDAC7 may be a promising therapeutic target for depression.

INTRODUCTION

According to a global report published by WHO in 2017, \sim 322 million people worldwide suffer from depression, of which nearly half live in the South-East Asian and Western Pacific regions (1). Depression is believed to have a close correlation with genetic material involving aberrant changes in gene expression (2, 3). Accumulating evidence has indicated that histone acetylases and deacetylases dynamically regulate epigenetic mechanisms, such as histone acetylation (4, 5).

27

In a rodent model of depression caused by chronic social defeat stress, depressive symptoms are improved by the inhibitors of class II histone deacetylase, which will contribute to changes in gene expression related to depression similar to fluoxetine (6), thereby suggesting that class II HDACs may be a promising therapeutic target for depression.

In epigenetic mechanisms that may be associated with psychiatric illness, one of the most appealing features is changes of chromosomal structures and expressional alterations of specific genes under environmental stimuli (7, 8). Histone deacetylases (HDACs) are one type of chromatin-modifying enzymes used for the elaborate process of epigenetic regulation, therefore they could effectively link environmental stimuli with alteration of gene expression (9). HDACs are comprised of four classes, of which class I, class II, and class III are distinct based on their homology with yeast genes rpd3, hda1, and sir2, respectively; class IV includes only HDAC11 (10). HDAC inhibitor infusion into the nucleus accumbens (NAc), hippocampus, and cortex can elicit antidepressant-like responses, which supports the functional role and potential utility of such inhibitors in the treatment of depression (11-13). Moreover, treatment of mice with the inhibitor of class I and II HDAC (MS-275) reverses the effects of chronic social defeat stress on gene expression in the NAc, with a striking similarity to the function of the standard antidepressant, fluoxetine (14, 15). Despite the antidepressant effect of MS275 being confirmed, there is no direct evidence regarding which kind of HDACs as a form of essential mediators plays an important part in the anti-depressant process (16).

NAc has been demonstrated to be involved in the development of depressive disorders and the regulation of antidepressant action (17, 18). In particular, elevated levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in the NAc are associated with depressive behaviors, in which BDNF exerts an antidepressant role in the hippocampus (19). Moreover, when inhibitors of HDAC are directly infused into several brain regions including the medial prefrontal cortex, ventral hippocampus, NAc, or amygdala, they produce an antidepressant effect (20, 21).

HDAC7, an essential member of class II HDACs, is widely expressed in the central nervous system (22). Limited studies have been conducted on the function of HDAC7 in depression. Therefore, we investigated whether HDAC7 in the NAc is involved in the occurrence of depressive-like behaviors. Here, we specifically focused on the altered expression of HDAC7 in the NAc of mice who suffered from chronic social defeat stress.

METHODS

Animals

Male C57BL/6J mice aged 6–8 weeks weighing 23–25 g and male CD-1 retired mice aged 8–9 months were purchased from Charles River (Wilmington, MA). All mice were housed in standard cages at controlled temperature ($22 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C) under diurnal conditions (12 h light/dark cycle). Food and water were available *ad libitum*. All handling procedures for animals were conducted following the guidelines of the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals

and were approved by the institutional animal care and use committee of Shandong University.

Chronic Social Defeat Stress

Chronic social defeat stress was induced as previously described (23) with modifications according to the experimental requirements. C57BL/6J mice were continuously subjected to social defeat stress for 10 days. CD1 retired breeders were used as aggressors in the experiment if they met the following criteria: Firstly, the CD1 resident aggressor must attack in at least two consecutive sessions during three consecutive screening sessions lasting for 180s; Secondly, the attack latency recorded for each session must be <60 s. Each mouse was introduced into the homecage of a stranger CD1 resident aggressor every day and was defeated physically for 10 min. After 10 min of physical interaction, the residents and intruders were separated by perforated plexiglass to allow sensory contact in the following duration of 24 h. Every day, each mouse was introduced into a new homecage of a resident CD1 aggressor. The animals in the control group were housed in pairs on each side of a perforated plexiglass partition and were handled in the same manner as those in the experimental groups every day.

Behavioral Procedures

Fourteen mice were subjected to social approach-avoidance test, open field test, elevated plus maze (EPM) test, tail suspension test, and forced swimming test according to the following procedures. After 5 days of the behavioral tests, mice were killed after the behavioral tests, and brain tissues were collected for western blot assay.

Open Field Test

An open field test was conducted as a previously described report from our laboratory with modifications (24). The spontaneous motivation ability and anxiety-like behavior were assessed in the open field test. The area of tan open field test consisted of a $40 \text{ cm} \times 40 \text{ cm}$ area divided into central ($20 \text{ cm} \times 20 \text{ cm}$) and peripheral regions by black metal walls with height at 35 cm. Mice could acclimatize themselves to the test room for 1 h before the experiment. During the test, mice were placed at the center region of the field, and their behaviors were recorded for 10 min. A video-tracking system (Smart 3.0, Harvard apparatus, Holliston, MA, USA) was used to score the traveled distance between the central and peripheral areas for the assessment of spontaneous locomotor activity. The number of entries to the central zone, latency to leave the central zone, and time stayed in the central zone were all recorded to evaluate anxiety-like behaviors.

EPM Test

As previously described (25) with modifications, the EPM was comprised of two open arms (30 cm \times 5 cm) with a small raised lip (0.5 cm), two enclosed arms (30 cm \times 5 cm), and a central platform (5 cm \times 5 cm) at 38.5 cm above the ground. During a 5-min session, each mouse was initially placed on the center platform and facing an open arm. The time stayed in open arms and the number of entries into the open arms was scored using a video-tracking system (Smart 3.0).

Social Approach-Avoidance Test

The approach-avoidance behaviors of experimental mice toward an unfamiliar social target (CD1 mouse) were carried out as previously described (26) with modifications. The arena was a black metal open field ($40 \text{ cm} \times 40 \text{ cm}$) placed in complete darkness. A camera equipped with an infrared filter and lights was used to perform the video recording. Each experimental mouse was introduced into the open field and its trajectory was continuously recorded for two 2.5-min sessions with a 30s duration for the mouse to rest in its home cage. In the first session ("no target"), an empty mesh cage made of plastic (10 cm \times 6.5 cm) without a target was located at one end of the open field. During the second session ("target"), an unfamiliar CD1 male mouse was introduced into the mesh cage as a social target animal with other same conditions. Between the two sessions, the experimental mouse was removed from the arena and was placed back into its home cage for ~ 1 min. The video-tracking data from both the "no target" and "target" conditions were used to determine the total distance moved. The time spent by the experimental mouse in the "interaction zone" (a corridor with a width of 8 cm surrounding the mesh cage) and the "corners" (two square areas opposite to the location of the target cage) was recorded using a video-tracking system (Smart 3.0).

Forced Swimming Test

A forced swimming test was performed as previously described in a published study from our laboratory (27). Briefly, C57BL/6J mice were placed into a glass cylinder (25 cm in height, 10 cm in diameter) filled with 22°C water up to a height of 18 cm. The percentage of time spent in an immobile state was determined in a testing period of 6 min. Immobility was defined as the absence of struggling, immobile posture, and floating on the water. Swimming was defined as intensive use of the forepaws for moving forward to the center or along the sides of the cylinder. The body was usually oriented parallel to the sides of the cylinder. Climbing was defined as active pawing of the cylinder wall and lifting of the paws above the water surface. The body was oriented with the head toward the wall, which faced perpendicularly to the side of the cylinder.

Tail Suspension Test

The tail-suspension test is a mouse behavioral test useful in assessing antidepressant-like activity (28). As previously described (29) with modifications, mice were suspended upside down, and a metal bar was used to tape their tails at the position of 1 cm from the tip. Their heads were held 35 cm above the ground, and a camera was used to record immobility in the active period of 6 min. Immobility was defined as no movement of the limbs and tails. Mice that climbed up their tails were excluded from the experiment.

Brain Tissue Collection

After 5 days of behavioral experiments, the brain, including NAc, cerebral cortex, and dorsal hippocampus were dissected, frozen, and sliced using the freezing microtome (Braintree Scientific, Braintree, MA). Brain slices were stored at -80° C until use.

Western Blot Assay

The extraction of tissue protein from NAc was performed as previously described (21, 22). A bullet Blender Homogenizer (Nextadvance) was used to homogenize dissected brain tissue in ice-cold RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 1% IGEPAL CA-630, pH 7.4) supplemented with protease inhibitors (Complete, Roche). Extracts were centrifuged at 14,000 g for 20 min at 4°C, and then cellular proteins were collected. The concentration of total cellular proteins was determined by a standard BCA assay before added in a loading buffer at 100°C for 5 min. Then, 80 µg of lysate proteins was separated by SDS-PAGE gels and then transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane (Roche, Swiss). Anti-HDAC1 (Sigma, 1:1,000), anti-HDAC2 (Sigma, 1:1,000), anti-HDAC6 (Sigma, 1:1,000), anti-HDAC7 (Sigma, 1:1,000), and anti- β actin from rabbit were used as primary antibodies. Horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibodies (Calbiochem, 1:1,000) were used to label the rabbit-derived primary antibodies. The images of protein bands were visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL, Pierce). Densitometry analysis of the bands was performed using Quantity One (version 4.6.2, Bio-Rad).

RNA Extraction and Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

Total RNA was extracted from NAc, cerebral cortex, and dorsal hippocampus using TRIzol-A⁺ RNA isolation reagent (TIANGEN) according to the manufacturer's protocol. cDNA was then synthesized using the ReverTra Ace qPCR RT Kit (catalog #FSQ-101; TOYOBO). Afterward, real-time qPCR was performed using an SYBR Green PCR kit (Applied Biosystem, USA). The primers were as follows: HDAC7, 5'-GCCTCCATC GACCACTTAACC-3' (forward) and 5'-CGAGGGTATCTGTC GCAGTC-3' (reverse); and β -actin, 5'-CGTTGACATCCGTAA AGACCTC-3' (forward) and 5'-CCACCGATCCACAGAGG TAC-3' (reverse). β -actin was used as an internal control. The relative expression of HDAC7 mRNA was calculated using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} method as previously described (30).

Statistical Analysis

All data were collected from at least three independent experiments and presented as mean \pm S.E.M. Comparisons of data from various behavioral tests and western blot assay between defeated and control groups were evaluated via two independent samples *t*-test. Data among multiple groups were analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the least significant difference test for pairwise comparison. A *P*-value of 0.05 was considered to be the critical cutoff value of statistical significance. All data analyses were carried out using the SPSS statistical program version 18.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

RESULTS

Chronic Social Defeat Stress Successfully Induced Social Avoidance Behaviors

The social approach of experimental mice toward an unfamiliar social target (CD1 mouse) enclosed in a plastic mesh cage was



stress did not affect total locomotion of the experimental mice. Data are expressed as means \pm S.E.M (n = 14 per group). Data among multiple groups were analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the least significant difference test for pairwise comparison. ***P < 0.001 compared to control.

monitored by a video-tracking system (Figure 1A). As expected, undefeated control mice spent the most time in the interaction zone and little time in the corner zone when an unfamiliar target mouse was presented. However, defeated mice intensely displayed aversive responses to the target mouse, which spent less time in the interaction zone (F = 12.086, degree = 55, P <0.001, Figure 1C) and preferred to staying in the corner zone (F = 14.017, degree = 55, *P* < 0.001, **Figure 1D**). This difference was observed exclusively in the presence of a social target and was not significant in an empty wire cage. No difference was observed in total movement throughout the arena (F = 2.124, degree = 53, P= 0.109, Figure 1B).

Anxiety-Like Behavior Test

The open-field test was performed to assess whether defeated mice displayed altered anxiety-like behaviors. Compared with that in the control group, defeated mice spent less time in the center zone of the open field (t = 2.445, df = 25, P = 0.022, Figure 2A). Furthermore, defeated mice traveled within shorter distances in the central zone and even was found to scarcely enter into the center zone (t = 5.425, df = 25, P < 0.001, Figure 2B). To further confirm the anxiety-like behaviors inflicted by chronic social defeat stress, an EPM test was also conducted. The phenomenon suggested that, relative to the control group, defeated mice significantly traveled within shorter distances (t = 2.444, df = 24, P = 0.022, Figure 2C) and less entries into the open arms (t = 2.239, df = 26, P = 0.034, Figure 2D).

Depressive-Like Behavior Test

To evaluate the depressive-like behavioral changes in mice suffered from chronic social defeat stress, forced swimming, and tail suspension tests were conducted in sequence. As expected, mice defeated by aggressors displayed increased immobility time during the forced swimming test (t = -2.534, df = 26, P = 0.018, Figure 3A). To further confirm our results, we conducted a tail suspension test, where the immobility time of mice subjected to chronic social defeat stress was also increased during tail suspension (t = -2.979, df = 26, P = 0.006, Figure 3B).

Chronic Social Defeat Stress Represses HDAC7 Expression in the NAc

To analyze whether HDACs contributed to depression caused by chronic social defeat stress, western blot assay was adopted. The results showed that HDAC7 protein expression was significantly decreased in the NAc in the brain of mice subjected to chronic social failure stress compared to that in control mice (t = 2.614, df = 14, P = 0.020, Figure 4A). However, other HDACs such as HDAC1 (*t* = 0.057, df = 20, *P* = 0.955, Figure 4B), HDAC2 (t = -1.595, df = 7, P = 0.155, Figure 4C), and HDAC6 (t = -1.781, df = 7, P = 0.118, Figure 4D) were not changes in the NAc. Strikingly, it was observed that HDAC7 mRNA was



FIGURE 2 [Effect of chronic social failure on anxiety-like behavior. (A) Compared with control mice, mice subjected to chronic social failure stress spent less time in the middle area of the open field. (B) Mice subjected to chronic social failure stress entered the central region less often. (C) Compared with control mice, mice with chronic social failure stress spent less time on the elevated cross arm. (D) Mice subjected to chronic social failure stress spent significantly fewer times on the open arm. Data are expressed as means \pm S.E.M. (n = 14 per group). Data comparisons between defeated and control groups were evaluated via two independent samples *t*-test. *P < 0.05, and ***P < 0.001 compared to control.



also significantly decreased in the NAc (t = -22.588, df = 4, P < 0.001, **Figure 5A**) rather than in the cerebral cortex (t = -1.229, df = 4, P = 0.286, **Figure 5B**) and dorsal hippocampus (t = 0.007, df = 4, P = 0.995, **Figure 5C**) under chronic social defeat stress, indicating a brain region-specific role of HDAC7 in behavior changes inflicted by chronic social defeat stress. These data suggested that HDAC7 reduction in the NAc might be associated with behavior changes inflicted by chronic social defeat stress.

DISCUSSION

Recently, accumulated evidence have indicated that alteration of histone acetylation caused by abnormal expression of HDACs in the NAc plays an important role in depression, and overexpression of specific HDACs in the NAc can exert therapeutic effects in depressive mice (18). Here, we implemented a chronic social defeat stress mouse model for depression, in which mice were continuously defeated for 10 min by a new CD-1 aggressor every day for 10 days. Social approach-avoidance test, open field test, EPM, and forced swimming test were used to evaluate the changes in behaviors induced by the depression model. The levels of social avoidance, depression, and anxiety in the defeated mice were significantly higher than those in normal mice. Studies based on models about chronic social defeat stress obtained comparable results in social avoidance behavior, anxiety-like behavior, and depressive-like behaviors, thus corroborating our findings (23). These results suggested that mice were suitable for exploring depression- and anti-depressive response-related cellular and molecular mechanisms.



The NAc is implicated in depression, and abnormal expression of HDACs such as HDAC5 and HDAC2 has been observed in the NAc (31, 32). However, as an essential member of class II HDACs, the function of HDAC7 in depression is unclear. Our previous work indicated that HDAC7 was ubiquitously expressed in the brain including the PFC, hippocampus, and amygdala (22). The results presented here showed that the level of HDAC7 was remarkably decreased in the NAc under chronic social defeat stress.

The strengths of our study were that a well-validated mouse model of depression and several complementary behavioral assays were used to confirm that social defeat stress generated a pattern of depressive-like and anxiety-like behaviors in mice. Moreover, we found that chronic social defeat stress in mice resulted in the reduction in HDAC7 levels in the NAc, which provided a new insight for the potential mechanism involved in depression. Despite the clear strength of our study, some limitations merit further consideration. Firstly, we only observed that chronic social defeat stress represses HDAC7 expression in the NAc, whether HDAC inhibition resulted in antidepressant-like activity and some mood-stabilizing drugs

(such as valproate) had HDAC inhibition properties were largely unknown. Secondly, the genes regulated by HDAC7 during chronic social defeat stress were not investigated. Exploration of manipulating HDAC7 on patterns of gene expression will facilitate to provide new insight into the possible mechanisms underlying depression. Thirdly, it is revealed that detecting the role of manipulating HDAC5 in the behavioral adaptations to chronic emotional stimuli provides strong evidence to support the effects of HDAC5 in the pathogenesis of drug addiction, depression, and other stress-related syndromes (33). Future studies elucidating the role of knockdown or overexpression of HDAC7 in NAc in regulating the behavioral adaptations to chronic social defeat stress are required. Lastly, investigation of the molecular basis of susceptibility and resistance to social defeat stress in brain reward regions helps to better maintain emotional homeostasis (34). Therefore, it is worth investigating the role of susceptibility and resilience to 10 days of social defeat stress. Observation of any degree of variation in social interaction scores that may be correlated with HDAC7 expression in NAc will confirm the function of HDAC7 in the regulation of depression.



Notably, only male mice were used in this study. The reason is to avoid the interference of the female estrus cycle. The monthly changes in estrogen and progesterone are significant in females, and these changes can affect the response state of the tested animals to certain experimental factors. Since female humans have higher rates of depression than male humans, it is unclear whether studies using only male mice have translational promise at all for understanding depression. More studies are still required to confirm our findings.

CONCLUSION

In summary, our study demonstrated that HDAC7 was a critical histone deacetylase, whose reduction might be associated with the depressive-like behaviors induced by chronic social defeat stress. Therefore, HDAC7 may be a promising therapeutic target for curing depression. Our findings will provide a new insight for elucidating the mechanism underlying depression.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- AbouZahr C, Boerma T, Hogan D. Global estimates of country health indicators: useful, unnecessary, inevitable? *Glob Health Action*. (2017) 10:1290370. doi: 10.1080/16549716.2017.1290370
- 2. Shelton R, Claiborne J, Sidoryk-Wegrzynowicz M, Reddy R, Aschner M, Lewis D, et al. Altered expression of genes involved in inflammation and

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by all handling procedures for animals were conducted following the guidelines of the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, and were approved by the institutional animal care and use committee of Shandong University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81801163); Doctor Fund of Shandong Natural Science Foundation ZR201807060846; China Postdoctoral Science Foundation 2018M640636; Doctor Fund of Shandong Natural Science Foundation ZR201702160298; and Karolinska Institutet—Research Grant Registration Number 2020-01858.

apoptosis in frontal cortex in major depression. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2011) 16:751–62. doi: 10.1038/mp.2010.52

 Hung Y-Y, Wu M-K, Tsai M-C, Huang Y-L, Kang H-Y. Aberrant expression of intracellular let-7e, miR-146a, and miR-155 correlates with severity of depression in patients with major depressive disorder and is ameliorated after antidepressant treatment. *Cells.* (2019) 8:647. doi: 10.3390/cells80 70647

- Lilja T, Heldring N, Hermanson O. Like a rolling histone: epigenetic regulation of neural stem cells and brain development by factors controlling histone acetylation and methylation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2013) 1830:2354– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.08.011
- Konsoula Z, Barile FA. Epigenetic histone acetylation and deacetylation mechanisms in experimental models of neurodegenerative disorders. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods. (2012) 66:215– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.vascn.2012.08.001
- Meylan EM, Halfon O, Magistretti PJ, Cardinaux JR. The HDAC inhibitor SAHA improves depressive-like behavior of CRTC1-deficient mice: possible relevance for treatment-resistant depression. *Neuropharmacology*. (2016) 107:111–21. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.03.012
- 7. Turner
 BM.
 Histone
 acetylation
 and
 an

 epigenetic
 code.
 Bioessays.
 (2000)
 22:836–

 45. doi: 10.1002/1521-1878(20009)22:9<836::AID-BIES9>3.0.CO;2-X
- Qadir MI, Anwer F. Epigenetic modification related to acetylation of histone and methylation of DNA as a key player in immunological disorders. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr.* (2019) 29:1–15. doi: 10.1615/CritRevEukaryotGeneExpr.2018024760
- Salminen A, Kauppinen A, Kaarniranta K. AMPK/Snf1 signaling regulates histone acetylation: impact on gene expression and epigenetic functions. *Cell Signal.* (2016) 28:887–95. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2016.03.009
- Didonna A, Opal P. The promise and perils of HDAC inhibitors in neurodegeneration. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. (2015) 2:79– 101. doi: 10.1002/acn3.147
- Covington HE III, Maze I, Vialou V, Nestler EJ. Antidepressant action of HDAC inhibition in the prefrontal cortex. *Neuroscience*. (2015) 298:329– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.04.030
- Schroeder FA, Lin CL, Crusio WE, Akbarian S. Antidepressant-like effects of the histone deacetylase inhibitor, sodium butyrate, in the mouse. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2007) 62:55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006. 06.036
- Covington HE III, Vialou VF, LaPlant Q, Ohnishi YN, Nestler EJ. Hippocampal-dependent antidepressant-like activity of histone deacetylase inhibition. *Neurosci Lett.* (2011) 493:122–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2011.02.022
- Harrison C. Antidepressant action through gene regulation. *Nat Rev Drug Dis.* (2009) 8:847. doi: 10.1038/nrd3036
- Covington HE, Maze I, LaPlant QC, Vialou VF, Ohnishi YN, Berton O, et al. Antidepressant actions of histone deacetylase inhibitors. J Neurosci. (2009) 29:11451–60. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1758-09.2009
- Lin H, Geng X, Dang W, Wu B, Dai Z, Li Y, et al. Molecular mechanisms associated with the antidepressant effects of the class I histone deacetylase inhibitor MS-275 in the rat ventrolateral orbital cortex. *Brain Res.* (2012) 1447:119–25. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.01.053
- Kim HD, Hesterman J, Call T, Magazu S, Keeley E, Armenta K, et al. SIRT1 mediates depression-like behaviors in the nucleus accumbens. *J Neurosci.* (2016) 36:8441–52. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0212-16.2016
- Francis TC, Lobo MK. Emerging role for nucleus accumbens medium spiny neuron subtypes in depression. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2017) 81:645– 53. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.09.007
- Eisch AJ, Bolaños CA, De Wit J, Simonak RD, Pudiak CM, Barrot M, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the ventral midbrain-nucleus accumbens pathway: a role in depression. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2003) 54:994– 1005. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2003.08.003
- Zhang JC, Yao W, Ren Q, Yang C, Dong C, Ma M, et al. Depressionlike phenotype by deletion of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: Role of BDNF-TrkB in nucleus accumbens. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:36705. doi: 10.1038/srep36705
- 21. De Vry J, Vanmierlo T, Martinez-Martinez P, Losen M, Temel Y, Boere J, et al. TrkB in the hippocampus and nucleus accumbens differentially

modulates depression-like behavior in mice. *Behav Brain Res.* (2016) 296:15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.08.027

- 22. Jing X, Sui WH, Wang S, Xu XF, Yuan RR, Chen XR, et al. HDAC7 Ubiquitination by the E3 ligase CBX4 is involved in contextual fear conditioning memory formation. J Neurosci. (2017) 37:3848–63. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2773-16.2017
- Golden SA, Covington HE 3rd, Berton O, Russo SJ. A standardized protocol for repeated social defeat stress in mice. *Nat Protoc.* (2011) 6:1183– 91. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2011.361
- Ma L, Wang DD, Zhang TY, Yu H, Wang Y, Huang SH, et al. Region-specific involvement of BDNF secretion and synthesis in conditioned taste aversion memory formation. *J Neurosci.* (2011) 31:2079–90. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5348-10.2011
- Swiergiel AH, Dunn AJ. Effects of interleukin-1β and lipopolysaccharide on behavior of mice in the elevated plus-maze and open field tests. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* (2007) 86:651–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2007.02.010
- Berton O, McClung CA, Dileone RJ, Krishnan V, Renthal W, Russo SJ, et al. Essential role of BDNF in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in social defeat stress. Science. (2006) 311:864–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1120972
- Yu H, Wang DD, Wang Y, Liu T, Lee FS, Chen ZY. Variant brainderived neurotrophic factor Val66Met polymorphism alters vulnerability to stress and response to antidepressants. J Neurosci. (2012) 32:4092– 101. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5048-11.2012
- Can A, Dao DT, Terrillion CE, Piantadosi SC, Bhat S, Gould TD. The tail suspension test. J Vis Exp. (2012) e3769. doi: 10.3791/3769
- 29. Xie Y, Wang Y, Zhang T, Ren G, Yang Z. Effects of nanoparticle zinc oxide on spatial cognition and synaptic plasticity in mice with depressive-like behaviors. *J Biomed Sci.* (2012) 19:1–11. doi: 10.1186/1423-0127-19-14
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T))method. *Methods.* (2001) 25:402–8. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Taniguchi M, Carreira MB, Cooper YA, Bobadilla AC, Heinsbroek JA, Koike N, et al. HDAC5 and its target gene, Npas4, function in the nucleus accumbens to regulate cocaine-conditioned behaviors. *Neuron.* (2017) 96:130–44.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.09.015
- 32. Torres OV, Ladenheim B, Jayanthi S, McCoy MT, Krasnova IN, Vautier FA, et al. An acute methamphetamine injection downregulates the expression of several histone deacetylases (HDACs) in the mouse nucleus accumbens: potential regulatory role of HDAC2 expression. *Neurotox Res.* (2016) 30:32–40. doi: 10.1007/s12640-015-9591-3
- Renthal W, Maze I, Krishnan V, Covington HE III, Xiao G, Kumar A, et al. Histone deacetylase 5 epigenetically controls behavioral adaptations to chronic emotional stimuli. *Neuron.* (2007) 56:517–29. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.09.032
- 34. Krishnan V, Han M-H, Graham DL, Berton O, Renthal W, Russo SJ, et al. Molecular adaptations underlying susceptibility and resistance to social defeat in brain reward regions. *Cell.* (2007) 131:391–404. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.09.018

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Qian, Yu, Wang, Niu, Shi, Cheng, Xu, Jin and Jing. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Development and Evaluation of a Therapist Training Program for Psilocybin Therapy for Treatment-Resistant Depression in Clinical Research

Sara J. Tai¹, Elizabeth M. Nielson^{2*}, Molly Lennard-Jones³, Riikka-Liisa Johanna Ajantaival⁴, Rachel Winzer³, William A. Richards^{5,6}, Frederick Reinholdt⁷, Brian D. Richards^{5,6,8}, Peter Gasser⁹ and Ekaterina Malievskaia³

¹ Division of Psychology and Mental Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom, ² Depression Evaluation Services, New York State Psychiatric Institute, New York, NY, United States, ³ COMPASS Pathways PLC, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Clinical Research Institute, Helsinki University Central Hospital, Helsinki, Finland, ⁵ Center for Psychedelic and Consciousness Research, Johns Hopkins Bayview Medical Center, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Aquilino Cancer Center, Maryland Oncology Hematology P.A., Rockville, MD, United States, ⁷ Department of Psychological Medicine, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁸ Sheppard and Enoch Pratt Hospital, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁹ Private Practice, Solothurn, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Karim Abdel Aziz, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

Reviewed by:

Chien-Han Lai, National Yang-Ming University, Taiwan James Bennett-Levy, The University of Sydney, Australia

*Correspondence: Elizabeth M. Nielson elizabeth.nielson@nyspi.columbia.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 23 July 2020 Accepted: 05 January 2021 Published: 03 February 2021

Citation:

Tai SJ, Nielson EM, Lennard-Jones M, Johanna Ajantaival R-L, Winzer R, Richards WA, Reinholdt F, Richards BD, Gasser P and Malievskaia E (2021) Development and Evaluation of a Therapist Training Program for Psilocybin Therapy for Treatment-Resistant Depression in Clinical Research. Front. Psychiatry 12:586682. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.586682 **Introduction:** Psychological support throughout psilocybin therapy is mandated by regulators as an essential part of ensuring participants' physical and psychological safety. There is an increased need for specially trained therapists who can provide high-quality care to participants in clinical studies. This paper describes the development and practical implementation of a therapist training program of psychological support within a current phase IIb international, multicenter, randomized controlled study of psilocybin therapy for people experiencing treatment-resistant depression.

Description of Training Program: This new and manualized approach, based on current evidence-based psychotherapeutic approaches, was developed in partnership with different mental health researchers, practitioners, and experts; and has been approved by the FDA. Training consists of four components: an online learning platform; in-person training; applied clinical training; and ongoing individual mentoring and participation in webinars. This paper provides a brief overview of the method of support, the rationale and methodology of the training program, and describes each stage of training. The design and implementation of fidelity procedures are also outlined.

Lessons Learned: As part of the phase IIb study of psilocybin therapy for treatment-resistant depression, 65 health care professionals have been fully trained as therapists and assisting therapists, across the US, Canada and Europe. Therapists provided informal feedback on the training program. Feedback indicates that the didactic and experiential interactive learning, delivered through a combination of online and in-person teaching, helped therapists build conceptual understanding and skill development in the therapeutic approach. Clinical training and engagement in participant care, under the guidance of experienced therapists, were considered the most beneficial and challenging aspects of the training.

35
Conclusions: Clinical training for therapists is essential for ensuring consistently high-quality psilocybin therapy. Development of a rigorous, effective and scalable training methodology has been possible through a process of early, active and ongoing collaborations between mental health experts. To maximize impact and meet phase III and post-approval need, enhanced online learning and establishing pathways for clinical training are identified as critical points for quality assurance. This will require close public, academic and industry collaboration.

Keywords: psilocybin, therapist training, psychological support, treatment resistant, depression, psychedelics, psychdelic therapy, treatment-resistant depression

INTRODUCTION

Increasing interest in the therapeutic potential of psychedelic compounds for a range of mental health conditions highlights the need for training therapists in supporting participants in clinical studies. This paper describes the rationale, methodology and key learnings from a therapist training program for a phase IIb international, multicenter, randomized controlled study of psilocybin therapy in participants with treatment-resistant depression (TRD); clinical trial number NCT03775200.

Psilocybin is a molecule present in over 200 species of psychoactive mushrooms. It has a dose-dependent capacity to facilitate the experience of non-ordinary states of consciousness, and together with compounds like lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD), mescaline, and N,N-Dimethyltryptamine (DMT), is part of a group of drugs called psychedelics. Psilocybin is a partialagonist of the 5HT group of receptors, including the 5HT_{2A} receptor subtype. The activation of 5HT_{2AR} results in subjective alterations of perception, mood and cognition during the acute effects of psilocybin. This has potential benefits for mood disorders, as perception and cognition appear to become more flexible, enabling opportunities for new perspectives and insights to be generated, potentially leading to new and novel solutions for ongoing psychological distress (1). Psilocybin effects generally peak around 90 min after ingestion, then gradually subside and resolve in 4-6 h.

Psilocybin and other psychedelic compounds have attracted attention from researchers and clinicians for their potential to catalyze therapeutic change, when taken within a therapeutic setting, in people diagnosed with depression (1), obsessive-compulsive disorder (2), alcohol dependence (3), nicotine dependence (4), and anxiety associated with cancer (5–7). The effects of psychedelics in general, and specifically psilocybin, for other problems are currently being investigated in several pilot studies. Early research with psilocybin has shown signals of immediate, significant and often enduring clinical improvements in depression and anxiety. Such effects are thought to result from a combination of the psychopharmacological effects of psilocybin and the participants' subjective experiences, including generation

of insights and subsequent changes in cognition and behavior (8, 9).

Administration of psilocybin in a research setting requires approval from regulators, such as the FDA and United States Drug Enforcement Administration, in addition to approval from an Institutional Review Board or Research Ethics Committee. Just as regulators require consistent data about the synthesis, purity and stability of a specific formulation of psilocybin used in the clinical development program, they similarly require the shared consistency of another equally important component of the treatment approach - the psychological support. To address the need for participant safety and consistency in the delivery of the psychological support, we have created and implemented a therapist training program for the phase IIb clinical trial of psilocybin therapy for TRD.

The study aims to determine the optimal single dose of psilocybin, administered with psychological support, in a clinical setting. The 216 participants are randomized to low (1 mg), medium (10 mg) or high (25 mg) doses of COMP360, a high-purity polymorphic crystalline formulation of psilocybin produced under Good Manufacturing Practice, administered in conjunction with psychological support by specially trained therapists. The study design has been agreed with the European Medicines Agency, FDA, and approved by regulators in 10 countries in North America and Europe. Therapists' professional qualifications, as well as their training format and content, were approved by the FDA and included in the Investigational New Drug program. In 2018, the FDA granted a Breakthrough Therapy designation to COMP360 for TRD. The program of research is managed by COMPASS Pathways PLC., a mental health care company dedicated to accelerating patient access to evidence-based innovation in mental health.

DESCRIPTION OF TRAINING PROGRAM

Therapeutic Model

The principles of psychological support in the current trial, to be outlined in a separate publication, are informed by several factors:

• An empirical theoretical framework based on Perceptual Control Theory (10) that integrates validated evidencebased psychotherapeutic theories and approaches common to therapies such as Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (11),

Abbreviations: DMT, N,N-Dimethyltryptamine; FDA, United States Food and Drug Administration; GCP, Good Clinical Practice; LSD, Lysergic acid diethylamide; MDMA, 3,4 methylenedioxy-methamphetamine; TRD, Treatmentresistant depression.

Mindfulness-based Therapy (12), Method of Levels (13), Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (14), and Focusing (15);

- Extensive historic experience in the use of psilocybin in research and clinical settings (7, 16, 17);
- Current understanding of the psychopharmacology and mechanism of action of psilocybin (18–21);
- Regulatory and payor perspectives on the clinical development of psilocybin therapy.

Perceptual Control Theory (PCT) (10) informed the current approach as it offers a biopsychosocial framework for understanding and integrating key principles evident across the general literature on psychological functioning and the psilocybin literature. PCT proposes that human health is dependent on effective homeostatic control of important biological, social, and psychological variables, through feedback. This has particular relevance for TRD, where people's difficulties in controlling variables such as attention and negative thinking act as maintaining factors (11). From a PCT perspective, when we develop awareness of the internal variables we are controlling, we can develop solutions to balancing incompatible variables. As an example from psilocybin therapy, a client experiencing depression described holding two conflicting standards; wanting meaningful intimate relationships whilst also wanting to avoid vulnerability. As psilocybin therapy potentiated changes in usual patterns of perception, mood and cognition, it brought new opportunities for reorganizing and balancing such psychological variables (22). Therapists' training incorporates a basic overview of this theoretical framework to inform practice; describing how participants might develop awareness of personal goals through increased attentional mobility, introspection, and problem solving. This informs therapists' patient-centered and non-directive practice, utilizing a questioning style which supports participants in generating their own potential solutions for resolving incompatible goals, rather than teaching, offering advice, or making assumptions. These principles remain consistent with core therapist skills identified in other psychedelic interventions (23), meaning that there is considerable similarity between the current approach and support in other psilocybin therapies. These principles also informed item development in a fidelity scale, as described below in the section "Ensuring Consistency."

The primary purpose of psychological support throughout is to ensure participants' physical and psychological safety and minimize the number of any potential adverse events. The most common adverse effect in psilocybin sessions is mild-tomoderate transient anxiety that could potentially lead to more intense or longer-lasting anxiety and paranoia. Extended periods of overwhelming emotional arousal are not only distressing to participants, but could decrease positive treatment outcomes (24). Skillful psychological support helps participants engage with all aspects of their experiences, while keeping more challenging emotions within the participant's bandwidth of tolerance, whereby emotions are not so prolonged and overwhelming that they are unproductive, thus facilitating a sense of safety. To do this, two key principles - *self-directed enquiry* and *experiential* *processing* - are introduced to and practiced with participants during preparation.

Self-Directed Enquiry

A key goal for therapists is to help participants direct attention toward internal experiences as they emerge in the present moment, which may involve noticing foreground and background thoughts, emotions, physical sensations, images and memories. The aim is to bring experiences into awareness and potentially consider them from different perspectives, a key process within most psychological interventions (25), to increase psychological flexibility, introspection and problem solving (11-15, 26). This is described as "self-directed enquiry." To facilitate this process, therapists use sensitive but searching questions to help participants mobilize their attention to experiences as they arise. Therapists demonstrate and practice self-directed enquiry with participants at all stages of the therapeutic process. If practiced sufficiently during preparation, self-directed enquiry could be particularly helpful should challenging experiences, such as anxiety-inducing material, emerge during a psilocybin session.

Experiential Processing

Experiential processing refers to the sustaining of attention on an experience in the present moment so it can be processed in a meaningful way. Awareness of and re-evaluation of important biological, social, and psychological variables can potentiate new insights and facilitate change (10, 13). The importance of experiential "exposure" is well documented throughout the literature (26) Experiential processing thus requires a willingness to stay with thoughts, feelings, sensations or emotions until they have passed or evolved. This is expressed as moving "in and through" (27).

Overview of the Therapeutic Process

Psilocybin therapy has three phases: *preparation*, *psilocybin session*, and *integration*. Safety is a foundation for all phases. The therapeutic focus is different at each phase.

Preparation focuses on establishing the therapeutic alliance between the therapist and participant, and demonstrating and practicing self-directed enquiry and experiential processing. Therapeutic alliance develops when the therapist is genuinely curious and cultivates trust through focused presence; considered one of the core elements in ensuring a safe and meaningful psilocybin session.

During preparation, the therapist aims to build the participant's capacity to navigate distressing experiences through self-directed enquiry and experiential processing, using topics chosen by the participant. Practicing this approach during preparation helps the participant engage with their experiences in the psilocybin session, including physical and psychological challenges.

During the psilocybin session, the focus is to ensure psychological distress is not overwhelming, in order to facilitate a meaningful experience. The participant is encouraged to maintain a courageous, trusting and open attitude in order to move "in and through" the full range of internal experiences. Therapists are encouraged to maintain awareness of their own experiences during the session, including boredom, anxiety and fear, while modeling the same attitudes of openness and interest toward participants.

The therapeutic focus of integration is to reflect on the experience and generate insights following the psilocybin session. Participants are encouraged to describe and connect with the range of emotional, cognitive and physical experiences of the psilocybin session and relate them to their personal narrative. The integration process will generally unfold over time as the participant begins to implement changes in their life based on the experiences and insights of their psilocybin session.

Therapist Qualifications, Background, Experience, and Selection Criteria

All therapists in the clinical development program of psilocybin therapy for TRD are required to be mental health care practitioners with a professional license in good standing. They must have demonstrated clinical experience in areas required for psychotherapy or mental health counseling. The FDA currently requires all United States therapists to have at least a Masters' level of education and that two trained therapists are present for all psilocybin sessions. The lead therapist on each treating team must be fully trained and the co-therapist is able to gain their necessary clinical training alongside the lead therapist during the study. Although it is not mandatory for one of the therapist dyad to be a psychiatrist, a psychiatrist must, however, be present on premises near to the psilocybin session to respond to emergencies. Psychiatrists in this role must complete specific training, separate from the therapists' training.

Therapists for the phase IIb study were selected by study sites according to country, state, and institution-specific requirements, and interviewed by members of the COMPASS training team. Emphasis was placed on exploring therapists' motivations for getting involved in the study; their essential qualities of presence, openness and patience; and their familiarity with principles of Good Clinical Practice (GCP)-compliant research. We sought therapists with clinical experience and a demonstrated ability to care for people experiencing severe psychological distress, as these skills were likely to translate well into maintaining calm and reassuring presence while caring for participants during a psilocybin session.

At the time of writing, more than 65 therapists and assisting therapists had been fully trained to work across several studies within the COMPASS clinical development program of psilocybin therapy for TRD in North America and Europe. The therapists currently working on the phase IIb study includes predominantly psychologists, as well as psychiatrists, masters level practitioners, nurses, diploma level CBT therapists and PhD mental health specialists. Years of experience since qualification averaged 25.9 years (SD 8.8) with a range of 2–32 years. Therapists reported clinical experience in a number of areas (some more than one), including adult mental health; addictions; dementia; physical health; child/developmental; family therapy, and eating disorders.

Training Program Structure

Development and piloting of the training was overseen by a team with expertise and experience in therapeutic and research applications of psilocybin, research and training methodology in psychological treatments, and extensive clinical experience of people with TRD. The goal was to engage advisors and trainers with sufficient clinical experience in conducting psilocybin research sessions, which among our trainers, ranged between 25 and 300+ psychedelic research sessions. Having an "expert through experience" on the team, who had previously participated in a clinical study of psilocybin for TRD, firmly oriented the training processes around participant experience and needs. The expert group approach was applied to every stage of the training process, from therapist selection to mentoring and skill maintenance during the active stage of clinical trials.

The therapist training program for the phase IIb study entails four components: (1) an online learning platform, (2) in-person training, (3) clinical training, and (4) ongoing individual mentoring and webinars. All therapists are required to complete steps 1-3 of the training before they can lead sessions independently, and to engage in step 4 to continue their professional development.

Step 1. Self-Paced Online Learning

An interactive online platform was developed, consisting of over 20 hours of video modules and training materials covering a general overview of psilocybin research and information about the therapeutic approach. Information contains essential, but not exhaustive, resources on the neuroscience and psychopharmacology of psilocybin; medical, psychological and ethical considerations of psilocybin; medical, psychological and ethical considerations of psilocybin research; and privacy, confidentiality and GCP. Training modules on the therapeutic approach focus on practicalities of each stage of the therapeutic process, including video re-enactments of clinical scenarios, a therapy manual with study-specific appendices, and **Supplementary Materials** such as slides, academic papers, adherence rating scales, and other resources.

As all subsequent training steps are interactive, requiring a thorough knowledge of the principles and methods, therapists cannot progress before completing the online training. The platform continues to play an important role in professional development, even after therapists begin leading psilocybin sessions independently. The platform was named "The Shared Knowledge Platform" to emphasize the importance of continuous learning and incorporating clinically-relevant insights from study therapists in a timely manner. Although the core principles of the therapeutic approach remain the same, the knowledge and feedback from study therapists are integral to the optimization of therapeutic care delivery and participant safety.

Step 2. Interactive 5-Day In-person Training

The purpose of interactive training is for therapists to translate their learning from the online training modules into practice and demonstrate their understanding of core principles and methods of psychological support throughout all stages of psilocybin therapy. Training is conducted in groups of 10–15 people, led by experienced therapists and trainers. Most of the time is spent in role-plays of short clinical scenarios, anonymized and adapted from previous or current studies. Role-plays based on examples from therapists' own lives, provide first-hand experience of selfdirected enquiry and experiential processing. During in-person training, emphasis is placed on providing feedback from peers and trainers. Peer interactions are particularly important as they engage the entire group and enable the trainer to assess therapists' understanding of the approach, and their interpersonal and communication skills as well.

On rare occasions, trainers might have concerns about a therapist's conduct or there is evidence of poor understanding of the core principles of psychological support which could prevent a therapist from being effective. If the conduct or understanding cannot be addressed through feedback or additional training, it is recommended that the study site engage another therapist. Inperson training provides opportunities to assess the skills and areas of focus for additional training, and also build a community of competent, motivated therapists who support each other in building a body of mutual knowledge.

Step 3. Clinical Training

As agreed with the FDA, all therapists must gain clinical experience in at least four different psilocybin research sessions before leading psilocybin sessions independently. Most therapists in phase IIb gained their clinical experience by supporting participants in our phase I study: COMP002 – The Effects of Psilocybin on Cognitive and Emotional Function in Healthy Participants. This requirement is waived, in part or in full, for therapists with prior experience in supporting people in 3,4 methylenedioxy-methamphetamine (MDMA), LSD, or other psilocybin trials.

To build further capacity at active sites and mitigate potential turnover of therapists, therapists-in-training are now attending the psilocybin sessions in the current phase IIb study, as assisting therapists, alongside more experienced therapists, to gain clinical experience. Clinical training is always supervised by experienced therapists, and used as an opportunity to deepen therapists' understanding of core principles and to build their confidence.

After completing steps 1–3, therapists are eligible to lead psilocybin therapy sessions independently. All therapists are expected to engage in mentoring sessions at least once a month and to engage in continuous professional development.

Step 4. Continuing Professional Development *Mentoring*

The term "mentoring" is closely related to supervision practices common in psychotherapy training (28). The word "mentor" is used instead of "supervisor" as mentors in the phase IIb study do not have a formal managing, evaluating or enforcing role in relation to their mentees, nor do mentees work under their mentors' licenses. Otherwise, the content of mentoring is similar to that of clinical supervision.

The goal of mentoring is to develop and maintain strong professional skills and capabilities as a psilocybin therapist, and to ensure the fidelity of the treatment approach within the study context. Mentoring is not personal psychotherapy, nor is it a form of, or substitute for, fundamental clinical training or line management.

A common structure is followed in mentoring meetings, as recommended in evidence-based mentoring practices (28). Study-specific mentoring guidelines were developed by the mentoring team during a 3-day working group meeting. Guidelines are provided to all mentees at the outset, and the mentoring team meets monthly for "peer mentoring" to ensure consistent delivery of mentoring and resolve any emerging challenges. Mentoring sessions are structured around discussions of clinical scenarios and lessons to be learned from supporting participants in the study. Mentors share fidelity ratings and deliver feedback, along with discussing areas for improvement and potential protocol deviations, with the objective of ensuring consistency and therapist skill development. After each meeting, the mentor and mentee formulate key "take-home messages" and specific action points together, and provide a written summary.

Webinars

Therapists are required to participate in at least 50% of the professional development webinars usually conducted monthly. In these webinars, therapists present clinical case studies to their peers and trainers. Discussion content and key learning points are recorded and shared with therapists for future reference. Based on therapists' requests and learning needs that emerge during the study, some of the webinars also concentrate on specific themes, such as integration practices. Webinars aim to address emerging questions and issues in a timely manner and sustain and improve consistency across sites in the study. As different sites recruit at different rates, group webinars create an environment in which to share best clinical practices and maintain therapists' skills.

Additional Considerations

Several additional considerations regarding the specific challenges of a multisite clinical trial with a psychedelic compound are important to the training program.

Ensuring Consistency

Fidelity to the therapeutic approach ensures good internal validity, increases the replicability of an intervention, is likely to lead to better outcomes and participant care, and facilitates further therapy optimization research (29). Demonstrated fidelity to the approach is a regulatory requirement for research and will subsequently determine whether a course of treatment is reimbursed post-approval.

To assess consistency, fidelity scales specific to the intervention were developed to quantify adherence to the therapeutic approach in the context of research. In this study, the fidelity rating scale comprises items related to general safety and GCP, and items that assess principles and methods of the therapeutic approach, as outlined in the psilocybin therapy manual. These include key competencies and actions required of therapists during preparation (25 items), session (18 items) and integration (12 items). Example items for preparation include how well the therapist, "created and communicated a setting of safety and support"; for session, how they "encouraged and facilitated the participant attending to inner experiences and bodily sensations (including challenging experiences and sensations) balanced with periods of communication and movement, where necessary"; and for integration, "facilitated the participant talking freely about the psilocybin session, using active listening and curious questioning" (integration). Therapists' fidelity is rated against criteria for core competencies, on a three-point scale of "Yes"; "Yes, but below the desired level"; or "No." The current version of the fidelity scale is in the process of ongoing validation and refinement, and will be made available in a separate publication.

At the time of writing, fidelity raters in our phase IIb study are study trainers or therapists with clinical experience, or trained raters with no clinical experience. Video-recorded therapy sessions are used to assess fidelity. Non-therapist raters are required to complete online modules and attend at least three group training sessions, including the analysis and rating of standard clinical scenarios, followed by group discussion led by experienced trainers.

Across the study, all therapists are asked to use the fidelity scale to self-rate every session they conduct. For the purpose of training, such self-rating reports are collated with the fidelity ratings completed by raters and discussed at mentoring meetings.

Safety Considerations

Ensuring consistent ethical behavior of therapists is vitally important in psychedelic therapy and research. Participants might be more suggestible, and therefore more vulnerable, during a psychedelic therapy session (30). We ask all study therapists to commit to a therapists' code of ethics, placing the participant's well-being above all, and setting aside personal, ideological, religious or spiritual convictions. Trainers observe therapists during in-person and clinical training, and ongoing mentoring, in order to identify and address any attitudes or behaviors that could place vulnerable participants at risk for psychological manipulation or other unethical behavior.

Cultural Sensitivity

For the phase IIb trial, we have established 21 sites in 10 countries across North America and Europe. Given the prevalence of TRD across cultures and socio-economic structures, developing culturally informed approaches to psilocybin therapy and training is paramount. We have actively engaged with participants and experts, trial authorities, culturally diverse study teams and therapists to help identify and address potential challenges and create opportunities for ensuring cultural sensitivity.

We have encountered the challenge of therapists conducting therapy in their national language, which is not the same across all sites. To mitigate potential language discrepancies, a shared language document has been created to guide the selection of suitable translations for words or phrases that do not directly translate from English to the destination language, such as German, Dutch, Danish, Portuguese and Spanish. Therapists are asked to use suitable translations consistently. When possible, therapists are assigned a mentor who speaks the language in which they are conducting the trial, to ensure a thorough understanding of concepts and practices. The implications of cultural variation on the efficacy of training, and the consistency and quality of support, are not yet clear. We recognize the need for understanding and training in cultural sensitivity, especially when interventions based on interpersonal trust are delivered. We also recognize that cultural sensitivity is not limited to nationalities or languages, but extends to socio-economic background and social determinants of health, including the ability to access quality care, and we plan to introduce a new module on cultural competency in the future.

LESSONS LEARNED FROM THERAPIST FEEDBACK

To develop and improve the training program, all therapists were invited to complete a short anonymous survey after completing the training, and 37 responded.

Therapists rated the quality of the training overall, as well as each section of training (online manual, online videos, face-toface training, and clinical experience). Ratings were on a Likert scale from 1 to 5 [poor (1), fair (2), average (3), very good (4), excellent (5)]. All therapists rated the training overall as very good (N = 14) or excellent (N = 23); in-person training was rated as very good (N = 13) or excellent (N = 24); the online therapy manual was rated as average (N = 2), very good (N = 13) and excellent (N = 22); and the online demonstration videos were regarded as average (N = 1), very good (N = 12) and excellent (N = 24).

Therapists also reported whether the feedback they received from trainers was sufficient, using a 3-point Likert scale (1 = Insufficient, 2 = Sufficient, 3 = More than enough); of which 18 rated "sufficient" and 19 "more than enough." For ratings of how useful the feedback was, on a 3-point scale (1 = not useful, 2 = somewhat useful, 3 = very useful), 2 reported feedback as "somewhat" and 34 reported it as "very" useful.

Therapists also provided qualitative feedback about what they had found most and least useful, challenging, and whether they felt ready to work with participants. After 35% of participants in the phase IIb trial had received psilocybin therapy, we conducted 90-min interviews with 11 therapists at high-recruiting sites to explore the same questions.

Qualitative data from the surveys and interviews were not subject to formal analysis, least of all because there was little variation in what was reported.

All therapists commented that the training was comprehensive and well-structured, and prepared them well for seeing participants in the study. They reported that the online Shared Knowledge Platform served as a good resource before and during the study, and even after the clinical training was completed. Based on this feedback, we plan to expand the clinical content of the online training to further support therapists who are actively working with participants in the trial. Specifically, additional modules on the implications and support for psychiatric and medical co-morbidities, suicidality, and medication washout were valued resources and might further improve participant safety. When the current approach is used in other studies, additional information on specific diagnostic categories should be included in the platform. We also plan to expand the modules on cultural competencies, and self-care resources for therapists, as an essential part of training.

All therapists reported that the 5 days of initial in-person training was sufficient. They also commented that to fully benefit from in-person training, it was important first to have familiarized themselves with the principles of the approach and methods for the study, as outlined on the Shared Knowledge Platform. To ensure this is the case, we plan to introduce short quizzes and other forms of assessment to monitor engagement and understanding of the materials on the platform.

Therapists also commented that while didactic and experiential interactive training help with conceptual understanding and skill development in the therapeutic approach, clinical training and engagement in participant care during psilocybin therapy research sessions are particularly beneficial, although challenging.

Feedback from the survey and interviews has limitations. First, the study is in its early stages and most therapists have supported only a small number of participants. Second, given the limitations of the study design, we are not able to examine any potential relationship between therapists' training experience and the safety and efficacy outcomes of their participants.

DISCUSSION

The training of clinicians for clinical work with psychedelics has not yet been a subject of formal inquiry or research. Related programs run by research centers or sponsors of psychedelic drugs progressing through the FDA drug development process are drug, indication, and trial specific¹. Outside clinical trials, some postgraduate certificate programs offer training for licensed therapists wishing to add education and skills related to psychedelic medicines to their professional development, but do not directly or fully authorize graduates to participate as research therapists^{2, 3}. Although other programs are related in their focus on the clinical applications of psychedelics, they are not specific to the COMPASS protocol, and are not a substitute for the training program described herein.

Another salient question in the field of psychedelic therapy training is the need for, or relevance, of a therapist's personal experience of the study drug. Some advocate for the inclusion of such experiences in training programs (23), and others have cautioned that the decision to have and discuss such experiences requires careful forethought by clinicians (31). No research has yet demonstrated the impact of therapists' training, or other kinds of personal experience, with psychedelics on clinical outcomes, and the inclusion of such experiences may be a barrier to the inclusion of a diverse group of therapists, place trainers and trainees in dual roles, and even stigmatize those who choose to pursue psychedelic-assisted therapy as a professional. Still, there is anecdotal evidence that some therapists find some personal experiences to be helpful in their professional development [e.g., Halberstadt (32)]. The current program does not include opportunities for personal experience of psychedelics yet respects and allows for discussion of therapists' experiences during training.

Clinical training is critical in ensuring high-quality psilocybin therapy in the context of clinical trials. While didactic training could be outsourced to academic institutions and experienced private therapists, clinical training can only be conducted at selected research sites that have the capacity for a consistently high enrolment and the availability of experienced therapists motivated to train and mentor new therapists. Focusing on selected academic and clinical partners as a base for clinical training will ensure a consistent process of certification of therapists-in-training, provide trainees with continuous educational and professional development credits, and establish training centers of excellence involved in clinical research and care delivery.

Ongoing mentoring and professional development activities, although straightforward, could be logistically challenging at present, given that therapists span time zones from California to Eastern Europe. With increasing numbers of trainees and psilocybin studies consolidating in selected academic centers, these challenges can potentially be resolved with more regional training centers and therapist communities. This consideration leads us to focus on a "train the trainer" program, in which selected experienced therapists undergo additional training to be able to lead future training events and programs.

The design and implementation of fidelity procedures are essential and require a dedicated team with a specific set of skills. We have learned from experience that introducing fidelity assessments early in the training process is essential to guide the direction of training and consolidate the learning for therapists. For a phase III study, we plan to provide raters with a specially designed fidelity rating manual that would be an essential part of training for fidelity raters. In addition, we are investigating the value of machine learning and artificial intelligence to improve fidelity measures as well as the quality of training and feedback.

CONCLUSION

Training for psilocybin therapists is essential to ensure consistent and high-quality care for participants in clinical studies and potential post-approval applications. Early, active and ongoing collaborations between mental health experts is essential for the continuous development of a training methodology that is rigorous, effective and scalable. To maximize impact and to meet phase III and post-approval need, we consider the adoption of technology for enhanced online learning and the establishment of pathways for clinical training to be critical points for quality assurance. These goals can only be achieved through close public, academic and industry collaborations united by the common goal of transforming mental health care.

¹https://mapspublicbenefit.com/training

²https://www.ciis.edu/research-centers/center-for-psychedelic-therapies-and-research/about-the-certificate-in-psychedelic-assisted-therapies-and-research ³https://www.fluence8.com/postgraduate-certificate-in-psychedelic-integration-therapy

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical approval was not provided for this study on human participants because the research involved a survey of training participants that was conducted as part of an internal educational program evaluation process and therefore not requiring IRB. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ST led the development of the psychological approach and therapeutic model, and the design and content development of the therapist training program, including mentoring and fidelity procedures and delivered the majority of the therapist in-person training, and contributed to the writing of this manuscript. EN provided some of the therapist in-person training, contributed to the development of the mentoring and fidelity procedures, and contributed to the writing of the manuscript. PG, WR, BR, R-LJ, and FR contributed to the development of the therapeutic model, therapist recruitment, training, supervision and mentoring, and manuscript development. ML-J co-led the development and the implementation of the training program, contributed to the selection, recruitment, training and supervision of therapists, and the development of the manuscript. RW contributed to therapist recruitment, training and further development of the training, adherence monitoring, supervision and mentoring program, evaluation of the training program, and the development of the manuscript. EM led the development of the therapeutic model, and the design and the implementation of the training program and also contributed to the evaluation of the survey results and development of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Carhart-Harris RL, Bolstridge M, Rucker J, Day CM, Erritzoe D, Kaelen M, et al. Psilocybin with psychological support for treatment-resistant depression: an open-label feasibility study. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2016) 3:619–27. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30065-7
- Moreno FA, Wiegand CB, Taitano EK, Delgado PL. Safety, tolerability, and efficacy of psilocybin in 9 patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry. (2006) 67:1735–40. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v67n1110
- Bogenschutz MP, Forcehimes AA, Pommy JA, Wilcox CE, Barbosa PC, Strassman RJ. Psilocybin-assisted treatment for alcohol dependence: a proof-of-concept study. *J Psychopharmacol.* (2015) 29:289–99. doi: 10.1177/0269881114565144
- 4. Johnson MW, Garcia-Romeu A, Cosimano MP, Griffiths RR. Pilot study of the 5-HT2AR agonist psilocybin in the treatment of tobacco

FUNDING

The development of the manuscript was supported by COMPASS Pathways PLC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Kirk Rutter, our Special Advisor on Participant Experience, who contributed to the development of the approach, as well as therapist selection and training, and Dr. Augustus John Rush for his expert guidance throughout the process of developing the therapy model and training program. We express our appreciation to all those who have contributed their ideas and experience to this training program, including but not limited to the team at the Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies (MAPS); Professor Janis Phelps, Director of the Center for Psychedelic Therapy and Research at the California Institute of Integral Studies; Prof. Peter Kinderman, whose invaluable clinical and research experience helped shape the training program; Oliver Wilkins and Jack Jones, who helped film much of our online training; Jessica Rose Stuart and Batya Septimus for their comments and contributions to the editing of this paper; and Jon Kilner for his editing services. We are particularly grateful to the team at King's College London, led by Prof. Allan Young, Dr. James Rucker, Catherine Bird, and Aster Daniel, who were instrumental in facilitating the clinical training of the therapists involved in the COMPASS research trial. We would also like to express our profound gratitude to Sue Stansfield and Samuel Williams of the Clinical Operations team at COMPASS Pathways, who coordinated the clinical training and therapist credentialling. Finally, we would like to thank all of the therapists who were involved as trainees in the initial phases of this training program. Their continued engagement is helping to accelerate patient access to evidence-based innovation in mental health.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.586682/full#supplementary-material

addiction. J Psychopharmacol. (2014) 28:983–92. doi: 10.1177/02698811145 48296

- Ross S, Bossis A, Guss J, Agin-Liebes G, Malone T, Cohen B, et al. Rapid and sustained symptom reduction following psilocybin treatment for anxiety and depression in patients with life-threatening cancer: a randomized controlled trial. J Psychopharmacol. (2016) 30:1165–80. doi: 10.1177/0269881116675512
- Grob CS, Danforth AL, Chopra GS, Hagerty M, McKay CR, Halberstadt AL, et al. Pilot study of psilocybin treatment for anxiety in patients with advanced-stage cancer. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2011) 68:71–8. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.116
- Griffiths RR, Johnson MW, Carducci MA, Umbricht A, Richards WA, Richards BD. Psilocybin produces substantial and sustained decreases in depression and anxiety in patients with life-threatening cancer: a randomized double-blind trial. *J Psychopharmacol.* (2016) 30:1181–97. doi: 10.1177/0269881116675513

- Griffiths RR, Johnson MW, Richards WA, Richards BD, McCann U, Jesse R. Psilocybin occasioned mystical-type experiences: immediate and persisting dose-related effects. *Psychopharmacology*. (2011) 218:649–65. doi: 10.1007/s00213-011-2358-5
- Studerus E, Gamma A, Kometer M, Vollenweider FX. Prediction of psilocybin response in healthy volunteers. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e30800. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030800
- 10. Powers, William T. Living Control Systems III: The Fact of Control. New Canaan, CT: Benchmark Publications (2008).
- 11. Beck AT, Rush AJ, Shaw BF, Emery G. *Cognitive Therapy of Depression*. New York, NY: Guilford Press (1979).
- Segal ZV, Williams JMG, Teasdale JD. Mindfulness-based Cognitive Therapy for Depression: A New Approach to Preventing Relapse. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Guilford Press. (2012).
- 13. Carey TA, Mansell W, Tai SJ. Principles-Based Counselling and Psychotherapy: A Method of Levels Approach. New York, NY: Routledge Press (2015).
- Hayes SC, Strosahl KD, Wilson KG. Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: An Experiential Approach to Behavior Change. New York, NY: Guilford Press (1999).
- 15. Gendlin, ET. Focusing-Oriented Psychotherapy: A Manual of the Experiential Method. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2012).
- Johnson, MW, Richards, WA, Griffiths, RR. Human hallucinogen research: guidelines for safety. J Psychopharmacol. (2008) 22:603–20. doi: 10.1177/0269881108093587
- Rucker JJ, Jelen LA, Flynn S, Frowde KD, Young AH. Psychedelics in the treatment of unipolar mood disorders: a systematic review. *J Psychopharmacol.* (2016) 30:1220–29. doi: 10.1177/0269881116679368
- Carhart-Harris RL, Erritzoe D, Williams T, Stone JM, Reed LJ, Colasanti A, et al. Neural correlates of the psychedelic state as determined by fMRI studies with psilocybin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:2138–43. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1119598109
- Carhart-Harris RL, Leech R, Williams TM, Erritzoe D, Abbasi N, Bargiotas T, et al. Implications for psychedelic-assisted psychotherapy: functional magnetic resonance imaging study with psilocybin. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2012) 200:238–44. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.103309
- 20. Andrews-Hanna JR, Smallwood J, Spreng RN. The Default Network and self-generated thought: component processes, dynamic control, and clinical relevance. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2014) 1316:29–52. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12360
- Andrews-Hanna JR. The brain's default network and its adaptive role in internal mentation. *Neuroscientist.* (2012) 18:251–70. doi: 10.1177/1073858411403316
- 22. Davis AK, Barrett FS, Griffiths RR. Psychological flexibility mediates the relations between acute psychedelic effects and subjective decreases in depression and anxiety. *J Context Behav Sci.* (2020) 15:39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jcbs.2019.11.004

- Phelps, J. Developing guidelines and competencies for the training of psychedelic therapists. J Human Psychol. (2017) 57:450–87. doi: 10.1177/0022167817711304
- 24. Carryer JR, Greenberg LS. Optimal levels of emotional arousal in experiential therapy of depression. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2010) 78:190–9. doi: 10.1037/a0018401
- Carey TA, Kelly RE, Mansell W,Tai SJ. What's therapeutic about the therapeutic relationship? A hypothesis for practice informed by Perceptual Control Theory. *Cogn Behav Ther.* (2012) 5:47–59. doi: 10.1017/S1754470X12 000037
- Carey TA. Exposure and reorganization: the what and how of effective psychotherapy. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2011) 31:236–48. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.04.004
- 27. Richards WA. Sacred Knowledge: Psychedelics and Religious Experiences. New York, NY: Columbia University Press (2015).
- 28. Milne D. Evidence-Based Clinical Supervision. Principles and Practice. Chichester: BPS Blackwell (2009).
- Mowbray, CT, Holter MC, Teague GB, Bybee D. Fidelity criteria: development, measurement, and validation. Am J Eval. (2003) 24:315–40. doi: 10.1177/109821400302400303
- Sjoberg, BM, Hollister LE. The effects of psychotomimetic drugs on primary suggestibility. *Psychopharmacologia*. (1965) 8:251–62. doi: 10.1007/BF00407857
- Nielson EM, Guss J. The influence of therapists' first-hand experience with psychedelics on psychedelic-assisted psychotherapy research and therapist training. J Psyched Stud. (2018) 2:64–73. doi: 10.1556/2054.2018.009
- Halberstadt N. MDMA-assisted psychotherapy: a view from both sides of the couch. Maps Bull. (2014) 24:4–6.

Conflict of Interest: ST, WR, PG, FR, BR, R-LJ, and EN have received consulting fees and salary support from COMPASS Pathways PLC. EN is an owner of Fluence, an advisor to Sansero Life Sciences, independent contractor researcher for Multidisciplinary Association for Psychedelic Studies Public Benefit Corporation (MPBC), and former staff clinical researcher at NYU School of Medicine on research projects funded by Heffter Research Institute, MPBC, and Riverstyx Foundation. ML-J, RW, and EM are employees of COMPASS Pathways PLC.

Copyright © 2021 Tai, Nielson, Lennard-Jones, Johanna Ajantaival, Winzer, Richards, Reinholdt, Richards, Gasser and Malievskaia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Botulinum Neurotoxin Therapy for Depression: Therapeutic Mechanisms and Future Perspective

Yang Li¹, Tong Liu^{2,3*} and Weifeng Luo^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University, Suzhou, China, ² Institute of Pain Medicine and Special Environmental Medicine, Nantong University, Nantong, China, ³ College of Life Sciences, Yanan University, Yanan, China

Depression is one of the most common mental disorders, which causes global burden. Antidepressants and psychotherapies are the mainstay of treatment for depression, which have limited efficacy. Thus, alternative approaches for preventing and treating depression are urgently required. Recent clinical trials and preclinical researches have clarified that peripheral facial injection of botulinum neurotoxin type A (BoNT/A) is a rapid, effective and relative safe therapy for improving some symptoms of depression. Despite its safety and efficacy, the underlying therapeutic mechanisms of BoNT/A for depression remains largely unclear. In the present review, we updated and summarized the clinical and preclinical evidence supporting BoNT/A therapy for the treatment of depression. We further discussed the potential mechanisms underlying therapeutic effects of BoNT/A on depression. Notably, we recently identified that the anti-depressant effects of BoNT/A associated with up-regulation of 5-HT levels and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression in the hippocampus in a preclinical mouse model. In summary, these studies suggest that BoNT/A therapy is a potential effective and safe intervention for the management of depression. However, fundamental questions remain regarding the future prospects of BoNT/A therapy, including safety, efficacy, dose-response relationships, identification of potential predictors of response, and the precise mechanisms underlying BoNT/A therapy.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Danilo Arnone, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

Reviewed by:

Michelle Magid, The University of Texas at Austin, United States Hassan Galadari, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

*Correspondence:

Tong Liu tongliu@ntu.edu.cn Weifeng Luo lwfwxx@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 23 October 2020 Accepted: 29 March 2021 Published: 23 April 2021

Citation:

Li Y, Liu T and Luo W (2021) Botulinum Neurotoxin Therapy for Depression: Therapeutic Mechanisms and Future Perspective. Front. Psychiatry 12:584416. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.584416 Keywords: depression, botulinum neurotoxin, hippocampus, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, 5-HT

INTRODUCTION

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a complex mental disease, which is characterized by symptoms of emotional, motivational, cognitional, and physiological domains (1). MDD is a highly prevalent disease of mental disorders which ranging from 6 to 18% across different countries, and it has substantially increased since 1990, possibly driven by global population growth and aging (2). According to World Health Organization (WHO), it was estimated that more than 350 million people suffer from MDD all over the world (3). In addition, many studies indicate women have been shown to be at greater risk for MDD than men (4). MDD is one of the top ten causes of disability all over the world. And MDD has been predicted to be a leading cause of global disease burden by 2030, in view of the overall disability and sufferings caused by it (5). For instance, the economic costs due to depression worldwide is estimated to be 1.15 trillion US dollars per year (3),

44

and it is estimated that in the United States alone, this figure exceeds US\$210 billion, resulting in 45% direct costs, 5% costs related to suicides and 50% costs related to work (3).

The symptoms of depression include low mood, decreased interest in the daily activities, decreased motivation, appetite and sleep disturbance, psychomotor agitation or retardation, cognitive impairment, and suicidal thought (6, 7). In addition, the patients with MDD have poorer physical health, including increased prevalence of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and premature mortality compared with the general population (8). MDD which was untreated or partially treated has prodigious influence for the patients, their family, health-care system, and society (9, 10).

Clinically, the current treatments for depression are pharmacological and psychological interventions. Early clinical observations indicated that decreased monoamine function in the brain contributed to the pathogenesis of depression. Thus, antidepressants were developed in order to up-regulate monoamines levels in the brain either by inhibiting neuronal reuptake of them or by inhibiting their degradation. Although antidepressants are typically more efficacious than placebo in many clinical trials, some evidence suggested that \sim 50% of patients with depression were not responsive to antidepressant treatments (11). In addition, antidepressant medication may cause significant side effects, such as weight gain, increased risk of diabetes, and sexual dysfunction. Notably, cognitive behavioral therapy is also shown to have only moderate therapeutic effect on depression (12). Given the enormous disease burden of MDD and limited efficacy of current antidepressants or cognitive behavioral therapy, there is an imminent need to develop an alternative effective therapy for depression. To this end, there is growing evidence supporting botulinum neurotoxin type A (BoNT/A) therapy as useful method to treat major depression (13-16). In the present review, we have provided clinical and preclinical evidence supporting BoNT/A therapy for treatment of depression and discussed the potential therapeutic mechanisms and future perspectives.

Overview of Botulinum Neurotoxins

Botulinum neurotoxins (BoNTs) are produced by Clostridium botulinum, of which there are 7 identified and different serotypes (A-G) (17, 18). BoNTs has a molecular weight of 150 kDa, which consist a light chain (LC; 50 kDa) and a heavy chain (HC; 100 kDa) (19-21). The main action of BoNTs occurs in the neuromuscular junction. In botulism poisoning, flaccid paralysis occurs by inhibiting the release of neurotransmitters from the peripheral cholinergic nerve terminals of the skeletal and autonomic nervous system (20). BoNTs are a typical example of bacterial exotoxins which target intracellular substrates. BoNTs have developed a structural organization aiming at delivering the metalloprotease domain into the host cell cytosol and by exploiting several physiologic functions of nerve terminals can achieve it (21). When local injection of BoNTs, they have limited diffusion, and their action can be reversible with time. Based on this above-mentioned feature, BoNTs (especial BoNT/A) have become the safe and most efficacious treatment for various kinds human syndromes that are characterized by hyperactivity of nerve terminals (21).

The classical mechanisms underlying the actions of BoNT/A is the inhibition of acetylcholine (ACh) release from the presynaptic nerve terminals, then reducing the activity of muscle fibers (22, 23). There are five major steps of BoNT/A transport in the nerve terminal, including binding and specificity, internalization into nerve terminals, membrane translocation, inter-chain disulfide reduction and SNARE protein cleavage (20), especially endocytosis, intracellular trafficking and transcytosis are important. It has been reported that HC/A can bind to and activate fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3), which is a tyrosine kinase receptor, in neuroblastoma cells (24). Recently, it was reported that by using non-toxic full-length BoNT/A(0) mutant, a catalytically inactive, BoNT/A(0) enters cortical neurons via a pathway dependent on FGFR3 receptor (25). Further study showed that BoNT/A(0) enters neurons through both dynamin-dependent and dynamin-independent endocytosis (25).

BoNT/A may also act similarly to the action of tetanus neurotoxins on the nervous system, which is the well-known example of retro-axonal transport inside motor axons (26). It is noteworthy that peripheral injection of BoNT/A can have a transynaptic action on the central neuronal circuits, including the spinal cord and higher brain regions (27, 28). So far, convincing evidence supporting BoNT/A1 retrograde transport to the CNS was supplied by tracking down the cleavage of the SNARE within the CNS neurons after peripheral injection, using a specified antibody for the novel epitope generated from the cleavage of SNAP-25 by BoNT/A1 (17, 29, 30). By injecting BoNT/A1 into the rat whisker pad, it caused the appearance of truncated SNAP-25 in the somatodendritic area of primary efferent facial motoneurons (31). It was also found that after the catalytically active BoNT/A was injected into the nasolabial muscle tissue of rats and mice, it was transported to the facial nucleus (FN) in the brain (27). Retrograde transportation of BoNT/A1 can also occur through primary sensory afferents, as it was observed that arrival of truncated SNAP-25 is not only in the trigeminal nucleus (29) but also in the spinal cord dorsal horn after subcutaneous or intramuscular injection (30). The transportation of BoNT/A1 includes undergoing retrograde from periphery to the ganglia and anterograde from ganglia to the afferent innervations in the brain stem and/or the spinal cord (28). Therefore, these results suggested that the intracellular transportation of BoNT/A1 may be an active retro-axonal transport, rather than through their passive diffusion or diffusion of split productions (31).

Clinical Application of BoNTs in Neurology

Currently, BoNTs therapy is widely administrated in clinical neurology, including dystonia, spasticity, autonomic disorders, and chronic pain (22, 23, 26) (Figure 1A). BoNTs can not only block the skeletal neuromuscular transmission, but also the autonomic innervation (24). Therefore, BoNTs therapy may also be beneficial for hyper-hidrotic disorders, urologic or gastrointestinal disorders (21). BoNT/A therapy had been applied for the management of many neurological disorders, such as dystonia and spasticity (25). Recently, a meta-analysis



study including a total of 42 clinical trials reassessed the efficacy of BoNTs for movement disorders treatment, such as blepharospasm, hemifacial spasm, and laryngeal dystonia (27, 28). BoNT/A therapy was though as a choice of the pharmacological treatment in focal spasticity to improve limb position, functional ability and to release pain (29, 30). The application of BoNTs within the broad category of autonomic indications includes the hypersecretory disorders, such as hyperhidrosis and sialorrhea (31). Preclinical and clinical evidence have showed that BoNTs therapy had analgesic effects on neuropathic pain, trigeminal neuralgia, and chronic migraine (32). Notably, BoNT/A has been given official approval for preventive therapy of chronic migraine by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in pain medicine (33). BoNTs can alleviate trigeminal neuralgia and can last for 6 months or

more (34). Recently, BoNTs is also applied for the management of motor and non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease (PD) patients (35). Intriguingly, recent meta-analysis and literatures support that clinical application of BoNT/A may have antidepressant properties (14, 36, 37) (**Figure 1B**). In the current review, we summarized the clinical and preclinical studies on BoNT/A-induced antidepressant effects, discussed the therapeutic mechanisms, and proposed the future directions of BoNT/A therapy for depression.

BoNT/A Therapy for Depression: Clinical Evidence

Although pharmacological and psychological treatment for depression are available, a considerable proportion of depressed patients are resistant to current standard treatment (38, 39). In

esthetic medicine, the injection of BoNT/A in the glabellar region is a commonly used intervention (40). The contraction of the corrugator muscles is able to produce glabellar frown lines, which is also required for the facial expression of negative emotion, such as anger, fear, and/or sadness (41). Thus, it was concluded that BoNT/A therapy can actually make facial expression of emotion less negative, suggesting BoNT/A therapy may have mood-lifting effects in some depressed patients.

In 2006, Finzi et al. first reported open-label application of BoNT/A in 10 depressed patients led to significant improvement of self-rated depression score by using Beck Depression Inventory II (BDI-II) (15). Two months after the injection of BoNT/A, nine patients were not depressed and one patient reversed negative mood. Although there is no control experiment and the number of cases is too small, this study inspired people to further investigate the therapeutic effects of BoNT/A on depression. Subsequently, there are several randomized controlled trials (RCT) of BoNT/A therapy for the management of depression. In addition, injection of BoNT/A into frown muscles and glabellar region in humans was performed in most studies. Other injection sites were also increasingly used, such as bilateral lateral canthus (42) in humans. The injection sites of five reports were glabellar regions and the concentration of the injection were 29 U applying in females and 39 to 40 U for males. After that, Montgomery Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS), BDI-II, and Hamilton Depression Scale (HAMD) were employed for the clinical evaluation of depression. They found that patients had a remission rate of more than 50% following BoNTs treatment, while females had a higher rate of remission than males (13). However, this study lasted only 6 weeks. In 2018, Finzi's another study showed that BoNTs injection was also effective for bipolar depression in men (43).

A randomized and placebo-controlled trial was conducted to evaluate the possible beneficial effect of injecting BoNT/A into the glabellar area as an adjuvant therapy for antidepression (44). This study lasted 16 weeks, making up for the shortcomings of abovementioned Finzi's research. Thirty participants randomly joined into the BoNT/A-treated (n = 15) or saline-treated (n =15) group. The response rates of BoNT/A and placebo groups were 60.0 and 13.3%, respectively. This trial suggested that a single injection of BoNT/A in the glabellar region may rapidly reach an intense and sustained remission for some depressed patients, who did not response to former medication. This study is relatively perfect, except for a small number of samples. Lewis et al. assessed the effect of BoNT/A on mood by comparing the patients who received BoNT/A therapy in glabellar region and who had other cosmetic treatment (45). Total 25 female participants participated in this study. BoNT/A treatment group was lower than the control group in the scores of Irritability-Depression-Anxiety Scale (IDAS). For some participants, their first BoNT/A treatment was 2 weeks prior to the measurement, however one participant first BoNT/A treatment was 6 years ago. In order to avoid large skewness, the geometric mean is used to measure the central trend. The geometric mean was 195 days, which is the longest remission duration.

Brin et al. evaluated the antidepression effect of BoNT/A using two doses (30U and 50U) in females (36). At week 6, BoNT/A

(50 U) treatment group did not separate from placebo group for any parameters. BoNT/A (30 U), administered in a standardized injection pattern in a single session, had a consistent efficacy signal across multiple depression symptom scales for 12 weeks or more. BoNT/A (30 U)/placebo MADRS differences of (observed ANCOVA) was \geq 4.0 points (up to week 15) and \geq 2.0 points (weeks 18–24), which is agree with the 2-point change threshold considered clinically relevant in MDD.

Magid et al. evaluated the effect of BoNT/A lasting 24 weeks (46). The response rates were 55% (6/11) in the BoNT/A-first group, 24% (4/17) in the BoNT/A-second group, and 0% (0/19) in the placebo group, respectively. The results suggested that the first injection of BoNT/A significantly decreased the BDI scores compared to that before treatment. An additional dose (no more than 20 U) were secondly injected to those patients who still had a severity score or greater for glabellar frown lines (47). Together, clinical studies (summarized in **Table 1**) have demonstrated that BoNT/A may be effective for the management of depression.

BoNT/A Therapy for Depression: Preclinical Evidence

To date, preclinical animal studies of BoNTs treatment for depression are still limited, but there are some clues. A single facial injection of BoNT/A induced a rapid and continuous improvement about depression-like behaviors in naive and space-restriction-stressed (SRS) mice. The antidepressant-like effects of BoNT/A was reflected by a decreased duration of forced swimming test and tail suspension test immobility (14). Techniques currently used to assess antidepressants effects by using rodent models include olfactory bulbectomy, chronic mild stress, chronic forced swim test, novelty-suppressed feeding, novelty-induced hypophagia, social defeat stress, and learned helplessness (49). Given that different models have different sensitivity to behaviors tests, using different animal models to validate the anti-depressant effects of BoNT/A may be necessary in the future.

To date, the clinical trials and animal studies of BoNTs treatment of depression are still relatively lacking, and the number of cases needs to be increased to evaluate its safety and efficacy, especially the long-term efficacy. However, it was noticed that the publication about the application of BoNTs in depression is increasing (**Figure 1B**). Subsequently, we will discuss the therapeutic mechanisms underlying the effects of BoNTs on depression.

Therapeutic Mechanisms of BoNT/A in Depression

To date, the potentially mechanisms underlying the therapeutic effects of BoNT/A in the treatment of depression is still elusive. There are some review article or meta-analysis that discussed its efficacy and possible mechanisms (37, 50). Based on current clinical and preclinical evidence, several hypotheses were proposed to explain the therapeutic mechanisms of BoNT/A on depression to date. The facial feedback hypothesis claims that the injection of BoNT/A between the eyebrows interfere with emotional feedback. Because botulinum toxin can

Year Authors

| 2006 | Finzi et al. (15) Lewis et al. | Dermatol Surg J Cosmet | RCT | female | 25 | BoNT/A Placebo- | _ | 29 U | _ | Frown muscles | | Nine of ten experienced resolution of their depression symptoms. BoNT/A-treated | 2 months 195 days |
|------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------|-----|--------------------|----|---|-----------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------|---------------------------|---|----------------------|
| | (45) | Dermatol | | | | BoNT/A | | | | | | group increased by 6 points. | ,. |
| 2012 | Wollmer et al. (44) | J Psychiatr Res | RCT | female and male | 30 | Placebo- BoNT/A | Botox Cosmetic, Allergan | 29U/female, 39U/male | 0.9% NaCl solution, 100U/2.5 ml | Glabellar region | HAMD, BDI | Response rate 60.0 vs. 13.3% | 16 weeks |
| 2013 | Hexsel et al. (47) | Dermatol Surg | RCT | _ | 25 | Depressed– non-depressed | , 0 | 20U | 0.9% NaCl solution, 100U/1 ml | Glabellar region | BDI | BDI scores were significantly lower than before. | 12 weeks |
| 2013 | Finzi et al. (13) | J Psychiatr Res | RCT | female and male | 74 | Double- Blind,placebo- BoNT/A | Botox Cosmetic, Allergan | 29U/female, 39U/male | 0.9% NaCl solution, 100U/1 ml | Frown muscles | MADRS | Response rates at 6 weeks from the date of injection were 52% and 15% in the OBA and placebo groups. | 6 weeks |
| 2014 | Magid et al. (46) | J Clin Psychiatry | RCT | female and male | 30 | Double-Blind, placebo- BoNT/A | _ | 29U/female, 39U/male | 0.9% NaCl solution, 40U/1 ml | Glabellar region | BDI, HDRS-21 | Response rates were 55% (6/11) in the BTA-first group, 24% (4/17) in the BTA-second group, and 0% (0/19) in the placebo group. | 24 weeks |
| 2018 | Chugh et al. (43) | J Psychiatr Pract | RCT | female and male | 37 | Chronic and treatment resistant depression | _ | 29U/female, 39U/male | _ | Glabellar region | BDI, HDRS-21, MADRS | Almost all of the patients (41/42) showed clinically meaningful improvement in the symptoms of depression. | 3 weeks |
| 2018 | Finzi et al. (48) | J Psychiatr Res | RCT | female and male | 6 | Bipolar depression | _ | 29–46 U | _ | Glabellar region | BDI | This is the first report of successful BT therapy of bipolar depression in six patients. | 15 weeks |

Brands

Doses

Dissolution

Injection

Tests

Results

Duration

TABLE 1 | Clinical trials and preclinical studies on botulinum toxin in the treatment of depression.

Periodicals study

Sex

Number Groups

Botulinum Neurotoxin Therapy for Depression

| Year | Year Authors | Periodicals | study | Sex | Number Groups | Groups | Brands | Doses | Dissolution | Injection | Tests | Results | Duration |
|------|---------------------|---|---------------|---------|--------------------|--|---------------------------|-------------|--|-----------------------|------------------|---|-----------|
| 2019 | Li et al. (14) | 2019 Li et al. (14) Neurosci Bull Animal testing male | Animal testin | ig male | 5–10 per groups | Placebo- BoNT/A- fluoxetine | BoNT/A, Lanzhou, China | 0.18U | 0.9% NaCl solution, 0.18U/100 µl | mouse cheeks TST, FST | TST, FST | BoNT/A improves 2 weeks depressive-like behaviors in mice undergoing spatial restraint stress. | s 2 weeks |
| 2020 | Brin et al. (36) | Int Clin Psycho RCT pharmacol | RCT | female | 255 | double-blind placebo- controlled | 1 | 30 U 50U | 0.9% NaCl solution | 1 | MADRSH AMD-17 | Neither BoNT/A 30U nor 50U demonstrated statistically significant superiority over placebo at the primary endpoint, but 30U showed consistent. | 24 weeks |

The down-regulation of the expression of several neurotrophic factors has been involved in the pathogenesis of MDD. The most prominent and widespread representative is a polypeptide BDNF,

paralyze muscles, it is impossible to modify facial expression according to mood states, such as happy, sadness and anger, which often appear in depressed patients. Social feedback hypothesis indicated that happy facial expressions will get positive social feedback and improve mood. Finally, facial injection of BoNT/A causes structure or function changes in the brain to alleviate depression, for example, upregulation of brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression in the brain (51). We will further discuss these abovementioned hypotheses as follow (Figure 1C).

Facial Feedback Hypothesis

The possible relationship between facial expression and depression can be traced back to the Darwin period (52). Strack et al. tested the hypothesis that people's facial activity affects their emotional responses (53). These results suggest that inhibition and promotion mechanisms may contribute to the observed emotional response (53). Other researchers have presented supportive results, indicating that signaling between the emotional center of the brain and the facial muscles is bidirectional, which further supports the facial feedback hypothesis (54).

It was confirmed that after the injection of BoNTs between the eyebrow and the orbicularis muscle, the depressed emotional state was reduced compared with depressed patients who had a saline injection. The improvement of depressed emotional state produced by BoNTs therapy was more obvious, when dealing with mild emotional stimuli (55). Wollmer et al. analyzed existing studies in an attempt to find better predictors to reflect the effects of BoNTs on patients with MDD. After data analysis, they found that high tension was the main predictor of BoNTs response, which sensitivity, specificity and overall accuracy of 100, 56, and 87%, respectively (56). The better effect of BoNTs for mood may be by the intervention of a proprioceptive feedback loop from the facial musculature to the emotional brain (57). Tension may be associated with more dynamic activities, resulting in more facial expression changes (58). In addition, BoNTs therapy reduced anxiety caused by frowning muscles, supporting the facial feedback hypothesis (59).

Social Feedback Hypothesis

Through its action of reversible paralysis of mimic muscles, peripheral injection BoNT/A is considered to be able to prevent the emotional facial expression, including anger, sadness, and fear from being perceived by seeing of the face. Thus, BoNT/A therapy may improve the social interaction with people around, improve social contact, and then have benign social feedback. Namely, people would enter a virtuous circle of positive mood and social feedback, resulting in the persistent improvement of self-esteem. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that brain limbic system and mirror neuron system is involved in the recognition of emotional facial expression (60, 61).

BDNF

which promotes cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) response element binding protein (CREB) phosphorylation through the activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK). In the brain, especially in the hippocampus, BDNF plays a functional role in neuronal differentiation and survival, neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity, connectivity, maintenance of morphology, learning and memory (62). Intriguingly, BDNF levels in several brain regions are remarkably reduced in depression-like animals and depressed patients. Several commonly-used antidepressants, such as serotonin-selective reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) (63) can up-regulate the level of BDNF expression in the hippocampus and the prefrontal cortex in order to exert antidepressant effects (64) (Figure 1). Our recent work also showed that facial injection of BoNT/A was also able to up-regulate the protein expression level of BDNF in the hippocampus not only at the mRNA but also at protein in mice. Furthermore, BoNT/A injection also activated the downstream ERK-CREB signaling pathways of BDNF in the hippocampus in stressed-mice (14). Thus, the up-regulation of BDNF levels may be a new mechanism underlying the therapeutic effects of BoNT/A in the management of depression.

Monoamine Theory

The monoamine theory claims that there is an association between emotional disorders and reduced availability of the absence of 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) or norepinephrine (NE) in the brain (65). Antidepressants can increase their brain content by inhibiting the reuptake of two important neurotransmitters (5-HT and NE) into nerve terminals (65). Some of the antidepressants based on monoamine theory include: tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOI), and SSRIs. Unilateral administration with BoNT/A into rat whisker significantly increased the NE levels in the striatum and 5-HT levels in the hypothalamus (14, 66). Interestingly, facial injection of BoNT/A significantly increased the 5-HT level in the hippocampus, hypothalamus, and prefrontal cortex in chronic stressed mice (14, 66). Thus, the results showed that BoNTs can up-regulate the levels of monoamines (e.g., 5-HT and NE) in the brain. Further clinical and basic studies need to identify the precise alteration of the neurotransmitters in the brain during BoNT/A therapy for depression.

Insula cortex modification

Series of evidence support the importance of several brain areas associated with MDD, by using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (67–69) or meta-analysis the MRI data (70, 71). The most extensive research has been done on the insular cortex (IC), prefrontal cortex (PFC), anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), amygdala and hippocampus (62), which play a key role in sensation and emotion. IC is a brain region responsible for the coding of emotional and social aspects (51). Previous studies demonstrated abnormal insular connectivity may mediate mood disorders in the symptom of depression (72). A new hypothesis for the therapeutic effects of BoNTs on depression, refers to "insula cortex (IC) modification," was recently proposed from transgenders' study (51). In patients suffering from mental illness, depression or bipolar disorder, it is possible to find both mental and physical dysphoria. The morphological changes of IC may be related to the difference between physical image and mental perception of one's body (51). Although the authors did not provide any evidence supporting BoNT/A therapy causes morphological alterations of IC, they proposed that the structural and functional modification of IC caused by BoNT/A therapy warrants further investigation.

Neuroinflammation

An important part of the physiological stress-sensing system is the immune system, which interacts with main integrative systems of body, including the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, the autonomic nervous system and the central nervous system (CNS) (73). Immune disorders affecting CNS function would cause neuroinflammatory diseases, such as multiple sclerosis and autoimmune encephalitis. Low-level chronic systemic inflammation may play an important role in mediating the interface among psychological stress, depressive symptomatology, and association with depressive symptoms (74). However, there is no direct evidence to support the therapeutic mechanisms underlying the effects of BoNTs for depression involved in neuroinflammation. But there are some clues indicated the potential modulation effects of BoNTs on the development of neuroinflammation. The mechanisms underlying therapeutic effects of BoNTs on neuropathic pain are involved in restraining the release of inflammatory mediators and peripheral neurotransmitters from sensory nerves (75). Increased expression of inflammatory factors has been shown to be inhibited by monoclonal anti-Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and inhibitors specific to intracellular proteins such as c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (76). Furthermore, BoNT/A treatment did not decrease LPSinduced release of pro-inflammatory factors in the astroglia, suggesting BoNT/A may have little effect on astrocytes (77). In contrast, BoNT/A treatment decreased the upregulation of expression of microglia-derived pro-inflammatory factors (77, 78), suggesting that BoNT/A may modulate the development of neuroinflammation by the inhibition of microglia activation in the CNS. The direct evidence supporting that therapeutic effects of BoNT/A on depression may owe to inhibiting neuroinflammation is still lacking.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

Clinical and preclinical experiments have showed that BoNTs may be beneficial for the management of depression. However, the therapeutic application of BoNTs for depression has not USA or EU or Evidence-based therapeutic approved indication. The therapeutic mechanisms of BoNTs in the treatment for depression are needed to be further clarified. In view of the heterogeneity of the clinical findings and various influencing factors (16), more clinical trials should be performed to evaluate the dose equivalence, especially considering the different BoNT/A1 formulations. Notably, the potency of the preparations of BoNTs can be expressed as Units (U), where 1 U corresponds to 1 LD50 in the mouse bioassay (79). It is noteworthy that the

clinical effect of 1 unit is not interchangeable between different preparations, because the bioassay methods used by different brands are different, (80).

Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) was used to assess neural responses to BoNTs treatment by radionuclide imaging in human (81). However, it remains a major challenge in objectively reflecting emotional state especially in animal models. Interestingly, a recent study showed that mice can display stereotyped facial expressions responding to emotionally salient events, and upon targeted manipulations in emotionrelevant neuronal circuits (82). By using brain imaging methods and monitoring facial expression of emotion in rodents, the therapeutic mechanisms of BoNT/A on depression may be better understood.

Recently, recombinant techniques (including site-directed mutations) have been used to create engineering botulinum neurotoxins as potential novel drugs for improving their therapeutic efficacy (83, 84). For instance, Yin et al. generated a "gain-of-function" mutation by replacing two non-aromatic residues at an extended loop in the C-terminal receptor-binding domain of BoNT/B (85). This engineering BoNT/B showed enhanced binding to neuronal membrane, enhanced efficacy in paralyzing muscles, and lowered systemic diffusion (85). In addition, BoNTs were designed as novel analgesic by utilizing the ability of BoNT to cleave SNARE complexes (83). Another engineering BoNT designed by mixing BoNT/E LC to the Nterminus of BoNT/A produced locally-applied and long-acting analgesic effects in a rat neuropathic pain model (86). Scheps et al. designed a mutant with three mutations (T420E; F423M; Y426F) in the C-terminus of BoNT/A1 light chain, which exert a faster onset and a shorter duration than wild-type BoNT/A1 (87). There

REFERENCES

- Baldwin DS. A personal account of depressive illness and its antidepressant treatment. *International Clin Psychopharmacol.* (2019) 34:286–90. doi: 10.1097/YIC.00000000000273
- Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990– 2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:1789–858. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(18)32279-7
- Cipriani A, Furukawa TA, Salanti G, Chaimani A, Atkinson LZ, Ogawa Y, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of 21 antidepressant drugs for the acute treatment of adults with major depressive disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Lancet.* (2018) 391:1357–66. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(17)32802-7
- Stegenga BT, King M, Grobbee DE, Torres-González F, Švab I, Maaroos HI, et al. Differential impact of risk factors for women and men on the risk of major depressive disorder. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2012) 22:388–96. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2012.04.011
- Ii Timberlake M, Dwivedi Y. Linking unfolded protein response to inflammation and depression: potential pathologic and therapeutic implications. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2019) 24:987–94. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0241-z
- Swinkels JA. [Revised Dutch GP guideline 'Depression': diagnosis not as simple as it appears]. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd. (2012) 156:A5113.
- Stewart JW, McGrath PJ, Quitkin FM, Klein DF. DSM-IV depression with atypical features: is it valid? *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2009) 34:2625–32. doi: 10.1038/npp.2009.99

are several lines of evidence supporting that BoNT/A1 therapy is generally safe and may be used as a new, alternative option for the treatment of depression (37). However, safety issue must be considered for all recombinant engineering BoNTs. Together, these novel engineering botulinum neurotoxins warrant further investigation for depression treatment.

CONCLUSIONS

Although both clinical and preclinical studies have demonstrated that BoNT/A therapy may be an effective alternative intervention for depression, future investigations are needed to improve our understanding of the therapeutic mechanisms of BoNT/A for depression. Thus, studies on BoNT/A therapy may provide novel targets for the development of effective antidepressant drugs.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YL performed literature search and prepared the draft. TL and WL wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81870874 and 81671270) and the Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province, China (BK20170004), Jiangsu Key Laboratory of Neuropsychiatric Diseases (BM2013003), the Second Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University Preponderant Clinic Discipline Group Project Funding (XKQ2015002).

- Rivera M, Porras-Segovia A, Rovira P, Molina E, Gutiérrez B, Cervilla J. Associations of major depressive disorder with chronic physical conditions, obesity and medication use: results from the PISMA-ep study. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2019) 60:20–7. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.04.008
- Arnold JF, Zwiers MP, Fitzgerald DA, van Eijndhoven P, Becker ES, Rinck M, et al. Fronto-limbic microstructure and structural connectivity in remission from major depression. *Psychiatry Res.* (2012) 204:40–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.07.010
- Horn DI, Yu C, Steiner J, Buchmann J, Kaufmann J, Osoba A, et al. Glutamatergic and resting-state functional connectivity correlates of severity in major depression—the role of pregenual anterior cingulate cortex and anterior insula. *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2010) 4:33. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2010.00033
- Furukawa TA, Maruo K, Noma H, Tanaka S, Imai H, Shinohara K, et al. Initial severity of major depression and efficacy of new generation antidepressants: individual participant data meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2018) 137:450–8. doi: 10.1111/acps.12886
- Ijaz S, Davies P, Williams CJ, Kessler D, Lewis G, Wiles N. Psychological therapies for treatment-resistant depression in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 5:Cd010558. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010558.pub2
- Finzi E, Rosenthal NE. Treatment of depression with onabotulinumtoxinA: a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled trial. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2014) 52:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.11.006
- 14. Li Y, Liu J, Liu X, Su CJ, Zhang QL, Wang ZH, et al. Antidepressant-Like Action of Single Facial Injection of Botulinum Neurotoxin A is Associated with Augmented 5-HT Levels and BDNF/ERK/CREB Pathways in Mouse Brain. *Neurosci Bull.* (2019) 35:661–72. doi: 10.1007/s12264-019-00367-8

- Finzi E, Wasserman E. Treatment of depression with botulinum toxin A: a case series. *Dermatolog Surg.* (2006) 32:645–9; discussion 9–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4725.2006.32136.x
- Arnone D, Galadari H, Rodgers CJ, Östlundh L, Aziz KA, Stip E, et al. Efficacy of onabotulinumtoxinA in the treatment of unipolar major depression: systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression analyses of double-blind randomised controlled trials. *J Psychopharmacol.* (2021). doi: 10.1177/0269881121991827. [Epub ahead of print].
- Cherington M. Botulism: update and review. Semin Neurol. (2004) 24:155–63. doi: 10.1055/s-2004-830901
- Matak I, Lacković Z. Botulinum toxin A, brain and pain. Prog Neurobiol. (2014) 119–20:39–59. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2014.06.001
- Rossetto O, Seveso M, Caccin P, Schiavo G, Montecucco C. Tetanus and botulinum neurotoxins: turning bad guys into good by research. *Toxicon*. (2001) 39:27–41. doi: 10.1016/s0041-0101(00)00163-x
- Park J, Chung ME. Botulinum toxin for central neuropathic pain. *Toxins*. (2018) 10:224. doi: 10.3390/toxins10060224
- Pirazzini M, Rossetto O, Eleopra R, Montecucco C. Botulinum neurotoxins: biology, pharmacology, and toxicology. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2017) 69:200–35. doi: 10.1124/pr.116.012658
- Orsini M, Leite MA, Chung TM, Bocca W, de Souza JA, de Souza OG, et al. Botulinum neurotoxin type a in neurology: update. *Neurol Int.* (2015) 7:5886. doi: 10.4081/ni.2015.5886
- Jankovic J. botulinum toxin: state of the art. Mov Disord. (2017) 32:1131–8. doi: 10.1002/mds.27072
- Hosp C, Naumann MK, Hamm H. Botulinum toxin treatment of autonomic disorders: focal hyperhidrosis and sialorrhea. *Semin Neurol.* (2016) 36:20–8. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1571214
- Garcia-Ruiz PJ, Sanz-Cartagena P, Martinez-Castrillo JC, Ares-Pensado B, Aviles-Olmos I, Blazquez-Estrada M, et al. Myths and evidence on the use of botulinum toxin: neuropharmacology and dystonia. *Rev Neurol.* (2018) 66:163–72. doi: 10.33588/rn.6605.2017110
- Jabbari B. Botulinum toxin treatment in neurology. Semin Neurol. (2016) 36:3-4. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1571849
- Hallett M, Albanese A, Dressler D, Segal KR, Simpson DM, Truong D, et al. Evidence-based review and assessment of botulinum neurotoxin for the treatment of movement disorders. *Toxicon.* (2013) 67:94–114. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2012.12.004
- Del Sorbo F, Albanese A. Botulinum neurotoxins for the treatment of focal dystonias: review of rating tools used in clinical trials. *Toxicon.* (2015) 107(Pt A):89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2015.09.010
- Esquenazi A, Albanese A, Chancellor MB, Elovic E, Segal KR, Simpson DM, et al. Evidence-based review and assessment of botulinum neurotoxin for the treatment of adult spasticity in the upper motor neuron syndrome. *Toxicon*. (2013) 67:115–28. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2012.11.025
- 30. Simpson DM, Hallett M, Ashman EJ, Comella CL, Green MW, Gronseth GS, et al. Practice guideline update summary: botulinum neurotoxin for the treatment of blepharospasm, cervical dystonia, adult spasticity, and headache: report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology.* (2016) 86:1818–26. doi: 10.1212/wnl.00000000002560
- Evidente VG, Adler CH. An update on the neurologic applications of botulinum toxins. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2010) 10:338–44. doi: 10.1007/s11910-010-0129-z
- Safarpour Y, Jabbari B. Botulinum toxin treatment of pain syndromes -an evidence based review. *Toxicon.* (2018) 147:120–8. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2018.01.017
- Begasse de Dhaem O, Gharedaghi MH, Rizzoli P. Modifications to the PREEMPT protocol for onabotulinumtoxina injections for chronic migraine in clinical practice. *Headache*. (2020) 60:1365–75. doi: 10.1111/head.13823
- Kontzialis M, Kocak M. Imaging evaluation of trigeminal neuralgia. J Istanbul Univ Fac Dent. (2017) 51(3 Suppl 1):S62–8. doi: 10.17096/jiufd.27242
- Wagle Shukla A, Malaty IA. Botulinum toxin therapy for parkinson's disease. Semin Neurol. (2017) 37:193–204. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1602246
- 36. Brin MF, Durgam S, Lum A, James L, Liu J, Thase ME, et al. OnabotulinumtoxinA for the treatment of major depressive disorder: a phase 2 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in adult females. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol.* (2020) 35:19–28. doi: 10.1097/yic.00000000000290

- Qian H, Shao F, Lenahan C, Shao A, Li Y. Efficacy and safety of botulinum toxin vs. placebo in depression: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:603087. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.603087
- Ceylan D, Erer S, Zarifoglu M, Turkes N, Ozkaya G. Evaluation of anxiety and depression scales and quality of LIFE in cervical dystonia patients on botulinum toxin therapy and their relatives. *Neurol Sci.* (2019) 40:725–31. doi: 10.1007/s10072-019-3719-9
- 39. Weber A, Heger S, Sinkgraven R, Heckmann M, Elsner P, Rzany B. Psychosocial aspects of patients with focal hyperhidrosis. Marked reduction of social phobia, anxiety and depression and increased quality of life after treatment with botulinum toxin A. *Br J Dermatol.* (2005) 152:342–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2004.06334.x
- 40. Banegas RA, Farache F, Rancati A, Chain M, Gallagher CJ, Chapman MA, et al. The South American Glabellar Experience Study (SAGE): a multicenter retrospective analysis of real-world treatment patterns following the introduction of incobotulinumtoxinA in Argentina. *Aesthet Surg J.* (2013) 33:1039–45. doi: 10.1177/1090820x13503475
- Feng Z, Sun Q, He L, Wu Y, Xie H, Zhao G, et al. Optimal dosage of botulinum toxin type A for treatment of glabellar frown lines: efficacy and safety in a clinical trial. *Dermatol Surg.* (2015) 41(Suppl 1):S56–63. doi: 10.1097/dss.00000000000265
- Lyu Alan FY, Lulu T, Xueyan G, Jing L, Yixian H, Xuping Z, et al. Clinical study on the efficacy and safety of botulinum toxin A in the treatment of Parkinson's disease with depression. *Chin J Neurol.* (2019) 52:745–51.
- Chugh S, Chhabria A, Jung S, Kruger THC, Wollmer MA. Botulinum toxin as a treatment for depression in a real-world setting. *J Psychiatr Pract.* (2018) 24:15–20. doi: 10.1097/pra.000000000000277
- Wollmer MA, de Boer C, Kalak N, Beck J, Götz T, Schmidt T, et al. Facing depression with botulinum toxin: a randomized controlled trial. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2012) 46:574–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.01.027
- Lewis MB, Bowler PJ. Botulinum toxin cosmetic therapy correlates with a more positive mood. J Cosmet Dermatol. (2009) 8:24–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1473-2165.2009.00419.x
- Magid M, Reichenberg JS, Poth PE, Robertson HT, LaViolette AK, Kruger TH, et al. Treatment of major depressive disorder using botulinum toxin A: a 24week randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2014) 75:837–44. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13m08845
- 47. Hexsel D, Brum C, Siega C, Schilling-Souza J, Dal'Forno T, Heckmann M, et al. Evaluation of self-esteem and depression symptoms in depressed and nondepressed subjects treated with onabotulinumtoxinA for glabellar lines. *Dermatol Surg.* (2013) 39:1088–96. doi: 10.1111/dsu.12175
- Finzi E, Kels L, Axelowitz J, Shaver B, Eberlein C, Krueger TH, et al. Botulinum toxin therapy of bipolar depression: a case series. J Psychiatr Res. (2018) 104:55–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.06.015
- Ramaker MJ, Dulawa SC. Identifying fast-onset antidepressants using rodent models. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2017) 22:656–65. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.36
- Schulze J, Neumann I, Magid M, Finzi E, Sinke C, Wollmer MA, et al. Botulinum toxin for the management of depression: An updated review of the evidence and meta-analysis. J Psychiatr Res. (2021) 135:332–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.01.016
- França K, Lotti T. Botulinum toxin for the treatment of depression. *Dermatol Ther.* (2017) 30:e12422. doi: 10.1111/dth.12422
- 52. Darwin C. Darwinism. Indian Med Gaz. (1872) 7:47.
- Strack F, Martin LL, Stepper S. Inhibiting and facilitating conditions of the human smile: a nonobtrusive test of the facial feedback hypothesis. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (1988) 54:768–77. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.54. 5.768
- Brennan C. Botulinum toxin type-A (BoNT-A) injections of the corrugator muscles for aesthetics and depression? *Plast Surg Nurs.* (2016) 36:167–9. doi: 10.1097/PSN.00000000000159
- Baumeister JC, Papa G, Foroni F. Deeper than skin deep—The effect of botulinum toxin-A on emotion processing. *Toxicon.* (2016) 118:86–90. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2016.04.044
- Wollmer MA, Kalak N, Jung S, de Boer C, Magid M, Reichenberg JS, et al. Agitation predicts response of depression to botulinum toxin treatment in a randomized controlled trial. *Front Psychiatry.* (2014) 5:36. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00036

- Wollmer MA, Magid M, Kruger THC, Finzi E. The use of botulinum toxin for treatment of depression. In: Whitcup SM, Hallett M, editors. *Botulinum Toxin Therapy. Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, Vol. 263. Cham: Springer (2019). p. 265–78. doi: 10.1007/164_2019_272
- Milev R. Response of depression to botulinum toxin treatment: agitation as a predictor. *Front Psychiatry*. (2015) 6:55. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2015.00055
- Finzi E, Rosenthal NE. Emotional proprioception: treatment of depression with afferent facial feedback. J Psychiatr Res. (2016) 80:93–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.06.009
- Leuchter AF, Cook IA, Hunter AM, Cai C, Horvath S. Restingstate quantitative electroencephalography reveals increased neurophysiologic connectivity in depression. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e32508. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032508
- Rajmohan V, Mohandas E. Mirror neuron system. *Indian J Psychiatry*. (2007) 49:66–9. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.31522
- Robinson MJ ES, Iyengar S, Bymaster F, Clark M, Katon W. Depression and pain. Front Biosci. (2009) 14:5031–51. doi: 10.2741/3585
- Kishi T, Yoshimura R, Ikuta T, Iwata N. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and major depressive disorder: evidence from meta-analyses. *Front Psychiatry*. (2017) 8:308. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00308
- 64. Li K, Shen S, Ji YT, Li XY, Zhang LS, Wang XD. Melatonin augments the effects of fluoxetine on depression-like behavior and hippocampal BDNF-TrkB signaling. *Neurosci Bull.* (2018) 34:303–11. doi: 10.1007/s12264-017-0189-z
- 65. Castrén E. Is mood chemistry? *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2005) 6:241–6. doi: 10.1038/nrn1629
- 66. Ibragić S, Matak I, Dračić A, Smajlović A, Muminović M, Proft F, et al. Effects of botulinum toxin type A facial injection on monoamines and their metabolites in sensory, limbic and motor brain regions in rats. *Neurosci Lett.* (2016) 617:213–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.02.020
- Arnone D. Functional MRI findings, pharmacological treatment in major depression and clinical response. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2019) 91:28–37. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.08.004
- Arnone D, McIntosh AM, Ebmeier KP, Munafò MR, Anderson IM. Magnetic resonance imaging studies in unipolar depression: systematic review and meta-regression analyses. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2012) 22:1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.05.003
- Wise T, Marwood L, Perkins AM, Herane-Vives A, Williams SCR, Young AH, et al. A morphometric signature of depressive symptoms in unmedicated patients with mood disorders. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2018) 138:73–82. doi: 10.1111/acps.12887
- Arnone D, Job D, Selvaraj S, Abe O, Amico F, Cheng Y, et al. Computational meta-analysis of statistical parametric maps in major depression. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2016) 37:1393–404. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23108
- Pezzoli S, Emsell L, Yip SW, Dima D, Giannakopoulos P, Zarei M, et al. Meta-analysis of regional white matter volume in bipolar disorder with replication in an independent sample using coordinates, T-maps, and individual MRI data. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 84:162–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.11.005
- Ambrosi E, Arciniegas DB, Madan A, Curtis KN, Patriquin MA, Jorge RE, et al. Insula and amygdala resting-state functional connectivity differentiate bipolar from unipolar depression. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2017) 136:129–39. doi: 10.1111/acps.12724
- Otte C, Gold SM, Penninx BW, Pariante CM, Etkin A, Fava M, et al. Major depressive disorder. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2016) 2:16065. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.65
- 74. Inserra A, Mastronardi CA, Rogers G, Licinio J, Wong ML. Neuroimmunomodulation in major depressive disorder: focus on caspase 1,

inducible nitric oxide synthase, and interferon-gamma. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2019) 56:4288-305. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1359-3

- Park J, Park HJ. Botulinum Toxin for the treatment of neuropathic pain. *Toxins*. (2017) 9:260. doi: 10.3390/toxins9090260
- 76. Kim YJ, Kim JH, Lee KJ, Choi MM, Kim YH, Rhie GE, et al. Botulinum neurotoxin type A induces TLR2-mediated inflammatory responses in macrophages. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0120840. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0120840
- Rojewska E, Piotrowska A, Popiolek-Barczyk K, Mika J. Botulinum toxin type A-A modulator of spinal neuron-glia interactions under neuropathic pain conditions. *Toxins*. (2018) 10:145. doi: 10.3390/toxins10040145
- Piotrowska A, Popiolek-Barczyk K, Pavone F, Mika J. Comparison of the expression changes after botulinum toxin type A and minocycline administration in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated rat microglial and astroglial cultures. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2017) 7:141. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00141
- Sesardic T. Bioassays for evaluation of medical products derived from bacterial toxins. *Curr Opin Microbiol.* (2012) 15:310–6. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2012.05.008
- Rosales RL, Bigalke H, Dressler D. Pharmacology of botulinum toxin: differences between type A preparations. *Eur J Neurol.* (2006) 13(Suppl 1):2–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2006.01438.x
- Zhang K, Zhu Y, Zhu Y, Wu S, Liu H, Zhang W, et al. Molecular, functional, and structural imaging of major depressive disorder. *Neurosci Bull.* (2016) 32:273–85. doi: 10.1007/s12264-016-0030-0
- Dolensek N, Gehrlach DA, Klein AS, Gogolla N. Facial expressions of emotion states and their neuronal correlates in mice. *Science*. (2020) 368:89–94. doi: 10.1126/science.aaz9468
- Steward L, Brin MF, Brideau-Andersen A. Novel native and engineered botulinum neurotoxins. *Handb Exp Pharmacol.* (2020) 263:63–89. doi: 10.1007/164_2020_351
- Tang M, Meng J, Wang J. New engineered-botulinum toxins inhibit the release of pain-related mediators. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 21:262. doi: 10.3390/ijms21010262
- 85. Yin L, Masuyer G, Zhang S, Zhang J, Miyashita SI, Burgin D, et al. Characterization of a membrane binding loop leads to engineering botulinum neurotoxin B with improved therapeutic efficacy. *PLoS Biol.* (2020) 18:e3000618. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000618
- Wang J, Casals-Diaz L, Zurawski T, Meng J, Moriarty O, Nealon J, et al. A novel therapeutic with two SNAP-25 inactivating proteases shows long-lasting anti-hyperalgesic activity in a rat model of neuropathic pain. *Neuropharmacology.* (2017) 118:223–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017. 03.026
- Scheps D, López de la Paz M, Jurk M, Hofmann F, Frevert J. Design of modified botulinum neurotoxin A1 variants with a shorter persistence of paralysis and duration of action. *Toxicon.* (2017) 139:101–8. doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2017.09.006

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Li, Liu and Luo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Detecting Depression Through Gait Data: Examining the Contribution of Gait Features in Recognizing Depression

Yameng Wang^{1,2}, Jingying Wang³, Xiaoqian Liu^{1,4*} and Tingshao Zhu^{1,4}

¹ Chinese Academy of Sciences Key Laboratory of Behavioral Science, Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China, ² School of Computer Science and Technology, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China, ³ School of Optometry, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong, ⁴ Department of Psychology, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

While depression is one of the most common mental disorders affecting more than 300 million people across the world, it is often left undiagnosed. This paper investigated the association between depression and gait characteristics with the aim to assist in diagnosing depression. Our dataset consisted of 121 healthy people and 126 patients with depression who diagnosed by psychiatrists according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Spatiotemporal, temporal-domain, and frequency-domain features were extracted based on the walking data of 247 participants recorded by Microsoft Kinect (Version 2). Multiple logistic regression was used to analyze the variance of spatiotemporal (12.55%), time-domain (58.36%), and frequency-domain features (60.71%) on recognizing depression based on Nagelkerke's R² measure, respectively. The contributions of the different types of features were further explored by building machine learning models by using support vector machine algorithm. All the combinations of the three types of gait features were used as training data of machine learning models, respectively. The results showed that the model trained using only time- and frequency-domain features demonstrated the same best performance compared to the model trained using all the features (sensitivity = 0.94, specificity = 0.91, and AUC = 0.93). These results indicated that depression could be effectively recognized through gait analysis. This approach is a step forward toward developing low-cost, non-intrusive solutions for real-time depression recognition.

Keywords: depression, gait analysis, machine learning, diagnosis, skeletal joints

INTRODUCTION

Depression is one of the most common mental disorders affecting more than 300 million people across the world (1). It is associated with decreased life satisfaction, impaired psychosocial functioning, and high disability and suicide rates (2–4). Early treatment can reduce healthcare costs, as well as morbidity and mortality rates associated with depression (5, 6). However, more than half of depressed patients actually have not received treatment for various reasons such as the difficulty in diagnosing (7, 8). One reason mentioned a lot is that primary care physicians generally initiate guideline-concordant care for depressed patients requesting help (9, 10), but they often fail to recognize patients with depressive symptoms (11, 12). Another long-standing reason is traditional questionnaire-based approaches for depression which may increase the risk of misdiagnosing and

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Karim Abdel Aziz, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

Reviewed by:

Benjamin Mentiplay, La Trobe University, Australia Moataz Eltoukhy, University of Miami, United States

> *Correspondence: Xiaoqian Liu liuxiaoqian@psych.ac.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 01 February 2021 Accepted: 09 April 2021 Published: 07 May 2021

Citation:

Wang Y, Wang J, Liu X and Zhu T (2021) Detecting Depression Through Gait Data: Examining the Contribution of Gait Features in Recognizing Depression. Front. Psychiatry 12:661213. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.661213

54

thus mistreating depression in primary care settings (13–15). Therefore, more efficient methods for detecting depression are required to improve the delivery of services to those in need.

Motor symptoms (e.g., gait) have been shown to be an essential manifestation of depression (16-18). In particular, gait and postural control modulated by a complex neural network (19), which is also implicated with the pathophysiology of major depression (20). Till now, many studies investigated the association between depression and gait characteristics by using instrumental assessments. For example, Sloman et al. (21) analyzed photograms of a single stride during a natural walk and found that depressed patients' walks were more slowly with a lifting motion of the leg. In contrast, healthy participants propel themselves forward with increased foot push-off. Another study used a combination of electronic walkways and photogrammetry to show that depressed patients have shorter strides and slower gait velocity than healthy controls (22). Michalak et al. (23) demonstrated that depressed individuals exhibit reduced vertical head movements, more slumped posture, and lower gait velocity than controls by using three-dimensional (3D) motion capture.

While many studies have demonstrated significant differences in gait patterns between depressed and healthy individuals, gait is relatively neglected in clinical practice as a tool for diagnosing depression (24). For instance, basic clinical gait assessments are mainly observational or based on gait speed to functional assessment (25-27). Nevertheless, judgments formulated by clinicians on the basis of observed behavior are subjective. Methodologies of gait speed tests vary widely from study to study, making it difficult to obtain a general description of patients' gait patterns with depression (28). Furthermore, until recently, automated gait analysis has been requiring expensive equipment and auxiliary operations often unavailable in clinical settings (29). However, modern cost-effective intelligent devices provide new perspectives for gait-based depression recognition. For example, Microsoft Kinect, designed for Xbox, has been used to monitor body movement patterns continuously (30), and its effectiveness in estimating body posture and movement has been proven (29, 31, 32). Using fast Fourier transforms, Zhao et al. (33) extracted frequency domain features from gait data captured by Kinect from 179 graduate students. They then trained machine learning models to predict depression levels of the participants estimated through a questionnaire; the correlation coefficient between the prediction score of models and questionnaire scores reached 0.51. A random forest classifier built based on 12 spatiotemporal features (e.g., walking speed, stride length, arm swing, and body sway) for detecting depression among postgraduate students achieved an accuracy rate 91.58% (34). Wang et al. (35) first extracted time- and frequency-domain features through power spectral density analysis, and spatial geometric features through covariance matrices and the symmetric Stein divergence from gait data captured by Kinect. A framework for detecting depression based on fused features was proposed with a classification accuracy of 93.75%. Therefore, features extracted from Kinect-captured gait data using mathematical methods are effective in model-based depression recognition.

Previous studies showed that machine learning models trained with gait-related features can predict depression accurately,

and Kinect provided objective and easily accessible data. However, few of these studies quantified the contribution of each type of gait feature (e.g., spatiotemporal, time-domain, and frequency-domain features) on depression recognition. More importantly, depression severity in these studies was assessed based on depression symptoms scales. While the effectiveness of questionnaire-based scales in accessing depression severity has been well-validated (36), questionnaire scores themselves cannot be used as a diagnosis. Furthermore, research results obtained based on one scale may not replicate to other scales since symptoms on different depression scales do not overlap completely (24).

Instead of considering depressive symptoms in the general population, this study considers the relationship between gait characteristics and depressive symptoms of clinical cases. The aims of the study include (1) evaluating the effect of different types of gait features in recognizing depression and (2) building machine learning models consisting of gait features for detecting depression. Once the contribution and effectiveness of different types of gait features in recognizing depression have been quantified, future research can confidently explore deeper insights into gait patterns of depressed patients and more robust classification models for diagnosing depression in the clinical setting.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

In this study, depressive patients were recruited from Beijing Anding Hospitals of Capital Medical University. Psychiatrists diagnosed these patients according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) criteria. Inclusion criteria for the case group included: (a) diagnosed as major depressive disorder, (b) no psychotropic medicines are taken within past 2 weeks, (c) without a current or historical DSM-IV diagnosis of any other mental diseases, (d) without current or historical DSM-IV diagnosis of alcohol or drug abuse, and (e) without disability or injury that affected their walking ability.

For the control group, healthy people were recruited via local advertisements. Inclusion criteria for the control group included: (a) both mentally and physically healthy, (b) without long-term use of analgesics, sedatives, sleep drugs, cortisol drugs, anti-epileptic drugs, and treatment of high blood pressure, (c) without positive family history of mental disorders in three generations, and (d) without disability or injury that affected their walking ability.

Finally, 126 depressive patients and 121 healthy people completed the study. **Table 1** shows the demographic characteristics of depressed people and healthy people.

Experimental Settings

We used a Kinect (Version 2) to record the gait data of participants. All the participants were asked to walk naturally back and forth for 2 min on a 6×1 m footpath (**Figure 1**). With Kinect continuously shooting, the 3-dimensional position changes of participants' 25 main body joints during walking were

recorded by 30 Hz sampling rate (**Figure 2**). The study was a part of a clinical research project about the potential biological and behavioral indicators of major depressive disorder, approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences (approved number: H15010).

Data Preprocessing

Coordinate System Transformation

By default, Kinect takes its position as the origin of the 3D Cartesian coordinate system, in which the X-axis grows to the Kinect's left, Y-axis grows up, and Z-axis grows out in the direction Kinect is facing (**Figure 1**). Given that different participants may have different positions relative to the Kinect during their walk, which means that the default coordinate system may introduce significant errors in gait pattern analysis. Therefore, we need the coordinate system transformation, in which we take the position of the spine joint (joint 9) as the origin of the coordinate system. Taking a segment of one participant's left-foot (joint 24) data on the Y-axis when walking toward Kinect as an example, we demonstrate the effect of the coordinate system transformation (**Figure 3**).

Data Segmentation

Since gait is a cyclic physical activity, large amounts of repetitive data may lead to data redundancy and low computational

| Characteristic | Depressed group | Control group |
|----------------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| Gender, <i>n</i> (%) | | |
| Male | 57 (45.2) | 61 (50.4) |
| Female | 69 (54.8) | 60 (49.6) |
| Height, $M \pm SD$ | 167.4 ± 7.9 | 166.4 ± 8.2 |
| Weight, M \pm SD | 63.3 ± 11.5 | 66.4 ± 13.3 |
| Age, $M \pm SD$ | 31.0 ± 9.8 | 34.7 ± 11.5 |

efficiency. Since each participant's gait data contained back and forth walking, we need to do data segmentation. To do so, we first divided these data into face-toward and back-toward segments based on whether the participant was facing the Kinect or not. We only retained the face-toward segments due to the better accuracy of Kinect in estimating body posture and movement. In order to reduce the influence of participants' unnatural movements at the beginning/end of this experiment, we then selected the middle segment from all the face-toward segments for further analysis. Finally, we identified the beginning of a gait cycle as the lift (toe-off) of left-foot, and chose gait records of two cycles in the middle face-toward segment as the final data segment according to the change of the left-foot (joint 24) on the Y-axis. The length of these segments ranged from 1.73 to 3.43 s (mean = 2.37, SD = 0.26).

Low-Pass Filtering

As unexpected body wobble or the systematic errors of Kinect may introduce high-frequency components and noise into the collected data, the original gait record needs to be filtered before data analysis. Gaussian filter is a non-uniform low-pass filter with a kernel whose coefficients decrease with the increase of distance from the kernel's center. It can be used to attenuate noises and high-frequency components in signal data (37), and its effectiveness in filtering Kinect-captured gait data has been proved in several studies (33, 38). Specifically, we set the Gaussian filter's kernel coefficient to $g = \frac{1}{16}[1, 4, 6, 4, 1]$, and then calculated the convolution of each joint' records in 3 dimensions and the Gaussian filter. The procedure of filtering is defined as:

$$y(n) = \sum_{t=-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) g(n-t) = x(n) * g(n)$$
(1)

x is the records of each joint in 3 dimensions, n refers to the frame number, g refers to the Gaussian filter, and * refers to convolution operation. We take a segment of one participant's left-foot (joint 24) data on Y-axis when walking toward Kinect as an example. After low-pass filtering, many little burrs and fluctuations in the original records are removed compared to the filtered data (**Figure 4**).







FIGURE 3 | A segment of one participant's left-foot (joint 24) data on Y-axis when walking toward Kinect before (left) and after (right) coordinate system transformation.



Feature Extraction

Spatiotemporal Features Extraction

Previous research found that gait patterns associated with depression were characterized by increased body swaying, shortened strides, reduced walking speed and arm swing, etc. (23, 39, 40). Therefore, we extracted spatiotemporal features from Kinect-captured gait data that might potentially differentiate gait patterns between the case and control groups. Specifically, we extracted the following spatiotemporal features:

- 1) **Body swaying:** Body swaying is measured by the maximum difference in position of the left-shoulder (joint 4) and the right-shoulder (joint 5) on the X-axis during a gait cycle.
- 2) **Left-arm/Right-arm swing:** It was defined as the maximum difference of the left/right wrist (joint 10/14) moving along the Z-axis during a gait cycle.
- Vertical head movement: We measured the vertical head movement as the maximum vertical amplitude of head (joint 1) along the Y-axis during a gait cycle.
- 4) **Head posture**: We quantified the head posture during a gait cycle by averaging the angle between the vertical direction and the connection line between the neck (joint 2) and the clavicle (joint 3) in the plane which consisted of the Y-axis and the Z-axis.
- 5) **Left/Right stride length**: It measured the maximum change in the horizontal direction of the left/right foot (joint 22/23) during a gait cycle.
- 6) Left/Right toe clearance: It measured the maximum change in vertical height of the left/right foot (joint 22/23) during a gait cycle.
- 7) **Walking speed**: We measured participants' walking speed according to their spine (joint 9) movement along Z-axis.

At last, the mean values of these features in each participant's two gait cycles were calculated as the final spatiotemporal features. Finally, we obtained a total of 10 spatiotemporal features.

Time-Domain Features Extraction

Previous studies have confirmed the effectiveness of time-domain features in gait analysis not only in clinical settings but also in laboratory settings (41, 42). Time-domain information related to the statistical value of data on the 25 joints was used to characterize individuals' movement patterns. In this study, we calculated the mean, standard deviation, skewness, and kurtosis of the original data. Specifically, mean is a measure of the central tendency of the random variable characterized by that distribution. Standard deviation measures the amount of dispersion of a dataset. To examine the asymmetry that deviates from the symmetrical bell curve of a dataset, we estimated skewness. Kurtosis measures outliers present in the probability distribution. For the data on the three axes of the 25 joints, we calculated the above four statistical features respectively. Finally, we obtained a total of $3 \times 25 \times 4 = 300$ time-domain features.

Frequency-Domain Features Extraction

In addition to using statistical methods to extract time-domain features, we conducted discrete Fourier transform to convert time-domain signals to frequency-domain features (43). The formula is defined as

$$F_k = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} x_j^t e^{-i2\pi k \frac{j}{n}}, \ k = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$$
(2)

in which, *i* denotes the imaginary number, x_j^t stands for data on the *t* axis ($t \in \{X, Y, Z\}$), *n* refers to the width of a segment. For the data on the three axes of the 25 joints, we first obtain the amplitudes and phases of the data through the discrete Fourier transform. Then we calculated the direct current component, zero frequency component, which is the average value of the signal, as well as the mean, variance, standard deviation, skewness, and kurtosis of amplitudes and phases, respectively. Finally, we obtained a total of $3 \times 25 \times (1 + 5 \times 2) = 825$ frequency-domain features.

Data Analysis

Binary Logistic Regression

The multiple logistic regression analysis was used to investigate the contributing effect of different types of gait characteristics in recognizing depression. In this analysis, the variable selection was performed using stepwise forward selection, subsequently including one by one the variables that were not statistically significant ($\alpha = 0.05$). Specifically, the dependent variable was composed of dichotomous depressive state (case group vs. control group), and different types of gait features were analyzed as independent variables via multiple logistic regression analysis separately.

Compared with spatiotemporal features, the number of time- and frequency-domain features may be too much, which brings much redundancy and should be filtered out. To avoid the multicollinearity problem and reduce data dimension, principal component analysis (PCA) was initially conducted on the time- and frequency-domain features separately. The principal components (PCs) are the linear combinations of the original features that account for the variance of the data. Then spatiotemporal features, PCs containing 95% cumulative contribution rate of time-domain features, and PCs containing 95% cumulative contribution rate of frequency-domain features entered the logistic regression model.

To measure the contribution effect of variables to depression, we calculated both the odds ratio (OR) (44) and Nagelkerke's R^2 (45). OR is a measure of association between an outcome and exposures. It represents the odds that an outcome will occur given a particular exposure, compared to the odds of the outcome occurring in the absence of that exposure. Nagelkerke's R^2 , the adjusted R^2 in linear regression, can provide the amount of variance of the dependent variable explained by the explanatory variables.

Classification Modeling

In this stage, we tested the actual classification efficacy of different types of gait features on depression using supervised learning methods, and tried to find the optimal combination of features that makes the depression recognition models have the best performance. Specifically, the output of models was composed of dichotomous depressive state (case group vs. control group). All the combinations of the three types of gait features were used as training data to build machine learning models, respectively. To obtain the optimal performance of machine learning models, we conducted Sequential backward selection (SBS) to remove useless features from training data before building recognition models. SBS is a greedy search algorithm to find the best subset of features, which can minimize the performance loss of machine learning models while reducing the feature dimension (46). It starts from the whole feature set and sequentially discards the feature so as to improve (or minimally worsen) the evaluation measure. The algorithm stops when all remaining features are useful for the model, and removing one of them could lead to a decline in accuracy.

In this study, we trained classification models to detect depression using the support vector machine (SVM) (47) with linear kernel function. SVM is one of the most state-of-the-art

TABLE 2 | Differences of spatiotemporal features between depressed group and control group.

| Spatiotemporal | Depress | ed group | Control | group | t | P-value |
|-------------------------------|---------|----------|---------|-------|-----------|-----------|
| features | Mean | SD | Mean | SD | statistic | |
| Body swaying (m) | 0.36 | 0.04 | 0.36 | 0.04 | -0.58 | 0.562 |
| Left-arm swing (m) | 0.27 | 0.11 | 0.31 | 0.12 | -2.45 | 0.015* |
| Right-arm swing (m) | 0.23 | 0.09 | 0.27 | 0.10 | -2.97 | 0.003** |
| Vertical head movement (m) | 0.06 | 0.05 | 0.06 | 0.04 | 0.42 | 0.672 |
| Head posture (degree) | 1.23 | 0.10 | 1.27 | 0.06 | -3.97 - | <0.001*** |
| Left stride length (m) | 0.62 | 0.07 | 0.62 | 0.07 | -0.27 | 0.789 |
| Right stride length (m) | 0.59 | 0.08 | 0.61 | 0.07 | -1.46 | 0.146 |
| Left toe clearance (m) | -0.69 | 0.06 | -0.71 | 0.06 | 1.92 | 0.056 |
| Right toe clearance (m) | -0.70 | 0.06 | -0.71 | 0.07 | 1.54 | 0.126 |
| Walking speed (m) | 0.99 | 0.18 | 1.01 | 0.17 | -0.97 | 0.332 |

These spatiotemporal features were calculated in the coordinate system with the spine joint (joint 9) as the origin. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

classification algorithms, which first maps feature vectors to a higher-dimensional feature space using kernel tricks and then makes predictions based only on support vectors. To evaluate the predictive performance of the models, we considered sensitivity, specificity, and the area under the ROC Curve (AUC) (48). We applied 10-fold cross validation and averaged performance measures across all folds within a single prediction model.

RESULTS

Binary Logistic Regression

Results showed that depressed patients walk more slowly (walking speed) and with fewer movements (e.g., left-arm swing, right-arm swing, head posture, right stride length, left toe clearance, right toe clearance) than participants of the control group (**Table 2**). And the independent sample *t*-test indicated that depressed group had significantly less left-arm swing, right-arm swing, and head posture [$t_{(245)} = -2.45$, P = 0.015; $t_{(245)} = -2.97$, P = 0.003; $t_{(245)} = -3.97$, P < 0.001] than the control group.

We examined how many different types of gait features contributed to depression recognition, using Nagelkerke's R^2 statistic, and estimated the effect of each variable using ORs. The results showed that with all the spatiotemporal features in the logistic model, it accounted for 12.55% (Nagelkerke's R^2) of the variance in the dependent variable depression. ORs for each spatiotemporal feature retained in this model after stepwise forward selection and their significance are shown in **Table 3**; left-arm swing (OR = 0.017, P = 0.010), and head posture (OR = 0.001, P < 0.001) significantly predicted depression.

The results indicated that when all the time-domain PCs entered the logistic model, it accounted for 58.36% (Nagelkerke's R^2) of the variance in the dependent variable depression. ORs for each PC retained in this model after stepwise forward selection and their significance are shown in **Table 4**; PC2

TABLE 3 | Binary logistic regression model of spatiotemporal features.

| | β | SE | Wald | Odds ratio | Corrected P-value |
|----------------|--------|-------|--------|------------|-------------------|
| Left-arm swing | -4.047 | 1.458 | 7.708 | 0.017 | 0.010* |
| Head posture | -7.031 | 1.981 | 12.593 | 0.001 | <0.001*** |

The P-value is corrected by Bonferroni correction. *P < 0.05, ***P < 0.001.

TABLE 4 | Binary logistic regression model of time-domain principal components.

| | β | SE | Wald | Odds ratio | Corrected P-value |
|------|--------|-------|--------|------------|-------------------|
| PC2 | -0.301 | 0.058 | 27.001 | 0.740 | < 0.001*** |
| PC5 | 0.304 | 0.064 | 22.833 | 1.355 | < 0.001*** |
| PC8 | 0.410 | 0.077 | 28.234 | 1.507 | < 0.001*** |
| PC9 | -0.187 | 0.74 | 6.362 | 0.829 | 0.198 |
| PC11 | 0.225 | 0.073 | 9.404 | 1.253 | 0.037* |
| PC19 | 0.231 | 0.103 | 5.049 | 1.260 | 0.159 |
| PC24 | -0.280 | 0.108 | 6.752 | 0.756 | 0.128 |
| PC26 | 0.299 | 0.108 | 7.631 | 1.349 | 0.098 |
| PC28 | 0.326 | 0.118 | 7.580 | 1.385 | 0.100 |
| PC29 | 0.255 | 0.118 | 4.658 | 1.290 | 0.525 |
| PC31 | 0.413 | 0.129 | 10.257 | 1.512 | 0.023* |
| PC35 | 0.655 | 0.156 | 17.715 | 1.926 | < 0.001*** |
| PC39 | 0.310 | 0.146 | 4.502 | 1.364 | 0.575 |
| PC41 | 0.341 | 0.148 | 5.291 | 1.406 | 0.364 |
| PC46 | 0.471 | 0.165 | 8.200 | 1.602 | 0.071 |
| PC70 | -0.685 | 0.248 | 7.590 | 0.504 | 0.100 |
| PC77 | -0.709 | 0.264 | 7.196 | 0.492 | 0.124 |

The P-value is corrected by Bonferroni correction. *P < 0.05, ***P < 0.001.

(OR = 0.740, P < 0.001), PC5 (OR = 1.355, P < 0.001), PC8 (OR = 1.507, P < 0.001), PC11 (OR = 1.253, P = 0.037), PC31 (OR = 1.512, P = 0.023), and PC35 (OR = 1.926, P < 0.001) significantly predicted depression. The time-domain PCs are the linear combinations of the original time-domain features, and **Supplementary Table 1** shows the Pearson correlation coefficients between these PCs and the original time-domain features.

The results showed that when all the frequency-domain features PCs entered logistic model, it accounted for 60.71% (Nagelkerke's R^2) of the variance in the dependent variable depression. ORs for each significant PC retained in this model after stepwise forward selection and their significance are shown in **Table 5**; PC2 (OR = 0.924, P = 0.022), PC4 (OR = 1.245, P < 0.001), PC5 (OR = 1.278, P < 0.001), PC6 (OR = 0.878, P = 0.022), PC7 (OR = 0.788, P < 0.001, PC10 (OR = 0.855, P = 0.024), PC24 (OR = 0.755, P = 0.004), PC27 (OR = 0.761, P =0.014), and PC30 (OR = 0.757, P = 0.016) significantly predicted depression. The frequency-domain PCs are the linear combinations of the original frequency-domain features, and **Supplementary Table 2** shows the Pearson correlation coefficients between these PCs and the original frequencydomain features.

TABLE 5 | Binary logistic regression model of frequency-domain principal components.

| | β | SE | Wald | Odds ratio | Corrected P-value |
|------|--------|-------|--------|------------|-------------------|
| PC2 | -0.079 | 0.025 | 10.349 | 0.924 | 0.022* |
| PC4 | 0.219 | 0.043 | 26.246 | 1.245 | < 0.001*** |
| PC5 | 0.246 | 0.047 | 27.014 | 1.278 | < 0.001*** |
| PC6 | -0.130 | 0.040 | 10.370 | 0.878 | 0.022* |
| PC7 | -0.238 | 0.049 | 23.821 | 0.788 | < 0.001*** |
| PC10 | -0.157 | 0.049 | 10.216 | 0.855 | 0.024* |
| PC11 | -0.142 | 0.052 | 7.498 | 0.868 | 0.105 |
| PC12 | 0.120 | 0.055 | 4.780 | 1.127 | 0.490 |
| PC22 | 0.149 | 0.070 | 4.526 | 1.160 | 0.568 |
| PC24 | -0.281 | 0.077 | 13.419 | 0.755 | 0.004** |
| PC27 | -0.273 | 0.081 | 11.234 | 0.761 | 0.014* |
| PC30 | -0.279 | 0.084 | 10.900 | 0.757 | 0.016* |
| PC40 | 0.281 | 0.098 | 8.266 | 1.325 | 0.069 |
| PC50 | 0.291 | 0.115 | 6.424 | 1.337 | 0.191 |
| PC60 | 0.305 | 0.125 | 5.936 | 1.357 | 0.252 |
| PC70 | -0.355 | 0.140 | 6.447 | 0.701 | 0.189 |
| PC87 | -0.480 | 0.174 | 7.604 | 0.619 | 0.099 |

The P-value is corrected by Bonferroni correction. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

 TABLE 6 | Depression recognition performance measures from 10-fold cross validation.

| | Sensitivity | Specificity | AUC |
|---|-------------|-------------|------|
| Spatiotemporal features | 0.59 | 0.58 | 0.58 |
| Time-domain features | 0.89 | 0.78 | 0.83 |
| Frequency-domain features | 0.86 | 0.88 | 0.87 |
| Spatiotemporal features + time-domain features | 0.89 | 0.78 | 0.83 |
| Spatiotemporal features + frequency-domain features | 0.82 | 0.83 | 0.83 |
| Time-domain features + frequency-domain features | 0.94 | 0.91 | 0.93 |
| All features | 0.94 | 0.91 | 0.93 |

The Recognition of Depression

In **Table 6**, sensitivity, specificity and AUC of the classification models are presented. **Figure 5** displays the receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves of different classification models, showing the balance between sensitivity and specificity throughout the decision space. When only spatiotemporal features were used to classify depression, the classification accuracy (AUC) was 0.58. When only time-domain features were used to classify depression accuracy (AUC) was 0.83. When only frequency-domain features were used to classify depression, the classification accuracy (AUC) was 0.83. When only frequency-domain features were used to classify depression, the classification accuracy (AUC) was 0.87. The classification accuracy (AUC) achieved 0.83, when both spatiotemporal features and time-domain features were used to classify depression. The classification accuracy (AUC) achieved 0.83, when both spatiotemporal features and frequency-domain features were used to classify depression. The classification accuracy (AUC) achieved 0.83, when both spatiotemporal features and frequency-domain features were used to classify depression. The classification accuracy (AUC) achieved 0.83, when both spatiotemporal features and frequency-domain features were used to classify depression. The classification accuracy (AUC) achieved 0.83, when both spatiotemporal features and frequency-domain features were used to classify depression. The classification accuracy (AUC) achieved 0.84, when both spatiotemporal features and frequency-domain features were used to classify depression. The best accuracy



(AUC) is 0.93, when both time- and frequency-domain features or all features were used to classify depression.

DISCUSSION

In this study, several machine learning models for detecting depression were trained using gait data captured via Kinect. Ten spatiotemporal features were extracted by following the approaches of previous studies. Besides, 300 time- and 825 frequency-domain features were extracted using time-frequency analysis methods. The results of multiple logistic regression analysis showed that the impacts of spatiotemporal, timedomain, and frequency-domain features on the dependent variable (depression diagnosis) were 12.55%, 58.36%, and 60.71% respectively. The classification models consisting of the above features were found effective in detecting depression. The performance of the optimal model was very outstanding (sensitivity = 0.94, specificity = 0.91, and AUC = 0.93). These findings address the primary goals of the study, which suggest that (1) depression can be reflected in gait, with different types of gait features contributing differently to depression detection and (2) machine learning is an effective approach to recognize depression.

One critical finding in this study is that gait patterns associated with depression are characterized by reduced arm swing and head posture, especially left-arm swing and head posture are predictors of depression in the logistic regression model, which is consistent with previous studies that found that patients with depression tended to walk with reduced movements (e.g., arm swing, head

movements) (23, 39, 40). Furthermore, this study validated the effectiveness of both time- and frequency-domain features in recognizing depression, which is also consistent with previous studies (41, 42). However, significant time- and frequencydomain PCs can only provide us with mathematical relationships between gait patterns and time- and frequency- domain features. Although further insights can be gained by calculating the correlation coefficients between each significant PC and original features (as shown in Supplementary Tables 1, 2), they are also not intuitive. It is worth noting that while high-level spatiotemporal features may provide an intuitive understanding of individual gait patterns, they contribute less to depression recognition than low-level time- and frequency- domain features. The limited information contained in spatiotemporal features restricts the possibility of understanding the disorganization of gait control and early detection of gait impairments (49, 50), which is why the clinical gait assessment based on spatiotemporal features (e.g., gait speed) is mainly applicable to monitoring the overall health status of a large population (25).

It is worth noting that the models built of time- domain features and spatiotemporal and time- domain features have the same performances, which suggests that spatiotemporal features had very few contributions to recognize depression. It is also reflected in the fact that the model comprised of time- and frequency-domain features has the same performance as the model consisted of all features. These results are consistent with those reported in previous studies that demonstrated the superiority of signal features such as time- and frequencydomain features over spatiotemporal parameters (42). In summary, time- and frequency-domain features are more efficient in constructing computational models to identify depression than spatiotemporal features.

This study is the first attempt to systematically investigate the impact of different types of gait features on depression recognition. The proposed method allows recognizing depression in real-time and remotely, which can be useful when immediate clinical assessment may not be available. This method is able to overcome many disadvantages of psychological questionnaires (24) include time-consuming (51), recall bias (52), and desirability bias (53). Furthermore, the proposed use of Kinect can be practical in daily-life settings since the devices are low-cost, widely available, and do not require any markers or sensors to be attached to the body. Therefore, the method proposed in this paper holds a promise for detecting depression on a fine-grained scale with ecological validity and low economic burden.

This study has several limitations. First, although Kinect is widely used for estimating body posture and movement (29, 31, 32), it may not record spatiotemporal body data as accurately as more expensive 3D motion capture systems. Second, we could not extract many indicators (e.g., skewness, kurtosis) because the footpath in our experiment is short (6 meters) that resulted in the length of valid gait data we could analyze was short (two cycles) as well. These indicators were computed by high-level spatiotemporal features that could have more contribution to depression recognition if they could be extracted from a longer time gait data. Third, the aim of this study is to examine the contribution of gait features in recognizing depression, thus there is a lot we can optimize to get better model performance (e.g., experimenting with more complex filters, tuning hyperparameters of machine learning models) from the perspective of engineering.

CONCLUSIONS

This study demonstrated that gait characteristics could be effectively utilized to identify depression, while gait-related features were used for building machine learning models.

REFERENCES

- 1. Friedrich MJ. Depression is the leading cause of disability around the world. $JAMA.~(2017)~317{:}1517.~{\rm doi:}~10.1001/{\rm jama.2017.3826}$
- Lewinsohn PM, Solomon A, Seeley JR, Zeiss A. Clinical implications of "subthreshold" depressive symptoms. J Abn Psychol. (2000) 109:345. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.109.2.345
- Hawton K, i Comabella CC, Haw C, Saunders K. Risk factors for suicide in individuals with depression: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2013) 147:17–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.004
- Minkoff K, Bergman E, Beck AT, Beck R. Hopelessness, depression, attempted suicide. Am J Psychiatry. (1973) 130:455–9.
- 5. Montano CB. Recognition and treatment of depression in a primary care setting. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (1994) 55:18–37.
- Kamphuis MH, Stegenga BT, Zuithoff NP, King M, Nazareth I, de Wit NJ, et al. Does recognition of depression in primary care affect outcome? The PREDICT-NL study. *Fam Pract.* (2012) 29:16–23. doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmr049

According to experimental results, spatiotemporal features are appropriate for interpreting gait patterns, while timeand frequency- domain features are effective in depression recognition. In conclusion, the study is a step forward toward developing low-cost, non-intrusive solutions for real-time depression recognition. In the future, this proposed method might be applied in both hospitals to aid diagnosis and scenarios that require a simple and rapid large-scale investigation.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this article are not readily available because the raw data cannot be made public, if necessary, feature data can be provided. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to liuxiaoqian@psych.ac.cn.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of the Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences (approved number: H15010). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YW, JW, XL, and TZ contributed to conception and design of the study. YW organized the database and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. YW and JW performed the formal analysis. XL, JW, and TZ contributed to the writing-review and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.661213/full#supplementary-material

- Harman JS, Edlund MJ, Fortney JC. Disparities in the adequacy of depression treatment in the United States. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2004) 55:1379–85. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.55.12.1379
- Young AS, Klap R, Sherbourne CD, Wells KB. The quality of care for depressive and anxiety disorders in the United States. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2001) 58:55–61. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.58.1.55
- Simon GE, VonKorff M. Recognition, management, and outcomes of depression in primary care. Arch Fam Med. (1995) 4:99. doi: 10.1001/archfami.4.2.99
- van Weel C, van Weel-Baumgarten E, van Rijswijk E. Treatment of depression in primary care. Br Med J Publ Group (2009) 374:1817–18. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)62051-1
- Schulberg HC, Saul M, McClelland M, Ganguli M, Christy W, Frank R. Assessing depression in primary medical and psychiatric practices. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1985) 42:1164–70. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1985.017903500 38008
- 12. Wells KB, Hays RD, Burnam MA, Rogers W, Greenfield S, Ware JE. Detection of depressive disorder for patients receiving prepaid or fee-for-service care:

results from the Medical Outcomes Study. JAMA. (1989) 262:3298-302. doi: 10.1001/jama.262.23.3298

- Mojtabai R, Olfson M. Proportion of antidepressants prescribed without a psychiatric diagnosis is growing. *Health Affairs*. (2011) 30:1434–42. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2010.1024
- Mojtabai R. Clinician-identified depression in community settings: concordance with structured-interview diagnoses. *Psychother Psychosomat.* (2013) 82:161–9. doi: 10.1159/000345968
- Dowrick C, Frances A. Medicalising unhappiness: new classification of depression risks more patients being put on drug treatment from which they will not benefit. *BMJ.* (2013) 347:f7140. doi: 10.1136/bmj. f7140
- Sobin C, Sackeim HA. Psychomotor symptoms of depression. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1997) 154:4–17. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.1.4
- Schrijvers D, Hulstijn W, Sabbe BG. Psychomotor symptoms in depression: a diagnostic, pathophysiological and therapeutic tool. J Affect Disord. (2008) 109:1–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2007.10.019
- Fried EI, Nesse RM. The impact of individual depressive symptoms on impairment of psychosocial functioning. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e90311. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090311
- Takakusaki K. Functional neuroanatomy for posture and gait control. J Mov Disord. (2017) 10:1. doi: 10.14802/jmd.16062
- Walther S, Bernard J, Mittal V, Shankman S. The utility of an RDoC motor domain to understand psychomotor symptoms in depression. *Psychol Med.* (2019) 49:212–6. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718003033
- Sloman L, Berridge M, Homatidis S, Hunter D, Duck T. Gait patterns of depressed patients and normal subjects. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1982) 139:94–7. doi: 10.1176/ajp.139.1.94
- Lemke MR, Wendorff T, Mieth B, Buhl K, Linnemann M. Spatiotemporal gait patterns during over ground locomotion in major depression compared with healthy controls. J Psychiatr Res. (2000) 34:277–83. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3956(00)00017-0
- Michalak J, Troje NF, Fischer J, Vollmar P, Heidenreich T, Schulte D. Embodiment of sadness and depression—gait patterns associated with dysphoric mood. *Psychosomat Med.* (2009) 71:580–7. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181a2515c
- Fried EI. The 52 symptoms of major depression: lack of content overlap among seven common depression scales. J Affect Disord. (2017) 208:191–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.10.019
- Middleton A, Fritz SL, Lusardi M. Walking speed: the functional vital sign. J Aging Phys Act. (2015) 23:314–22. doi: 10.1123/japa.2013-0236
- Kendler KS. The genealogy of major depression: symptoms and signs of melancholia from 1880 to 1900. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2017) 22:1539–53. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.148
- 27. Van Kan GA, Rolland Y, Andrieu S, Bauer J, Beauchet O, Bonnefoy M, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. J Nutr Health Aging. (2009) 13:881–9. doi: 10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z
- Graham JE, Ostir GV, Fisher SR, Ottenbacher KJ. Assessing walking speed in clinical research: a systematic review. J Eval Clin Pract. (2008) 14:552–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2753.2007.00917.x
- Springer S, Yogev Seligmann G. Validity of the kinect for gait assessment: a focused review. Sensors. (2016) 16:194. doi: 10.3390/s16020194
- Zhang Z. Microsoft kinect sensor and its effect. *IEEE Multimedia*. (2012) 19:4–10. doi: 10.1109/MMUL.2012.24
- Wang Q, Kurillo G, Ofli F, Bajcsy R. Evaluation of pose tracking accuracy in the first and second generations of microsoft kinect. In: 2015 International Conference on Healthcare Informatics. Dallas: IEEE (2015). p. 380-9.
- Clark RA, Pua Y-H, Fortin K, Ritchie C, Webster KE, Denehy L, et al. Validity of the Microsoft Kinect for assessment of postural control. *Gait Posture*. (2012) 36:372–7. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2012.03.033
- Zhao N, Zhang Z, Wang Y, Wang J, Li B, Zhu T, et al. See your mental state from your walk: recognizing anxiety and depression through Kinect-recorded gait data. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0216591. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0216591

- Fang J, Wang T, Li C, Hu X, Ngai E, Seet B-C, et al. Depression prevalence in postgraduate students and its association with gait abnormality. *IEEE Access*. (2019) 7:174425–37. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2957179
- Wang T, Li C, Wu C, Zhao C, Sun J, Peng H, et al. A gait assessment framework for depression detection using Kinect Sensors. *IEEE Sens J.* (2020) 21:3260–79. doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2020.3022374
- Sun X, Li Y, Yu C, Li L. Reliability and validity of depression scales of Chinese version: a systematic review. *Chin J Epideiol.* (2017) 38:110–6. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2017.01.021
- 37. Anderson BD, Moore JB. *Optimal Filtering*. Chelmsford: Courier Corporation (2012).
- Sun B, Zhang Z, Liu X, Hu B, Zhu T. Self-esteem recognition based on gait pattern using Kinect. *Gait Posture*. (2017) 58:428–32. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2017.09.001
- Hausdorff JM, Peng C-K, Goldberger AL, Stoll AL. Gait unsteadiness and fall risk in two affective disorders: a preliminary study. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2004) 4:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-4-39
- Radovanović S, Jovičić M, Marić NP, Kostić V. Gait characteristics in patients with major depression performing cognitive and motor tasks while walking. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 217:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.02.001
- Zhang Z, Song Y, Cui L, Liu X, Zhu T. Emotion recognition based on customized smart bracelet with built-in accelerometer. *PeerJ.* (2016) 4:e2258. doi: 10.7717/peerj.2258
- Sejdić E, Lowry KA, Bellanca J, Redfern MS, Brach JS. A comprehensive assessment of gait accelerometry signals in time, frequency and timefrequency domains. *IEEE Transact Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2013) 22:603–12. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2013.2265887
- Stanley WD, Dougherty GR, Dougherty R, Saunders H. Digital signal processing. J VIB ACOUST. (1988) 110:126–7. doi: 10.1115/1.3269472
- Zhang J, Kai FY. What's the relative risk?: a method of correcting the odds ratio in cohort studies of common outcomes. *JAMA*. (1998) 280:1690–1. doi: 10.1001/jama.280.19.1690
- Bewick V, Cheek L, Ball J. Statistics review 14: logistic regression. Crit Care. (2005) 9:112. doi: 10.1186/cc3045
- Gheyas IA, Smith LS. Feature subset selection in large dimensionality domains. Pattern Recogn. (2010) 43:5–13. doi: 10.1016/j.patcog.2009.06.009
- Suykens JA, Vandewalle J. Least squares support vector machine classifiers. Neural Process Lett. (1999) 9:293–300. doi: 10.1023/A:1018628609742
- Davis J, Goadrich M. The relationship between precision-recall and ROC curves. In: Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Machine Learning. Pittsburgh (2006). p. 233–40.
- Kressig RW, Beauchet O. Guidelines for clinical applications of spatiotemporal gait analysis in older adults. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* (2006) 18:174–6. doi: 10.1007/BF03327437
- Nutt JG. Classification of gait and balance disorders. Adv Neurol. (2001) 87:135-41.
- Mollayeva T, Thurairajah P, Burton K, Mollayeva S, Shapiro CM, Colantonio A. The Pittsburgh sleep quality index as a screening tool for sleep dysfunction in clinical and non-clinical samples: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2016) 25:52–73. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.01.009
- Raphael K. Recall bias: a proposal for assessment and control. Int J Epidemiol. (1987) 16:167–70. doi: 10.1093/ije/16.2.167
- Fisher RJ. Social desirability bias and the validity of indirect questioning. J Consumer Res. (1993) 20:303–15. doi: 10.1086/209351

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Wang, Wang, Liu and Zhu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mapping the Presence of Anxiety Symptoms in Adults With Major Depressive Disorder

Fenfen Ge¹, Jingwen Jiang², Yue Wang¹, Mentong Wan³ and Wei Zhang^{1*}

¹ Mental Health Center, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, ² West China Biomedical Big Data Center, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, ³ Wuyuzhang Honors College, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

Background: Patients with major depressive disorder (MDD) often present with co-occurring anxiety symptoms. The network method provides a novel view on understanding the co-occurrence of depressive and anxiety symptoms. Thus, the purpose of our study was to explore it by applying network analysis methods.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Danilo Arnone, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

Reviewed by:

Casimiro Cabrera Abreu, Queens University, Canada Yauhen Statsenko, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

> *Correspondence: Wei Zhang weizhanghx@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 August 2020 Accepted: 07 April 2021 Published: 19 May 2021

Citation:

Ge F, Jiang J, Wang Y, Wan M and Zhang W (2021) Mapping the Presence of Anxiety Symptoms in Adults With Major Depressive Disorder. Front. Psychiatry 12:595418. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.595418 **Methods:** We used electronic medical records from West China Hospital in China. In total, 3,424 patients who met the criteria for MDD were included. R-studio 3.6 was used to estimate the network structure. First, we estimated the network structure of depression and anxiety symptoms using the graphic LASSO algorithm. Then, we estimated the centrality indices of nodes to determine which symptoms are more central in the network. We then estimated the bridge centrality indices using the *bridge* function via the R package *networktools*.

Results: Some strong connections were found like "easy to wake up," "wake up early," and "difficulty falling asleep," "suicidal thoughts," and "hopelessness." "Depressed mood," "somatic anxiety," "hopelessness," "anxiety mood," and "tension" have the higher centrality indices. Results revealed eight bridge symptoms (e.g., concentration/memory difficulty, gastrointestinal symptoms) in the co-occurrence network structure.

Conclusions: This research suggests that the described approach in mapping the presence of anxiety symptoms in individuals with major depression might potentially increase diagnostic precision and help choose more targeted interventions and potentially reduce the occurrence of treatment resistance.

Keywords: major depressive disorder, anxiety, co-occurrence, network analysis, psychopathology

INTRODUCTION

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a debilitating psychiatric condition characterized by depressed mood, decreased energy level, and lack of interest in pleasurable activities (1). It has a significant burden on both individuals and society and is related to psychological impairments and health dysfunction. Among Chinese adults, MDD has a 12-month and lifetime prevalence rate of 3.6 and 6.9%, respectively (2). Gaspersz's study showed that 40–60% of patients with MDD also have anxiety symptoms (3). Another survey suggested that 50% of individuals with MDD meet the diagnostic criteria for anxiety disorders (4, 5).

64

The co-occurrence anxiety symptoms among patients with MDD have important clinical implications. Firstly, the cooccurrence anxiety symptoms predict a more chronic course and more severe disease progression (6). Secondly, compared with individuals who have MDD without anxiety symptoms, patients influenced by anxiety and depressive symptoms have shown greater functional disability, poorer quality of life, and higher risk of suicide behavior (7, 8). Thirdly, MDD with prominent coexisting anxiety symptoms is more difficult to treat than MDD without anxiety symptoms (9). Fourth, anxiety symptoms are associated with occupation of more health care resources among patients with MDD (10). Previous studies either concentrated on the count symptoms to clarify a diagnosis and calculate the prevalence rate of comorbidity or regarded the symptoms as indicators of latent dimensions, however, the between-symptom links are considered a byproduct of dimensional community (11).

Network theory provides us a novel perspective of mental disorders. Network analysis conceptualizes symptoms as constituents of mental disorders, as compared to traditional methods that assume an underlying disease in advance as the common cause of symptoms. Recently, network analysis models are rapidly growing, not only concerning methodological issues but also in offering an appealing interpretation of psychopathology (12, 13).

From the perceptive of topology, network structure consists of nodes(symptoms) and edges(association between symptoms) (14). The importance of nodes was evaluated via centrality indices. Edges represent the links between pairs of symptoms and thicker edges denote larger correlations (15). Specifically, centrality indices include strength, closeness, and betweenness that allow clinicians to discern the symptoms with the greatest importance in the network structure. Those with high centrality indices convey more clinical information (16, 17). Strength is one of the most commonly used centrality indices as it is easy to interpret and is the most stable centrality index (18). In the opinion of network theory, comorbidity is regarded as a constellation of symptom-level relationships (19). Symptoms that link two mental disorders are regarded as "bridge symptom." Bridge symptoms indicated by bridge centrality indices mainly included bridge strength, bridge closeness, and bridge betweenness (20). Bridge symptoms may have an important role in the development and maintenance of co-occurring mental disorder (21). Thus, when one mental disorder presents, intervention on potential bridge symptoms may contribute to preventing co-occurrence (20). For example, if we suppose that sleep disturbance is a bridge symptom between depression and anxiety, then patients who suffer poor sleep quality as one of their MDD symptoms would be at greater risk for anxiety compared to those without sleep disturbance. Thus, it would be wise for psychiatrists to treat these bridge symptoms therapeutically to reduce the co-occurrence.

At present, 10 studies utilized network analysis to explore comorbidity and co-occurrence in depression (22–31). Previous studies have explored the comorbidity between anxiety and depression (23), posttraumatic stress disorder and co-morbidity depressive symptoms (31), and comorbidity between obsessive-compulsive disorder and depression (26). While previous

network researches in MDD have broadened our knowledge of the field, several limitations remain. Firstly, most studies use selfreported questionnaires (e.g., Patient Health Questionnaire-9 and General Anxiety Disorder-7) to assess symptoms among the general population (29, 30), while self-report questionnaires have a risk for response biases (32). Few studies used a sample that comprised treatment-seeking patients with MDD (23). Secondly, while sample size plays an important role in establishing a reliable network structure, most studies used a small sample size that ranges from 296 (25) to 1,029 (23, 33). Thirdly, no studies to date have explored the co-occurrence between MDD and anxiety symptoms based on real-world evidence. Real-word evidence is important for establishing the network structure of co-occurrence between MDD and anxiety symptoms. In this regard, electronic medical records (EMRs) bring new chances in clinical research, providing the potential chance for low-cost and high-volume data on clinical research (34).

The main aim of this study, which was based on the retrospective of EMRs, was to establish the co-occurring network structure between MDD and anxiety symptoms to identify the bridge symptoms.

METHODS

Study Population

This was a retrospective study based on pre-existing data derived from EMRs undertaken at West China Hospital. Eligible patients were those with a diagnosis of MDD, aged between 18 and 65. In this study, we identified MDD patients through recorded primary diagnosis at discharge and based on the International Classification of Disease, Tenth Revision (Clinical Modification Codes F32, single episode major depressive disorder and F33, recurrent major depressive disorder), which has been described in another study (35). We extracted anonymous clinical-related information. Exclusion criteria are the following 3 items. ① Patients' follow-up discharge diagnosis code is F30 or F31. 2 Patients with MDD did not accomplish Hamilton Depression Scale-24 (HAMD-24) and Hamilton Anxiety Scale-14 (HAMA-14) at admission. 3 Age \leq 18 or age > 65. The details are shown in Figure 1. The data used to support the findings of this manuscript are restricted by the West China Hospital in order to protect patient privacy and avoid legal and ethical risks. Data are available from the West China Hospital for researchers who meet the criteria for access to confidential data (data.cd120.com).

We obtained approval from the Ethics Committee of the West China Hospital, Sichuan University (2017 N0.185). As this is a retrospective study, Institute Review Board (IRB) waived the requirement for obtaining informed consent from the individual patients. We did not use information on the identity of patients and all related information was kept confidential. All procedures were in accordance with the ethical standards of the Ethics Committee and the revised Helsinki Declaration of 2008 (36, 37).

Measures

HAMD-24 is one of the most widely used scales in clinical practical assessment of depression. It is assessed by psychiatrists and takes about 15 to 20 min to finish (38). HAMA-14 is one of



the most widely used scales in the clinical practical assessment of anxiety. HAMA-14 includes 14 items with each item divided into 5 levels from 0 to 4 (39). The Chinese versions of HAMD-24 and HAMA-14 have good reliability and validity (40).

Data Analysis

All analysis was accomplished using the R-3.6 studio. In this research, the missing data belong to the category of missing at random (MAR). So, we used the method of unconditional mean imputation to handle the missing data (41). The network

structure consists of two elements: nodes and edges. Every node represents a symptom, and each edge demonstrates a relationship between the two symptoms. In our study, the nodes (symptoms) were represented the scale items of HAMD-24 and HAMA-14. We used a graphical Gaussian model to estimate the networks. In addition, we used the least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) to regularize our model and used the *qgraph* package to visualize the network. Next, we computed the centrality indices (i.e., betweenness, strength, and closeness) of nodes to find which symptoms are more central in

the network structure. Betweenness and closeness are often not reliably estimated (17). Thus, we only reported the strengths in this article, while other node centrality indices are provided in the **Supplementary Material**. We assessed the accuracy stability of the centrality using the bootstrap approach in the bootnet package. To gain a stable and interpretable centrality, the CS coefficient should be >0.25 (42). We estimated the stability of edge-weights by bootstrapping the 95% confidence intervals (CIs), where fewer overlaps in the CIs indicate higher stability. Jones uses the term community to demonstrate a theoretically based group of nodes that correspond to a mental disorder according to clinical criteria, instead of according to any network analytic procedure (20). This method contributes to identifying bridge nodes, especially when networks are large, complex, or difficult to account for visually. The networktools package (43) were used to calculate the values and create plots. You can get the code from the Git hub (https://github.com/fenfenge/Networkstructure).

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

We included 3,424 patients with MDD comprising 2,349 females and 1,075 males, with ages ranging from 18 to 65 (M = 42.5, SD = 13.25). **Table 1** shows the items, item content, sample means, standard deviation, and missing items/percentage.

Network Estimation

The graphical LASSO network is shown in **Figure 2**. A thicker edge indicates a stronger association between the symptoms. Green edges represent positive regularized partial correlations, and red edges represent negative regularized partial correlations. Network analysis demonstrated that five strong connections edges were among the HAMD-24 items. The top edge was between the items "easy to wake up," "wake up early," and "difficulty falling asleep" (D4: D5: D6). Additionally, HAMD-24 items "suicidal thoughts" and "hopelessness" (D3:D23) and "hopelessness" and "inferiority" (D23:D24) were among the strongest. There were two strongest edges between the HAMA-14 items. The strongest edge was between items "tension" and "afraid" (A2:A3), followed by "cardiovascular symptoms" and "respiratory symptoms" (A9:A10).

Network Inference and Stability

Strength centrality is shown in **Figure 3**. Firstly, nodes demonstrating "depressed or sad mood" (D1), "somatic anxiety" (D11), and "hopelessness" (D23) were among the MDD symptoms exhibiting higher levels of strength. Secondly, "anxiety mood" (A1) and "tension" (A2) were among the anxiety symptoms exhibiting higher levels of strength. In terms of stability of network analysis, bootstrap 95% CI demonstrated moderate stability for the strength index (**Supplementary Materials**).

Bridge strength is shown in **Figure 4**. Nodes demonstrating "anxiety mood" (A1), "insomnia" (A4), "concentration/memory difficulty" (A5), "pessimism" (A6), and "gastrointestinal symptoms" (A11) were anxiety symptoms displaying higher

 $\label{eq:table_$

| Item | Item content | Missing items/Percent | M age | SD |
|------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|----------|------|
| D1 | Depressed or sad mood | 0/0.00% | 2.55 | 0.95 |
| D2 | Guilty feelings | 0/0.00% | 0.88 | 0.95 |
| D3 | Suicidal thoughts | 0/0.00% | 1.07 | 1.15 |
| D4 | Difficulty falling asleep | 0/0.00% | 1.55 | 0.97 |
| D5 | Wake up early | 0/0.00% | 1.37 | 0.91 |
| D6 | Early awakening | 0/0.00% | 1.28 | 0.95 |
| D7 | Loss of interest/pleasure | 0/0.00% | 1.98 | 1.02 |
| D8 | Psychomotor retardation | 0/0.00% | 0.95 | 0.93 |
| D9 | Agitation | 0/0.00% | 0.61 | 0.88 |
| D10 | Nervousness or anxiety | 0/0.00% | 1.80 | 1.03 |
| D11 | Somatic anxiety | 0/0.00% | 1.55 | 1.07 |
| D12 | Gastrointestinal symptoms | 2/0.06% | 0.78 | 0.88 |
| D13 | Somatic symptoms | 2/0.06% | 0.93 | 0.89 |
| D14 | Loss of interest in sex | 5/0.15% | 0.32 | 0.69 |
| D15 | Hypochondria | 2/0.06% | 0.63 | 0.90 |
| D16 | Loss of weight | 2/0.06% | 0.61 | 0.82 |
| D17 | Insight | 2/0.06% | 0.46 | 0.68 |
| D18 | Changes in mood patterns | 2/0.06% | 0.45 | 0.68 |
| D19 | Depersonalization/Derealization | 7/0.20% | 0.13 | 0.43 |
| D20 | Paranoid symptoms | 8/0.23% | 0.28 | 0.65 |
| D21 | Obsessive-compulsive symptoms | 8/0.23% | 2.00 | 0.55 |
| D22 | Feel less capable | 8/0.23% | 1.48 | 1.02 |
| D23 | Hopelessness | 8/0.23% | 1.38 | 1.07 |
| D24 | Inferiority hopelessness | 8/0.23% | 1.14 | 1.00 |
| A1 | Anxiety mood | 52/1.52% | 2.01 | 0.97 |
| A2 | Tension | 51/1.49% | 1.51 | 0.99 |
| A3 | Afraid | 51/1.49% | 1.22 | 1.01 |
| A4 | Insomnia | 51/1.49% | 1.85 | 1.30 |
| A5 | Concentration/memory difficulty | 52/1.52% | 1.18 | 0.92 |
| A6 | Pessimism | 56/1.64% | 2.26 | 0.97 |
| A7 | Muscular symptoms | 60/1.75% | 0.71 | 0.94 |
| A8 | Sensory symptoms | 60/1.75% | 0.87 | 0.98 |
| A9 | Cardiovascular symptoms | 60/1.75% | 0.87 | 0.97 |
| A10 | Respiratory symptoms | 60/1.75% | 0.57 | 0.82 |
| A11 | Gastrointestinal symptoms | 61/1.78% | 0.84 | 1.00 |
| A12 | Genitourinary symptoms | 60/1.75% | 0.36 | 0.69 |
| A13 | Automatic symptoms | 60/1.75% | 1.05 | 0.98 |
| A14 | Behavior during the talk | 60/1.75% | 1.23 | 0.99 |

levels of bridge strength on all MDD symptoms. The MDD symptoms "nervousness or anxiety" (D10), "somatic anxiety" (D11), and "gastrointestinal symptoms" (D12) exert a strong bridging effect on anxiety symptoms.

DISCUSSION

Many patients with MDD also experience anxiety symptoms. As far as we know, this is the first research to explore network connectivity among treat-seeking patients with MDD



FIGURE 2 | Network of MDD and anxiety symptoms showing bridge symptoms among clinical samples. D1: Depressed or sad mood; D2: Guilty feelings; D3: Suicidal thoughts; D4: Difficulty falling asleep; D5: Easy to wake up; D6: Early awakening; D7: Loss of interest/pleasure; D8: Psychomotor retardation; D9: Agitation; D10: Nervousness or anxiety; D11: Somatic anxiety; D12: Gastrointestinal symptoms; D13: Somatic symptoms; D14: Loss of interest in sex; D15: Hypochondria; D16: Loss of weight; D17: Insight; D18: Changes in mood patterns; D19: Depersonalization/Derealization; D20: Paranoid symptom; D21: Obsessive-compulsive symptom; D22: Feel less capable; D23: Hopelessness; D24: Inferiority hopelessness; A1: Anxiety mood; A2: Tension; A3: Afraid; A4: Insomnia; A5: Concentration/memory difficulty; A6: Pessimism; A7: Muscular symptoms; A8: Sensory symptoms; A9: Cardiovascular symptoms; A10: Respiratory symptoms; A11: Gastrointestinal symptoms; A12: Genitourinary symptoms; A13: Automatic symptoms; A14: Behavior during the talk.



FIGURE 3 | Plot of standardized centrality indices for network. D1: Depressed or sad mood; D2: Guilty feelings; D3: Suicidal thoughts; D4: Difficulty falling asleep; D5: Easy to wake up; D6: Early awakening; D7: Loss of interest/pleasure; D8: Psychomotor retardation; D9: Agitation; D10: Nervousness or anxiety; D11: Somatic anxiety; D12: Gastrointestinal symptoms; D13: Somatic symptoms; D14: Loss of interest in sex; D15: Hypochondria; D16: Loss of weight; D17: Insight; D18: Changes in mood patterns; D19: Depersonalization/Derealization; D20: Paranoid symptom; D21: Obsessive-compulsive symptom; D22: Feel less capable; D23: Hopelessness; D24: Inferiority hopelessness; A1: Anxiety mood; A2: Tension; A3: Afraid; A4: Insomnia; A5: Concentration/memory difficulty; A6: Pessimism; A7: Muscular symptoms; A8: Sensory symptoms; A9: Cardiovascular symptoms; A10: Respiratory symptoms; A11: Gastrointestinal symptoms; A12: Genitourinary symptoms; A13: Automatic symptoms; A14: Behavior during the talk.

and co-occurrence anxiety symptoms based on real-world evidence. Perhaps the most prominent result was that not all nodes(symptoms) were equally important in the network with co-occurrence anxiety symptoms among patients with MDD (44, 45). Besides, we also found some strong linkage between symptoms, such as "easy to wake up" (D4), "wake up early" (D5),



and "difficulty falling asleep" (D6), which were closely associated with each other.

Moreover, "depressed or sad mood" (D1) and "hopelessness" (D23) have the highest centrality in the network structure. Such results do not come as a surprise; previous studies that used selfreport questionnaires and composite international diagnostic interviews also suggested that sad mood and hopelessness carry more weight than other symptoms of MDD (14, 46-48). "Somatic anxiety" (D11) had one of the highest centrality indices, making it a hallmark symptom of MDD among Chinese. "Somatic anxiety" is involved via overt signs of excessive autonomic activity and/or skeletal/muscle-motor tension. Due to the following three reasons that including (1) emotional symptoms are stigmatized, (2) thinking deviated far from internal experiences, (3)a special perspective of the self is emphasized, (49) somatization has been a general symptom in the Chinese population (50, 51). It is worthy that higher somatization was related to poorer performance in the cognitive and poorer antidepressant treatment clinical outcome (52). Anxiety symptoms (e.g., anxiety mood and tension) also had higher centrality. Goghari's 2-year longitudinal study found that patients with MDD reported higher levels of anxiety than those with other mental disorders. To some extent, easing the patient's anxiety level helps improve the outcome and daily function of depression (53).

Network theory helps to understand the co-occurrence of psychopathology. We could reduce co-occurrence by effectively "burning the bridge symptoms" between disorders (45). In this study, the MDD nodes that displayed the strongest association with anxiety symptoms were "nervousness" (D10), "somatic anxiety" (D11), and "gastrointestinal symptoms" (D12). Conversely, the anxiety nodes that displayed the strongest connection with MDD symptoms were "anxiety mood" (A1), "insomnia" (A4), "concentration/memory difficulty" (A5), "pessimism" (A6), and "gastrointestinal symptoms" (A11). Gastrointestinal symptoms were bridge symptoms that link MDD to anxiety symptoms and similarly linked anxiety symptoms to MDD. Gastrointestinal symptoms are common features for both MDD and anxiety disorders. They are also prominent features in posttraumatic stress disorder, schizophrenia, and autism spectrum disorder (54-56), demonstrating that gastrointestinal symptoms may be a common feature associated with a multitude of mental disorders. Simpson's review indicated that the role of gut microbiota in mood regulation and emotional processing may be of particular relevance to depression and anxiety etiology (57). In this study, concentration/memory difficulty was a bridge symptom that linked anxiety to MDD. Pettit's research found that computerbased attention training can reduce anxiety symptoms among the youth (58). These results suggested that attention training could be used to ease anxiety symptoms among MDD patients.

We found a strong connection between "easy to wake up," "wake up early," and "hard to fall asleep" (D4: D5: D6). Interestingly, the three symptoms above belong to the diagnostic criteria for insomnia (59) and MDD patients with sleep complaints are prone to more severe symptoms (60). Thus, insomnia is a valuable therapeutic target in MDD patients. The theoretical promise of network analysis is that psychiatric symptoms are not isolated and may accentuate each other (61). Symptoms may reinforce one another via creating a feedback loop, such as, "inferior helplessness" (D24) could lead to "hopelessness" (D23), and at the same time prompt "suicidal thoughts" (D3). These links may contribute to the build of a self-sustained symptom constellation. Thus, it is necessary to find potential self-sustaining mechanisms and timely interventions for feedback loops (13). Somatic symptoms (e.g., cardiovascular symptoms and respiratory symptoms) were closely connected. This can be explained by the mind-body interaction model, which states that information flows not only from the body to the brain but also from the brain to the body. In the brain, "prediction" is derived from metacognition (conceptual knowledge), namely higher-order thoughts and cognition, which helps estimate the generation of behavioral commands (62).

Clinical Implication

The network model provides a novel view to investigate the potential mechanisms underlying the etiology and maintenance of mental disorders. We can understand how the symptoms are interrelated via networks and how to intervene on comorbidities. Firstly, when depressive patients are admitted to the hospital, psychiatrists should prioritize the evaluation of identified bridging MDD symptoms to screen patients with a higher risk of suffering anxiety symptoms. Secondly, from the viewpoint of network structure, we can intervene mental disorders from the following aspects: (1) symptoms (nodes) interventions: direct intervention of one or more symptoms; (2) network interventions: intervention symptom-symptom connections (61); (3) bridge symptoms: intervention of bridge symptoms to prevent co-occurrence. For example, we can intervene on closely connected sleep symptoms to avoid using certain antidepressants that may cause or even worsen sleep problems (63), since improving sleep contributes to improving the outcomes of MDD (64, 65). Our findings may be used to demonstrate which symptoms (e.g., gastrointestinal symptoms, insomnia) drive the association, and which should be handled first to reduce MDD and anxiety co-occurrence. These findings emphasize the importance of assessing anxiety symptoms among patients with MDD. Owing to the limitations of earlier versions of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder (DSM) on grading targeting rules, anxiety in mental disorders has been underestimated, underdiagnosed, and undertreated. CBT is very effective for the treatment of anxiety symptoms and sleep disturbance (66). Thus, patients with MDD can be treated with suitable medicines and CBT.

Strengths and Limitations

This research has several key strengths. First, we employed a sample comprised of treatment-seeking patients diagnosed with MDD according to the ICD-10. Moreover, HAMD and HAMA are evaluated by psychiatrists; thus, ambiguous/vague answers to the self-assessment scale were avoided. Second, we used a relatively large sample that contributed to establishing a reliable network structure with robust edge weights and centrality (42). To date, only one study has used large psychiatric samples of over 1,000 participants (23).

Despite the strengths, some limitations should be considered in this study. Firstly, this is a cross-sectional study, and we cannot explore changes in the co-occurrence network structure over time. Specifically, we are not sure whether the connections between symptoms appear temporarily or continuously, and what will happen to those strong connections under the intervention of strategy. Considering that network modes require the estimation of many parameters and these models need power to reliably detect small coefficients, exploration of larger data sets is necessary (67, 68). Thus, in this study, we do not compare the network structure in different severity of subgroup. Secondly, in our study, the target population was patients with MDD diagnosis so that the results could be generalized to the whole population. Specifically, the results do not suit individuals who suffer from certain depression symptoms, while failing to meet the diagnostic criteria for MDD. Third, Gureje's study showed that the presentation of mental disorders is influenced by culture and social milieu (69), while we only focused on Chinese patients. Future studies should consider the cross-cultural variation and explore how culture influences the presentation of mental disorders. Finally, we included patients with ICD-10 F32 and F33 diagnoses only. We did not check whether the patients had a comorbidity diagnosis with an anxiety disorder or any other comorbidity. However, Wise's study (70) may support the notion that comorbidities might not be so important, at least concerning functional connectivity. Specifically, Wise's research supports the notion that biological abnormalities in functional connectivity in major depression across independent samples might overlap irrespective of the presence of anxiety comorbidities.

CONCLUSION

This research is the first to explore the association between depressive and anxiety symptoms among MDD patients based on EMRs, thus offering an essential basis on how the two disorders co-vary. We found that some high central symptoms (e.g., hopelessness, somatic anxiety, and tension) and some bridge symptoms (e.g., concentration/memory difficulty, pessimism, and gastrointestinal symptoms). We summarize the evidence

REFERENCES

- 1. Organization WH. ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders (The). (1992).
- Huang Y, Wang Y, Wang H, Liu Z, Yu X, Yan J, et al. Prevalence of mental disorders in China: a cross-sectional epidemiological study. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2019) 6:211–24. doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(18)30511-x
- Gaspersz R, Lamers F, Kent JM, Beekman AT, Smit JH, van Hemert AM, et al. Longitudinal predictive validity of the DSM-5 anxious distress specifier for clinical outcomes in a large cohort of patients with major depressive disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2017) 78:207–13. doi: 10.4088/JCP.15m10221
- Nutt D. Management of patients with depression associated with anxiety symptoms. J Clin Psychiatry. (1997) 58(Suppl. 8):11–6.
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Koretz D, Merikangas KR, et al. The epidemiology of major depressive disorder: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). *JAMA*. (2003) 289:3095– 105. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.23.3095

from the current research that treatment for co-occurring anxiety symptoms among MDD patients at symptom level may be efficacious. Multiple interventions, such as improving sleep, CBT, or attention training, could be applied to address these cooccurring symptoms.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The dataset belong to the West China Hospital, Sichuan University. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to Jingwen Jiang, jiangjingwen@wchscu.cn.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the West China Hospital, Sichuan University. The ethics committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FG participated in the study design, data analysis, interpretation of findings, literature search, writing, implementation, and approval of the final manuscript. WZ conceived and designed the study. JJ, YW, and MW participated in the study data analysis. All authors have approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was financially supported by The Special Project on Natural Chronic Non-infectious Diseases (grant no. 2016YFC1307201).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.595418/full#supplementary-material

- Goldberg D, Fawcett J. The importance of anxiety in both major depression and bipolar disorder. *Depress Anxiety*. (2012) 29:471–8. doi: 10.1002/da.21939
- Pfeiffer PN, Ganoczy D, Ilgen M, Zivin K, Valenstein M. Comorbid anxiety as a suicide risk factor among depressed veterans. *Depress Anxiety*. (2009) 26:752–7. doi: 10.1002/da.20583
- Zimmerman M, Chelminski I, Young D, Dalrymple K, Walsh E, Rosenstein L. A clinically useful self-report measure of the DSM-5 anxious distress specifier for major depressive disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2014) 75:601– 7. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13m08961
- Gaspersz R, Lamers F, Kent JM, Beekman ATF, Smit JH, van Hemert AM, et al. Anxious distress predicts subsequent treatment outcome and side effects in depressed patients starting antidepressant treatment. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2017) 84:41–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.09.018
- McLaughlin TP, Khandker RK, Kruzikas DT, Tummala R. Overlap of anxiety and depression in a managed care population: prevalence and association with resource utilization. J Clin Psychiatry. (2006) 67:1187– 93. doi: 10.4088/jcp.v67n0803
- Borsboom D. Psychometric perspectives on diagnostic systems. J Clin Psychiatry. (2008) 64:1089–108. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20503
- Cramer AO, Waldorp LJ, van der Maas HL, Borsboom D. Comorbidity: a network perspective. *Behav Brain Sci.* (2010) 33:137–50. doi: 10.1017/s0140525x09991567
- Fried EI, van Borkulo CD, Cramer AO, Boschloo L, Schoevers RA, Borsboom D. Mental disorders as networks of problems: a review of recent insights. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2017) 52:1– 10. doi: 10.1007/s00127-016-1319-z
- Boschloo L, van Borkulo CD, Borsboom D, Schoevers RA. A prospective study on how symptoms in a network predict the onset of depression. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2016) 85:183–4. doi: 10.1159/000442001
- McNally RJ, Robinaugh DJ, Wu GWY, Wang L, Deserno MK, Borsboom D. Mental disorders as causal systems: a network approach to posttraumatic stress disorder. *Clin Psychol Sci.* (2014) 3:836–49. doi: 10.1177/2167702614553230
- Fava GA, Fau RC, Tomba E, Tomba E. The clinical process in psychiatry: a clinimetric approach. J Clin Psychiatry. (2012) 73:177– 84. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10r06444
- Bringmann LA-O, Elmer T, Epskamp S, Krause RW, Schoch DA-O, Wichers M, et al. What do centrality measures measure in psychological networks? J Abnorm Psychol. (2019) 128:892–903. doi: 10.1037/abn0000446
- Phillips RD, Wilson SM, Sun D, Morey R. Posttraumatic stress disorder symptom network analysis in U.S. military veterans: examining the impact of combat exposure. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:608. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00608
- Borsboom D, Epskamp S, Kievit RA, Cramer AO, Schmittmann VD. Transdiagnostic networks: commentary on Nolen-Hoeksema and Watkins (2011). Perspect Psychol Sci. (2011) 6:610–4. doi: 10.1177/1745691611425012
- Jones PJ, Ma R, McNally RJ. Bridge centrality: a network approach to understanding comorbidity. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (2019) 1–15. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2019.1614898. [Epub ahead of print].
- Cramer AOJ, Waldorp LJ, van der Maas HLJ, Borsboom D. Complex realities require complex theories: refining and extending the network approach to mental disorders. *Behav Brain Sci.* (2010) 33:178–93. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X10000920
- Kozel D, Marusić A. Individuals with diabetes mellitus with and without depressive symptoms: could social network explain the comorbidity? *Psychiatr Danub.* (2006) 18:12–8.
- Beard C, Millner AJ, Forgeard MJ, Fried EI, Hsu KJ, Treadway MT, et al. Network analysis of depression and anxiety symptom relationships in a psychiatric sample. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:3359–69. doi: 10.1017/s0033291716002300
- Afzali MH, Sunderland M, Teesson M, Carragher N, Mills K, Slade T. A network approach to the comorbidity between posttraumatic stress disorder and major depressive disorder: the role of overlapping symptoms. J Affect Disord. (2017) 208:490–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.10.037
- Choi KW, Batchelder AW, Ehlinger PP, Safren SA, O'Cleirigh C. Applying network analysis to psychological comorbidity and health behavior: depression, PTSD, and sexual risk in sexual minority men with trauma histories. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2017) 85:1158–70. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000241
- McNally RJ, Mair P, Mugno BL, Riemann BC. Co-morbid obsessivecompulsive disorder and depression: a Bayesian network approach. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:1204–14. doi: 10.1017/s0033291716003287
- Boschloo L. Zooming in and zooming out: a network perspective on the comorbidity of depression and anxiety. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2018) 57:914–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2018.07.880
- Zanirati G, Azevedo PN, Venturin GT, Greggio S, Alcará AM, Zimmer ER, et al. Depression comorbidity in epileptic rats is related to brain glucose hypometabolism and hypersynchronicity in the metabolic network architecture. *Epilepsia*. (2018) 59:923–34. doi: 10.1111/epi.14057
- Garabiles MR, Lao CK, Xiong Y, Hall BJ. Exploring comorbidity between anxiety and depression among migrant Filipino domestic workers: a network approach. J Affect Disord. (2019) 250:85–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.02.062
- Price M, Legrand AC, Brier ZMF, Hébert-Dufresne L. The symptoms at the center: examining the comorbidity of posttraumatic stress disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, and depression with network analysis. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2019) 109:52–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.11.016

- Lazarov A, Suarez-Jimenez B, Levi O, Coppersmith DDL, Lubin G, Pine DS, et al. Symptom structure of PTSD and co-morbid depressive symptoms - a network analysis of combat veteran patients. *Psychol Med.* (2020) 50:2154– 70. doi: 10.1017/s0033291719002034
- 32. Artino AR Jr., Phillips AW, Utrankar A, Ta AQ, Durning SJ. "The Questions Shape the Answers": assessing the quality of published survey instruments in health professions education research. *Acad Med.* (2018) 93:456–63. doi: 10.1097/acm.00000000002002
- Epskamp S, Fried EI. A tutorial on regularized partial correlation networks. *Psychol Methods*. (2018) 23:617–34. doi: 10.1037/met0000167
- 34. Berger ML, Sox H, Willke RJ, Brixner DL, Eichler HG, Goettsch W, et al. Good practices for real-world data studies of treatment and/or comparative effectiveness: recommendations from the Joint ISPOR-ISPE Special Task Force on real-world evidence in health care decision making. *Value Health.* (2017) 20:1003–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2017.08.3019
- 35. Ge F, Jiang J, Wang Y, Yuan C, Zhang W. Identifying suicidal ideation among Chinese patients with major depressive disorder: evidence from a real-world hospital-based study in China. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2020) 16:665–72. doi: 10.2147/ndt.s238286
- World Medical Association declaration of Helsinki. Recommendations guiding physicians in biomedical research involving human subjects. *JAMA*. (1997) 277:925–6.
- World Medical Association declaration of Helsinki. Recommendations guiding physicians in biomedical research involving human subjects. J Med Liban. (1994) 42:88–9.
- Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1960) 23:56–62. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.23.1.56
- Hamilton M. The assessment of anxiety states by rating. Br J Med Psychol. (1959) 32:50–5.
- Yan M. XS, Hu M. The Chinese translation, reliability and validity of some depression scales in China. *Chinese Mental Health J.* (2016) 30:501–5. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-6729.2016.07.005
- Donders AR, van der Heijden GJ, Stijnen T, Moons KG. Review: a gentle introduction to imputation of missing values. J Clin Epidemiol. (2006) 59:1087–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.01.014
- Epskamp S, Borsboom D, Fried EI. Estimating psychological networks and their accuracy: a tutorial paper. *Behav Res Methods*. (2018) 50:195– 212. doi: 10.3758/s13428-017-0862-1
- Jones PJ. Networktools: Tools for Identifying Important Nodes in Networks. R Package Version 1.1.0 (2017). Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project. org/package=networktools
- Knefel M, Tran US, Lueger-Schuster B. The association of posttraumatic stress disorder, complex posttraumatic stress disorder, and borderline personality disorder from a network analytical perspective. J Anxiety Disord. (2016) 43:70–8. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2016.09.002
- Jones PJ, Mair P, Riemann BC, Mugno BL, McNally RJ. A network perspective on comorbid depression in adolescents with obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Anxiety Disord. (2018) 53:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2017.09.008
- 46. Fried EI, Epskamp S, Nesse RM, Tuerlinckx F, Borsboom D. What are 'good' depression symptoms? Comparing the centrality of DSM and non-DSM symptoms of depression in a network analysis. J Affect Disord. (2016) 189:314–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.005
- Boschloo L, Schoevers RA, van Borkulo CD, Borsboom D, Oldehinkel AJ. The network structure of psychopathology in a community sample of preadolescents. J Abnorm Psychol. (2016) 125:599–606. doi: 10.1037/abn0000150
- Cramer AOJ, van der Sluis S, Noordhof A, Wichers M, Geschwind N, Aggen SH, et al. Dimensions of normal personality as networks in search of equilibrium: you can't like parties if you don't like people. *Eur J Pers.* (2012) 26:414–31. doi: 10.1002/per.1866
- Ryder AG. Cross-cultural Differences in the Presentation of Depression: Chinese Somatization and Western Psychologization. Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia (2004).
- Zhou X, Dere J, Zhu X, Yao S, Chentsova-Dutton YE, Ryder AG. Anxiety symptom presentations in Han Chinese and Euro-Canadian outpatients: is distress always somatized in China? J Affect Disord. (2011) 135:111–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011. 06.049

- Dere J, Sun J, Zhao Y, Persson TJ, Zhu X, Yao S, et al. Beyond "somatization" and "psychologization": symptom-level variation in depressed Han Chinese and Euro-Canadian outpatients. *Front Psychol.* (2013) 4:377. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00377
- Braund TA, Palmer DM, Williams LM, Harris AWF. Dimensions of anxiety in Major depressive disorder and their use in predicting antidepressant treatment outcome: an iSPOT-D report. *Psychol Med.* (2020) 50:1032– 42. doi: 10.1017/s0033291719000941
- Goghari VM, Harrow M. Anxiety symptoms across twenty-years in schizoaffective disorder, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2019) 275:310–4. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.03.050
- Virtanen T, Eskelinen S, Sailas E, Suvisaari J. Dyspepsia and constipation in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Nordic J Psychiatry*. (2017) 71:48–54. doi: 10.1080/08039488.2016.1217044
- 55. Wernersson R, Carlsson J. Posttraumatic stress disorder is correlated to irritable bowel syndrome. *Ugeskrift Laeger.* (2015) 177:1248–52.
- Holingue C, Newill C, Lee LC, Pasricha PJ, Daniele Fallin M. Gastrointestinal symptoms in autism spectrum disorder: a review of the literature on ascertainment and prevalence. *Autism Res.* (2018) 11:24–36. doi: 10.1002/aur.1854
- Simpson CA, Diaz-Arteche C, Eliby D, Schwartz OS, Simmons JG, Cowan CSM. The gut microbiota in anxiety and depression - a systematic review. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2020) 83:101943. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101943
- Pettit JW, Bechor M, Rey Y, Vasey MW, Abend R, Pine DS, et al. A randomized controlled trial of attention bias modification treatment in youth with treatment-resistant anxiety disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2020) 59:157–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2019.02.018
- 59. Medicine AAoS. *International Classification of Sleep Disorders*, 3rd ed. Darien: American Academy of Sleep Medicine (2014).
- Hinkelmann K, Moritz S, Botzenhardt J, Muhtz C, Wiedemann K, Kellner M, et al. Changes in cortisol secretion during antidepressive treatment and cognitive improvement in patients with major depression: a longitudinal study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology.* (2012) 37:685–92. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.08.012
- Borsboom D. A network theory of mental disorders. World Psychiatry. (2017) 16:5–13. doi: 10.1002/wps.20375
- Mallorquí-Bagué N, Bulbena A, Pailhez G, Garfinkel SN, Critchley HD. Mindbody interactions in anxiety and somatic symptoms. *Harvard Rev Psychiatry*. (2016) 24:53–60. doi: 10.1097/hrp.00000000000085

- Fang H, Tu S, Sheng J, Shao A. Depression in sleep disturbance: a review on a bidirectional relationship, mechanisms and treatment. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2019) 23:2324–32. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14170
- McCall WV, Blocker JN, D'Agostino R, Jr., Kimball J, Boggs N, et al. Treatment of insomnia in depressed insomniacs: effects on health-related quality of life, objective and self-reported sleep, and depression. J Clin Sleep Med. (2010) 6:322–9. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.27872
- Manber R, Edinger JD, Gress JL, San Pedro-Salcedo MG, Kuo TF, Kalista T. Cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia enhances depression outcome in patients with comorbid major depressive disorder and insomnia. *Sleep.* (2008) 31:489–95. doi: 10.1093/sleep/31.4.489
- 66. Frueh BC, Grubaugh AL, Cusack KJ, Kimble MO, Elhai JD, Knapp RG. Exposure-based cognitive-behavioral treatment of PTSD in adults with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder: a pilot study. J Anxiety Disord. (2009) 23:665–75. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.02.005
- Epskamp S, Rhemtulla M, Borsboom D. Generalized network psychometrics: combining network and latent variable models. *Psychometrika*. (2017) 82:904– 27. doi: 10.1007/s11336-017-9557-x
- Epskamp S, Kruis J, Marsman M. Estimating psychopathological networks: be careful what you wish for. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0179891. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179891
- Gureje O, Lewis-Fernandez R, Hall BJ, Reed GM. Systematic inclusion of culture-related information in ICD-11. World Psychiatry. (2019) 18:357– 8. doi: 10.1002/wps.20676
- Wise, Marwood, M A, Perkins, Herane-Vives, Joules, et al. Instability of default mode network connectivity in major depression: a two-sample confirmation study. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2017) 7:e1105. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.40

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Ge, Jiang, Wang, Wan and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Current Advances in Wearable Devices and Their Sensors in Patients With Depression

Seunggyu Lee¹, Hyewon Kim², Mi Jin Park³ and Hong Jin Jeon^{1,3,4*}

¹ School of Medicine, Sungkyunkwan University, Seoul, South Korea, ² Department of Psychiatry, Hanyang University Medical Center, Seoul, South Korea, ³ Department of Psychiatry, Depression Center, Samsung Medical Center, Seoul, South Korea, ⁴ Department of Health Sciences and Technology, Department of Medical Device Management and Research, Department of Clinical Research Design and Evaluation, Samsung Advanced Institute for Health Sciences and Technology, Sungkyunkwan University, Seoul, South Korea

In this study, a literature survey was conducted of research into the development and use of wearable devices and sensors in patients with depression. We collected 18 studies that had investigated wearable devices for assessment, monitoring, or prediction of depression. In this report, we examine the sensors of the various types of wearable devices (e.g., actigraphy units, wristbands, fitness trackers, and smartwatches) and parameters measured through sensors in people with depression. In addition, we discuss future trends, referring to research in other areas employing wearable devices, and suggest the challenges of using wearable devices in the field of depression. Real-time objective monitoring of symptoms and novel approaches for diagnosis and treatment using wearable devices will lead to changes in management of patients with depression. During the process, it is necessary to overcome several issues, including limited types of collected data, reliability, user adherence, and privacy concerns.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrea De Bartolomeis, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by:

Fay Horak, Oregon Health and Science University, United States Bin Fang, Tsinghua University, China

*Correspondence:

Hong Jin Jeon jeonhj@skku.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 25 February 2021 Accepted: 21 May 2021 Published: 17 June 2021

Citation:

Lee S, Kim H, Park MJ and Jeon HJ (2021) Current Advances in Wearable Devices and Their Sensors in Patients With Depression. Front. Psychiatry 12:672347. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.672347 Keywords: wearable devices, sensors, major depression, biomarkers in psychiatry, mood monitoring

INTRODUCTION

The rapid development of wearable devices has led to their active use in research on depression. Sensors in wearable devices can collect physiological data related to mental health. These devices enable monitoring and assessment of patients in real time and in an unobtrusive way. In addition, the data collected through wearable devices can be monitored by the patient, and health care providers can receive and use the patient-generated health data to personalize healthcare. It is expected that the big data obtained by wearable technologies will facilitate the delivery of personalized, interactive, noncontact healthcare in a cost-effective manner.

Studies have shown that some types of data obtained from various wearable devices concern depression. Vallance et al. (1) reported that greater physical activity as measured by an accelerometer was correlated with lower rates of depression. Other research found that skin conductance as measured by wearable patches can be a sensitive biomarker for depression (2–4). A meta-analysis reported that heart rate variability (HRV), which is defined as spontaneous fluctuations in heart rate mainly reflecting the activity of the autonomic system, is reduced in patients with depression, even without concomitant cardiovascular disease (5, 6). HRV often is

74

measured by photoplethysmography (PPG) to determine changes in microvascular perfusion by illuminating the skin with light and measuring the transmitted or reflected amount (7).

Although the market of wearable devices is growing rapidly, the use of wearable technology for diagnosis and treatment of depression remains limited. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to provide a current overview of the developments and utility of wearable devices in research on depression. Here, we collected original studies examining wearable devices for diagnosis and treatment of depression and highlight the developments and trends in this field.

METHODS AND RESULTS

To identify studies on the use of wearable devices in depression research, a literature search was performed in PubMed and the Web of Science databases, focusing on articles published prior to December 31, 2020. The specific search string was as follows: (wearable* OR actigraph* OR actigraphy OR actiwatch OR actimetry OR smartwatch OR wrist-worn OR "fitness tracker" OR "inertial sensor" OR "digital outcome measure") AND (depress* OR MDD OR "major depressive disorder" OR bipolar OR unipolar OR "affective disorder" OR "mood disorder"). This search string was applied only to article titles.

For this study, we excluded papers not written in English and the following types of manuscripts: conference papers, meeting abstracts, research notes, brief/short reports, letters, corrections, protocols, reviews, systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and editorial materials. We also excluded papers with an irrelevant theme (e.g., wearable bipolar batteries) or that were only distantly related to the aim of this study. In addition, we excluded papers that were not focused on depressive symptoms or focused on the general population or statistical and technical analysis. The search process is presented in **Figure 1**. We collected a total of 18 studies that made use of wearable devices to assess or monitor depressive symptoms or to predict major depressive disorder (MDD) (**Table 1**).

DISCUSSION

Overview

Among the collected studies on wearable devices for patients with depression, two-thirds used actigraph units, while the rest used other devices such as a novel wearable device with three accelerometers (18); medically used wearable devices, such as a Parkinson's KinetiGraph (PKG) (23) and the E4 wristband (Empatica, Boston, MA, USA) (25); and commercial wearable devices not originally intended for medical use, such as the Fitbit FlexTM (Fitbit, Inc., San Francisco, CA, USA) (19), Apple watch (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA, USA) (20), and SilmeeTM W20 wristband (TDK Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) (22). Among the reviewed studies, no wearable devices were used for treatment. In all studies, specific physiological, activity/sleep, or subjective parameters of individuals were collected through wearable devices, and the relationship between these parameters and depression was investigated. Except for one study that employed

a waist actigraph unit (17), all included studies used wristworn devices to assess their study populations. Because wearing accessories on the wrist is nondistracting and familiar to most people, wrist-worn wearable devices have been used actively for research.

The use of actigraphy for monitoring depressive symptoms has been investigated since the 1990s and involves using wristwatch-like devices to collect activity or sleep data generated by movements (26). An actigraph unit is typically equipped with linear or a three-axis accelerometer to detect movements. Actigraph units are produced by various companies, with most studies (9, 11, 14, 15) using actigraph units manufactured by Cambridge Neurotechnology Ltd (Cambridgeshire, England). However, new devices and algorithms are being developed constantly, and there is no consensus regarding which device or algorithm is most appropriate for assessing patients with depression (26).

Some relevant medical devices include PKG and the Empatica E4 wristband. The PKG is a wristwatch-like device with a threeaxis accelerometer originally designed to assess motor symptoms such as bradykinesia and tremor in patients with Parkinson's disease (27). However, Powell et al. (23) recently used it to assess motor symptoms in patients with depression. On the other hand, the Empatica E4 is a wrist-worn device that contains a PPG sensor capable of detecting heart rate, an electrodermal activity (EDA) sensor, an optical thermometer for measuring peripheral skin temperature, and the three-axis accelerometer for estimating motion and sleep characteristics. This device was used by Pedrelli et al. (25) to monitor changes in depressive symptom severity of patients.

Some consumer devices not originally indicated for medical use are the Fitbit FlexTM, Apple watch, and SilmeeTM W20 wristband. The Fitbit FlexTM is a commercially available fitness tracker equipped with a three-axis accelerometer that measures motion patterns of users. The utility of the Fitbit FlexTM in evaluating sleep patterns in depressive patients was compared against polysomnography (PSG) and actigraphy (19). On the other hand, the Apple watch is a so-called "smartwatch" featuring various apps as well as capabilities for phone calls and text messaging. It contains a small touchscreen, which was used by Cormack et al. (20) to offer tasks like cognitive and mood assessments to study participants. Finally, the SilmeeTM W20 wristband was used previously (22) for unintended medical use and is equipped with a three-axis acceleration sensor, pulse sensor, ultraviolet sensor, and temperature sensor.

Measured Parameters

Various parameters related to depression have been measured by each wearable device and can be classified as activity/sleep, physiological, and subjective parameters.

Activity characteristics, sleep patterns, and circadian rhythm can be estimated by accelerometers in wearable devices. Previous studies have consistently revealed the association between physical activity and MDD. People who do not regularly engage in physical activity are more likely to show depressive symptoms (28), and depression can be a significant risk factor for a sedentary lifestyle (29). Most studies employing



wearable devices have reported results consistent with these statements. When inpatients with MDD were treated with antidepressants, their activity level as measured by actigraphy was significantly increased upon discharge (8). Elsewhere, Winkler et al. (9) observed that activity was increased even by means of electroconvulsive therapy (ECT). Finally, Peis et al. (24) reported that increased motor activity and early patterns of actigraphic measures allowed for accurate prediction of hospital discharge date using a Hierarchical Generalized Linear Regression Model.

In a previous study, MDD patients with motor retardation had decreased level of activity compared with those without motor retardation (16). Meanwhile, Powell et al. (23) showed the potential for PKG to be used to evaluate movement patterns such as bradykinesia in patients with MDD.

Insomnia is a risk factor for depression, and sleep-related parameters can be used for prediction of depression (30). In addition, depressive patients tend to report more unsatisfactory sleep quality than healthy controls (31). However, this finding was not supported by most studies using actigraphy for sleep assessment of depressive patients, even though McCall and McCall (12) showed that actigraphic measurement of sleep is closely approximated those of PSG. Specifically, with mirtazapine medication for MDD patients, no significant improvement was found for actigraphic sleep measures (13). Also, both Winkler et al. (14) and Hoogerhoud et al. (15) reported that ECT did not affect actigraphy-assessed sleep. Rojo-Wissar et al. (21) suggested that maternal bonding characteristics were associated with sleep characteristics in adulthood but were not dependent on depression status. However, unlike other studies, Chung and Tso (10) showed that insomnia symptoms measured by actigraphy can be used to predict pain symptoms in MDD patients by Pearson correlation analysis, so further research is needed.

Several studies have shown that circadian rhythm-related parameters are correlated with depressive symptoms. Winkler et al. (9) reported that circadian rhythms in patients with seasonal affective disorder can be restored with bright light therapy (BLT). In another study, remitters had increases in circadian amplitude (the gap between the peak and the mean of a wave), but no significant changes were observed in circadian acrophase (the time at which the peak of a rhythm occurs) (14).

Skin temperature (ST), skin conductance (SC), and HRV as measured by an EDA sensor, optical thermometer, and PPG sensor, respectively, are physiological parameters collected by
 TABLE 1 | Clinical trials with wearable devices in research on depression.

| References | Subjects | Devices | Methods | Main points |
|-----------------------------------|---|---|---|--|
| Raoux et al. (8) | Inpatients with MDD ($n = 26$). | Wrist actigraph | 24-h motor activity pattern monitoring at Days 0 and 28. | Activity level was increased after pharmaceutical treatments. |
| Winkler et al. (9) | Outpatients with seasonal affective disorder ($n = 17$). | Wrist actigraph | 4 weeks of activity monitoring with BLT in the morning. | BLT normalized disturbed activity patterns and restored circadian rhythms in seasonal affective disorder patients. |
| Chung and Tso (10) | Patients during an acute episode of MDD ($n = 91$). | Wrist actigraph | Actigraphic data collected twice over a 3-month period. | Sleep data measured by actigraphy may predict pain symptoms in MDD. |
| Razavi et al. (11) | Medicated inpatients with MDD $(n = 76)$. | Wrist actigraph | 24-h actigraphic monitoring. | Motor-related single item "activities" of HAMD wer associated with motor activity parameters, while the total score was not. |
| McCall and McCall 12) | Patients with a current major depressive episode and chronic insomnia ($n = 54$). | Wrist actigraph | Overnight study with concurrent actigraphic and PSG monitoring. | There were moderate positive correlations betwee actigraphy and PSG for all variables. |
| Rothschild-Fuentes et al. (13) | MDD outpatients aged 60 years or more ($n = 10$). | Wrist actigraph | Actigraphic parameters recorded before mirtazapine treatment and at day 60 of the treatment. | Sleep fragmentation index was significantly decreased after mirtazapine treatment, while other sleep parameters were not significantly changed. |
| Winkler et al. (14) | Inpatients with treatment-resistant depression. | Wrist actigraph | Activity level measured before and after ECT. | Remitters had increases of light activity, total activi and circadian amplitude. |
| Hoogerhoud et al. (15) | Severely depressed patients $(n = 12)$. | Wrist actigraph | 5-day actigraph monitoring during ECT course. | Actigraphy-assessed sleep in the short-term was not affected by ECT. |
| Krane-Gartiser et al. [16] | MDD inpatients with and without motor retardation ($n = 25$ and 27). | Wrist actigraph | 24-h actigraphy recordings. | Reduced mean activity level, higher intraindividual variability, and lower complexity were shown in patients with motor retardation compared with patients without motor retardation. |
| Nishida et al. (17) | Patients with medication-resistant MDD. | Waist actigraph | Monitoring over the course of rTMS treatments. | Sleep variables did not show significant changes, but <i>post-hoc</i> tests indicated a significant increase mean steps per day. |
| O'Brien et al. (18) | Adults with late-life depression and aged 60 years or more (n = 29). | A novel wrist-worn device with three accelerometers | Monitoring over 7 days. | Subjects with late-life depression showed significantly reduced physical activity and slower fir motor movements. |
| Cook et al. (19) | Patients with unipolar MDD $(n = 21)$. | Fitbit Flex TM | An overnight study with concurrent actigraphic and PSG monitoring. | The Fitbit Flex TM is not adequate to be substituted for PSG when evaluating sleep in MDD. |
| Cormack et al. (20) | Patients with mild-to-moderate MDD ($n = 30$). | Apple watch | Cognition and depressed mood assessment by new Cognition Kit app every day over 6 weeks. | Daily mood and cognitive assessments correlated moderately with validated tests. |
| Rojo-Wissar et al. [21] | Adults with MDD ($n = 34$). | Wrist actigraph | Self-reported parental bonding instrument and wrist actigraphy (for 1 week) were evaluated. | Sleep characteristics in adulthood were associated with maternal bonding but were independent of depression status. |
| Tazawa et al. (22) | Depressed patients ($n = 45$). | Silmee W20 wristband | Machine learning models developed using data collected by the device over seven days. | Skin temperature and sleep parameters were the most significant features for prediction. |
| Powell et al. (23) | Patients with severe unipolar or bipolar depression ($n = 12$) | PKG | PKG used to assess motor symptoms in depression. | PKG measures were significantly correlated with clinically assessed melancholia. |
| Peis et al. (24) | Depressed patients ($n = 23$). | Wrist actigraph | Regression model was developed to predict clinical course and hospital discharge of depressed patients. | Increased motor activity and early patterns of actigraphic measures allowed for accurate prediction of hospital discharge date. |
| Pedrelli et al. (25) | Patients with MDD ($n = 31$). | Empatica E4 wristband | Assessment by smartphone, wristband sensors, in-person clinical interviews, HDRS for 8 weeks. | The predicted score of the developed model and clinician-rated HDRS showed moderate-to-high correlation; skin conductance, HRV, and activity were important features of the model. |

wearable devices. Tazawa et al. (22) reported that ST can be an indicator of depression using a machine learning model with parameters detected from the SilmeeTM W20 wristband. This corresponds with the report that depressive patients have a higher body temperature than that of healthy controls (32).

The study by Pedrelli et al. (25) corresponds with previous research suggesting that SC is significantly correlated with depression (33), and that HRV reflects autonomic dysregulation affected by mental health status (34). They have proposed a machine learning model that predicts clinical scores of MDD from various data collected through a smartphone and wristband. According to them, the 10 most predictive features for MDD include parameters related to SC and HRV. However, further research is necessary since machine learning models usually remain black boxes and do not clearly conclude to what degree and why the underlying parameters are related to the prediction (35).

Future Trends

The advantage of incorporating wearable devices into research in patients with depression is that wearable devices enable continuous and objective monitoring of patients. With this technology, real-time changes between patient hospital visits can be tracked objectively and treatment effects can be monitored more accurately. Assessments of MDD often are conducted by mood questionnaires such as the Hamilton Depressing Rate Scale (HDRS). However, these types of mood assessments are easily disturbed by various biases, such as recall bias (36). This can lead to inaccurate results depending upon the degree of inconsistency among patients or clinicians (37). In addition, errors that can occur during manual data entry by physicians or researchers can be prevented when using wearable devices.

Wearable devices also enable patients to monitor their symptoms. For example, a patient can check their current level of stress or depression using wearable devices or a smartphone connected via Bluetooth. In a study using Psymate (PsyMate BV, Maastricht, the Netherlands), a "personal digital assistant"– based system for mood assessment, personalized feedback interventions appeared to help patients improve their depressive symptoms and prevent maladaptive behaviors that can worsen their moods, suggesting that the provision of such feedback through wearable devices will have similar effects (38). It has shown that, if patients are notified about their mood frequently, it may help them to manage their own depression.

Wearable devices can potentially be used to develop novel diagnostic methods or treatments. Sensors can measure various parameters other than those introduced above; for example, speech pattern and voice analyses through sensors can be used to assess depression severity and treatment response (39). In addition, using sensors like inertial sensors, bending sensors, and electromyography signals, it is possible to capture human motion through wearable devices (40). Considering studies showing that depressive patients can exhibit gait variability (41) and motor abnormalities (42), future research is expected to use novel wearable devices to investigate how movement changes with depression.

Recently, wearable devices that can treat depression at home have been developed. One study (43) showed that daily morning light therapy for 60 min using home light-therapy glasses can trigger an improvement in depressive symptoms. If this technology can be applied to normal glasses with light sensors tracking the daily light exposure of patients, daily use can help to monitor and treat depression.

Wearable devices can be used as a part of personalized exercise-treatment programs for MDD (44). In addition, wearable devices can increase patient physical activity and medication adherence according to an ongoing trial enrolling patients with heart failure and diabetes mellitus (45); based on step count data from wearable devices in this study, individualized feedback is provided to patients. We can expect a study in the future that attempts this type of intervention for patients with depression.

An aripiprazole tablet with an ingestible sensor (Abilify MyCite; Otsuka America Pharmaceutical, Inc., Rockville, MD, USA) was approved recently by the United States Food and Drug Administration. The sensor on the pill sends a signal to a cutaneous wearable so that clinicians can track the medication adherence of patients. This model is expected to be used in depression studies considering that aripiprazole can be administrated as an adjunctive treatment for depression.

Challenges

There are challenges in the application of wearable devices in the field of depression. First, it is difficult to detect various symptoms of depression using wearable devices. In particular, evaluation of subjective mood symptoms is difficult; for example, wearable devices mostly detect physiological data and have limitations in evaluating subjective symptoms. However, a recent study using the Apple watch showed the possibility of highfrequency cognitive and mood assessments using wearable devices (20). Second, physiological data that can be measured by wearable devices are lacking. For example, although a change in appetite is a common symptom in patients with depression, it is difficult to measure it with wearable devices. Vu et al. (46) previously tried to estimate eating behaviors by detecting wrist movements or the sound of eating, but the accuracy was low.

There are various issues with adherence and compliance of patients. Wearable devices have variations in the degree of convenience of use, and there is a difference in user comfort when wearing the devices. The effectiveness of mobile health interventions varies greatly according to design of the intervention (47), and acceptance of wearable devices can vary depending on user age (48). Therefore, further research is required about how to increase adherence and compliance rates so that users can continuously wear wearable devices for 24 h.

Unreliability and inaccuracy are problems in use of wearable devices. Various wearable devices for fitness and wellness are available on the market. However, since these devices are heterogeneous, they are not simple to use for those wishing to monitor clinical symptoms. The reliability of the sensor system and data-processing algorithm of wearable devices also makes it difficult to introduce these devices into the medical field. Furthermore, data can be disrupted by various kinds of noises generated by the surrounding environment and the physical condition of the person wearing the device. Although some studies have been carried out to validate the accuracy of wrist actigraphy in comparison with PSG (49, 50), accelerometers on the wrist are not effective in detecting sleep patterns not involving limb motion, so other instruments like a pressure sensor sheet or chest-worn sensor are needed to obtain a higher degree of accuracy comparable to that of PSG (51, 52).

Another issue involves feature extraction with regard to unreliability issues. According to a layered hierarchical framework presented by Mohr et al. (53), raw sensor data (e.g., location, movement) are transformed into low-level features (e.g., activity, total sleep time). The low-level features are combined and constitute high-level behavioral markers (e.g., psychomotor activity, sleep disruption). The clinical state (e.g., depression) is inferred through a combination of high-level behavioral markers. Although it is a logically valid framework, whether the data, such as the movements measured with an accelerometer, can accurately represent psychomotor agitation or retardation is unclear. For example, sleep is estimated based on patient motion and pulse not by measuring their brainwaves (54).

There also is a problem of privacy and ethics. Since data obtained through wearable devices are stored on an external server, there is a possibility that this data can be leaked. Because of this problem, legal regulations for use in the medical field will be essential.

CONCLUSION

There are rapid ongoing developments of wearable devices for clinical use. Depressive symptoms can be estimated by many parameters collected objectively in real-time by wearable devices.

REFERENCES

- Vallance JK, Winkler EA, Gardiner PA, Healy GN, Lynch BM, Owen N. Associations of objectively-assessed physical activity and sedentary time with depression: NHANES (2005–2006). *Prev Med.* (2011) 53:284–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2011.07.013
- Ward NG, Doerr HO, Storrie MC. Skin conductance: a potentially sensitive test for depression. *Psychiatry Res.* (1983) 10:295–302. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(83)90076-8
- 3. Noble P, Lader M. The symptomatic correlates of the skin conductance changes in depression. *J Psychiatry Res.* (1971) 9:61–9. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(71)90008-2
- Ward NG, Doerr HO. Skin conductance: a potentially sensitive and specific marker for depression. J Nerv Ment Dis. (1986) 174:553–9. doi: 10.1097/00005053-198609000-00008
- Kemp AH, Quintana DS, Gray MA, Felmingham KL, Brown K, Gatt JM. Impact of depression and antidepressant treatment on heart rate variability: a review and meta-analysis. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2010) 67:1067–74. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.12.012
- Carney RM, Freedland KE. Depression and heart rate variability in patients with coronary heart disease. *Cleve Clin J Med.* (2009) 76:S13. doi: 10.3949/ccjm.76.s2.03
- Allen J. Photoplethysmography and its application in clinical physiological measurement. *Physiol Meas.* (2007) 28:R1. doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/28/3/R01

The possibility of diagnosis and prediction remotely using these devices has been supported in this review. Future trends are expected with the emergence of new wearable devices that will bring novel diagnostic and therapeutic approaches like motion capture, speech analysis, and portable light therapy. This suggests the potential for fundamental changes in diagnosis and treatment of depression in the future by developments of wearable devices. These developments can lead to early and accurate diagnosis of depression, the capability to provide more personalized treatment to patients with depression, and to develop preventive measures for groups at risk of depression. Wearable devices will have a critical role in medicine with the advent of personalized telemedicine.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HK, MP, and HJ contributed to conception and design of the study. HK and MP performed the bibliographical search. SL wrote the first draft of the manuscript. SL, HK, MP, and HJ wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the Bio & Medical Technology Development Program of the NRF funded by the Korean government, MSIP (No. NRF-2017M3A9F1027323; PI HJ); the Healthcare AI Convergence Research & Development Program through the National IT Industry Promotion Agency of Korea (NIPA) funded by the Ministry of Science and ICT (No. S1601-20-1041); and a grant of the Korea Health Technology R&D Project through the Korea Health Industry Development Institute (KHIDI), funded by the Ministry of Health & Welfare, Republic of Korea (Grant No. HI21C0885).

- Raoux N, Benoit O, Dantchev N, Denise P, Franc B, Allilaire JF, et al. Circadian pattern of motor activity in major depressed patients undergoing antidepressant therapy: relationship between actigraphic measures and clinical course. *Psychiatry Res.* (1994) 52:85–98. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(94)90122-8
- Winkler D, Pjrek E, Praschak-Rieder N, Willeit M, Pezawas L, Konstantinidis A, et al. Actigraphy in patients with seasonal affective disorder and healthy control subjects treated with light therapy. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2005) 58:331–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.01.031
- Chung KF, Tso KC. Relationship between insomnia and pain in major depressive disorder: a sleep diary and actigraphy study. *Sleep Med.* (2010) 11:752–8. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2009.09.005
- Razavi N, Horn H, Koschorke P, Hügli S, Höfle O, Müller T, et al. Measuring motor activity in major depression: the association between the hamilton depression rating scale and actigraphy. *Psychiatry Res.* (2011) 190:212–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2011.05.028
- McCall C, McCall WV. Comparison of actigraphy with polysomnography and sleep logs in depressed insomniacs. J Sleep Res. (2012) 21:122–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2011.00917.x
- Rothschild-Fuentes B, Roche A, Jiménez-Genchi A, Sánchez-Ferrer J, Fresan A, Muñoz-Delgado J. Effects of mirtazapine on the sleep wake rhythm of geriatric patients with major depression: an exploratory study with actigraphy. *Pharmacopsychiatry*. (2013) 46:59–62. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1323655

- Winkler D, Pjrek E, Lanzenberger R, Baldinger P, Eitel D, Kasper S, et al. Actigraphy in patients with treatment-resistant depression undergoing electroconvulsive therapy. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2014) 57:96–100. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.06.006
- Hoogerhoud A, Hazewinkel AW, Reijntjens RH, van Vliet IM, van Noorden MS, Lammers GJ, et al. Short-term effects of electroconvulsive therapy on subjective and actigraphy-assessed sleep parameters in severely depressed inpatients. *Depress Res Treat.* (2015) 2015:764649. doi: 10.1155/2015/ 764649
- Krane-Gartiser K, Henriksen TE, Vaaler AE, Fasmer OB, Morken G. Actigraphically assessed activity in unipolar depression: a comparison of inpatients with and without motor retardation. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2015) 76:1181–7. doi: 10.4088/JCP.14m09106
- Nishida M, Kikuchi S, Nisijima K, Suda S. Actigraphy in patients with major depressive disorder undergoing repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: an open label pilot study. J ECT. (2017) 33:36–42. doi: 10.1097/YCT.00000000000352
- O'Brien JT, Gallagher P, Stow D, Hammerla N, Ploetz T, Firbank M, et al. A study of wrist-worn activity measurement as a potential realworld biomarker for late-life depression. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:93–102. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716002166
- Cook JD, Prairie ML, Plante DT. Utility of the fitbit flex to evaluate sleep in major depressive disorder: a comparison against polysomnography and wrist-worn actigraphy. J Affect Disord. (2017) 217:299–305. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.04.030
- Cormack F, McCue M, Taptiklis N, Skirrow C, Glazer E, Panagopoulos E, et al. Wearable technology for high-frequency cognitive and mood assessment in major depressive disorder: longitudinal observational study. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2019) 6:e12814. doi: 10.2196/12814
- Rojo-Wissar DM, McQuaid JR, Ancoli-Israel S, Gengler DN, Haynes PL. Maternal bonding predicts actigraphy-measured sleep parameters in depressed and nondepressed adults. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2020) 208:33–7. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000001071
- Tazawa Y, Liang KC, Yoshimura M, Kitazawa M, Kaise Y, Takamiya A, et al. Evaluating depression with multimodal wristband-type wearable device: screening and assessing patient severity utilizing machine-learning. *Heliyon*. (2020) 6:e03274. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e03274
- Powell A, Graham D, Portley R, Snowdon J, Hayes MW. Wearable technology to assess bradykinesia and immobility in patients with severe depression undergoing electroconvulsive therapy: a pilot study. J Psychiatr Res. (2020) 130:75–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.07.017
- 24. Peis I, López-Moríñigo JD, Pérez-Rodríguez MM, Barrigón ML, Ruiz-Gómez M, Artés-Rodríguez A, et al. Actigraphic recording of motor activity in depressed inpatients: a novel computational approach to prediction of clinical course and hospital discharge. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:17286. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-74425-x
- Pedrelli P, Fedor S, Ghandeharioun A, Howe E, Ionescu DF, Bhathena D, et al. Monitoring changes in depression severity using wearable and mobile sensors. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:584711. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.584711
- Sadeh A, Acebo C. The role of actigraphy in sleep medicine. Sleep Med Rev. (2002) 6:113–24. doi: 10.1053/smrv.2001.0182
- Griffiths RI, Kotschet K, Arfon S, Xu ZM, Johnson W, Drago J, et al. Automated assessment of bradykinesia and dyskinesia in Parkinson's disease. J Parkinsons Dis. (2012) 2:47–55. doi: 10.3233/JPD-2012-11071
- De Mello MT, de Aquino Lemos V, Antunes HKM, Bittencourt L, Santos-Silva R, Tufik S. Relationship between physical activity and depression and anxiety symptoms: a population study. J Affect Disord. (2013) 149:241–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.035
- Roshanaei-Moghaddam B, Katon WJ, Russo J. The longitudinal effects of depression on physical activity. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2009) 31:306–15. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2009.04.002
- Fang H, Tu S, Sheng J, Shao A. Depression in sleep disturbance: a review on a bidirectional relationship, mechanisms and treatment. J Cell Mol Med. (2019) 23:2324–32. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14170
- Mayers AG, Baldwin DS. The relationship between sleep disturbance and depression. *Intern J Psychiatry Clin Pract.* (2006) 10:2–16. doi: 10.1080/13651500500328087

- Rausch JL, Johnson M, Corley K, Hobby H, Shendarkar N, Fei Y, et al. Depressed patients have higher body temperature: 5-HT transporter long promoter region effects. *Neuropsychobiology*. (2003) 47:120–7. doi: 10.1159/000070579
- 33. Lin HP, Lin HY, Lin WL, Huang ACW. Effects of stress, depression, and their interaction on heart rate, skin conductance, finger temperature, and respiratory rate: sympathetic-parasympathetic hypothesis of stress and depression. J Clin Psychol. (2011) 67:1080–91. doi: 10.1002/ jclp.20833
- Kemp AH, Quintana DS. The relationship between mental and physical health: insights from the study of heart rate variability. *Intern J Psychophysiol.* (2013) 89:288–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.06.018
- Watson DS, Krutzinna J, Bruce IN, Griffiths CE, McInnes IB, Barnes MR, et al. Clinical applications of machine learning algorithms: beyond the black box. *BMJ.* (2019) 364:1886. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3352454
- 36. Kruijshaar ME, Barendregt J, Vos T, De Graaf R, Spijker J, Andrews G. Lifetime prevalence estimates of major depression: an indirect estimation method and a quantification of recall bias. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2005) 20:103–11. doi: 10.1007/s10654-004-1009-0
- Aboraya A, Rankin E, France C, El-Missiry A, John C. The reliability of psychiatric diagnosis revisited: the clinician's guide to improve the reliability of psychiatric diagnosis. *Psychiatry*. (2006) 3:41.
- Snippe E, Simons CJ, Hartmann JA, Menne-Lothmann C, Kramer I, Booij SH, et al. Change in daily life behaviors and depression: withinperson and between-person associations. *Health Psychol.* (2016) 35:433. doi: 10.1037/hea0000312
- Mundt JC, Snyder PJ, Cannizzaro MS, Chappie K, Geralts DS. Voice acoustic measures of depression severity and treatment response collected via interactive voice response (IVR) technology. *J Neuroling*. (2007) 20:50–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroling.2006.04.001
- Dong M, Fang B, Li J, Sun F, Liu H. Wearable sensing devices for upper limbs: a systematic review. *Proc Inst Mech Eng H.* (2021) 235:117–30. doi: 10.1177/0954411920953031
- Radovanović S, Jovičić M, Marić NP, Kostić V. Gait characteristics in patients with major depression performing cognitive and motor tasks while walking. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 217:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.02.001
- Lohr JB, May T, Caligiuri MP. Quantitative assessment of motor abnormalities in untreated patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2013) 146:84–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.08.043
- Swanson LM, Burgess HJ, Zollars J, Arnedt JT. An open-label pilot study of a home wearable light therapy device for postpartum depression. Arch Women Ment Health. (2018) 21:583–6. doi: 10.1007/s00737-018-0836-z
- Burns MN, Begale M, Duffecy J, Gergle D, Karr CJ, Giangrande E, et al. Harnessing context sensing to develop a mobile intervention for depression. J Med Int Res. (2011) 13:e55. doi: 10.2196/jmir.1838
- 45. Sharma A, Mentz RJ, Granger BB, Heitner JF, Cooper LB, Banerjee D, et al. Utilizing mobile technologies to improve physical activity and medication adherence in patients with heart failure and diabetes mellitus: rationale and design of the TARGET-HF-DM trial. Am Heart J. (2019) 211:22–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2019.01.007
- Vu T, Lin F, Alshurafa N, Xu W. Wearable food intake monitoring technologies: a comprehensive review. *Computers*. (2017) 6:4. doi: 10.3390/computers6010004
- Morrison LG, Yardley L, Powell J, Michie S. What design features are used in effective e-health interventions? A review using techniques from critical interpretive synthesis. *Telemed J E Health.* (2012) 18:137–44. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0062
- Steele R, Lo A, Secombe C, Wong YK. Elderly persons' perception and acceptance of using wireless sensor networks to assist healthcare. *Int J Med Inform.* (2009) 78:788–801. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2009.08.001
- Marino M, Li Y, Rueschman MN, Winkelman JW, Ellenbogen J, Solet JM, et al. Measuring sleep: accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity of wrist actigraphy compared to polysomnography. *Sleep.* (2013) 36:1747–55. doi: 10.5665/sleep.3142
- Sadeh A. The role and validity of actigraphy in sleep medicine: an update. Sleep Med Rev. (2011) 15:259–67. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2010.10.001
- 51. Nam Y, Kim Y, Lee J. Sleep monitoring based on a tri-axial accelerometer and a pressure sensor. *Sensors.* (2016) 16:750. doi: 10.3390/s16050750

- 52. Razjouyan J, Lee H, Parthasarathy S, Mohler J, Sharafkhaneh A, Najafi B. Improving sleep quality assessment using wearable sensors by including information from postural/sleep position changes and body acceleration: a comparison of chest-worn sensors, wrist actigraphy, and polysomnography. *J Clin Sleep Med.* (2017) 13:1301–10. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.6802
- Mohr DC, Zhang M, Schueller SM. Personal sensing: understanding mental health using ubiquitous sensors and machine learning. *Ann Rev Clin Psychol.* (2017) 13:23–47. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-044949
- Scott H, Lack L, Lovato N. A systematic review of the accuracy of sleep wearable devices for estimating sleep onset. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2020) 49:101227. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2019.101227

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Lee, Kim, Park and Jeon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Heterogeneity of Longitudinal Cognitive Decline in Euthymic Bipolar I Disorder With Clinical Characteristics and Functional Outcomes

Wen-Yin Chen^{1,2}, Ming-Chyi Huang^{1,3}, Ya-Chin Lee², Chiao-Erh Chang², Shih-Ku Lin^{1,3}, Chih Chiang Chiu^{1,3}, Hsing-Cheng Liu^{1,3}, Chian-Jue Kuo^{1,3}, Shih-Han Weng⁴, Po-Yu Chen^{1,3} and Po-Hsiu Kuo^{2,5,6*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Danilo Arnone, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

Reviewed by:

Chien-Han Lai, National Yang-Ming University, Taiwan Isabelle Esther Bauer, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

> *Correspondence: Po-Hsiu Kuo phkuo@ntu.edu.tw

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 24 March 2021 Accepted: 24 June 2021 Published: 21 July 2021

Citation:

Chen W-Y, Huang M-C, Lee Y-C, Chang C-E, Lin S-K, Chiu CC, Liu H-C, Kuo C-J, Weng S-H, Chen P-Y and Kuo P-H (2021) The Heterogeneity of Longitudinal Cognitive Decline in Euthymic Bipolar I Disorder With Clinical Characteristics and Functional Outcomes. Front. Psychiatry 12:684813. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.684813 ¹ Department of Psychiatry, Taipei City Psychiatric Center, Taipei City Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ² Institute of Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, College of Public Health, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan, ³ Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁴ Department of Education and Research, Taipei City Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁵ Department of Public Health, College of Public Health, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁶ Department of Psychiatry, National Taiwan University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

We characterized the heterogeneity and risk factors of cognitive decline in euthymic bipolar disorder (BD), and their magnitude of associations with subjective daily functions. In this retrospective cohort, BD type I patients (N = 128) were followed for an average of 6.5 years. Intelligence quotient (IQ) at index date was recorded, and premorbid IQ was estimated. We used Brief Assessment of Cognition in Affective Disorders (BAC-A) to assess cognition at follow-up. We evaluated current functions with World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule 2.0. Clinical and sociodemographic factors were examined for their independent effects on longitudinal cognitive decline. In addition, we employed multivariate adaptive regression spline to detect inflection points for the nature of slope changes in cognitive decline among BD patients. During follow-up years, 21 BD patients (16.4%) showed longitudinal cognitive decline. In cognitive decline group, all cognitive domains of BAC-A were significantly worsened. We found that density of episodes with psychotic features was an independent risk factor for cognitive decline after adjusted for age, gender and dose of mood stabilizer. After the age of 42 years, a steeper cognitive change was observed in the cognitive decline group. The correlation pattern between cognitive domains and functional outcomes differed between patients with and without cognitive decline. The present study characterized cognitive heterogeneity longitudinally in BD patients. As density of episodes play roles for cognitive decline, our results emphasize the importance of relapse prevention. Our findings provide hints for future personalized interventions and facilitating genetic and biological studies for dissecting the heterogeneity of bipolar illness.

Keywords: BAC-A, bipolar disorder, function assessment, heterogeneity, longitudinal

82

INTRODUCTION

Bipolar disorder (BD), a recurrent chronic disorder, is characterized by episodes of mania and depression interspaced by euthymia, and it affects different aspects of daily living (1). BD is also associated with cognitive deficits in a number of domains, which may persist in patients in remission (2). For example, Robinson and Ferrier reported that euthymic patients with BD showed cognitive impairments compared with healthy controls, particularly in executive function and verbal learning (3). A meta-analysis using individual patient data further confirmed significant impairments in a wide-range of cognitive domains in BD. In particular, verbal learning test, executive function and processing speed showed robust impairments even controlling for age, educational years, gender, residual mood symptoms, and medications (4). Cognitive deficits have substantial negative impacts on social functioning and are responsible for poor inter-episode recovery or poor quality of life in a high proportion of patients (5–7), suggesting the importance of studying cognitive functions in BD to enhance future clinical care and prognosis outcomes.

The presence of cognitive impairment can regard as a marker of neuroprogression in BD patients (8). The underlying neurobiological mechanisms may include high proinflammatory activity, reduced neurotrophic support, and high oxidative stress burden in BD (9). Other factors such as higher rate of medical comorbidity, unhealthy related behaviors, and substance abuse (10, 11) also contribute to lower brain and cognitive reserve, thereby increasing risk of cognitive declines. In addition, recent studies reported substantial genetic overlap between cognitive function and BD risk (12).

On the other hand, previous cross-sectional studies have examined clinical factors with cognitive deficits in BD. Although findings were inconsistent, some studies have reported the correlations of cognitive impairments with illness severity (4). However, it is difficult to infer the causal link between cognitive deficits and clinical features due to the cross-sectional nature of these studies. One early study adopted a first-episode design to compare first-episode BD, schizophrenia, and healthy controls, and found that cognitive deficits are evident right from the first mood episode (13). During the disease course, cognitive impairment in BD patients then varies, with some studies suggesting that cognitive deficits stabilize over time (14-16), whereas others have shown a pattern of progressive deterioration (17, 18) and even increased risk of dementia in later life (19). It is believed that heterogeneity is widely observed among BD patients in this regard, in terms of the impaired cognitive domains, longitudinal cognition stability, and the speed of deteriorative progression. Longitudinal study design is preferable to explore cognitive declines over the course of bipolar illness, though it was relatively scarce in the literature.

So far, the heterogeneity of longitudinal cognitive decline in BD patients is not well-understood. First, insufficient data were available to investigate all cognitive domains in few longitudinal studies, and findings on deficits among different cognitive domains were inconsistent. Whether these are discrete areas of impairment or reflect an underlying single, more basic cognitive abnormality is as yet unclear. Second, previous longitudinal studies often consisted of small sample sizes and different follow-up periods, resulted in various findings. For example, the synthesis of longitudinal evidence suggests that the cognitive path of individuals with BD may be set early on and may not deteriorate over time (20, 21). However, another study with a much longer follow-up period showed significant test–retest differences in executive measures revealing decline (22), which implied the existence of cognitive instability over longer disease course. Third, the differences in medication variables or mood scales between assessment times could not be well-controlled in every study and may have influenced the results. In addition, we should consider the effect of repeated testing, wherein the true decline of cognitive functioning would be partially masked by learning effects during short period of follow-up.

We hypothesized that both the clinical course and cognitive decline are heterogeneous among BD patients, and thus may partially account for the inconsistency of findings in previous reviews. The majority of cross-sectional studies have suggested that 38–40% of patients with BD have no neurocognitive deficits, and 20–30% had obvious cognitive deficits (23–25), while less data on longitudinal cognitive decline. The complexity of cognitive impairment in BD may include neurodevelopmental, neuroprogressive, or combination of the two. The lack of longitudinal assessment of cognitive performance in BD hinders to explore the heterogeneity in this topic.

We aim to establish a retrospective cohort of bipolar disorder patients and to evaluate their cognitive changes over time by looking at age hinge points of cognitive decline, to characterize heterogeneous cognitive profiles, and to examine the risk factors for longitudinal cognitive decline. Lastly, we further evaluate whether different cognitive changes impact daily functions in patients with and without cognitive decline.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

In this retrospective cohort, individuals who were diagnosed with BD subtype I according to Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth Edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR) by board-certified psychiatrists from outpatient clinics were invited to join this study between July 1, 2018 to the end of 2019 (study entry). They were more than 20 years of age, and we excluded (a) known substance use disorder (except nicotine use disorder); (b) any disorder with known neurological symptoms or complications such as brain injury or stroke; (c) a previous diagnosis of intellectual disabilities, schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorders; or (d) inability to complete the standard clinical assessment or providing informed consent. The information for psychiatry comorbidities and exclusion criteria is obtained through medical diagnosis record and by the Chinese version of the modified Schedule of Affective Disorder and Schizophrenia-Lifetime (SADS-L), which has been report to have high interrater reliability values of mood disorders (major depression: 0.79; bipolar disorder: 0.71) (26). Individuals were also required to be euthymic at the time of study entry and under stable medications (no change of medications in previous 1 month) for current cognitive assessment. To evaluate cognitive deficits, eligible participants who had a prior index intelligence quotient (IQ) testing during euthymic state in medical record were retained in the following analysis. Mood symptoms were obtained through clinician-administered measures of the 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDS) and Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS). For euthymic state, we defined HDS and YMRS scores ≤ 8 within 7 days before assessment (27, 28).

Measurements

Demographic Data, Clinical Course, and Index IQ

Patients' demographic and clinical course data were collected when study entry, from medical records and interviews by psychiatrists, if required. The clinical characteristics of participants included the number of affective episodes (total, manic, and major depressive), number of episodes with psychotic features, number of hospitalizations, age at illness onset, maximum length of free intervals, and number of suicide attempts. Adverse childhood events were assessed using Chinese version of Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF) (29). Considering the duration of illness varied across individuals, we also calculated episode density by dividing number of episodes by duration of illness as the total episode density, manic episode density, major depressive episode density and episode with psychotic features density separately. Psychopharmacological treatments used at the time of study entry were recorded and then transformed to defined daily dose (DDD). DDD is a unit of measurement assumed average maintenance dose per day for a drug used for its main indication in adults, which can be derived for comparisons of drug consumption (30, 31). Through reviewing medical records, we retrospectively recorded physical comorbidities, anthropometry, and index IQ at the euthymic state from the first clinical visit or admission of BD diagnosis. The index IQ was measured by a licensed psychologist using the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS-III or WAIS-IV) in BD euthymic state and was regarded as a stable trait in adults. It was routinely assessed for the clinical practice in the recruitment hospital for assisting attending psychiatrists to establish proper rehabilitation plans for patients. In addition, we collected patients' premorbid educational years and occupational status with age and gender to estimate premorbid IQ (32, 33). Therefore, the cognitive information using IQ from medical records was defined at two time-points: T1, the premorbid estimated IQ; T2, the index IQ after BD onset (Details were illustrated in Supplementary Figure 1).

Current Cognitive Measurements

Enrolled patients were assessed using the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Affective Disorders (BAC-A) during their euthymic state for at least 1-year interval apart from the date of index IQ measure to ensure evaluating longitudinal change and minimize possible learning effects. The time point of BAC-A assessment was defined as T3 as study entry (**Supplementary Figure 1**). BAC-A has extensively been used as a rapid and reliable measure of cognitive assessment in a range of clinically affective patients (34). It takes ~35 min to administer. It provides measure of affective memory and emotional inhibition (Affective Processing Tests [APTs]) from Affective Auditory Verbal Learning Test and Emotional Stroop Task, and also measure for six traditional neurocognitive domains, namely, working memory (Digit Sequencing Task), motor speed (Token Motor Task), verbal fluency (Category Instances and Controlled Oral Word Association Test), attention and processing speed (Symbol Coding), verbal memory (List Learning), and executive function (Tower of London) with comparable norm references (35, 36). APTs were further applied with the indexes of Affective Interference Test (AIT), Emotion Inhibition Test (EIT), Delayed Recognition (DR), and Emotion Inhibition Index (EII) (37). The criterion and construct validity of each test for cognitive impairment as well as the sensitivity of these tests to changes in cognition have been demonstrated in the scientific literature, and each test has also been shown to be valid for use in different cultures and language groups (38).

Functional Assessment

Trained interviewer administered the World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule 2.0 (WHODAS 2.0) for multidimensional assessment of subjective function in the participants also in the time of study entry (T3). WHODAS 2.0 is a practical, generic assessment instrument that can measure health and disability at a population level or in clinical practice. It evaluates subjective function in six domains: Domain 1: cognition- understanding and communicating; Domain 2: Mobility- moving and getting around; Domain 3: Self-careattending to one's hygiene, dressing, eating, and staying alone; Domain 4: Getting along- interacting with other people; Domain 5: Life activities- domestic responsibilities, leisure, work, and school; and Domain 6: Participation- joining in community activities and participating in society (39). The raw score is transformed into item response theory (IRT) scoring (0-100), with higher scores indicating increasing severity of subjective function impairment (39).

Statistical Analysis

We explored cognitive heterogeneity in BD longitudinally and defined subjects dichotomously into groups with or without cognitive decline. We transformed cognitive performance into Z1, Z2b and Z3 scores for the estimated premorbid IQ at T1, index IQ at T2 and BAC-A composite score at T3, respectively. This transformation was done based on the same outside reference from standardization samples in Taiwan (33, 36, 40), to make different assessments comparable at each time point. First, we compared the cognitive performance between T1 and T2. Among 128 subjects, there were 23 who showed cognitive deficits comparing premorbid Z1 and Z2 at disease index date, while 105 retained their cognitive function at disease index date (having <2 standard deviations [SD] of cognitive changes from T1 to T2). Second, there were 21 revealed longitudinally cognitive decline (16 from 105 and 5 from 23, having > 2 SD cognition downward changes from T2 to T3), and 89 were classified into the cognitive non-declined group who had < 2 SD cognition changes from T2 to T3. Finally, there remained 18 patients (stable cognitive deficits) who showed cognitive deficits at T2 with cognitive functions stable over the follow-up period at T3.



In the following analyses, we compared BD groups with (N = 21) and without longitudinal cognitive decline (N = 89) only.

We compared demographic and clinical characteristics between BD patients with and without cognitive decline using the chi-square and Student's t-test for categorical and continuous variables, respectively. The differences in BAC-A and functional outcomes were also examined. Normality of data was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. For non-normally distributed data, we used non-parametric Wilcoxon rank sum test for analysis. The variables that showed significant differences between the two groups were further assessed by univariate logistic regression to reveal their influences on cognitive outcome. The significant factors from univariate analysis were then included in multivariable logistic regression with stepwise selection to evaluate their independent effects, while adjusted for age and gender. In the multivariable regression analyses, we excluded variables with high correlation with others to avoid multicollinearity in the model (e.g., correlation coefficient between manic episode density and density of episodes with psychotic features was high, equals to 0.59). Pearson correlations between specific cognitive and functional domains were demonstrated in each group. Moreover, multivariate adaptive regression spline (MARS) (41) and scatterplot with Loess curve were used to detect hinges or inflection points to characterize the timing and nature of slope changes in the different cognitive groups. MARS is a non-parametric regression technique that can model non-linearities, which is much suitable for detecting the hinge points (42). MARS analysis was conducted using the earth package in R (43); all other analyses were conducted using SAS (version 9.4; SAS Institute Inc.; Cary, NC, USA). There were very few missing numbers in each different variable, and were treated as missing data in all analysis. Significance level was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

In our retrospective cohort study, BD-I patients demonstrated longitudinal heterogeneous course in terms of cognitive functions, who presented with stable cognitive deficits (14.1%), with longitudinal cognitive decline (16.4%) and without cognitive decline (69.5%), respectively.

The characteristics between BD patients with (N = 21)and without (N = 89) longitudinal cognitive decline are presented in **Table 1**. Only two participants had psychiatry comorbidity with cluster B personality disorders. None of the participants was comorbid with schizophreniform disorder, delusional disorder, anxiety disorders, alcohol or illegal substance use disorders, organic mental disorders, obsessive-compulsive disorder, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder or autistic spectrum disorders. The mean follow-up period from index IQ to current BAC-A assessment (T2 to T3) was 6.5 years, which showed no difference between the two groups. Compared with patients without cognitive decline, those with cognitive decline

TABLE 1 | Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of BD patients with and without cognitive decline.

| | Without cognitive decline ($N = 89$) | With cognitive decline ($N = 21$) | P-value |
|--|--|-------------------------------------|---------|
| Gender Male, n (%) | 34 (38.20) | 10 (47.62) | 0.428 |
| Marriage: married or lived together, n (%) | 34 (38.20) | 4 (19.05) | 0.097 |
| Job: regular job, n (%) | 23 (25.84) | 4 (19.05) | 0.515 |
| With family psychiatry history, n (%) | 48 (53.93) | 13 (61.90) | 0.509 |
| Smoking, n (%) | 15 (17.24) | 3 (14.29) | 0.999 |
| Alcohol use habit, n (%) | 1 (1.14) | 1 (4.76) | 0.443 |
| Current physical comorbidity, n (%) | 18 (20.69) | 4 (19.05) | 0.999 |
| Seasonality, n (%) | 30 (33.71) | 6 (28.57) | 0.652 |
| Age (yr) ^a | 50.35 ± 13.49 | 43.81 ± 10.49 | 0.040* |
| Onset of age (yr) ^a | 27.86 ± 12.05 | 22.81 ± 8.48 | 0.072 |
| Education years ^a | 12.99 ± 3.16 | 12.95 ± 2.73 | 0.962 |
| Index full IQ | 93.39 ± 16.08 | 88.75 ± 19.87 | 0.460 |
| Performance IQ | 90.00 ± 18.06 | 81.83 ± 20.63 | 0.235 |
| Verbal IQ | 96.91 ± 15.45 | 97.67 ± 19.9 | 0.902 |
| Follow up duration (month) ^a | 57.39 ± 49.34 | 110.00 ± 88.45 | 0.076 |
| Duration of illness (year) | 22.44 ± 11.08 | 21.71 ± 10.03 | 0.784 |
| Total episode density ^a | 0.40 ± 0.27 | 0.51 ± 0.24 | 0.070 |
| Manic episode density ^a | 0.26 ± 0.21 | 0.40 ± 0.24 | 0.013* |
| Major depressive episode density ^a | 0.13 ± 0.15 | 0.10 ± 0.13 | 0.413 |
| Episode with psychotic features density ^a | 0.15 ± 0.16 | 0.29 ± 0.25 | 0.023* |
| Maximum of free interval (month) ^a | 91.38 ± 70.27 | 67.24 ± 49.04 | 0.140 |
| Number of suicide attempt ^a | 0.77 ± 1.60 | 0.71 ± 0.85 | 0.817 |
| Days of hospitalization ^a | 191.48 ± 195.97 | 354.38 ± 201.68 | 0.001* |
| Number of admission ^a | 5.13 ± 5.31 | 8.00 ± 5.29 | 0.028* |
| Index body mass index, BMIª | 22.53 ± 5.29 | 24.01 ± 5.21 | 0.258 |
| Current psychoactive agents (DDD) | | | |
| First-generation antipsychotics ^a | 0.06 ± 0.17 | 0.16 ± 0.48 | 0.357 |
| Second-generation antipsychotics ^a | 3.29 ± 4.48 | 6.52 ± 7.52 | 0.071 |
| Mood stabilizers ^a | 0.51 ± 0.35 | 0.73 ± 0.46 | 0.018* |
| Antidepressants ^a | 0.07 ± 0.28 | 0.00 ± 0.00 | 0.016* |
| Benzodiazepines ^a | 0.50 ± 0.75 | 0.47 ± 0.62 | 0.829 |

*p < 0.05; ^aAssessed using Wilcoxon rank sum test.

IQ, intelligence quotient; DDD, defined daily dose.

were younger, experienced more manic episodes, especially episodes with psychotic features, more number of admissions, and higher hospitalization duration. In addition, the cognitive decline group revealed using higher dose of mood stabilizer and less dose of antidepressant at time point T3 than those without cognitive decline. No significant differences were observed in variables such as physical comorbidities, duration of illness, age of onset, or index IQ measurement between the two groups.

Functional Outcomes and BAC-A in BD Patients With Cognitive Declines

No significant differences were observed in current functional outcomes assessed using WHODAS 2.0 between BD patients with or without cognitive decline. **Table 2** shows the IRT scoring of the groups; a higher score indicated more severity of subjective impairment, that is, greater disability. We noted that common functional impairments in the chronic phase of BD were observed in both groups, regardless of presence of cognitive

decline. Even for the most preserved functional domain (self-care with IRT score 14.0), patients showed impairment that was the last 30% in the population percentile when compared with norm data (39). In addition, there were no difference from HDS, YMRS and childhood trauma experience between two groups. For cognitive profiles, each patient's performance in individual tests was compared with an age- and gender-matched Taiwan norm to calculate the z-score for six traditional neurocognitive domains (36). As observed in BAC-A assessment, the cognitive decline group showed significant worsening of all six neurocognitive domains, not limited to specific domains. Moreover, APT indexes indicated the different emotional inhibitions between the groups (**Table 2**).

Risk Factors for Cognitive Decline and Decline Curve in Patients With BD

We used univariate and multivariable logistic regression to analyze the independent risk factors for cognitive decline in

| | Without | With | P-value |
|--|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|----------|
| | cognitive decline (N = 89) | cognitive decline (N = 21) | Ð |
| WHODAS2.0 Total score | 31.15 ± 18.57 | 23.90 ± 11.41 | 0.258 |
| D1 cognition | 26.54 ± 18.43 | 26.00 ± 13.7 | 0.934 |
| D2 walk ^a | 19.44 ± 27.87 | 17.60 ± 6.65 | 0.284 |
| D3 self-care ^a | 13.11 ± 17.54 | 14.00 ± 6.99 | 0.730 |
| D4 along with others | 35.19 ± 22.17 | 28.50 ± 15.81 | 0.390 |
| D5-1 housekeeping ^a | 35.26 ± 32.76 | 27.00 ± 20.58 | 0.110 |
| D5-2 job & learn ^a | 23.00 ± 29.56 | 25.25 ± 10.50 | 0.285 |
| D6 social ^a | 32.93 ± 23.41 | 25.60 ± 14.61 | 0.364 |
| HDS score ^a | 2.40 ± 1.95 | 2.81 ± 1.94 | 0.393 |
| YMRS score ^a | 2.72 ± 2.27 | 2.86 ± 2.33 | 0.803 |
| CTQ total ^a | 61.47 ± 7.80 | 64.5 ± 19.39 | 0.675 |
| BAC-A composite score ^a | -0.83 ± 1.33 | -4.51 ± 1.63 | < 0.0001 |
| Verbal memory ^a | -0.18 ± 1.37 | -2.69 ± 2.52 | 0.0002* |
| Motor speed ^a | -1.32 ± 1.19 | -3.34 ± 1.56 | < 0.0001 |
| Working memory ^a | -0.37 ± 0.98 | -1.99 ± 1.51 | < 0.0001 |
| Verbal fluency | -0.20 ± 1.10 | -1.44 ± 0.71 | < 0.0001 |
| Attention and processing speed | -0.92 ± 1.31 | -2.62 ± 0.92 | < 0.0001 |
| Executive function ^a | -0.08 ± 1.15 | -2.39 ± 2.11 | < 0.0001 |
| Affective processing tests | | | |
| AIT: total non-affective words ^a | 13.36 ± 4.45 | 10.95 ± 4.18 | 0.026* |
| AIT: total affective words | 10.7 ± 4.47 | 8.48 ± 4.49 | 0.043* |
| AIT: cued non-affective words ^a | 3.69 ± 2.01 | 3.10 ± 2.19 | 0.238 |
| AIT: cued affective words ^a | 5.38 ± 2.00 | 4.19 ± 1.47 | 0.012* |
| DR: correct non-affective words ^a | 17.85 ± 2.08 | 16.29 ± 2.90 | 0.028* |
| DR: correct affective words ^a | 16.94 ± 2.39 | 15.95 ± 3.41 | 0.219 |
| DR: non-affective false alarms ^a | 2.15 ± 2.08 | 3.71 ± 2.90 | 0.028* |
| DR: affective false alarms ^a | 3.06 ± 2.39 | 4.05 ± 3.41 | 0.219 |
| EII (emotion inhibition index) | -79.38 ± 23.28 | -66.62 ± 23.51 | 0.026* |

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 2}}\xspace$ | Mood status, functional assessment and cognitive profiles at follow-up in BD patients with and without cognitive decline.

*p < 0.05; ^aAssessed using Wilcoxon rank sum test.

HDS, Hamilton depression scale; YMRS, Young mania rating scale; CTQ, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; AIT, affective interference test; DR, delayed recognition; EIT, emotion inhibition test.

BD, and results are displayed in **Table 3**. Because the extreme low dose of antidepressants used among BD patients (mean DDD was 0.00 in cognitive decline group and 0.07 in without cognitive decline group), we were not able to assess the effects of antidepressants DDD on cognitive decline in regression models. In multivariable logistic regression models controlling for age and gender, we found that density of episodes with psychotic features during the disease course (odds ratio [OR] 25.21, 95% CI 2.15–259.61, p = 0.010) and DDD of mood stabilizers (OR 3.86, 95% CI 1.03–14.89, p = 0.049) were independent risk factors for cognitive decline.

Figure 1 depicts a steeper decline in BAC-A composite score in patients with cognitive decline compared with those without cognitive decline. In addition, MARS yielded a hinge point at the age of 42 years for the cognitive decline group, and their BAC-A composite score steeply worsened by 0.276 SD per year after this age.

Correlation Between Cognitive and Functional Domains

Figure 2 demonstrated correlations between cognitive and subjective functional domains in patients with (Figure 2A) and without cognitive decline (Figure 2B). We evaluated whether there was the same trend of correlations for both groups of BD, where better cognitive scores were correlated to lower subjective dysfunction. We found that in the group without cognitive decline, no significant correlation was found between functional and cognitive domains after adjusted for age. In contrast, the cognitive decline group showed strong links between various cognitive domains and daily functions (r ranging from 0.64 to 0.76). For example, the range of impaired functions, such as self-care and getting along with other people were negatively correlated with verbal fluency. Working memory and composite score of cognition also have negative correlation with subjective social and housekeeping function, respectively. We tested differences for the aforementioned four pairs of correlation coefficients between the two groups using Z test, and the correlation differences reached significance (P < 0.05). In this part, the different correlation patterns of the two groups suggested the heterogeneous effects on daily function by their longitudinal cognitive profiles.

DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this retrospective cohort study is the first to provide a comprehensive picture of BD patients with cognitive decline through long-term follow-up, and the results suggested the existence of subgroups with different cognitive trajectories. We classified our patients into two groups according to presence or absence of longitudinal cognitive decline and correlated cognitive profiles to their daily dysfunctions. We revealed that more number of episodes with psychotic features and current high DDD of mood stabilizers were risk factors to be associated with cognitive decline. Furthermore, we demonstrated a hinge point at the age of 42 years with steeper decline of cognition in the cognitive decline group.

In our study, the picture of BD patients with longitudinal cognitive decline shows wide-range of domains of impairment, rather than on only some specific cognitive domains, which is consistent with most previous cross-sectional studies (44). Moreover, the magnitude and proportion of cognitive dysfunction reported in previous cross-sectional studies, which used BAC-A to assess cognitive function in BD, is similar to that obtained by combining the three subgroups in the present study (35, 45). Therefore, our findings, showing longitudinal changes of BD are robust as suggested by those of previous cross-sectional literature. More specifically, our findings of longitudinal cognitive heterogeneity in a small subset of patients with BD are important and can partially explain the diverse and inconsistent findings for clinical characteristics and risk factor identification in the literature. In our study, the longitudinal cognitive decline group comprised around 16.4% of our sample, and this group may be established as a specific subtype of BD. Such longitudinal cognitive profiles can potentially facilitate

TABLE 3 | Risk factors for cognitive decline in BD using univariate and multiple logistic regression analyses.

| | | Univariate | | | Multivariable | |
|---|-------|---------------|-----------------|-------|---------------|-----------------|
| | OR | (95% CI) | p -value | OR | (95% CI) | <i>p</i> -value |
| Age | | | | | | |
| ≧40 | 1.00 | | | 1.00 | | |
| >40 | 0.55 | (0.20-1.46) | 0.231 | 0.68 | (0.23-1.98) | 0.457 |
| Gender | | | | | | |
| Female | 1.00 | | | 1.00 | | |
| Male | 1.47 | (0.57–3.83) | 0.430 | 0.99 | (0.34–2.97) | 0.996 |
| Manic episode density | 10.02 | (1.35–74.57) | 0.024* | | | |
| Episode with psychotic features density | 26.90 | (2.44-297.13) | 0.007* | 25.21 | (2.15-259.61) | 0.010* |
| DDD of Mood stabilizers | 4.24 | (1.23–14.67) | 0.022* | 3.864 | (1.03-14.89) | 0.049* |

*p < 0.05.

Multivariable regression using stepwise selection for age, gender, manic episode density, psychotic episode density and DDD (defined daily dose) of mood stabilizers. By the selection, final model including age, gender, episode with psychotic features density and DDD of mood stabilizers.

Α BD patients with cognitive decline WHO DAS total D1 Cognition D2 Walk D3 Self-care D4 Along with D5-1 Housekeeping D5-2 Job & Learn D6 Social 0.12 -0.71* 0.09 0.41 **BAC-A composite score** 0.15 -0.170.14 -0.12Verbal memory 0.20 0.07 0.29 -0.23 0.24 0.26 -0.49 0.52 -0.06 Motor speed -0.06 0.34 -0.41 -0.52 -0.15 -0.65 0 19 Working memory 0.51 0.20 0.29 0.30 0.38 -0.29 0.71 -0.76* 0.45 -0.01 -0.30 -0.64* -0.64* -0.06 0.91 0.42 Verbal fluency -0.28 -0.27 Attention and processing speed -0.13 0.21 0.16 -0.14 -0.16 -0.06 **Executive function** -0.49 -0.73* 0.13 -0.54 -0.62 -0.38 -0.48 -0.03

B BD patients without cognitive decline

| | WHO DAS total | D1 Cognition | D2 Walk | D3 Self-care | D4 Along with | D5-1 Housekeeping | D5-2 Job & Learn | D6 Social |
|--------------------------------|---------------|---------------------|---------|--------------|---------------|-------------------|------------------|-----------|
| BAC -A composite score | -0.02 | -0.09 | -0.06 | -0.06 | -0.07 | -0.01 | -0.37 | 0.17 |
| Verbal memory | 0.01 | -0.01 | -0.14 | -0.06 | 0.02 | 0.01 | -0.44 | 0.24 |
| Motor speed | 0.27 | 0.22 | 0.36 | 0.34 | 0.01 | 0.32 | 0.23 | 0.29 |
| Working memory | -0.17 | -0.43* | -0.04 | -0.14 | -0.27 | -0.09 | -0.50 | 0.05 |
| Verbal fluency | -0.06 | -0.05 | -0.18 | -0.13 | 0.03 | -0.08 | 0.22 | 0.21 |
| Attention and processing speed | 0.00 | -0.03 | -0.02 | 0.01 | -0.05 | 0.01 | -0.26 | 0.11 |
| Executive function | -0.01 | -0.17 | -0.19 | -0.27 | 0.02 | -0.04 | 0.18 | 0.17 |

FIGURE 2 | Pearson correlations between cognitive and functional domains in BD. *p < 0.05; Gray base indicating the significance after adjusting the effect of age.

further genetic and biological studies and help clinicians develop more effective and personalized intervention strategies (46, 47). As we had suggested, the heterogeneity of the cognitive trajectory conformed to the progress of illness in clinical manifestation staging models including cognitive deterioration (48). Our findings revealed that cognitive decline varies from one patient to another, with decline in certain patients while others remain stable. Conversely, we may say that some patients maintained relatively stable cognitive function might be cognitive reserve, which reflects the partial capacity of the brain to endure neuropathology and minimize clinical cognitive deficits (49). Our findings also suggested the paradigms of cognitive

impairment in BD as persistently stable or progressive are not exclusive or this may partially overlap (50). The verification of heterogeneity of longitudinal cognitive change in small part of BD samples further comprehend the different faces of cognition in this disorder.

The risk factors identified for cognitive decline in BD suggest the converging evidence that patients with BD show cognitive impairment related to the clinical course. However, most previous studies have not considered potential longitudinal heterogeneity and have thus compared all BD patients together, leading to masking risk factors findings in subgroups of cognitive change over time in BD (51–54). Recently, a cohort study that

assessed longitudinal cognitive changes in BD showed that a higher number of manic episodes is associated with a decrease in global cognition as well as working memory and visual memory (51). Our findings were consistent with this study and further implied the association of cognitive impairment with episodes with psychotic features (55, 56). Another risk factor noted in this study is the dose of mood stabilizer used at the BAC-A assessment. It is clear that higher dose of lithium or anticonvulsants has varying effects on cognitive function (57, 58); however, we cannot conclude the causal effect of dose of mood stabilizer to the risk of cognitive decline from this findings, as the dose recorded at T3 of the study and there may exist some confounding by indications with the patients presence of more manic episodes and cognitive deficits at the same time.

Although our findings implied the associations between episodes with psychotic features and cognitive decline in patients with BD, very little is known about the underlying mechanism why some patients with BD develop significant cognitive decline while others remain cognitively intact. There may exist unmeasurable confounding factors in this cohort. The association of psychotic features with cognitive decline in BD was corroborated by studies from psychosis populations who have been found to exhibit smaller total brain volume (59) and reduced functional connectivity in frontoparietal control network (60). In addition, meta-analyses pooling inconsistent results from each individual study revealed findings of reduced white matter integrity and volume in BD (61, 62). We need large sample size in future studies to tackle the heterogeneity issue for cognitive impairment. In addition, we recommend that further genetic risk or biomarker studies should be conducted in this subgroup of patients. Therefore, the precise intervention can apply earlier in this subgroup, such as active relapse prevention or cognitive remediation. Moreover, the subgroup of BD patients with cognitive decline showed steeper changes after the age of 42 years compared with those without cognitive decline. The hinge point of age 42 in cognitive decline group is on average 20 years after the disease onset, implying that long-term followup is needed for detecting substantial cognitive change. On the other hand, there is time to design and implement intervention strategies to alleviate potential cognitive decline. Our results are consistent with the findings that there was accelerated aging in executive functions in BD (63), therefore, we suggested that clinicians should pay attention to patients' cognitive function in their early middle age.

Psychosocial function is a person's ability to perform activities of daily living and to be involved in meaningful interpersonal relationships. As per our results, patients with BD have difficulties in several areas of function during their remitted status. These results are consistent with those of other studies demonstrating that most patients with BD have functional difficulties assessed by Functioning Assessment Short Test (FAST) (64–66) and WHODAS 2.0 (67). However, our findings suggested no difference of functional outcomes in patients with and without cognitive decline assessed by WHODAS 2.0. There may be possible floor effect of this subjective assessment for this population, as both groups exhibit poor functional scores. Thus, we are not able to detect meaningful differences

between the two subgroups with relatively small samples. We used the WHODAS 2.0 for evaluating our patients, rather than disease-specific questionnaires, such as FAST, because the former disability assessment is more informative by comparing with general norm or other diseases. Further results from the partial correlation analysis between cognitive and functional domains, controlling for age, indicated that the cognitive profile was still correlated with some functional domains mainly in the group of BD patients with cognitive decline. These results are in line with those of cross-sectional studies showing that the cognitionfunction relationship may be weaker among patients without cognitive deficits than among those with cognitive impairment (68). The distinct correlation results among patients with BD also responded to those of a previous study conducted by Sole et al. They suggested the more robust correlation between the poor function group of BD to their cognitive function and smaller correlations in less functional impaired BD (69).

Several limitations should be considered of this study. First, our study sample was recruited from a tertiary psychiatry hospital where patients have more severe degree of illnesses. This potentially biased sample may limit the generalizability of our findings to the whole BD population, especially the proportion with cognitive decline. Moreover, we cannot exclude the possibilities of recall bias in reporting clinical related information, such as lifetime psychiatric comorbidities. Nevertheless, we had checked medical charts to verify records in comorbidities and medication to minimize such bias. Second, without a healthy control group, cognitive decline in patients should be viewed as evidence of relative cognitive decline. Third, as mention before, we used different measurements for three time-points of cognitive assessment. Despite of this limitation, all of the raw scores have been transformed into standardized Z scores according to Taiwan's norm data. Forth, despite the correlation patterns between functional and cognitive domains showed significant differences between the two subgroups (Figure 2), such differences required further validation, as well as to minimize potential confounding effects from other variables. Furthermore, the restricted sample size limited the power to examine interaction effects among potential variables, such as interaction of disease course and medications. Fifth, WHODAS 2.0 is an interviewer-administered tool assessing subjective disability; a combination of WHODAS 2.0 administered from caregivers or other objective measures may provide a more comprehensive and accurate outcome picture for BD patients with and without cognitive decline. Sixth, we have no data about inter-rater reliability in relation for measuring IQ and function. Finally, the dichotomous categorized definition about cognitive decline (difference more than 2SD) in our study is arbitrary. However, the potential of misclassification is non-differential and bias the odds ratio toward the null, which suggested the robustness of our findings. In the current study, we adjusted the medication effect only at time point of T3, the full picture of medication usage during the disease course cannot be easily captured. In addition, due to the extreme low dose of antidepressants used in our samples, we're not able to evaluate the effect of antidepressants use on cognition decline. Further detailed data

collection in larger samples and advanced methodology might be helpful to overcome these issues. On the other hand, with a retrospective cohort design, we have the strength to confirm the diagnosis as bipolar disorder through the disease course. Future prospective studies should be cautious about including patients that may change diagnosis from BD to schizoaffective disorder or schizophrenia during follow-up period. Further investigations in the field are necessary for uncovering the underlying mechanisms linking risk factors, cognitive decline, and functional outcomes.

In conclusion, our results specify and characterize cognitive heterogeneity in BD longitudinally, which may facilitate further genetic and biological studies to define more valid BD subtypes to reveal the underlying mechanisms. We identified risk factors for cognitive decline and therefore suggested aggressive relapse prevention. The heterogeneity of cognitive decline in BD should be considered, thus individualized intervention for patients with BD could be applied in the future.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The Research Ethics Committee of Taipei City Hospital approved our study (TCHIRB-1-703103). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

REFERENCES

- Goldberg JF, Harrow M, Grossman LS. Course and outcome in bipolar affective disorder: a longitudinal follow-up study. Am. J. Psychiatry. (1995) 152:379–84. doi: 10.1176/ajp.152.3.379
- Bora E, Pantelis C. Meta-analysis of cognitive impairment in first-episode bipolar disorder: comparison with first-episode schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (2015) 41:1095–104. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbu198
- Robinson LJ, Ferrier IN. Evolution of cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder: a systematic review of cross-sectional evidence. *Bipolar Disord*. (2006) 8:103–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2006.00277.x
- Bourne C, Aydemir O, Balanza-Martinez V, Bora E, Brissos S, Cavanagh JT, et al. Neuropsychological testing of cognitive impairment in euthymic bipolar disorder: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2013) 128:149–62. doi: 10.1111/acps.12133
- Atre-Vaidya N, Taylor MA, Seidenberg M, Reed R, Perrine A, Glick-Oberwise F. Cognitive deficits, psychopathology, and psychosocial functioning in bipolar mood disorder. *Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol.* (1998) 11:120-6.
- Duarte W, Becerra R, Cruise K. The relationship between neurocognitive functioning and occupational functioning in bipolar disorder: a literature review. *Europe's J Psychol.* (2016) 12:659–78. doi: 10.5964/ejop.v12i4.909
- Cipriani G, Danti S, Carlesi C, Cammisuli DM, Di Fiorino M. Bipolar disorder and cognitive dysfunction: a complex link. *J Nerv Mental Dis.* (2017) 205:743–56. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000720

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

W-YC performed conceptualization, funding acquisition, project administration, and writing the original draft. M-CH, S-KL, H-CL, P-YC, and CC performed investigation and resources. Y-CL, S-HW, and C-EC done software analysis and data curation. C-JK performed the suggestion for investigation, resources, and data curation. P-HK was major for supervision, methodology, and reviewing the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST 107-2314-B-532-001; 105-2628-B-002-028-MY3) and National Health Research Institutes (NHRI-EX106-10627NI). The funders played no role in the study design, collection, analysis or interpretation of the data, writing the manuscript, or the decision to submit the paper for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Center for Public Health, Department of Education and Research, Taipei City Hospital, Taiwan, for their valuable contributions in data management and statistical analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.684813/full#supplementary-material

- Cardoso T, Bauer IE, Meyer TD, Kapczinski F, Soares JC. Neuroprogression and cognitive functioning in bipolar disorder: a systematic review. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2015) 17:75. doi: 10.1007/s11920-015-0605-x
- Berk M, Kapczinski F, Andreazza AC, Dean OM, Giorlando F, Maes M, et al. Pathways underlying neuroprogression in bipolar disorder: focus on inflammation, oxidative stress and neurotrophic factors. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2011) 35:804–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.10.001
- Hunt GE, Malhi GS, Cleary M, Lai HM, Sitharthan T. Comorbidity of bipolar and substance use disorders in national surveys of general populations, 1990-2015: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2016) 206:321– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.06.051
- Rise IV, Haro JM, Gjervan B. Clinical features, comorbidity, and cognitive impairment in elderly bipolar patients. *Neuropsychiat Dis Treatment*. (2016) 12:1203–13. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S100843
- Ranlund S, Calafato S, Thygesen JH, Lin K, Cahn W, Crespo-Facorro B, et al. A polygenic risk score analysis of psychosis endophenotypes across brain functional, structural, and cognitive domains. *Am J Med Genet Part B Neuropsychiatr Genet.* (2018) 177:21–34. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.32581
- Bora E. Developmental trajectory of cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder: comparison with schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2015) 25:158– 68. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.09.007
- Samame C, Martino DJ, Strejilevich SA. Longitudinal course of cognitive deficits in bipolar disorder: a meta-analytic study. J Affect Disord. (2014) 164:130–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.04.028
- 15. Mur M, Portella MJ, Martinez-Aran A, Pifarre J, Vieta E. Long-term stability of cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder: a 2-year follow-up study of

lithium-treated euthymic bipolar patients. J Clin Psychiatry. (2008) 69:712–9. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v69n0504

- Gildengers AG, Chisholm D, Butters MA, Anderson SJ, Begley A, Holm M, et al. Two-year course of cognitive function and instrumental activities of daily living in older adults with bipolar disorder: evidence for neuroprogression? *Psychol Med.* (2013) 43:801–11. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712001614
- Gildengers AG, Mulsant BH, Begley A, Mazumdar S, Hyams AV, Reynolds Iii CF, et al. The longitudinal course of cognition in older adults with bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord.* (2009) 11:744–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00739.x
- Moorhead TW, McKirdy J, Sussmann JE, Hall J, Lawrie SM, Johnstone EC, et al. Progressive gray matter loss in patients with bipolar disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2007) 62:894–900. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.03.005
- Diniz BS, Teixeira AL, Cao F, Gildengers A, Soares JC, Butters MA, et al. History of bipolar disorder and the risk of dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2017) 25:357– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2016.11.014
- Szmulewicz A, Valerio MP, Martino DJ. Longitudinal analysis of cognitive performances in recent-onset and late-life bipolar disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bipolar Disord.* (2020) 22:28–37. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12841
- Bora E, Özerdem A. Meta-analysis of longitudinal studies of cognition in bipolar disorder: comparison with healthy controls and schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:2753–66. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717001490
- Torrent C, Martinez-Aran A, del Mar Bonnin C, Reinares M, Daban C, Sole B, et al. Long-term outcome of cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder. J Clin Psychiatry. (2012) 73:e899–905. doi: 10.4088/JCP.11m07471
- Martino DJ, Strejilevich SA, Scapola M, Igoa A, Marengo E, Ais ED, et al. Heterogeneity in cognitive functioning among patients with bipolar disorder. *J Affect Disord*. (2008) 109:149–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2007.12.232
- 24. Bora E, Hidiroglu C, Ozerdem A, Kacar OF, Sarisoy G, Civil Arslan F, et al. Executive dysfunction and cognitive subgroups in a large sample of euthymic patients with bipolar disorder. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2016) 26:1338–47. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2016.04.002
- Volkert J, Schiele MA, Kazmaier J, Glaser F, Zierhut KC, Kopf J, et al. Cognitive deficits in bipolar disorder: from acute episode to remission. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2016) 266:225–37. doi: 10.1007/s00406-015-0657-2
- Huang SY, Lin WW, Ko HC, Lee JF, Wang TJ, Chou YH, et al. Possible interaction of alcohol dehydrogenase and aldehyde dehydrogenase genes with the dopamine D2 receptor gene in anxietydepressive alcohol dependence. *Alcohol Clin Experi Res.* (2004) 28:374–84. doi: 10.1097/01.ALC.0000117832.62901.61
- Zimmerman M, Martinez JH, Young D, Chelminski I, Dalrymple K. Severity classification on the hamilton depression rating scale. J Affect Disord. (2013) 150:384–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.04.028
- Sussman N, Mullen J, Paulsson B, Vågerö M. Rates of remission/euthymia with quetiapine in combination with lithium/divalproex for the treatment of acute mania. J Affect Disord. (2007) 100(Suppl. 1):S55–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2007.02.008
- Cheng YC, Chen CH, Chou KR, Kuo PH, Huang MC. Reliability and factor structure of the Chinese version of childhood trauma questionnaire-short form in patients with substance use disorder. *Taiwan J Psychiatry*. (2018) 32:52–62.
- (WHOCC) WCCfDSM. DDD Definition and General Considerations. (2020). Available online at: https://www.whocc.no/atc_ddd_index/ (accessed February 7, 2018).
- 31. Methodology WCCfDS. ATC/DDD Index.
- 32. Gray Groth-Marnat AJW. Handbook of Psychological Assessment, 6 th ed. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc (2016).
- Chen H, Hua M, Zhu J, Chen, Y. Selection of factor-based WAIS-III tetrads in the Taiwan standardization sample: A guild to clinical practice. *Chin J Psychol.* (2008) 50:91–109. doi: 10.6129/CJP.2008.5001.06
- 34. Cholet J, Sauvaget A, Vanelle JM, Hommet C, Mondon K, Mamet JP, et al. Using the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS) to assess cognitive impairment in older patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord.* (2014) 16:326–36. doi: 10.1111/bdi. 12171
- 35. Bauer IE, Keefe RS, Sanches M, Suchting R, Green CE, Soares JC. Evaluation of cognitive function in bipolar disorder using the Brief Assessment of

Cognition in Affective Disorders (BAC-A). J Psychiatric Res. (2015) 60:81-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.10.002

- Wang LJ, Huang YC, Hung CF, Chen CK, Chen YC, Lee PY, et al. The Chinese version of the brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: data of a large-scale mandarin-speaking population. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* (2017) 32:289–96. doi: 10.1093/arclin/acw100
- Chen RA, Lee CY, Lee Y, Hung CF, Huang YC, Lin PY, et al. Defining cognitive profiles of depressive patients using the brief assessment of cognition in affective disorders. *PeerJ.* (2019) 7:e7432. doi: 10.7717/peerj.7432
- Lee CY, Wang LJ, Lee Y, Hung CF, Huang YC, Lee MI, et al. Differentiating bipolar disorders from unipolar depression by applying the brief assessment of cognition in affective disorders. *Psychol Med.* (2018) 48:929–38. doi: 10.1017/S003329171700229X
- Ustun TB, Kostanjesek N, Chatterji S, Rehm J, World Health O. Measuring Health and Disability: Manual for WHO Disability Assessment Schedule (WHODAS 2.0). Geneva: World Health Organization (2010).
- Chen H, Hua M-S. Selecting tetradic short forms of the taiwan wechsler adult intelligence scale IV. Assessment. (2020) 27:1633–44. doi: 10.1177/1073191119831787
- Vanegas J, Vasquez F. [Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines (MARS), an alternative for the analysis of time series]. *Gaceta Sanitaria*. (2017) 31:235– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.gaceta.2016.10.003
- Friedman JH. Multivariate adaptive regression splines. Ann Statist. (1991) 19:1–67. doi: 10.1214/aos/1176347973
- 43. Milborrow S, Derived from mda: mars by T. Hastie and R. Tibshirani. *Earth: Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines*. R package (2011).
- 44. Van Rheenen TE, Lewandowski KE, Bauer IE, Kapczinski F, Miskowiak K, Burdick KE, et al. Current understandings of the trajectory and emerging correlates of cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder: An overview of evidence. *Bipolar Disord*. (2020) 22:13–27. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12821
- 45. Terachi S, Yamada T, Pu S, Yokoyama K, Matsumura H, Kaneko K. Comparison of neurocognitive function in major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia in later life: A cross-sectional study of euthymic or remitted, non-demented patients using the Japanese version of the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS-J). *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 254:205–10. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.04.058
- Solé B, Jiménez E, Torrent C, Reinares M, Bonnin CDM, Torres I, et al. Cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder: treatment and prevention strategies. *Int J Neuropsychopharmaco*. (2017) 20:670–80. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyx032
- Miskowiak KW, Lewandowski KE. Trajectory of cognitive functions in bipolar disorder: for better or worse? *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2020) 141:95– 7. doi: 10.1111/acps.13144
- de la Fuente-Tomas L, Sierra P, Sanchez-Autet M, Arranz B, Garcia-Blanco A, Safont G, et al. A clinical staging model for bipolar disorder: longitudinal approach. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2020) 10:45. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0718-9
- Kohler S, Marlinge E. Cognitive aging of bipolar patients. Geriatrie Psychol Neuropsychiat Vieillissement. (2019) 17:179–88. doi: 10.1684/pnv.2019.0800
- Allott K, Van Rheenen TE. The complexities of understanding cognitive trajectory in bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord.* (2020) 22:534–5. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12907
- Sanchez-Morla EM, Lopez-Villarreal A, Jimenez-Lopez E, Aparicio AI, Martinez-Vizcaino V, Roberto RJ, et al. Impact of number of episodes on neurocognitive trajectory in bipolar disorder patients: a 5-year follow-up study. *Psychol Med.* (2019) 49:1299–307. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718001885
- Santos JL, Aparicio A, Bagney A, Sanchez-Morla EM, Rodriguez-Jimenez R, Mateo J, et al. A five-year follow-up study of neurocognitive functioning in bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord*. (2014) 16:722–31. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12215
- Ryan KA, Assari S, Pester BD, Hinrichs K, Angers K, Baker A, et al. Similar trajectory of executive functioning performance over 5 years among individuals with bipolar disorder and unaffected controls using latent growth modeling. J Affect Disord. (2016) 199:87–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.04.016
- Schouws SN, Comijs HC, Dols A, Beekman AT, Stek ML. Five-year follow-up of cognitive impairment in older adults with bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord*. (2016) 18:148–54. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12374
- Suwalska A, Borkowska A, Rybakowski J. [Cognitive deficits in the bipolar affective disorder]. *Psychiatria Polska*. (2001) 35:657–68.
- 56. Bora E, Vahip S, Akdeniz F, Gonul AS, Eryavuz A, Ogut M, et al. The effect of previous psychotic mood episodes on cognitive

impairment in euthymic bipolar patients. *Bipolar Disord.* (2007) 9:468-77. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007.00469.x

- Paterson A, Parker G. Lithium and cognition in those with bipolar disorder. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol.* (2017) 32:57– 62. doi: 10.1097/YIC.00000000000152
- Macqueen G, Young T. Cognitive effects of atypical antipsychotics: focus on bipolar spectrum disorders. *Bipolar Disord.* (2003) 5(Suppl. 2):53– 61. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-2406.2003.00059.x
- Woodward ND, Heckers S. Brain structure in neuropsychologically defined subgroups of schizophrenia and psychotic bipolar disorder. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:1349–59. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv048
- Lewandowski KE, McCarthy JM, Öngür D, Norris LA, Liu GZ, Juelich RJ, et al. Functional connectivity in distinct cognitive subtypes in psychosis. *Schizoph Res.* (2019) 204:120–6. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.08.013
- Wise T, Radua J, Nortje G, Cleare AJ, Young AH, Arnone D. Voxel-based meta-analytical evidence of structural disconnectivity in major depression and bipolar disorder. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2016) 79:293–302. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.03.004
- Pezzoli S, Emsell L, Yip SW, Dima D, Giannakopoulos P, Zarei M, et al. Meta-analysis of regional white matter volume in bipolar disorder with replication in an independent sample using coordinates, T-maps, and individual MRI data. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 84:162–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.11.005
- Seelye A, Thuras P, Doane B, Clason C, VanVoorst W, Urosevic S. Steeper aging-related declines in cognitive control processes among adults with bipolar disorders. J Affect Disord. (2019) 246:595–602. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.076
- Comes M, Rosa A, Reinares M, Torrent C, Vieta E. Functional impairment in older adults with bipolar disorder. J Nerv Mental Dis. (2017) 205:443– 7. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0000000000683

- Rosa AR, Reinares M, Franco C, Comes M, Torrent C, Sanchez-Moreno J, et al. Clinical predictors of functional outcome of bipolar patients in remission. *Bipolar Disord.* (2009) 11:401–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00698.x
- Samalin L, de Chazeron I, Vieta E, Bellivier F, Llorca PM. Residual symptoms and specific functional impairments in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord.* (2016) 18:164–73. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12376
- Guilera G, Gómez-Benito J, Pino Ó, Rojo E, Vieta E, Cuesta MJ, et al. Disability in bipolar I disorder: the 36-item World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule 2.0. J Affect Disord. (2015) 174:353– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.12.028
- Moore RC, Harmell AL, Harvey PD, Bowie CR, Depp CA, Pulver AE, et al. Improving the understanding of the link between cognition and functional capacity in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Schizophrenia Res.* (2015) 169:121–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.09.017
- Sole B, Bonnin CM, Jimenez E, Torrent C, Torres I, Varo C, et al. Heterogeneity of functional outcomes in patients with bipolar disorder: a cluster-analytic approach. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2018) 137:516–27. doi: 10.1111/acps.12871

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Chen, Huang, Lee, Chang, Lin, Chiu, Liu, Kuo, Weng, Chen and Kuo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Gut Microbiome: A Potential Indicator for Differential Diagnosis of Major Depressive Disorder and General Anxiety Disorder

Zaiquan Dong, Xiaoling Shen, Yanni Hao, Jin Li, Haoran Li, Haizheng Xu, Li Yin and Weihong Kuang*

Mental Health Center of West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrés Herane-Vives, University College London, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Kiran Veer Sandhu, University College Cork, Ireland Danilo Arnone, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

> *Correspondence: Weihong Kuang kwhhlj@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 10 January 2021 Accepted: 19 August 2021 Published: 13 September 2021

Citation:

Dong Z, Shen X, Hao Y, Li J, Li H, Xu H, Yin L and Kuang W (2021) Gut Microbiome: A Potential Indicator for Differential Diagnosis of Major Depressive Disorder and General Anxiety Disorder. Front. Psychiatry 12:651536. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.651536 **Background:** Major depressive disorder (MDD) and general anxiety disorder (GAD) share many common features, leading to numerous challenges in their differential diagnosis. Given the importance of the microbiota–gut–brain axis, we investigated the differences in gut microbiota between representative cases of these two diseases and sought to develop a microbiome-based approach for their differential diagnosis.

Methods: We enrolled 23 patients with MDD, 21 with GAD, and 10 healthy subjects (healthy crowd, HC) in the present study. We used 16S rRNA gene-sequencing analysis to determine the microbial compositions of the gut microbiome based on Illumina Miseq and according to the standard protocol.

Results: GAD showed a significant difference in microbiota richness and diversity as compared with HC. Additionally, Otu24167, Otu19140, and Otu19751 were significantly decreased in MDD relative to HC, and Otu2581 and Otu10585 were significantly increased in GAD relative to MDD. At the genus level, the abundances of *Sutterella* and *Fusicatenibacter* were significantly lower in MDD relative to HC, and the abundances of *Fusicatenibacter* and *Christensenellaceae*_R7_group were significantly lower in GAD than in HC. The abundance of *Sutterella* was significantly higher whereas that of *Faecalibacterium* was significantly lower in GAD relative to MDD. Moreover, we observed that *Christensenellaceae*_R7_group negatively correlated with the factor score (Limited to Hopelessness) and total score of HAMD-24 (p < 0.05), whereas *Fusicatenibacter* negatively correlated with FT4 (p < 0.05). Furthermore, the GAD group showed significant differences at the genus level for *Faecalibacterium*, which negatively correlated with PTC (p < 0.05).

Conclusions: This study elucidated a unique gut-microbiome signature associated with MDD and GAD that could facilitate differential diagnosis and targeted therapy.

Keywords: gut microbiome, anxiety, depression, 16S ribosomal RNA, differential diagnosis

INTRODUCTION

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is characterized by deep sadness, reduced energy, vegetative nervous system dysregulation, cognitive dysfunction, and even a high suicidal tendency (1). Generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) is characterized by extreme anxiety about issues, such as security, money, and health, and accompanied by restlessness and autonomic dysfunction (2). Anxiety and depression are two common disorders that show high comorbidity (3-5). Although they share several causal and descriptive features, there are some associated differences in their clinical features and etiological factors (6). The separation of anxiety and depression disorders is extremely important for the elucidation of the underlying disease mechanisms and development of specific pharmacological and psychological treatments. Although many studies have distinguished anxiety and depression from the perspective of symptomatology and psychological, social, and physiological etiology (7-10), there remains no convincing evidence of their distinction. To further elucidate the substantial but incomplete overlap between these disorders, this study sought to determine whether patients with clinical diagnoses of MDD and GAD can be differentiated based on gut-microbiota features.

The studies conducted in recent decades indicate that gut microbiota play a crucial role in modulating brain function and human behavior (11). Furthermore, differences in gut microbiota have been identified in various psychiatric diseases, including depression, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia (12, 13), as well as several animal models of psychiatric diseases (14-16). There is evidence for altered microbiota composition in depressed individuals (17-19), with levels of Faecalibacterium negatively correlating with symptom severity (20) and suggesting that the clinical phenotype of mental illness might be affected by gut microbiota. Additionally, studies show that probiotic administration of Bifidobacterium longum and Lactobacillus helveticus can decrease anxiety (21-23). Moreover, Chen et al. and Jiang et al. found several consistent taxonomic differences, including higher abundances of Enterobacterales, Bacteroidaceae, Escherichia/Shigella, Bacteroides, and Tyzerella and lower abundances of Firmicutes, Mollicutes, Prevotellaceae, Ruminococcaceae, Subdoligranulum, Coprococcus, and Dialister between participants with GAD and controls (24, 25).

In general, recent studies independently investigated the characteristics of gut flora in depression and anxiety patients but did not conduct a comparative analysis. In fact, few studies have explored the use of gut flora as a marker for disease diagnosis. For example, recent studies suggest that changes in intestinal microflora might be used as a biomarker for depression diagnosis and monitoring (26, 27). Zheng et al. recently identified distinct gut-microbial compositions in MDD as compared with bipolar disorder and provided a novel marker panel to distinguish MDD from bipolar disorder based on gut-microbiome signatures (28). To the best of our knowledge, there is currently no information concerning differences in intestinal flora as a biological marker identifying anxiety and depression.

Emerging evidence points to a bidirectional communication between the neuroendocrine system and gut microbiota (29).

Gut microbiota can modulate central processes via endocrine pathways within the microbiota-gut-brain axis (30, 31). Sudo et al. found that elevations in plasma adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) and corticosterone levels in response to stress were substantially higher in germ-free mice than in specific pathogen-free mice (32). Additionally, recent studies report that germ-free mice, which are devoid of any bacterial contamination, show reduced depression-like behaviors along with changes in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis as compared with specific pathogen-free mice (33, 34). On the other hand, numerous studies have verified the relationship between the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) or HPA systems and the onset of depression and anxiety (32, 35). For example, Brownlie et al. proposed that a dynamic decrease in thyroid hormone levels, particularly FT3 and FT4 (36), could be related to depression. Moreover, increased activation of the HPA axis has been repeatedly observed in depressed patients, especially in the melancholic subtype (37). In most studies, these two relationships [between depression/anxiety and gut microbiota and between neuroendocrine (HPA/HPT) and gut microbiota] have been studied independently. However, whether the gut microbiota can affect the neuroendocrine system and lead to mental illnesses, including anxiety and depression, remains unclear.

In this study, we compared the differences in the intestinal flora of patients with anxiety diagnosis to those with depression diagnosis in order to determine whether intestinal flora can help distinguish between the two groups. To achieve this, we examined MDD and GAD patients without obvious anxiety and/or depressive symptoms, respectively, and used 16S rRNA gene-sequence analysis to help distinguish differences in their intestinal flora. Additionally, we analyzed the effects of different bacteria on clinical symptoms and the neuroendocrine system in order to further explore their function in these conditions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Patients with MDD and GAD and normal control subjects participated in this study. Both MDD and GAD patients included a series of outpatients who received treatment at the West China Hospital from January to June 2019. All samples were from Chengdu, Sichuan, China, a relatively geographically closed area harboring residents with similar eating habits. The patients were diagnosed according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) (38) at the first clinical examination, with diagnoses were confirmed by two psychiatrists (39). Patients <18 or >45 years of age and with organic etiology for their psychiatric symptoms, psychotic features, or intellectual disability were excluded. Patients included in the study were either newly diagnosed with depression or had not used psychotropic drugs for at least 6 months. The normal control subjects included 10 worker volunteers (aged 18-45 years) without current or past major psychiatric disorders. Subjects with the following conditions were also excluded: a lifetime history of bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, schizoaffective, or other psychiatric disorders; hypertension; cardiovascular disease; diabetes mellitus; obesity; liver cirrhosis; fatty liver disease; irritable bowel syndrome; inflammatory bowel disease; drug or alcohol abuse in the previous year; use of antibiotics, probiotics, prebiotics, or synbiotics in the 6 months before fecal sample collection; known active bacterial, fungal, or viral infections; and obvious dietary preferences (e.g., vegetarians). All patients completed the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD-24) and the Hamilton Anxiety Scale (HAMA) to obtain a clinical rating of the severity of depression and anxiety (40, 41). Both scales were independently administered by two psychiatrists that were blinded to the clinical status of the participants and had attended a training session on how to administer the tests before the start of the study. To minimize the impact of accompanying symptoms, we also excluded GAD patients with HAMD-24 \geq 20 and MDD patients with 14-item HAMA \geq 14.

All procedures contributing to this work comply with the ethical standards of national and institutional committees on human experimentation and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008. All procedures involving human subjects and patients were approved by the Ethics Committee of West China Hospital of Sichuan University (approval number: 2019-268). Written informed consent was obtained from all study subjects.

Neuroendocrine Hormone Analysis

The HPT axis test indicators include thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH; normal value: 0.27–4.2 mU/L), triiodothyronine (T3; normal value: 1.3–3.1 mmol/L), thyroxine (T4; normal values: 62.0–164.0 mmol/L), free triiodothyronine (FT3; normal

value: 3.6–7.5 pmol/L), and free thyroxine (FT4; normal value: 12.0–22.0 pmol/L). The HPA axis test indicators include ACTH (normal value: 5.0–78.0 ng/L) and 8:00 A.M. cortisol (PTC; normal value: 147.3–609.3 mmol/L). Fasting venous blood was taken by drawing 4 mL of cubital venous blood at 8 A.M. after overnight fasting. All analyses were performed using a Roche Cobas e601 module (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) *via* electrochemiluminescence. All reagents and calibrations were performed according to manufacturer instructions.

Sample Collection and DNA Extraction

Fecal samples were immediately frozen upon collection in a sterile plastic cup and stored at -80 °C before analysis. Microbial genomic DNA was extracted using the QIAamp DNA stool mini kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to manufacturer instructions. The 16S rRNA V3-V4 amplicons were generated using the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Human Microbiome Project protocols (16S 454 Sequencing Protocol HMP Consortium; https://www.hmpdacc.org).

16S rRNA Gene-Sequencing Analysis

Libraries were prepared and paired-end sequenced with Illumina Miseq according to manufacturer instructions (42). These QIIME2 16S rRNA sequencing protocols were used to select and analyze operational taxonomic units (OTUs) (43). Sequences from this project were deposited in the NCBI Short Read Archive under BioProject ID PRJNA647236.

| GROUP | MDD | GAD | HC | р |
|------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|------------------|--------------------|
| Age (y) | 30.04 ± 5.90 | 30.43 ± 7.95 | 30.22 ± 6.50 | 0.982 |
| BMI | 21.87 ± 3.00 | 21.19 ± 2.89 | 21.45 ± 2.80 | 0.743 |
| HAMD-24 | 29.26 ± 7.51 | 12.10 ± 5.25 | NA | <0.001 |
| HAMA | 8.00 ± 3.55 | 23.71 ± 7.30 | NA | <0.001 |
| Sex, n (%) | | | | 0.929 ^a |
| Male | 7 (30.43) | 7 (33.33) | 4 (40.00) | |
| Female | 16 (69.57) | 14 (66.67) | 6 (60.00) | |
| Marital status, <i>n</i> (%) | | | | 0.935ª |
| Never married | 9 (39.13) | 8 (38.10) | 3 (30.00) | |
| Married | 14 (60.87) | 13 (61.90) | 7 (70.00) | |
| Family history, <i>n</i> (%) | | | NA | 0.481 ^b |
| Yes | 4 (17.39) | 6 (28.57) | | |
| No | 19 (82.61) | 15 (71.43) | | |
| TSH | 2.29 ± 1.32 | 2.55 ± 1.56 | NA | 0.543 |
| ТТЗ | 1.50 ± 0.23 | 1.55 ± 0.30 | NA | 0.531 |
| TT4 | 96.83 ± 14.95 | 88.22 ± 19.08 | NA | 0.102 |
| FT3 | 4.54 ± 0.75 | 4.41 ± 0.77 | NA | 0.587 |
| FT4 | 16.34 ± 2.71 | 15.04 ± 3.41 | NA | 0.168 |
| ACTH | 33.00 ± 17.77 | 29.83 ± 15.62 | NA | 0.535 |
| PTC | 389.58 ± 257.00 | 373.57 ± 267.43 | NA | 0.841 |

^aFisher's exact probability method.

^bChi-squared test.

Bioinformatic and Statistical Analyses

The sequence index file generated from the sequencing experiment was used to identify and extract the sample data saved in FASTQ format. Barcodes and the primers in the beginning and the end were used to identify and select sequence reads. The sequence number of each sample was normalized, and OTUs with 97% identity thresholds were used in the UPARSE (v.7.1; http://drive5.com/uparse/) software program. Chimeric sequences were identified and removed using UCHIME (v.4.1; http://drive5.com/uchime/). The taxonomy of each 16S rRNA gene sequence was analyzed with RDP Classifier (http://rdp.cme. msu.edu/) using the SILVA (SSU 138) 16S rRNA database at a confidence threshold of 70% (44).

Gut-microbiota-specific microbial characteristics were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA), emphasizing both statistical significance and biological relevance. ANOVA was used to compare the relative abundance of microbes identified with 16S rRNA sequencing.

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (v.21.0; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). One-way ANOVA was used to compare the continuous variables, including age, BMI, and clinical scales. Fisher's exact test was used to analyze contingency tables, and the chi-squared method was used to compare the variables of all three groups. A p < 0.05 was considered significant. The false recovery rate representing the threshold correction was generated using the Benjamini–Hochberg method (45).

The α -diversity was calculated by the ACE, Chao, Simpson, and Shannon indices. Mann–Whitney U tests were used to identify differences between the two groups. The β -diversity was calculated using the Bray–Curtis index as the distance method and reported according to principal component analysis. A hierarchical clustering tree was used to describe similarities among different data-point categories using the Bray–Curtis distance method and visualized using iTOL (https://itol.embl. de/).

PICRUSt, a bioinformatics software package that predicts metagenome functional content from marker gene (e.g., 16S rRNA) surveys and full genomes (46), was used to determine species function.

Circos software (http://circos.ca/) visualizes data in a circular layout (47) and was employed to visualize the relationship between samples and species.

Cytoscape is an open-source software platform for visualizing molecular-interaction networks and biological pathways and integrating these networks with annotations, gene-expression profiles, and other state data (48). We used this to determine the correlation between significantly different KEGG orthologs (KOs) and significantly different OTUs or species.

RESULTS

Demographic Features and Levels of Neuroendocrine Hormone

We collected 54 fecal samples from the study participants, including 10, 23 (18 newly diagnosed and 5 relapsed), and 21

(19 newly diagnosed and two relapsed) subjects in the healthy crowd (HC), MDD, and GAD groups, respectively. The mean age at assessment was 30.04 ± 5.90 , 30.43 ± 7.95 , and 30.22 ± 6.50 years for the MDD, GAD and HC groups, respectively, with no significant difference found between groups according to ANOVA. Moreover, the BMI, sex ratio, marital status, family history, and levels of neuroendocrine hormones did not differ significantly among the three groups (**Table 1**).

Diversity Analysis (α and β)

Accounting for 70% of the valid sequences, we obtained 1,620,000 high-quality sequences from the 54 fecal samples of all participants: the HC, MDD, and GAD groups contained 630,000, 690,000, and 300,000 sequences, respectively. The richness of gut bacterial communities in all three groups was estimated by ACE and Chao indices, and the diversity was estimated using the Shannon and Simpson diversity indices. ACE and Chao analysis showed that most of the gut microbial diversity in each sample had been captured with the current sequencing depth. After rarefying the sequencing depth among all samples using a bootstrap method (30,000 reads per sample), the Shannon and Simpson diversity index estimates were calculated, revealing no significant difference in richness and diversity between HC and MDD. However, GAD showed a significant difference in microbiota richness and diversity as compared with HC (Figures 1A–D). To explore the differences in the comprehensive microbial phenotypes of MDD, GAD, and HC, we performed β -diversity analysis. Among the three groups, statistical analysis of β -diversity at the genus level indicated that the distance was similar according to principal component analysis (Figure 1E). The hierarchical clustering tree used to describe the similarities among different data point categories using the Bray-Curtis distance method showed sample similarities between the three groups (Figure 1F).

Analysis of Fecal Species Community

We obtained 10,996, 14,406, and 15,010 species-level OTUs from the HC, MDD, and GAD groups, respectively, using the OTU cluster method (Table 2). Results of the Venn diagram showed that 5,069 OTUs were common to all three groups (Figure 2A). The relationship between samples and OTUs is presented as the Circos diagram (Figure 2B). The general overview of gut bacterial composition at the phylum and genus levels is shown in Figures 2C,E. At the phylum level, the groups were rich in Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria, and Firmicutes, but there were differences in terms of abundance. Compared with that in the HC group, we found that the relative abundance of Proteobacteria and Firmicutes increased considerably, and that of Bacteroidetes decreased considerably in the MDD group. Additionally, the abundance of Firmicutes decreased, whereas that of Bacteroidetes and Proteobacteria increased in GAD relative to HC vs. MDD (Figure 2C). The relationship between samples and phylum-level species is presented as the Circos diagram (Figure 2D). At the genus level, we found that Bacteroides and Prevotella were abundant in the three groups. The abundance of Faecalibacterium decreased and Sutterella, Fusicatenibacter, and Christensenellaceae_R7_group increased



FIGURE 1 Diversity analysis (α and β). **(A–D)** Analysis of variations in richness (Chao and ACE indices) and diversity (Simpson and Shannon indices). MDD compared with HC revealed no significant difference in richness and diversity. GAD compared with HC revealed a significant difference in the richness and diversity. *p < 0.05 (Bonferroni < 0.017), *p < 0.01 (Bonferroni < 0.0033). MDD compared with GAD revealed no significant difference in richness and diversity. **(E)** Results of β -diversity visualized using principal component analysis (PCA; Bray–Curtis distance method). **(F)** Hierarchical clustering tree showing the similarities among different categories of data points by the Bray–Curtis distance method. Diversity analysis showed similar species diversity among the three groups.

| Group | No. of reads | No. of OTUs | Coverage (%) | | Richness | estimator | | C | iversity inde | x |
|-------|--------------|----------------|--------------|---------|-----------------|-----------|-----------------|-------------|---------------|-------------|
| | | | | ACE | 95% CI | Chao | 95% CI | Shannon | Simpson | Evenness |
| HC | 630,000 | 10,996 | 97.19 | 4257.84 | 4031.74-4506.03 | 3090.89 | 2840.24–3395.07 | 4.733331714 | 0.032098 | 0.354556683 |
| MDD | 690,000 | 14,406 | 97.47 | 3762.74 | 3557.59-3989.13 | 2790.49 | 2562.74-3069.66 | 4.647938217 | 0.036133 | 0.34454694 |
| GAD | 300,000 | 15,010 | 96.15 | 5978.93 | 5689.91-6291.70 | 4170.2 | 3857.99-4538.97 | 5.017976 | 0.025108 | 0.397936241 |

TABLE 2 Comparison of phylotype coverage and diversity estimation of the 16S rRNA gene libraries at 97% similarity from the sequencing analysis.

Cl, confidence interval.

in MDD relative to HC. The abundance of *Fusicatenibacter* and *Christensenellaceae_*R7_group decreased in GAD relative to HC. Compared with that in the MDD group, we found an increase in the relative abundance of Fusobacteria, Tenericutes, Verrucomicrobia, and Bacteroidetes but a decrease in that of Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, and Firmicutes in the GAD group (**Figure 2E**). The relationship between samples and species is illustrated by the Circos diagram (**Figure 2F**). In summary, we found that patients with MDD or GAD showed considerable changes in gut microbiota, and that there were differences in the relative abundance of gut microbiota in patients with both disorders.

Analysis of the Signatures of Gut Microbiota

We the compared the relative abundance of microbial composition among the three groups in the discovery set at both the OTU and genus levels. We found taxonomic differences in fecal microbiota among the HC, MDD, and GAD groups and identified six significantly different OTUs that were altered among the three groups (Table 3 and Figure 3A). The levels of Otu24167, Otu19140, and Otu19751 were significantly decreased in MDD relative to HC, whereas Otu2563 levels were significantly increased in MDD relative to GAD or HC. Otu2581 and Otu10585 levels were significantly increased in GAD relative to MDD. Furthermore, we found no significant difference in the abundance of OTUs between GAD and HC. Similarly, at the genus level, the abundances of Sutterella and Fusicatenibacter were significantly lower in MDD relative to HC, and both Fusicatenibacter and Christensenellaceae_R7_group abundances were significantly lower in GAD relative to HC. Additionally, the abundance of Sutterella was significantly higher, whereas that of Faecalibacterium was significantly lower in GAD relative to MDD (Table 4 and Figure 3B).

Functional Prediction of Gut Microbiota

We obtained 6910 KOs and mapped them to the KEGG database using PICRUSt. A total of 69 significantly different KOs were obtained by ANOVA (**Supplementary Material**). The correlation between significantly different KOs and significantly different OTUs is depicted by a heatmap (**Figure 4A**). We found that the levels of two KOs (K01205 and K09011), which significantly correlated with Otu10585_Bacteroides, were significantly lower in MDD and higher in GAD relative to HC. The levels of one KO (K01201), which significantly correlated

with Otu19751_Prevotella-9 and Otu19140_Prevotella-9, were lower in MDD and higher in GAD relative to HC. Another KO (K00163), which significantly correlated with Otu24167_Megamonas, showed higher levels in MDD relative to GAD and HC. Two KOs (K08281 and K03782), which significantly correlated with Otu2563_Enterobacteriaceae, showed higher levels in MDD relative to GAD and HC. Another KO (K07713), which significantly correlated with Otu2581_Bacteroides, showed lower levels in MDD relative to GAD.

The correlation between the significantly different KOs and species is depicted by a heatmap (**Figure 4B**). We found that two KOs (K00657 and K04516) significantly correlated with Christensenellaceae_R7_group, and that their levels were higher in GAD and lower in MDD relative to HC. Two KOs (K08281 and K02067) significantly correlated with *Faecalibacterium*, and their levels were higher in MDD and lower in GAD relative to HC. One KO (K02549) significantly correlated with *Fusicatenibacter*, and its levels were higher in MDD and lower in GAD relative to HC. We used a network diagram to explain the relationship between the significantly different KOs and OTUs/species (**Figures 4C,D**).

Relationship Between Gut Microbiota and Clinical Parameters

As noted. we found four bacterial genera Faecalibacterium, (Christensenellaceae_R7_group, Fusicatenibacter, and Sutterella) with differences in MDD and GAD relative to HC or between them. These four bacterial genera can be considered as important genera that affect the disease phenotype. To further explore the functions of these different bacterial genera, we evaluated correlations among the relative abundance of bacteria, hormones (including PTC, ACTH, FT3, FT4, TT3, TT4, and TSH), and the total and factor scores of HAMD (Hopelessness, Sleep disturbance, Block, Diurnal/variation, Cognitive impairment, Weight, and Anxiety/somatic) in the MDD group and those of HAMA (Psychic anxiety and Somatic anxiety) in the GAD group. We found significant differences in correlations at the genus level for Fusicatenibacter and Christensenellaceae_R7_group in MDD patients (Figure 5A). We observed that Christensenellaceae_R7_group negatively correlated with the HAMD factor score (Limited to Hopelessness) and total score (p < 0.05), Fusicatenibacter negatively correlated with FT4 (p < 0.05), and other key phylotypes showed no strong correlation. Further, the GAD





TABLE 3 | Statistical analysis of the OTUs by ANOVA.

| Name | Mean (GAD) | Stderr (GAD) | Mean (HC) | Stderrn (HC) | Mean (MDD) | Stderr (MDD) | р | FDR | P (HC-GAD) | P (MDD-GAD) | P (MDD-HC) |
|----------|------------|--------------|-----------|--------------|------------|--------------|------------|-----------|------------|-------------|------------|
| Otu2581 | 10.0476191 | 3.1475434 | 4.5 | 2.42326685 | 0.91304348 | 0.63155822 | 0.01229678 | 0.8772808 | 0.3115826 | 0.00892584 | 0.60088641 |
| Otu24167 | 12.2380952 | 10.253897 | 47.5 | 24.3284242 | 0.39130435 | 0.39130435 | 0.02301388 | 0.8772808 | 0.10009871 | 0.64423469 | 0.01727706 |
| Otu19751 | 184.428571 | 73.8974377 | 572.4 | 260.248223 | 136.826087 | 49.1125453 | 0.03020169 | 0.8772808 | 0.06111859 | 0.92991901 | 0.02841122 |
| Otu19140 | 18 | 7.43799768 | 54.5 | 25.2666887 | 13.0434783 | 4.26377251 | 0.03421628 | 0.8772808 | 0.07042385 | 0.91925868 | 0.03153303 |
| Otu10585 | 13.3333333 | 5.16781861 | 7.6 | 3.10268701 | 1 | 0.36658881 | 0.03721526 | 0.8772808 | 0.60101603 | 0.0285381 | 0.50097406 |
| Otu2563 | 28.5238095 | 10.8974919 | 23.9 | 15.2683041 | 79.4347826 | 20.067458 | 0.0418317 | 0.8772808 | 0.98528601 | 0.0650306 | 0.1230169 |

FDR, false discovery rate; Stderr, standard error.



FIGURE 3 | Statistical analysis of species differences. Taxonomic differences of fecal microbiota between HC, MDD, and GAD groups. Altered levels of specific bacterial OTUs and genera in MDD, GAD, and HC. (A) Six dominant bacterial OTUs were altered among the three groups. Otu24167, Otu19140, and Otu19751 were significantly decreased in MDD relative to HC. By contrast, Otu2563 was significantly upregulated in MDD relative to GAD or HC. Otu2581 and Otu0585 were significantly upregulated in GAD relative to MDD or HC. (B) Four significantly different species at the genus level across the three groups are shown. The abundances of *Sutterella* and *Fusicatenibacter* were significantly lower in MDD relative to HC. Fusicatenibacter and Christensenellaceae_R7_group abundances were significantly lower in GAD relative to HC. The abundance of *Sutterella* was higher, whereas that of *Faecalibacterium* was lower in GAD relative to MDD (all multiple comparisons; ANOVA tests).

| Name | Mean (GAD) | Mean (GAD) Stderr (GAD) | Mean (HC) | Stderr (HC) | iean (HC) Stderr (HC) Mean (MDD) Stderr (MDD) | Stderr (MDD) | ٩ | FDR | P (HC-GAD) | P (MDD-GAD) | P (MDD-HC) |
|--|---------------|-------------------------|-----------|-------------|---|--------------|------------|------------|------------|-------------|------------|
| Sutterella | 0.00439143 | 0.00108852 | 0.005187 | 0.00139934 | 0.00106652 | 0.00037587 | 0.00479284 | 0.66214192 | 0.85118087 | 0.01566996 | 0.01722476 |
| Fusicatenibacter | 0.00031762 | 7.44E-05 | 0.000974 | 0.00023634 | 0.00037304 | 0.00011939 | 0.00595727 | 0.66214192 | 0.00663858 | 0.93707457 | 0.01242988 |
| Faecalibacterium | 0.00029 | 7.86E-05 | 0.000552 | 0.00015174 | 0.00131739 | 0.00034548 | 0.01248295 | 0.70261169 | 0.81872373 | 0.01100806 | 0.1834709 |
| Christensenellaceae_R7_group | 0.00036429 | 0.0001336 | 0.002671 | 0.00124013 | 0.00101304 | 0.00045173 | 0.03155333 | 0.71208711 | 0.02401158 | 0.59744199 | 0.12743151 |
| FDR, false discovery rate, Stderr, standard error. | andard error. | | | | | | | | | | |

group showed significant differences at the genus level for *Faecalibacterium*, which negatively correlated with PTC (p < 0.05), whereas other key phylotypes showed no strong correlation (**Figure 5B**). The columnar stack diagram shows the correlation between clinical parameters and the significantly different species (**Figures 5C,D**).

DISCUSSION

This study is the first to characterize and compare the gutmicrobial compositions of patients with MDD and GAD. Our findings provide a better understanding of the differences between these two diseases in terms of their underlying mechanisms and will help in identifying novel therapeutic targets for better treatments.

We identified unique microbial signatures of patients with MDD and GAD relative to the HC. There was no significant difference in richness and diversity between the HC and patients with MDD. Consistent with this finding, numerous studies have reported no differences between MDD and control groups across all examined indices (49-51). However, some studies found decreased α -diversity in depressive disorders using the Shannon index (52, 53), as well as significant differences in β -diversity between participants with a depressive disorder and those in the control group (19, 52, 54-58). Based on the taxonomic findings in this study, Otu24167, Otu19140, and Otu19751 were significantly decreased in MDD as compared with HC, and the abundance of Sutterella and Fusicatenibacter at the genus level was significantly lower in patients with MDD than in the HC. Previous studies reported a lower Sutterella abundance in patients with depressive disorders than in the HC (19, 53-55); however, the association of Fusicatenibacter with depression has not previously been reported.

We found that the GAD group showed significantly higher microbiota richness and diversity than the HC, but there was no significant difference in OTU abundance between the two groups. This result differs significantly from previous reports. Chen et al. and Jiang et al. reported no difference in α -diversity between participants with an anxiety disorder and those in the control group, and that participants with GAD showed lower microbiota richness than control group subjects (24, 25). This heterogeneity of results might be attributed to numerous factors, including sample size, dietary intake, demographic characteristics of the participants, clinical status, sequencing methods, statistical methods, and/or the statistical significance threshold chosen to determine the disease-associated gut microbiota (59, 60). Based on the taxonomic findings (Figure 3B), Fusicatenibacter and Christensenellaceae_R7_group abundances were lower in the GAD group than in the HC. Mancabelli et al. reported Christensenellaceae as one of five taxa considered as a signature of a healthy gut (61). It is possible that its family might be related to affective disorders and neurological diseases (62). For example, patients with Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis, and autism have a remarkably lower relative abundance of Christensenellaceae (63-65).

TABLE 4 | Statistical analysis of the species by ANOVA





The most important focus of this study was on distinguishing between MDD and GAD, and several significant differences were observed. Compared with patients with GAD, Otu2581 and Otu10585 levels were significantly reduced, whereas the abundance of *Sutterella* was decreased and that of *Faecalibacterium* was increased at the genus level in patients with MDD. However, no significant differences were observed in the α -diversity and richness of the intestinal floras between patients with GAD and patients with MDD, indicating that their intestinal floras were similar. Additionally, we found that Otu10585_Bacteroides significantly correlated with K09011 (map00290, valine, leucine, and isoleucine biosynthesis). Various studies also reported that MDD is associated with aberrant branched-chain amino acid and energy metabolism (66), suggesting that these amino acids (valine, leucine, and isoleucine) might serve as appropriate biomarkers for



FIGURE 5 (Helationship between gut microbiota and clinical parameters. Heatmaps were used to show relationships between significant differences in microbiota and clinical parameters. Inelating hormones (PTC, ACTH, FT3, FT4, TT3, TT4, and TSH), the total and factor scores of HAMD (Hopelessness, Sleep disturbance, Block, Diurnal/variation, Cognitive impairment, Weight and Anxiety/somatic) in the MDD group, and the total and factor scores of HAMA (Psychic anxiety and Somatic anxiety) in the GAD group. (A) In the MDD group, *Fusicatenibacter* was significantly negatively correlated with FT4 ($\rho < 0.05$), and *Christensenellaceae*_R7_group was significantly negatively correlated with PTC ($\rho < 0.05$). (C,D) The stacked bar plot was used to show the relationship between gut microbiota and clinical parameters ("-" shows a negative correlation, and "+" shows a positive correlation).

depression (67). We speculate that depression might be caused by the influence of Otu10585 on branched-chain amino acids metabolism. Moreover, the present results showed that Faecalibacterium was significantly correlated with K08281 (map00760, nicotinate, and nicotinamide metabolism) and K02067 (map02010, ABC transporters). Niacin deficiency is reportedly a contributing factor in mental-illness development and symptom alleviation (66). We speculate that the decreased abundance of Faecalibacterium might affect nicotinate and nicotinamide metabolism, leading to variations in correlative metabolism that result in MDD or GAD. ABC transporters exert notable effects on pathogen-host interactions and bacterial physiology (68), which might indicate another pathway of Faecalibacterium that results in GAD or MDD; however, the specific mechanism requires further study. Furthermore, the roles of Sutterella and Otu2581 remain unclear, although previous studies report that Sutterella is an intestinal flora

associated with inflammatory responses and is found in abundance in autistic patients (69–71).

To determine why intestinal flora affect the clinical phenotype, we analyzed the correlation of some representative floras in patients with MDD or GAD with respect to the HPA or HPT axis. Our findings (**Figure 5**) implied that changes in intestinal flora might first induce changes in the HPA and/or HPT axis, which ultimately lead to the different clinical phenotypes of MDD and GAD. Previous reports indicated that gut-microbiota deficiency exacerbates the neuroendocrine and behavioral responses to acute stress (72–74). Other studies have also found a close relationship between HPT/HPAaxis dysfunction and depression/anxiety (32, 35, 36, 75, 76). For example, a dynamic decrease in thyroid hormone levels (particularly FT3 and FT4) is reportedly closely related to depression (36). These observations are consistent with the present findings and implications. Additionally, we observed that *Christensenellaceae_*R7_group negatively correlated with factor (Limited to Hopelessness) and total scores of HAMD, suggesting that although *Christensenellaceae_*R7_group has not been observed as enriched in patients with MDD, it might affect the clinical manifestations and severity of MDD. Similar conclusions have been confirmed in other studies (20, 54).

This study has some limitations. First, the sample size was relatively small with no power calculation, which might have resulted in sampling bias. Second, the 16S rRNA gene sequencing used in this study resulted in limited functional information; therefore, whole-genome and whole-macrotranscriptome sequencing need to be performed in future studies. Third, we did not use standardized diagnostic tools to diagnose patients, assess the mental state of HCs and exclude comorbidities, which may weaken the reliability of the results. Last, other influential factors, such as food intake and physical activity, were not considered, which might also cause bias.

In summary, this study characterized and identified different gut-microbial compositions in subjects with MDD, subjects with GAD, and the HC. We identified a correlation between the bacteria and clinical symptoms, including a significant negative correlation between *Christensenellaceae_R7_group* and HAMD score. Moreover, we conducted a preliminary analysis of possible mechanisms underlying intestinal flora-affecting diseases. Our findings suggest that intestinal microflora might serve as molecular markers for distinguishing MDD from GAD.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/**Supplementary Material**.

REFERENCES

- American Psychological Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders-text revision (DSM-IV-TR). Washington: APA. (2000)
- Decker ML, Turk CL, Hess B, Murray CE. Emotion regulation among individuals classified with and without generalized anxiety disorder. J Anx Disord. (2008) 22:485–94. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2007.04.002
- Costello EJ, Mustillo S, Erkanli A, Keeler G, Angold A. Prevalence and development of psychiatric disorders in childhood and adolescence. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2003) 60:837–44. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.8.837
- Godfrey K, Yung A, Killackey E, Cosgrave E, Yuen HP, Stanford C, et al. Patterns of current comorbidity in young helpseekers: implications for service planning and delivery. *Australas Psychiatry.* (2005) 13:379–83. doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1665.2005. 02217.x
- Reiter S, Emodi-Perlman A, Goldsmith C, Friedman-Rubin P, Winocur E. Comorbidity between depression and anxiety in patients with temporomandibular disorders according to the research diagnostic criteria for temporomandibular disorders. J Oral Facial Pain Headache. (2015) 29:135–43. doi: 10.11607/ofph.1297
- Goldberg D. Towards DSM-5: the relationship between generalized anxiety disorder and major depressive episode. *Psychol Med.* (2008) 38:1671-5. doi: 10.1017/s003329170800295x

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of West China Hospital of Sichuan University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZD and WK: conception of the work, final approval of the version to be published, and agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work. ZD, XS, YH, JL, HL, HX, and LY: acquisition of data. ZD and LY: analysis and interpretation of data for the work. ZD: writing. WK: revising the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China [Grant Nos. 81621003, 81801350, and 81801357] and the Key R&D Projects of Science and Technology Department of Sichuan Province (Grant No. 2019YFS0217).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Asbios (Tianjin) Biotechnology Co., LTD. for their help with microbiological analysis. We would also like to thank Editage for English language editing.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.651536/full#supplementary-material

- Clark LA, Watson D. Tripartite model of anxiety and depression: psychometric evidence and taxonomic implications. J Abnorm Psychol. (1991) 100:316–36. doi: 10.1037//0021-843x.100. 3.316
- Cohen JR, Young JF, Gibb BE, Hankin BL, Abela JR. Why are anxiety and depressive symptoms comorbid in youth? A multi-wave, longitudinal examination of competing etiological models. J Affect Disord. (2014) 161:21– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.02.042
- Krueger RF. The structure of common mental disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1999) 56:921–6. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.56.10.921
- Krueger RF, Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Silva PA. The structure and stability of common mental disorders (DSM-III-R): a longitudinal-epidemiological study. J Abnorm Psychol. (1998) 107:216–27. doi: 10.1037//0021-843x.107.2.216
- Mayer EA, Knight R, Mazmanian SK, Cryan JF, Tillisch K. Gut microbes and the brain: paradigm shift in neuroscience. *J Neurosci.* (2014) 34:15490– 6. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3299-14.2014
- Dickerson F, Severance E, Yolken R. The microbiome, immunity, and schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2017) 62:46– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.12.010
- Rogers GB, Keating DJ, Young RL, Wong ML, Licinio J, Wesselingh S. From gut dysbiosis to altered brain function and mental illness: mechanisms and pathways. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2016) 21:738–48. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.50

- Sharon G, Cruz NJ, Kang DW, Gandal MJ, Wang B, Kim YM, et al. Human gut microbiota from autism spectrum disorder promote behavioral symptoms in mice. *Cell*. (2019) 177:1600–18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.05.004
- Wong ML, Inserra A, Lewis MD, Mastronardi CA, Leong L, Choo J, et al. Inflammasome signaling affects anxiety- and depressive-like behavior and gut microbiome composition. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2016) 21:797–805. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.46
- Zheng P, Zeng B, Liu M, Chen J, Pan J, Han Y, et al. The gut microbiome from patients with schizophrenia modulates the glutamate-glutamine-GABA cycle and schizophrenia-relevant behaviors in mice. *Sci Adv.* (2019) 5:eaau8317. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aau8317
- Chen Z, Li J, Gui S, Zhou C, Chen J, Yang C, et al. Comparative metaproteomics analysis shows altered fecal microbiota signatures in patients with major depressive disorder. *Neuroreport.* (2018) 29:417– 25. doi: 10.1097/WNR.00000000000085
- Valles-Colomer M, Falony G, Darzi Y, Tigchelaar EF, Wang J, Tito RY, et al. The neuroactive potential of the human gut microbiota in quality of life and depression. *Nat Microbiol.* (2019) 4:623–32. doi: 10.1038/s41564-018-0337-x
- Zheng P, Zeng B, Zhou C, Liu M, Fang Z, Xu X, et al. Gut microbiome remodeling induces depressive-like behaviors through a pathway mediated by the host's metabolism. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2016) 21:786– 96. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.44
- Jiang H, Ling Z, Zhang Y, Mao H, Ma Z, Yin Y, et al. Altered fecal microbiota composition in patients with major depressive disorder. *Brain Behavior & Immunity*. (2015) 48:186–94. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.016
- Jang HM, Lee HJ, Jang SE, Han MJ, Kim DH. Evidence for interplay among antibacterial-induced gut microbiota disturbance, neuroinflammation, and anxiety in mice. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2018) 11:1386–97. doi: 10.1038/s41385-018-0042-3
- Messaoudi M, Lalonde R, Violle N, Javelot H, Desor D, Nejdi A, et al. Assessment of psychotropic-like properties of a probiotic formulation (*Lactobacillus helveticus* R0052 and *Bifidobacterium longum* R0175) in rats and human subjects. *Br J Nutr.* (2011) 105:755–64. doi: 10.1017/S0007114510004319
- Mohammadi AA, Jazayeri S, Khosravi-Darani K, Solati Z, Mohammadpour N, Asemi Z, et al. The effects of probiotics on mental health and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial in petrochemical workers. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2016) 19:387– 95. doi: 10.1179/1476830515Y.0000000023
- Chen Y, Bai J, Wu D, Yu S, Qiang X, Bai H, et al. Association between fecal microbiota and generalised anxiety disorder: Severity and early treatment response. J Affect Disord. (2019) 259:56–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019. 08.014
- Jiang H, Zhang X, Yu Z, Zhang Z, Deng M, Zhao J, et al. Altered gut microbiota profile in patients with generalised anxiety disorder. J Psychiatr Res. (2018) 104:130–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.07.007
- Chen JJ, Zheng P, Liu YY, Zhong XG, Wang HY, Guo YJ, et al. Sex differences in gut microbiota in patients with major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2018) 14:647–55. doi: 10.2147/NDT. S159322
- Lin P, Ding B, Feng C, Yin S, Zhang T, Qi X, et al. Prevotella and Klebsiella proportions in fecal microbial communities are potential characteristic parameters for patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2017) 207:300–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.09.051
- Zheng Q, Wang Y, Lu J, Lin W, Chen F, Jiao N. Metagenomic and metaproteomic insights into photoautotrophic and heterotrophic interactions in a *Synechococcus* Culture. *MBio.* (2020) 11:e03261– 19. doi: 10.1128/mBio.03261-19
- Farzi A, Fröhlich EE, Holzer P. Gut microbiota and the neuroendocrine system. Neurotherapeutics. (2018) 15:5–22. doi: 10.1007/s13311-017-0600-5
- Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2012) 13:701– 12. doi: 10.1038/nrn3346
- Kelly JR, Kennedy PJ, Cryan JF, Dinan TG, Clarke G, Hyland NP. Breaking down the barriers: the gut microbiome, intestinal permeability and stress-related psychiatric disorders. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2015) 14:9:392. doi: 10.3389/ fncel.2015.00392

- Sudo N, Chida Y, Aiba Y, Sonoda J, Oyama N, Yu XN, et al. Postnatal microbial colonization programs the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal system for stress response in mice. J Physiol. (2004) 558:263– 75. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.063388
- Huo R, Zeng B, Li Z, Cheng K, Li B, Luo Y, et al. Microbiota modulate anxietylike behavior and endocrine abnormalities in hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. (2017) 7:489. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00489
- 34. Luo YY, Zeng BH, Zeng L, Du XY Li B, Hua R, et al. Gut microbiota regulates mouse behaviors through glucocorticoid receptor pathway genes in the hippocampus. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2018) 8:187. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0240-5
- Holsboer F. The corticosteroid receptor hypothesis of depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2000) 23:477– 501. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(00)00159-7
- 36. Brownlie BE, Rae AM, Walshe JW. Wells JE. Psychoses associated with thyrotoxicosis- 'thyrotoxic psychosis' A report of 18 cases, with statistical analysis of incidence. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2000) 142:438–44. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1420438
- Juruena MF, Bocharova M, Agustini B, Young AH. Atypical depression and non-atypical depression: Is HPA axis function a biomarker? A systematic review J Affect Disord. (2018) 233:45–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.09.052
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5). Philadelphia: American Psychiatric Pub (2013).
- Aizawa E, Tsuji H, Asahara T, Takahashi T, Teraishi T, Yoshida S, et al. Possible association of bifidobacterium and lactobacillus in the gut microbiota of patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2016) 202:254– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.038
- Hamilton M. Rating depressive patients. J Clin Psychiatry. (1980) 41:21– 4. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1980.tb00039.x
- Hamilton M. The assessment of anxiety states by rating. Br J Med Psychol. (1959) 32:50–5. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8341.1959.tb00467.x
- Bartram AK, Lynch MD, Stearns JC, Moreno-Hagelsieb G, Neufeld JD. Generation of multimillion-sequence 16S rRNA gene libraries from complex microbial communities by assembling paired-end illumina reads. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2011) 77:3846–52. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02772-10
- Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Walters WA, Gonzalez A, Caporaso JG, Knight R. Using QIIME to analyze 16S rRNA gene sequences from microbial communities. *Curr Protoc Microbiol.* (2012) 1:1E 5. doi: 10.1002/9780471729259.mc01e05s27
- Yilmaz P, Parfrey LW, Yarza P, Gerken J, Pruesse E, Quast C, et al. The SILVA and "All-species Living Tree Project (LTP)" taxonomic frameworks. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2014) 42:D643–8. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt1209
- Ghosh D. Wavelet-based benjamini-hochberg procedures for multiple testing under dependence. *MBE*. (2019) 17:56–72. doi: 10.3934/mbe.2020003
- Langille MGI, Zaneveld J, Caporaso JG, Mcdonald D, Knights D, Reyes JA, et al. Predictive functional profiling of microbial communities using 16S rRNA marker gene sequences. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2013) 31:814– 21. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2676
- Bunting SF, Nussenzweig A. End-joining, translocations and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2013) 13:443–54. doi: 10.1038/nrc3537
- Shannon P, Markiel A, Ozier O, Baliga NS, Wang JT, Ramage D, et al. Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Res.* (2003) 13:2498–504. doi: 10.1101/gr.1239303
- Chahwan B, Kwan S, Isik A, van Hemert S, Burke C, Roberts L. Gut feelings: A randomised, triple-blind, placebo-controlled trial of probiotics for depressive symptoms. J Affect Disord. (2019) 253:317–26. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.04.097
- Mason BL Li Q, Minhajuddin A, Czysz AH, Coughlin LA, Hussain SK et al. Reduced anti-inflammatory gut microbiota are associated with depression and anhedonia. J Affect Disord. (2020) 266:394–401. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.137
- Vinberg M, Ottesen NM, Meluken I, Sørensen N, Pedersen O, Kessing LV, et al. Remitted affective disorders and high familial risk of affective disorders associate with aberrant intestinal microbiota. *Acta Psychiat Scand.* (2019) 139:174–84. doi: 10.1111/acps.12976
- Huang Y, Shi X, Li Z, Shen Y, Shi X, Wang L, et al. Possible association of firmicutes in the gut microbiota of patients with major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2018) 14:3329–37. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S188340

- Liu Y, Zhang L, Wang X, Wang Z, Zhang J, Jiang R, et al. Similar fecal microbiota signatures in patients with Diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome and patients with depression. *Clin Gastroentorol Hepatol.* (2016) 14:1602–11.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.05.033
- Ye X, Wang D, Zhu H, Wang D. Li Jing, Tang Yanqing, et al. Gut microbiota changes in patients with major depressive disorder treated with vortioxetine. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:641491. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.641491
- Chung YE, Chen H, Chou HL, Chen I, Lee M, Chuang L, et al. Exploration of microbiota targets for major depressive disorder and mood related traits. J Pstchiatr Res. (2019) 111:74–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.01.016
- Kelly JR, Borre Y, O'Brien C, Patterson E, El Aidy S, Deane J, et al. Transferring the blues: Depression-associated gut microbiota induces neurobehavioural changes in the rat. J Psychiatr Res. (2016) 82:109– 18. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.07.019
- Lai W, Deng W, Xu S, Zhao J, Xu D, Liu Y, et al. Shotgun metagenomics reveals both taxonomic and tryptophan pathway differences of gut microbiota in major depressive disorder patients. *Psychol Med.* (2019) 51:1– 12. doi: 10.1017/s0033291719003027
- Sanada K, Nakajima S, Kurokawa S, Barcelo-Soler A, Ikuse D, Hirata A, et al. Gut microbiota and major depressive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2020) 266:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.102
- Cheung SG, Goldenthal AR, Uhlemann AC, Mann JJ, Miller JM, Sublette ME. Systematic review of gut microbiota and major depression. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:34. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00034
- 60. Busche S, Shao X, Caron M, Kwan T, Allum F, Cheung WA, et al. Population whole-genome bisulfite sequencing across two tissues highlights the environment as the principal source of human methylome variation. *Genome Biol.* (2015) 16:290. doi: 10.1186/s13059-015-0856-1
- Mancabelli L, Milani C, Lugli GA, Turroni F, Cocconi D, van Sinderen D, et al. Identification of universal gut microbial biomarkers of common human intestinal diseases by meta-analysis. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol.* (2017) 93:12. doi: 10.1093/femsec/fix153
- Waters JL, Ley RE. The human gut bacteria *Christensenellaceae* are widespread, heritable, and associated with health. *BMC Biol.* (2019) 17:83. doi: 10.1186/s12915-019-0699-4
- Pedrosa Carrasco AJ, Timmermann L, Pedrosa DJ. Management of constipation in patients with Parkinson's disease. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. (2018) 4:6. doi: 10.3109/9780203008454-42
- Wiesel PH, Norton C, Glickman S, Kamm MA. Pathophysiology and management of bowel dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2001) 13:441–8. doi: 10.1097/00042737-200104000-00025
- 65. Dan Z, Mao X, Liu Q, Guo M, Zhuang Y, Liu Z, et al. Altered gut microbial profile is associated with abnormal metabolism activity of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Gut Microbes.* (2020) 11:1246–67. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2020.1747329
- 66. Liu LY, Zhang HJ, Luo LY, Pu JB, Liang WQ, Zhu CQ, et al. Blood and urinary metabolomic evidence validating traditional Chinese medicine diagnostic classification of major depressive disorder. *Chin Med.* (2018) 13:53. doi: 10.1186/s13020-018-0211-z
- 67. Baranyi A, Amouzadeh-Ghadikolai O, von Lewinski D, Rothenhausler HB, Theokas S, Robier C, et al. Branched-chain amino acids as new biomarkers of major depression-a novel neurobiology of mood

disorder. PLoS ONE. (2016) 11:e0160542. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0160542

- Durmort C, Brown JS. Streptococcus pneumoniae lipoproteins and ABC transporters. Streptococcus Pneumoniae. (2015) 181– 206. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-410530-0.00010-7
- Mangin I, Bonnet R, Seksik P, Rigottier-Gois L, Sutren M, Bouhnik Y, et al. Molecular inventory of faecal microflora in patients with Crohn's disease. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol.* (2004) 50:25–36. doi: 10.1016/j.femsec.2004.05.005
- Gophna U, Sommerfeld K, Gophna S, Doolittle WF. Veldhuyzen van Zanten SJ. Differences between tissue-associated intestinal microfloras of patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2006) 44:4136. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01004-06
- 71. Williams BL, Hornig M, Parekh T, Lipkin WI. Application of novel PCR-based methods for detection, quantitation, and phylogenetic characterization of *Sutterella* species in intestinal biopsy samples from children with autism and gastrointestinal disturbances. *MBio.* (2012) 3:e00261–11. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00261-11
- Crumeyrolle-Arias M, Jaglin M, Bruneau A, Vancassel S, Cardona A, Dauge V, et al. Absence of the gut microbiota enhances anxiety-like behavior and neuroendocrine response to acute stress in rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2014) 42:207–17. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.01.014
- Hryhorczuk C, Sharma S, Fulton SE. Metabolic disturbances connecting obesity and depression. *Front Neurosci.* (2013) 7:177. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013.00177
- Pellegrini C, Antonioli L, Calderone V, Colucci R, Fornai M, Blandizzi C. Microbiota-gut-brain axis in health and disease: Is NLRP3 inflammasome at the crossroads of microbiota-gut-brain communications? *Prog Neurobiol.* (2020) 191:101806. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2020.101806
- Burke HM, Davis MC, Otte C, Mohr DC. Depression and cortisol responses to psychological stress: A meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2005) 30:846–56. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2005.02.010
- Fenske M. Late-life depressive symptoms are associated with both hyperactivity and hypoactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2007) 15:985. doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e318151f9b1

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Dong, Shen, Hao, Li, Li, Xu, Yin and Kuang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Potential of Antithrombin III as a Biomarker of Antidepressive Effect in Major Depressive Disorder

Ruize Song^{1†}, Yachen Shi^{1†}, Xianrui Li², Jianli Zhu², Hongxing Zhang^{2,3}, Kun Li², Bi Wang², Haisan Zhang³, Yongfeng Yang³, Lijuan Gao¹, Yang Zhao^{4*} and Zhijun Zhang^{1,2*}

² Department of Psychology, Xinxiang Medical University, Xinxiang, China, ³ Second Affiliated Hospital of Xinxiang Medical University, Xinxiang, China, ⁴ Department of Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

¹ Department of Neurology, School of Medicine, Affiliated ZhongDa Hospital, Southeast University, Nanjing, China,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Danilo Arnone, United Arab Emirates University, United Arab Emirates

Reviewed by:

Jijun Wang, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Casimiro Cabrera Abreu, Queens University, Canada

*Correspondence:

Zhijun Zhang janemengzhang@vip.163.com Yang Zhao yzhao@njmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood and Anxiety Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 09 March 2021 Accepted: 20 September 2021 Published: 28 October 2021

Citation:

Song R, Shi Y, Li X, Zhu J, Zhang H, Li K, Wang B, Zhang H, Yang Y, Gao L, Zhao Y and Zhang Z (2021) Potential of Antithrombin III as a Biomarker of Antidepressive Effect in Major Depressive Disorder. Front. Psychiatry 12:678384. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.678384 **Background:** The evaluation of treatment response to antidepressant therapy commonly depends on neuropsychologic assessments, as there are currently no suitable biomarkers. Previous research has identified a panel of increased proteins in patients with major depressive disorder (MDD), including antithrombin III (ATIII), as potential biomarkers of depression.

Methods: A total of 90 MDD patients were recruited. Of these, 74 patients received occipital repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) as individualized, standard, or sham treatment for 5 days, and underwent the complete procedure, including clinical assessments, blood collection, and protein measurement.

Results: After treatment, ATIII was significantly decreased in both the individualized and standard groups (both p < 0.001) relative to the sham group. In the individualized group, reduction in ATIII was associated with improvements in several neuropsychological assessments. Furthermore, ATIII at baseline in the standard group and after individualized rTMS showed good performance for evaluating or predicting the response to five-day treatment (AUC = 0.771, 95% CI, 0.571–0.971; AUC = 0.875, 95% CI, 0.714–1.000, respectively) and remission at follow-up (AUC = 0.736, 95% CI, 0.529–0.943; AUC = 0.828, 95% CI, 0.656–1.000, respectively). Lastly, both baseline ATIII and change in ATIII showed good predictive value for the 24-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale at follow-up (p = 0.024 and 0.023, respectively).

Conclusion: Our study revealed a reduction in ATIII after occipital rTMS in MDD patients and a relationship between change in ATIII and therapeutic response. Taken together, these findings provide evidence for the potential of ATIII as a biomarker for the evaluation and prediction of antidepressive effects.

Keywords: major depressive disorder, antithrombin III, occipital repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation, antidepressive effect, biomarker
INTRODUCTION

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a mental illness characterized by low mood and anhedonia that affects 322 million people worldwide, leading to excess disability and mortality (1-3). For the period of 2007 to 2017, MDD was the third leading cause of global years lived with disability (YLDs) (1). According to the World Health Organization, this common mental disorder will be responsible for the greatest burden of disease worldwide by 2030 (4). Both biological factors and environmental milieu are related to the occurrence of depression (5, 6); however, little is known about the physiopathological mechanisms underlying MDD. Several hypotheses have been proposed (3, 7). In one of the mainstream theories, neuroinflammation is proposed to influence MDD through abnormalities in immune cells, like microglia, astrocytes and oligodendroglia, and increases in inflammatory factors (8-12). Accumulating evidence suggests that neuroinflammation might be a mediator of MDD in connection with other possible mechanisms, such as stress, neuroendocrine system dysfunction, neurotransmitters depletion, neurogenesis defects, and intestinal flora disorder (13-17). As reported in previous studies, various anti-inflammatory treatments can improve depression symptoms, supporting that inflammatory molecules or pathways may be potential targets for novel antidepressant therapy (18, 19).

At present, MDD and antidepressive therapy response are assessed by clinical features, rather than objective indicators, duo to the lack of confirmed clinical biomarkers (3, 20, 21). As a result, it is imperative to identify and evaluate potential biomarkers of MDD. A variety of techniques have been utilized in the aim to identify such biomarkers, including genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, metabonomics, neuroimaging, electroencephalography, etc. (22–27). In comparison to other biological parameters, proteins play direct roles in the occurrence and development of MDD and the result of antidepressive treatment (24), and thus have great application as candidate biomarkers.

In our previous proteomic study, four proteins were noted: C-reactive protein (CRP), antithrombin III (ATIII), inter-alphatrypsin inhibitor heavy chain H4 (ITIH4), and vitamin D binding protein (VDB) (28). As an acute-phase protein, CRP is synthesized by hepatocytes and increases rapidly in response to systemic inflammation with activated innate immunity (29, 30). A multitude of studies have demonstrated that high levels of CRP are associated with MDD (31). Notably, CRP values have been used to predict the outcome of depression and resistance to standard antidepressants (32-34). ATIII is a glycoprotein mainly produced in the liver that exerts anticoagulant and anti-inflammatory effects by targeting activated thrombin and other blood coagulation factors (35, 36). In addition, ATIII can promote prostacyclin release and deactivate leukocytes to inhibit inflammation independent from coagulation (36). As reported by Stelzhammer et al., elevated levels of ATIII were detected in MDD patients after the first session of electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) (37). ITIH4 is an acute-phase protein related to inflammatory response involved in cell proliferation, migration, anti-apoptosis, and matrix stabilizing (38, 39). A genome-wide analysis reported that single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the ITIH4 gene were associated with bipolar disorder (40). Furthermore, according to Finseth et al., there are associations between suicide attempt and ITIH4 (41). The main biological function of VDB, as its name suggests, is to bind and transport the specific sterol and its metabolites. Additional physiological processes regulated by this glycoprotein include actin scavenging, macrophage and osteoclast activation, and phagocytic cells chemotaxis (42-44). In prior studies, increased VDB was observed in patients with major mood disorders, comprised of both MDD and bipolar disorder (45-47). These four proteins were observed to be elevated in the depressed sample compared with controls in our previous study (28), supporting their potential to differentiate MDD. However, whether they are associated with antidepressive treatment and curative effects is unknown.

Occipital repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) therapy is a novel non-invasive intervention for MDD with established safety and efficacy (48). The occipital cortex has been demonstrated to be associated with the pathophysiologic changes of MDD, which was supported by altered visual evoked potential, diminished perception of ambient light, impaired synaptic plasticity and low density of calbindin-immunoreactive GABAergic neurons in the occipital cortex in MDD patients (49–51). Moreover, a previous study suggests that selectively neural response to emotional stimuli in the occipital cortex might be a useful biomarker in identifying responders to scopolamine (52), which partly supports the role of the occipital cortex in antidepressive treatment.

This present study aimed at exploring changes in four proteins included CRP, ATIII, ITIH4, and VDB after occipital rTMS, and to assess their potential as biomarkers of the outcomes and effects of antidepressive therapy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

The Ethics Committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Xinxiang Medical University approved this study, which was carried out at Henan Provincial Mental Hospital. All work involving human subjects followed the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki. After the benefits and risks of the study were fully explained, a total of 90 drug naïve or drug free depressed individuals were recruited. Written informed consent was obtained from the participants or their legal guardians.

The inclusion criteria for MDD patients were as follows: (a) meeting the diagnostic criteria of MDD according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV), assessed by two well-trained psychiatrists utilizing the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV; (b) a score of >17 on the 24-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD-24); (c) aged 18 to 55 and drug naïve or drug free for at least 2 weeks; and (d) able to cooperate with the trial and understand the items properly.

Patients suffering from the following disorders or diseases were excluded: (a) other DSM-IV axis I or axis II disorders; (b) organic brain diseases; (c) psychotic depression; (d) endocrine diseases with abnormal biochemical indexes or organ functions; (e) treatment-resistant depression treated by electroconvulsive shock or rTMS with adequate dosage and duration; and f. diseases that result in any contraindications to magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or rTMS. In addition, given potential effects due to alterations in hormones, female patients who were pregnant or in the puerperium or climacteric periods were excluded from this study.

Neuropsychological Assessments

The scales for neuropsychological assessments in three dimensions (affective assessments, social-psychology assessments, and cognitive function assessments) were described in detail in our previous study (53). Briefly, to estimate the affective states of the MDD patients, the HAMD-24, Hamilton Anxiety Scale (HAMA), Beck Scale for Suicide Ideation-Chinese version-Current (BSI-CV-C), Self-Rating Depression Scale (SDS), Self-Rating Anxiety Scale (SAS), and Beck Hopelessness Scale (BHS) were conducted under unified instructions at baseline and day 1, 3, and 5 of treatment. In addition, during the 4 week follow-up study, the HAMD-24 was used once per week to evaluate the outcomes. To assess social psychology traits, patients were assessed once using the Life Event Scale (LES), Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF), family Adaptation, Partnership, Growth, Affection, Resolve (APGAR), and Self-Consciousness Scale Revised (SCSR). Cognitive functions were estimated in terms of information processing speed, executive function, and visuospatial memory and learning function (detailed evaluation tools are listed in Supplementary Table 2), and were tested at baseline and at the end of treatment.

Occipital rTMS Treatment Regimens

The strategy and parameters of rTMS treatment were reported in the previous study (48). Briefly, MDD patients were randomly assigned to the individualized group, standard group, or sham group to receive the corresponding therapy for 5 consecutive days. For the individualized group, the coordinates of the stimulation points were personalized based on affective visual tasks completed during functional MRI. For the standard group, fixed stimulation sites were set in the left cortical visual area V1. Moreover, the following parameters were applied in rTMS treatment in this study: stimulation intensity = 90% resting motor threshold, frequency = 10 Hz, train duration = 4 s, intertrain interval = 26 s, pulse number = 1,600 in each session, total duration = 20 min, number of time = 2 times per day, total sessions = 10.

Blood Samples

Once participants were enrolled, 5 mL of fasting venous blood was collected in a plasma separator tube (Xinle, China) between 6:00 and 10:00 in the morning. An additional 5 mL whole blood sample was drawn after the 5 day treatment. Two runs of centrifugation were completed within 2 h of blood collection. The first processing was for plasma separation with a rotational speed of 2,000 × g for 10 min at 4°C. Afterwards, the supernatant was centrifuged for the second time for purification with a rotational

speed of $12,000 \times g$ for 10 min under the same conditions. Plasma samples were stored at -80° C until quantitative determination of proteins.

Protein Quantification

Protein quantification was carried out using the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) technique using commercial kits (R&D Systems, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The concentration of diluted proteins was computed based on the standard curves, which was subsequently multiplied by the dilution factors to signify the actual protein level. Each sample was run in triplicate. Both the inter- and intra-assay coefficients of variation were <5%.

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed using SPSS 20.0 (IBM, USA), GraphPad Prism 7.0 (GraphPad Software, USA), or SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., USA). Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests were used to assess the distributions of numerical variables. For variables with a nonnormal distribution, Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to calculate the statistical significance of differences among groups. For variables with a Gaussian distribution, data were tested by oneway analyses of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni's post hoc tests. The protein levels and clinical assessments at the two time points were compared using paired t-tests or Wilcoxon signed-rank tests as required. In addition, Chi-squared tests were utilized to analyze categorical data. Partial correlation analyses and multivariate linear regressions were computed to determine the correlations and interactive effects, respectively. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves were used to estimate and predict the antidepressive efficacy. Furthermore, a linear mixed model was established to explore predictive factors of therapeutic effects. Quantitative variables were expressed as mean [standard deviation (SD)] or median [interquartile range (IQR)], and categorical variables were expressed as absolute numbers. P <0.05 was set as the level of statistical significance (two-tailed tests).

RESULTS

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

A total of 16 patients were excluded from analysis for various reasons, which are detailed in **Supplementary Figure 1**. Of the 74 remaining patients, 23 were assigned to the sham group, 24 were assigned to the individualized rTMS treatment group, and 27 were assigned to the standard rTMS treatment group. Of all demographic and clinical characteristics considered, the three groups only differed significantly in their drinking histories (p = 0.044, **Supplementary Table 1**).

Neuropsychological Assessments at Baseline and End of Treatment

As shown in **Supplementary Table 2**, the only significant differences in neuropsychological assessment scores for the three groups at baseline were for the CTQ-SF and Stroop A (CTQ-SF: p = 0.010; Stroop A: p = 0.046). Pairwise comparisons showed that CTQ-SF scores in the standard group were significantly lower than those in the other groups (p = 0.027, standard group vs.

individualized group; p = 0.028, standard group vs. sham group), while the differences in information processing speed evaluated by the Stroop A test mainly came from the contrast between the individualized group and the sham group (p = 0.040). Comparisons of affective scale and cognitive test scores from baseline to the end of therapy showed notable improvements in the individualized group (all p < 0.05). Similarly, patients treated by standard rTMS showed significant amelioration of symptoms, as shown by changes from baseline to after treatment for most assessments, except the Neuropsychological Assessment Battery: Mazes (NAB Mazes) and Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised (BVMT-R) (**Supplementary Table 2**).

Protein Levels at Baseline and End of Treatment

Protein levels at baseline were comparable among the three groups, as shown in **Figure 1** (CRP: F = 2.576, p = 0.083; ATIII: F = 0.802, p = 0.452; ITIH4: F = 0.341, p = 0.712; VDB: F = 0.219, p = 0.804). After individualized rTMS therapy, the levels





of ATIII, ITIH4, and VDB significantly declined (t = 5.586, p < 0.001; t = 2.893, p = 0.008; t = 2.955, p = 0.007, respectively), while a downward trend with no statistical significance was observed for CRP (t = 0.503, p = 0.620) (**Figure 1**). Similarly, reductions in the expression of all proteins were demonstrated in the standard group when the whole treatment course was completed (CRP: t = 3.298, p = 0.003; ATIII: t = 4.523, p < 0.001; ITIH4: t = 4.589, p < 0.001; VDB: t = 3.029, p = 0.005) (**Figure 1**). In contrast to the rTMS treatment groups, as shown in **Figure 1**, the levels of proteins after five-day sham treatment were approximately equal to those at baseline (CRP: t = -0.148, p = 0.884; ATIII: t = -0.040, p = 0.968; ITIH4: t = 0.971, p = 0.342; VDB: t = -0.209, p = 0.836).

Correlations of Changes in Protein Levels and Changes in Neuropsychological Assessments

There were significant correlations between changes in ATIII level, but not levels of the other three proteins, and antidepressive efficacy, as evaluated by changes in affective and cognitive assessments, in the individualized group. Controlling for ATIII level at baseline and the initial score, the alteration in ATIII was positively correlated with changes in several scales, including HAMD-24 (r = 0.509, p = 0.016), SDS (r = 0.536, p = 0.010), SAS (r = 0.442, p = 0.039), and BHS (r = 0.479, p = 0.024), while a negative correlation was observed for change

in Stroop C (r = -0.599, p = 0.003) (**Figures 2A–E**). Further multiple linear regression was utilized to verify these correlations, and supported that change in ATIII could affect changes in HAMD-24 and Stroop C after individualized rTMS (standardized $\beta_{HAMD-24} = 0.423$, p = 0.039; standardized $\beta_{Stroop C} = -0.471$, p = 0.020).

Further analyses revealed an interactive effect of family APGAR and alteration in ATIII on change in SAS, indicating that family APGAR and change in ATIII affected change in SAS together in the individualized group (standardized $\beta = 0.418$, p = 0.042). As shown in **Figure 3**, patients with greater reduction in SAS showed more notable changes in ATIII and higher family APGAR scores.

ROC Curve Analyses

Given the above-described findings, the ROC curve analysis used only ATIII rather than all four proteins. ATIII levels at two time points were analyzed for their ability to estimate or predict the response to 5 day treatment and remission at 4 week follow-up. In line with general practice, responders in this study were defined as patients with a change in HAMD-24 \geq 50% and remission was evaluated by a HAMD-24 score \leq 7.

For the individualized group, larger areas under the curve (AUCs) were observed based on the ROC curves of ATIII after rTMS therapy. There was higher specificity for identifying responders to 5 day treatment (AUC = 0.875, 95% CI, 0.714-1.000, sensitivity = 0.750, specificity = 0.938) and higher



FIGURE 2 | Correlations of altered ATIII (mg/L) and changes in neuropsychological assessments in the individualized group. (A) Positive correlation between change in ATIII level (mg/L) and change in ADD-24; (B) Positive correlation between change in ATIII level (mg/L) and change in SDS; (C) Positive correlation between change in ATIII level (mg/L) and change in SDS; (C) Positive correlation between change in ATIII level (mg/L) and change in SAS; (D) Positive correlation between change in ATIII level (mg/L) and change in BHS; (E) Negative correlation between change in ATIII level (mg/L) and change in Stroop C. ATIII, antithrombin III; HAMD-24, 24-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; SDS, Self-Rating Depression Scale; SAS, Self-Rating Anxiety Scale; BHS, Beck Hopelessness Scale.



SAS in the individualized group. ATIII, antithrombin III; APGAR, Adaptation, Partnership, Growth, Affection, Resolve; SAS, Self-Rating Anxiety Scale.

sensitivity for predicting remission 4 weeks later (AUC = 0.828, 95% CI, 0.656–1.000, sensitivity = 0.875, specificity = 0.625). Nevertheless, ROC curve analyses of ATIII at baseline showed a low predictive performance for response and remission with small AUCs (AUC = 0.547, 95% CI, 0.250–0.844, sensitivity = 0.375, specificity = 1.000; AUC = 0.688, 95% CI, 0.456–0.919, sensitivity = 0.750, specificity = 0.625, respectively) (**Figure 4**).

In contrast, according to the ROC curves presented in **Figure 5**, baseline ATIII in the standard treatment group showed better efficiency for predicting rTMS antidepressive effects, represented by both response and long-term remission (AUC = 0.771, 95% CI, 0.571-0.971, sensitivity = 0.588, specificity = 0.900; AUC = 0.736, 95% CI, 0.529-0.943, sensitivity = 0.643, specificity = 0.846, respectively), whereas ATIII at the end of treatment was ineffective for the same predictions (AUC = 0.507, 95% CI, 0.266-0.748, sensitivity = 0.444, specificity = 0.750; AUC = 0.538, 95% CI, 0.304-0.773, sensitivity = 0.769, specificity = 0.417, respectively).



FIGURE 4 | ROC Curve for the evaluating and predicting performance of ATIII in the individualized group. (A) ROC curve of ATIII at baseline for predicting the response to 5-day treatment; (B) ROC curve of ATIII at baseline for predicting the remission in 4 weeks following the treatment termination; (C) ROC curve of ATIII at day 5 for estimating the response to 5-day treatment; (D) ROC curve of ATIII at day 5 for predicting the remission in 4 weeks following the treatment termination. ROC curve, receiver operating characteristic curve; AUC, area under the curve; CI, confidence interval.



FIGURE 5 | ROC Curve for the evaluating and predicting performance of ATIII in the standard group. (A) ROC curve of ATIII at baseline for predicting the response to 5-day treatment; (B) ROC curve of ATIII at baseline for predicting the remission in 4 weeks following the treatment termination; (C) ROC curve of ATIII at day 5 for estimating the response to 5-day treatment; (D) ROC curve of ATIII at day 5 for predicting the remission in 4 weeks following the treatment termination; ROC curve, receiver operating characteristic curve; AUC, area under the curve; CI, confidence interval.

Predictive Factors of Therapeutic Effects

Based on the assessments of affection at day 1, 3, and 5 (as well as additional assessments of HAMD-24 at week 1, 2, 3, 4 in the follow-up study) or cognitive tests after treatment, which were set as the curative effect indexes, multidimensional data were brought into the statistical model to estimate the potential predictive factors and their predictive values, including demographic and clinical information, days of treatment, treatment group, levels of the four proteins at baseline, and initial scores on all assessments and psychosocial scales. The value of baseline ATIII for predicting antidepressive efficacy is shown in Table 1. The antidepressive efficacy is supported by several assessments, such as HAMD-24 (p = 0.020), HAMA (p < 0.001), BSI-CV-C (p = 0.044), SDS (p < 0.001), SAS (p = 0.002), BHS (p = 0.014), Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia: Symbol Coding (BACS SC, p = 0.002), and Stroop B (p =0.048), while ITIH4 was only demonstrated to predict therapeutic effects represented by SAS (p = 0.044) (**Supplementary Table 3**). All potential predictive factors of each assessment are listed in **Supplementary Table 3**.

In addition, given the impacts of altered protein levels on long-term curative efficiency evaluated by HAMD-24 at week 1, 2, 3, and 4, additional data of changes in protein expression were included in the model. As shown in **Table 2**, both ATIII at baseline and change in ATIII were related to HAMD-24 assessments at follow-up (p = 0.024 and 0.023, respectively), supporting their power to predict later effect.

DISCUSSION

The present study revealed downtrends in a panel of plasma proteins, namely CRP, ATIII, ITIH4, and VDB, after 5 day occipital rTMS treatment. Moreover, significant

| | t score | <i>p</i> -value |
|-----------|---------|-----------------|
| HAMD-24 | 2.41 | 0.020* |
| HAMA | 3.71 | < 0.001*** |
| BSI-CV-C | 2.07 | 0.044* |
| SDS | 4.19 | < 0.001*** |
| SAS | 3.24 | 0.002** |
| BHS | 2.57 | 0.014* |
| TMT-A | 1.04 | 0.304 |
| BACS SC | -3.29 | 0.002** |
| Stroop A | -1.61 | 0.114 |
| Stroop B | -2.03 | 0.048* |
| NAB Mazes | -0.43 | 0.672 |
| Stroop C | -1.41 | 0.167 |
| BVMT-R | -1.01 | 0.316 |

*p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

ATIII, antithrombin III; HAMD-24, 24-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; HAMA, Hamilton Anxiety Scale; BSI-CV-C, Beck Scale for Suicide Ideation-Chinese version-Current; SDS, Self-Rating Depression Scale; SAS, Self-Rating Anxiety Scale; BHS, Beck Hopelessness Scale; TMT-A, Trail Making Test A; BACS SC, Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia: Symbol Coding; NAB Mazes, Neuropsychological Assessment Battery: Mazes; BVMT-R, Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised.

TABLE 2 | Potential predictive factors of HAMD-24 in the follow-up study.

| t score | p-value |
|---------|---------------------------------------|
| 2.34 | 0.024* |
| 2.35 | 0.023* |
| 4.70 | < 0.001*** |
| -9.68 | < 0.001*** |
| 2.84 | 0.007** |
| 2.24 | 0.030* |
| | 2.34 2.35 4.70 -9.68 2.84 |

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

ATIII, antithrombin III; HAMD-24, 24-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; CTQ-SF, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form.

correlations between decrease in ATIII and improvements in neuropsychological assessments comprised of HAMD-24, SDS, SAS, BHS, and Stroop C were demonstrated in patients treated by individualized rTMS. This study also illustrated the predictive performance of ATIII, whether for rTMS treatment groups or all participants, suggesting the potential of this protein for estimating and predicting antidepressive efficacy.

There was no grouping bias in the affective assessments or levels of proteins, indicating that patients treated by different methods were in depressive states of similar clinical severity and had similar protein expression profiles at the group level at baseline. At the end of treatment, levels of three proteins, namely ATIII, ITIH4, and VDB, were decreased in both rTMS groups; a statistically significant reduction in CRP was only shown in the standard rTMS treatment group. As reported by Jha et al., reduced CRP was observed after 8 week sertraline treatment in MDD patients, in line with the findings of our study (54). However, alterations in the levels of the other three proteins after antidepressive treatment have not been investigated in previous studies. Of the four proteins, no notable differences were found in the sham group between baseline and day 5, suggesting the possible relevance of these proteins to the therapeutic process of occipital rTMS. Based on mounting evidence, inflammatory response is considered the common pathway of these four candidate biomarkers (55–58), and is speculated to be a promising target of multiple non-convulsive neurostimulation interventions, including rTMS (59, 60), which might partly account for the differences in protein alterations between rTMS and sham treatment.

As a member of the family of serine protease inhibitors (serpins), ATIII originates from Serpin clade C, member 1 (SerpinC1) with a reaction center for serine protease in the conservative spatial structure (61). Apart from its major suppressive roles in coagulation and hemostasis, ATIII exerts anti-inflammation action with or without mediation of anticoagulation (36, 56). A previous study detected higher ATIII mRNA levels in both gray and white matter in patients with Alzheimer's disease compared with controls (62); specifically, increased ATIII in astrocytes was speculated to be commensurate with astrogliosis, which has also been observed in MDD (63). Berk et al. reported a supersensitive platelet response to thrombin stimulation in depressed patients (64). A recent study of remitted MDD patients found a higher procoagulant index and fibrinogen level (65), suggesting an enhanced procoagulant state and a feasible mechanism for the increased risk of cardiovascular disease in MDD patients (66). ATIII can repress thrombininduced activation of platelets and endotheliocytes and reduce their secretions, such as interleukin-1 and P-selectin, which are demonstrated to promote interactions between endothelial cells and neutrophils to further aggravate inflammation (67, 68). As reported by Stelzhammer et al., compared to baseline levels, ATIII in MDD patients increased significantly after first ECT treatment; however, this was identified by liquidchromatography mass spectrometry and not in combination with multiplex immunoassay (37). Our inconsistent results might be ascribed to several reasons. Firstly, only 10 patients with treatment-resistant depression were analyzed in the study by Stelzhammer et al. without expanded and independent validation. Such a low sample size might result in a false positive, as the authors speculated, and differences in race and antidepressant resistance could exacerbate inconsistencies. Moreover, increased ATIII was observed in patients treated by ECT after just once session, indicating its involvement in acute ECT effect. By contrast, in the present study, reduced ATIII levels were detected after 5 day rTMS treatment. The diverse therapeutic courses and related pathways could lead to the different protein expression profiles.

As determined in the present study, the decline in ATIII was further associated with improvement of clinical symptoms comprising depression, anxiety, hopelessness, and cognitive deficiency in the individualized group. Moreover, for the same patients, an interaction with change in SAS was demonstrated between altered ATIII and family APGAR, suggesting that family support may impact the relationship between protein levels and curative effect. On a deeper level, biological and environmental factors could interact to affect the antidepressive efficiency of occipital rTMS.

A biomarker should be useful for identifying and/or predicting response to treatment. In the present study, baseline ATIII in the standard group and decreased ATIII after individualized rTMS showed a high performance for estimating or predicting antidepressive effect, suggesting the prognostic value of ATIII at both baseline and the end of rTMS treatment. As a key factor, baseline ATIII was involved in the prediction of all emotional assessments, cognitive tests of information processing speed, and long-term efficacy evaluated by HAMD-24 at follow-up study together with changes in ATIII. Taken together, these findings demonstrate that ATIII could be a potential biomarker for curative effects in MDD treatment, regardless of the therapeutic method.

Previous proteomic research identified four proteins connected to MDD (28). In the present study, following rigorous scientific research, one of the four candidates, ATIII, was identified as a potential biomarker of both MDD diagnosis and antidepressive effect evaluation and forecasting by multiverification. As ATIII level can be detected by a simple test, it is suitable for clinical screening. Another indicator identified in the proteomic study, VDB, was validated both *in vitro* and *in vivo* and an application has been filed for a patent. For this reason, we believe it is worthwhile to verify ATIII in a larger cohort and with further animal and cell experiments, followed by developing a convenient and efficient kit and filing a patent.

There are several limitations of this work. Firstly, this study explored biomarkers of curative efficacy based on the rapid antidepressive effects of occipital rTMS by analyzing changes in ATIII before and after rTMS treatment. As most MDD patients took medication or completed other therapies as prescribed at follow-up, homogeneity could not be maintained. In the light of this, blood samples were only collected at baseline and after 5 day rTMS stimulation. Due to the lack of blood collection at 4 week follow-up, it was not possible to assess changes in ATIII during this period or to evaluate its ability to estimate the long-term efficacy of antidepressive treatment. However, we were still able to demonstrate the predictive value of ATIII using a statistical model. Secondly, considering the importance of patient safety and need for patient cooperation, MDD patients who were suicidal or in a stuporous state were excluded. Therefore, our findings are limited to patients with moderate to severe depression without extreme negative symptoms. Thirdly, in order to eliminate interference from antidepressants and increase homogeneity, this study required patients to be drug naïve or drug free for at least 2 weeks before recruitment and reconfirmed MDD diagnosis at follow-up before statistics. In a future study, we will add rTMS stimulation along with standard medication to expand the scope of significance of ATIII. We will also carry out a non-inferiority study to compare the antidepressive effects of occipital and prefrontal rTMS in which there is no restriction related to the use of antidepressant drugs. Lastly, the small sample size could increase the risk of false-positive results; to validate the findings of this study, it is necessary to repeat this analysis in an independent cohort with a larger sample.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this study revealed decreases in CRP, ATIII, ITIH4, and VDB after occipital rTMS therapy. Furthermore, we revealed a relationship between greater reductions in ATIII and greater improvements in neuropsychological assessments in patients who received individualized stimulation. Ultimately, we demonstrated the potential value of ATIII as a biomarker of MDD and antidepressive treatment outcomes.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data analyzed in this article are not publicly available. Requests to access the data should be directed to janemengzhang@vip.163.com.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Xinxiang Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZZ conceived and designed the study. ZZ and HoZ supervised to carry out the protocols and enrolled subjects. ZZ, HoZ, and RS characterized subjects. RS collected specimens, analyzed data, prepared the tables and figures, wrote the manuscript, and followed ZZ's guidance and they were responsible for the data interpretation. HaZ, KL, and BW were responsible for multimode MRI scan. XL, JZ, and YY carried out rTMS treatment. YS measured levels of CRP, ATIII, ITIH4, and VDBP. YZ established the linear mixed model. LG and YS assisted with the structure design of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The work was funded by the National Key Research and Development Plan of China (Nos. 2016YFC1306700 and 2016YFC1306704), the National Natural Science Key Foundation of China (No. 81830040), Science and Technology Program of Guangdong (No. 2018B030334001), Program of Excellent Talents in Medical Science of Jiangsu Province (No. JCRCA2016006), the Program for One Thousand Zhongyuan Talents (No. 204200510020), and NSFC-Henan Mutual Funds (U1704190).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all participants in the present study for their cooperation and medical staff from the Department of Psychiatry and Radiology Department of

REFERENCES

- GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet*. (2018) 392:1789–858. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32279-7
- 2. WHO. Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates. Geneva: World Health Organization (2017).
- Malhi GS, Mann JJ. Depression. Lancet. (2018) 392:2299–312. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31948-2
- 4. WHO. The Global Burden of Disease: 2004 Update. Geneva: World Health Organization (2008).
- Zwicker A, Denovan-Wright EM, Uher R. Gene-environment interplay in the etiology of psychosis. *Psychol Med.* (2018) 48:1925–36. doi: 10.1017/S003329171700383X
- Nemeroff CB. Paradise Lost: the neurobiological and clinical consequences of child abuse and neglect. *Neuron.* (2016) 89:892–909. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.01.019
- Jesulola E, Micalos P, Baguley IJ. Understanding the pathophysiology of depression: from monoamines to the neurogenesis hypothesis model - are we there yet? *Behav Brain Res.* (2018) 341:79–90. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017.12.025
- Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W, Liu H, Sham L, Reim EK, et al. A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2010) 67:446–57. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.09.033
- 9. Eyre HA, Air T, Pradhan A, Johnston J, Lavretsky H, Stuart MJ, et al. A metaanalysis of chemokines in major depression. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2016) 68:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2016.02.006
- Troubat R, Barone P, Leman S, Desmidt T, Cressant A, Atanasova B, et al. Neuroinflammation and depression: a review. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2020) 53:151– 171. doi: 10.1111/ejn.14720
- Wang Q, Jie W, Liu JH, Yang JM, Gao TM. An astroglial basis of major depressive disorder? An overview. *Glia.* (2017) 65:1227–50. doi: 10.1002/glia.23143
- Czeh B, Nagy SA. Clinical findings documenting cellular and molecular abnormalities of glia in depressive disorders. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2018) 11:56. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00056
- Frank MG, Fonken LK, Watkins LR, Maier SF. Microglia: neuroimmune-sensors of stress. Semin Cell Dev Biol. (2019) 94:176–85. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2019.01.001
- Llorens-Martin M, Jurado-Arjona J, Fuster-Matanzo A, Hernandez F, Rabano A, Avila J. Peripherally triggered and GSK-3beta-driven brain inflammation differentially skew adult hippocampal neurogenesis, behavioral pattern separation and microglial activation in response to ibuprofen. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2014) 4:e463. doi: 10.1038/tp.2014.92
- Cai B, Seong KJ, Bae SW, Kook MS, Chun C, Lee JH, et al. Water-soluble arginyl-diosgenin analog attenuates hippocampal neurogenesis impairment through blocking microglial activation underlying NF-κB and JNK MAPK signaling in adult mice challenged by LPS. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2019) 56:6218–38. doi: 10.1007/s12035-019-1496-3
- Zheng LS, Hitoshi S, Kaneko N, Takao K, Miyakawa T, Tanaka Y, et al. Mechanisms for interferon-alpha-induced depression and neural stem cell dysfunction. *Stem Cell Rep.* (2014) 3:73–84. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.05.015
- 17. Wong ML, Inserra A, Lewis MD, Mastronardi CA, Leong L, Choo J, et al. Inflammasome signaling affects anxiety- and depressive-like behavior

the Second Affiliated Hospital of Xinxiang Medical University for their assistance in this work.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.678384/full#supplementary-material

and gut microbiome composition. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2016) 21:797–805. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.46

- Schmidt FM, Kirkby KC, Lichtblau N. Inflammation and immune regulation as potential drug targets in antidepressant treatment. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2016) 14:674–87. doi: 10.2174/1570159X14666160115130414
- Jha MK, Trivedi MH. Personalized antidepressant selection and pathway to novel treatments: clinical utility of targeting inflammation. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:233. doi: 10.3390/ijms19010233
- Battle DE. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of mental disorders (DSM). CoDAS. (2013) 25:191–2. doi: 10.1590/s2317-17822013000200017
- 21. WHO. *The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders*. Geneva: World Health Organization (1992).
- 22. Xu Z, Xie C, Xia L, Yuan Y, Zhu H, Huang X, et al. Targeted exome sequencing identifies five novel loci at genome-wide significance for modulating antidepressant response in patients with major depressive disorder. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2020) 10:30. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0689-x
- 23. Shi Y, Song R, Wang Z, Zhang H, Zhu J, Yue Y et al. Potential clinical value of circular RNAs as peripheral biomarkers for the diagnosis and treatment of major depressive disorder. *EBioMedicine*. (2021) 66:103337. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103337
- 24. Comes AL, Papiol S, Mueller T, Geyer PE, Mann M, Schulze TG. Proteomics for blood biomarker exploration of severe mental illness: pitfalls of the past and potential for the future. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2018) 8:160. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0219-2
- Pan JX, Xia JJ, Deng FL, Liang WW, Wu J, Yin BM, et al. Diagnosis of major depressive disorder based on changes in multiple plasma neurotransmitters: a targeted metabolomics study. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2018) 8:130. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0183-x
- 26. Voineskos AN, Mulsant BH, Dickie EW, Neufeld NH, Rothschild AJ, Whyte EM, et al. Effects of antipsychotic medication on brain structure in patients with major depressive disorder and psychotic features: neuroimaging findings in the context of a randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2020) 77:674–683. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.0036
- Rolle CE, Fonzo GA, Wu W, Toll R, Jha MK, Cooper C, et al. Cortical connectivity moderators of antidepressant vs placebo treatment response in major depressive disorder: secondary analysis of a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2020) 77:397–408. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.3867
- Shi Y, Song R, Wang L, Qi Y, Zhang H, Zhu J, et al. Identifying plasma biomarkers with high specificity for major depressive disorder: a multi-level proteomics study. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:620–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.078
- Chang HH, Wang TY, Lee IH, Lee SY, Chen KC, Huang SY, et al. Creactive protein: a differential biomarker for major depressive disorder and bipolar II disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry. (2017) 18:63–70. doi: 10.3109/15622975.2016.1155746
- Felger JC, Haroon E, Miller AH. What's CRP got to do with it? Tackling the complexities of the relationship between CRP and depression. *Brain Behav Immunity.* (2018) 73:163–64. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.201 8.08.003
- Haapakoski R, Mathieu J, Ebmeier KP, Alenius H, Kivimäki M. Cumulative meta-analysis of interleukins 6 and 1β, tumour necrosis factor α and Creactive protein in patients with major depressive disorder. *Brain Behav Immunity*. (2015) 49:206–15. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.06.001
- 32. Vogelzangs N, Beekman AT, van Reedt Dortland AK, Schoevers RA, Giltay EJ, de Jonge P, et al. Inflammatory and metabolic dysregulation

and the 2-year course of depressive disorders in antidepressant users. *Neuropsychopharmacology.* (2014) 39:1624–34. doi: 10.1038/npp.2 014.9

- Wium-Andersen MK, Ørsted DD, Nielsen SF, Nordestgaard BG. Elevated C-reactive protein levels, psychological distress, and depression in 73, 131 individuals. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2013) 70:176–84. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.102
- 34. Strawbridge R, Arnone D, Danese A, Papadopoulos A, Herane Vives A, Cleare AJ. Inflammation and clinical response to treatment in depression: a meta-analysis. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2015) 25:1532–43. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.06.007
- Kim BR, Oh J, Yu KS, Ryu HG. Pharmacokinetics of human antithrombin III concentrate in the immediate postoperative period after liver transplantation. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2019) 86:923–932. doi: 10.1111/bcp.14200
- Levy JH, Sniecinski RM, Welsby IJ, Levi M. Antithrombin: anti-inflammatory properties and clinical applications. *Thromb Haemost.* (2016) 115:712–28. doi: 10.1160/TH15-08-0687
- Stelzhammer V, Guest PC, Rothermundt M, Sondermann C, Michael N, Schwarz E, et al. Electroconvulsive therapy exerts mainly acute molecular changes in serum of major depressive disorder patients. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2013) 23:1199–207. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2012.10.012
- Piñeiro M, Andrés M, Iturralde M, Carmona S, Hirvonen J, Pyörälä P, et al. ITIH4 (inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 4) is a new acute-phase protein isolated from cattle during experimental infection. *Infect Immunity.* (2004) 72:3777–82. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.7.3777-378 2.2004
- Shi X, Ohta Y, Liu X, Shang J, Morihara R, Nakano Y, et al. Acute antiinflammatory markers ITIH4 and AHSG in mice brain of a novel Alzheimer's disease model. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2019) 68:1667–75. doi: 10.3233/JAD-1 81218
- Psychiatric GWAS Consortium Bipolar Disorder Working Group. Largescale genome-wide association analysis of bipolar disorder identifies a new susceptibility locus near ODZ4. *Nat Genet.* (2011) 43:977–83. doi: 10.1038/ng.943
- Finseth PI, Sønderby IE, Djurovic S, Agartz I, Malt UF, Melle I, et al. Association analysis between suicidal behaviour and candidate genes of bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. J Affect Disord. (2014) 163:110–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.12.018
- Lisowska-Myjak B, Józwiak-Kisielewska A, Łukaszkiewicz J, Skarzyńska E. Vitamin D-binding protein as a biomarker to confirm specific clinical diagnoses. *Expert Rev Mol Diagn*. (2020) 20:49–56. doi: 10.1080/14737159.2020.1699064
- Speeckaert M, Huang G, Delanghe JR, Taes YE. Biological and clinical aspects of the vitamin D binding protein (Gc-globulin) and its polymorphism. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2006) 372:33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.200 6.03.011
- White P, Cooke N. The multifunctional properties and characteristics of vitamin D-binding protein. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2000) 11:320–7. doi: 10.1016/S1043-2760(00)00317-9
- Petrov B, Aldoori A, James C, Yang K, Algorta GP, Lee A, et al. Bipolar disorder in youth is associated with increased levels of vitamin Dbinding protein. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2018) 8:61. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0 109-7
- 46. Xu HB, Zhang RF, Luo D, Zhou Y, Wang Y, Fang L, et al. Comparative proteomic analysis of plasma from major depressive patients: identification of proteins associated with lipid metabolism and immunoregulation. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2012) 15:1413–25. doi: 10.1017/S14611457120 00302
- Lee MY, Kim EY, Kim SH, Cho KC, Ha K, Kim KP, et al. Discovery of serum protein biomarkers in drug-free patients with major depressive disorder. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2016) 69:60–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2016.04.009
- 48. Zhang Z, Zhang H, Xie CM, Zhang M, Shi Y, Song R, et al. Task-related functional magnetic resonance imaging-based neuronavigation for the treatment of depression by individualized repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the visual cortex. *Sci China Life Sci.* (2020) 64:96–106. doi: 10.1007/s11427-020-1730-5

- Normann C, Schmitz D, Fürmaier A, Döing C, Bach M. Long-term plasticity of visually evoked potentials in humans is altered in major depression. *Biological psychiatry.* (2007) 62:373–80. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.200 6.10.006
- Maciag D, Hughes J, O'Dwyer G, Pride Y, Stockmeier CA, Sanacora G, et al. Reduced density of calbindin immunoreactive GABAergic neurons in the occipital cortex in major depression: relevance to neuroimaging studies. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2010) 67:465–70. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.200 9.10.027
- Friberg TR, Borrero G. Diminished perception of ambient light: a symptom of clinical depression? J Affect Disord. (2000) 61:113–8. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(99)00194-9
- 52. Furey ML, Drevets WC, Hoffman EM, Frankel E, Speer AM, Zarate CA Jr. Potential of pretreatment neural activity in the visual cortex during emotional processing to predict treatment response to scopolamine in major depressive disorder. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2013) 70:280–90. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.60
- 53. Song R, Bai Y, Li X, Zhu J, Zhang H, Shi Y, et al. Plasma circular RNA DYM related to major depressive disorder and rapid antidepressant effect treated by visual cortical repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *J Affect Disord*. (2020) 274:486–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.05.109
- 54. Jha MK, Minhajuddin A, Chin-Fatt C, Greer TL, Carmody TJ, Trivedi MH. Sex differences in the association of baseline c-reactive protein (CRP) and acute-phase treatment outcomes in major depressive disorder: findings from the EMBARC study. J Psychiatric Res. (2019) 113:165–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.03.013
- Osimo EF, Pillinger T, Rodriguez IM, Khandaker GM, Pariante CM, Howes OD. Inflammatory markers in depression: a meta-analysis of mean differences and variability in 5,166 patients and 5,083 controls. *Brain Behav Immunity*. (2020) 87:901–909. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.02.010
- Lu Z, Wang F, Liang M. SerpinC1/Antithrombin III in kidney-related diseases. Clin Sci. (2017) 131:823–31. doi: 10.1042/CS20160669
- Li L, Choi BC, Ryoo JE, Song SJ, Pei CZ, Lee KY, et al. Opposing roles of interα-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 4 in recurrent pregnancy loss. *EBioMedicine*. (2018) 37:535–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.10.029
- Aksan A, Tugal D, Hein N, Boettger K, Caicedo-Zea Y, Diehl I, et al. Measuring vitamin D status in chronic inflammatory disorders: how does chronic inflammation affect the reliability of vitamin d metabolites in patients with IBD? J Clin Med. (2020) 9:547. doi: 10.3390/jcm9020547
- Perrin AJ, Pariante CM. Endocrine and immune effects of non-convulsive neurostimulation in depression: a systematic review. *Brain Behav Immunity*. (2020) 87:910–920. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.02.016
- 60. Sasso V, Bisicchia E, Latini L, Ghiglieri V, Cacace F, Carola V, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation reduces remote apoptotic cell death and inflammation after focal brain injury. J Neuroinflamm. (2016) 13:150. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0616-5
- Heit C, Jackson BC, McAndrews M, Wright MW, Thompson DC, Silverman GA, et al. Update of the human and mouse SERPIN gene superfamily. *Hum Genomics*. (2013) 7:22. doi: 10.1186/1479-7364-7-22
- Kalaria RN, Golde T, Kroon SN, Perry G. Serine protease inhibitor antithrombin III and its messenger RNA in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Pathol.* (1993) 143:886–93.
- 63. Han KM, Tae WS, Kim A, Kang Y, Kang W, Kang J, et al. Serum FAM19A5 levels: a novel biomarker for neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in major depressive disorder. *Brain Behav Immunity*. (2020) 87:852–859. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.021
- Berk M, Plein H. Platelet supersensitivity to thrombin stimulation in depression: a possible mechanism for the association with cardiovascular mortality. *Clin Neuropharmacol.* (2000) 23:182–5. doi: 10.1097/00002826-200007000-00002
- 65. von Känel R, Merz F, Pfister H, Brückl T, Zimmermann P, Uhr M, et al. Evidence for an enhanced procoagulant state in remitted major depression. World J Biol Psychiatry. (2019) 21:766–74. doi: 10.1080/15622975.2019.1696475
- 66. Charlson FJ, Moran AE, Freedman G, Norman RE, Stapelberg NJ, Baxter AJ, et al. The contribution of major depression to the global burden of ischemic heart disease: a comparative risk assessment. *BMC Med.* (2013) 11:250. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-250

- 67. Falati S, Liu Q, Gross P, Merrill-Skoloff G, Chou J, Vandendries E, et al. Accumulation of tissue factor into developing thrombi *in vivo* is dependent upon microparticle P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 and platelet P-selectin. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 197:1585–98. doi: 10.1084/jem.200 21868
- Gierer P, Laue F, Hoffmann JN, Rotter R, Mittlmeier T, Gradl G, et al. Antithrombin reduces inflammation and microcirculatory perfusion failure in closed soft-tissue injury and endotoxemia. *Crit Care Med.* (2013) 41:867–73. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182742d2c

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Song, Shi, Li, Zhu, Zhang, Li, Wang, Zhang, Yang, Gao, Zhao and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ø

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Frontiers

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your